

Dominique Moreira Fernandes

Role of Caspr1 and Caspr2 in the regulation of glutamatergic transmission and synaptic plasticity — implication for disease pathogenesis

Tese de doutoramento em Biologia Experimental e Biomedicina, ramo de Neurociências e Doença, orientada pela Doutora Ana Luísa Carvalho e co-orientada pela Doutora Sandra Manuela Domingues dos Santos e apresentada ao Instituto de Investigação Interdisciplinar da Universidade de Coimbra

Fevereiro 2018



Universidade de Coimbra

Role of Caspr1 and Caspr2 in the regulation of glutamatergic transmission and synaptic plasticity – implications for disease pathogenesis

PhD thesis presented to the Institute for Interdisciplinary Research from the University of Coimbra (IIIUC) for the fulfillment of the requirements for a Doctoral degree in Experimental Biology and Biomedicine, branch of Neuroscience and Disease, under the supervision of Doctor Ana Luísa Monteiro de Carvalho (Life Science Department, University of Coimbra) and co-supervision of Doctor Sandra Manuela Domingues dos Santos (CNC - Centre for Neuroscience and Cell Biology, University of Coimbra).





Universidade de Coimbra

Dominique Moreira Fernandes

Papel da Caspr1 e Caspr2 na regulação da transmissão glutamatérgica e plasticidade sináptica - implicações para a patogénese de doenças neuropsiquiátricas

Tese de doutoramento apresentada ao Instituto para a Investigação Interdisciplinar da Universidade de Coimbra (IIIUC) para a prestação de provas de Doutoramento em Biologia Experimental e Biomedicina no ramo de Neurociências e Doença, sob a orientação da Doutora Ana Luísa Monteiro de Carvalho (Departamento de Ciências da Vida, Universidade de Coimbra) e co-orientação da Doutora Sandra Manuela Domingues dos Santos (CNC - Centro de Neurociências e Biologia Celular, Universidade de Coimbra).





Universidade de Coimbra

This work was performed at the CNC-Center for Neuroscience and Cell Biology, University of Coimbra, and at The Zanvyl Krieger Mind/Brain Institute & The Solomon Snyder Department of Neurosciences, Johns Hopkins University, USA. The work was funded by FEDER funds through the Operational Programme Competitiveness Factors – COMPETE2020, and by national funds from the Portuguese Foundation for Science and Technology (FCT) through the strategic project UID/NEU/04539/2013 and the PhD scholarship SFRH/BD/51682/2011.This project was funded through the grants PTDC/NEU-NMC/4888/2014, FCT, Portugal, NARSAD Independent Investigator Grant, Brain and Behavior Research Foundation, USA, and Fondation Jerôme Lejeune, France.

Este trabalho foi realizado no CNC-Centro de Neurociências e Biologia Celular, Universidade de Coimbra, e no Zanvyl Krieger Mind/Brain Institute & The Solomon Snyder Department of Neurosciences, Johns Hopkins University, USA. Este trabalho foi financiado por fundos FEDER através do Programa Operacional Fatores de Competitividade – COMPETE2020, e por fundos nacionais através da Fundação para a Ciência e Tecnologia (FCT) através do projeto estratégico UID/NEU/04539/2013 e da bolsa de doutoramento SFRH/BD/51682/2011. Este projecto foi financiado através dos financiamentos PTDC/NEU-NMC/4888/2014, FCT, Portugal, NARSAD Independent Investigator Grant, Brain and Behavior Research Foundation, EUA, e Fondation Jerôme Lejeune, França.

Cover image:

Coronal slice of the mouse brain stained for Caspr2



"The brain is locked in total darkness, of course, children, says the voice. It floats in a clear liquid inside the skull, never in the light. And yet the world it constructs in the mind is full of light. It brims with color and movement. So how, children, does the brain, which lives without a spark of light, build for us a world full of light?"

Anthony Doerr in "All the light we cannot see"

Ao Avô M. e ao Avô F.

Embora fazendo falta a cada dia, há momentos em que a vossa presença tornaria tudo mais completo.

Este é um desses momentos.

Agradecimentos

Sempre me considerei uma pessoa pronta para a aventura, com um gosto q.b. para sentir aquele bichinho de adrenalina. Sempre tive vontade de conhecer mil e uma coisas e sítios diferentes, e sempre com sonhos (claramente ingénuos!) de partir em longas viagens pelo mundo. No entanto, quando me propus a fazer um doutoramento, estava longe de me imaginar a embarcar na maior montanha-russa da minha vida. Foram longos anos de altos e baixos de emoções e diferentes estados de espírito, uma boa dose de choro, mas sempre recompensada com doses generosas de gargalhada. Felizmente, nunca recuso uma boa montanha-russa! Agora que estou prestes a terminar esta aventura, e ainda que com muitas outras pela frente, posso garantidamente dizer que a melhor viagem de todas foi aquela que todos vocês, sem excepção, me proporcionaram ao longo destes anos, pelo que não posso deixar de vos agradecer.

À Professora Ana Luísa, por me ter recebido no seu laboratório há uns já longínquos oito anos para realizar a tese de mestrado, e desde logo mostrar que acreditava em mim para continuar o trabalho em doutoramento. Por ter proporcionado todas as possibilidades para que eu crescesse não só como cientista, mas como pessoa. Mas acima de tudo, por ser paciente e nunca duvidar de mim, mesmo quando eu própria o fiz. Por ter sempre uma palavra amiga e encorajadora, que me incentivou todos os dias a querer mais e a conseguir mais, mesmo quando achei que já não conseguia. E obrigada por, tão genuinamente, partilhar comigo o entusiasmo que tem por este trabalho e pela Ciência.

À Sandra, por me teres deixado ser a tua primogénita e me teres deixado o legado das Casprs. Por me teres ensinado, pacientemente, quase tudo o que sei fazer num laboratório e me teres dado, desde cedo, a liberdade de avançar, cometer erros e aprender (a boa velha educação de ficar rija!). Por teres sido muito mais do que "chefinha"; não foste só co-orientadora em papel e na bancada, mas foste co-orientadora de espírito e acima de tudo, amiga. Obrigada pelo incentivo constante e por, ainda quase semanalmente, teres a paciência de vir ouvir lamúrias e prantos. E obrigada por seres o melhor exemplo que tenho de que, quando queremos muito, conseguimos fazer tudo!

To Hey-Kyoung Lee, for your availability and interest in receiving me in your laboratory for almost a year to learn electrophysiology and perform experiments in vivo. For all your help and valuable inputs on the work, but above all, for always being so welcoming. To Alfredo Kirkwood, for sharing all the amazing wacky stories on how Science and big breakthroughs were done back in the day. To Jessica, for your genuine sympathy and big smiles, and for the valuable help in wrapping up our story after I left. To Blaine, for all your patience in teaching me how to perform the stereotactic surgeries, and to Varun and Gabriela for your constant help. To Trinh, Rafael, Kaiwen, XiaoXu, Michelle, Su and Binil, for receiving me so well in the lab. To Rafael, an outsider like me, and to the wonder quartet Varun, Trinh, Blaine and Gabriela (and Erik), thanks for making me feel at home, when I was so far away. For all the home parties, nights out, and beer hours at the One World Café, and, of course, for teaching me what proper beer is.

To Ester Coutinho, M. Isabel Leite and Camilla Buckley, at the John Radcliffe Hospital, Oxford University, for your interest and collaboration in this work, and for providing human samples from patients with CASPR2 encephalitis. Em particular à Ester Coutinho, obrigada pelo teu genuíno interesse no trabalho e por estares sempre disponível em ajudar e partilhar os teus dados e conhecimentos na área.

Ao Professor Carlos Duarte, por discutir sempre com entusiasmo os trabalhos do laboratório e estar sempre disposto a ajudar, por constantemente nos presentear com boa comida e desgraçar as dietas da malta fit do laboratório, mas acima de tudo pela sua simpatia, boa disposição, e sorriso constantes.

Ao João Peça, Ramiro Almeida e Paulo Pinheiro por contribuírem para discussões valiosas do trabalho, e darem sempre boas sugestões.

À D. Céu, por toda a ajuda valiosa no laboratório e por ser sempre a "nossa" D. Céu. Por ter sempre um sorriso e um abracinho confortante de mãe para oferecer. À Beta, pela ajuda de anos no laboratório e nos isolamentos, e à Sara, pela tua simpatia e ajuda incalculável que nos prestas diariamente.

A todos os que já passaram pelos laboratórios ALC/CBD/RA/JP e, inevitavelmente deixaram a sua marca. Ao Luís Ribeiro, Carlos Matos, Tiago Rondão, Pedro Rio, Susana, Joana Ferreira, Marta, Joana Fernandes, Ana Oliveira, Rody, Fiona, João Costa, Graciano, Pedro Afonso, Bárbara, Michelle, Diogo Comprido, Maria Joana, Luís Martins, Joana Pedro e Bruno Cruz, obrigada por, sendo todos tão diferentes, terem feito com que o laboratório fosse nada mais que uma grande família.

À Susana Louros, por toda a tua ajuda no laboratório e pelos teus conhecimentos valiosos. Mas acima de tudo, por regularmente teres a preocupação de vir falar comigo enquanto eu estava em Baltimore, e me dares um apoio precioso para aguentar diariamente aquele rig. Devo-te muito pela minha sanidade mental! À minha Joaninha Pedro, por seres um mar de calma no meio de tanta gente agitada, e por teres sempre uma palavra amiga e bons conselhos para dar. Luís Ribeiro, Graciano, Pedro Afonso, João Costa e Carlos Matos, este laboratório já não é a mesma coisa sem vocês! Obrigada por todos os momentos de boa disposição e parvalheira da boa. Fazem muita falta.

A todos os fortes que ainda se mantêm, ou aos que se juntaram recentemente, obrigada por fazerem disto uma segunda casa e uma segunda família. À Miranda e ao Rui, por nos terem presenteado com a coisa mais riquinha de sempre (baby Chiarina da tia!!!!), e frequentemente mimarem a tia com fotos e vídeos. E por terem cometido o erro (apenas para vocês) de irem passar uma semana a Washington com uma miúda a sentir-se desesperadamente home-sick. Abrir aquela porta do quarto de hotel e ver-vos foi um bálsamo para a alma. À Larocas, por estares sempre "roda no ar". Pelas boas conversas em todas as noites de guarida que me deste quando eu mais precisei. To Moh, for all your kindness and calmness, and for all your great wisdom in Portuguese sayings. À Inês, por seres uma querida e teres um sorriso meigo sempre pronto para oferecer. À Ângela, por seres uma excelente surpresa e, ainda acabada de chegar, estares sempre disponível para ajudar e dar bons conselhos. Ao Nuno, porque mal chegaste e já deixaste marca. Obrigada pelo teu refrescante bom humor, e por me fazeres sentir melhor pessoa em comparação :). Ao Tozé, por teres sido uma espécie de 1º long-term pupil. Pela tua constante boa disposição, e por seres um pocinho de mimo em forma de rapaz grande.

À Lois e à Guidinha, por toda a ajuda na unidade de microscopia, mas por muito mais. Pela amizade e palavras de incentivo, pela boa disposição e pelos dois dedos de conversa regulares ao café. Vocês não sabem, mas no fundinho são ALC's.

Ao trio maravilha sem o qual o grupo CLA já não se define: Bea, Debbie e Marina. Obrigada a todas por, à vossa maneira, se terem integrado no laboratório tão bem e terem dado um pouco de vocês à personalidade do grupo. Ter voltado para um laboratório sem metade das pessoas que me eram mais queridas foi um choque, mas fui completamente apanhada de surpresa por cada uma de vocês. À Debbie, por seres tão genuína, tão única e tão fácil de falar. E por teres uma incrível capacidade de trabalho. Tens um mundo lá fora para explorar, Debbie. À Marinete, pela tua boa disposição e incansável vontade de ajudar, por seres uma espécie de "National Geographic meets Odisseia" com o teu vasto conhecimento em espécies (note-se: nome de espécies em latim) e pequenas particularidades desconhecidas à maioria das pessoas, e por seres um misto de respondona que vem sempre procurar (e dar) miminho bom. À Bea, obrigada por seres um mini furação que atingiu o laboratório e ainda não acalmou. Pela tua mega boa disposição em formato de revolta que anima os nossos dias, e por me mimares sempre com balões, reais ou virtuais. Obrigada por seres maravilhosamente a pessoa mais dramática que já conheci.

To JJ, for being the biggest surprise a person could ever be. For looking like the shyest person ever, but then turn out to be this smartly funny, sweet and caring, slightly-OCD and cuddle-seeking person that relentlessly puts her effort into everything. I know it will pay off, JJ, you'll see. Thanks for the amazing cover image, and by the way, your niece truly appreciates all the gifts scattered around the house. Me, not so much!

À Gladiiiiis, pela tua boa disposição e humor mordaz, e por teres sido companheira de todas as aventuras e desventuras no laboratório. Obrigada por seres a pessoa mais sortuda que já conheci, e não olhares a meios para partilhar um pouco dessa sorte connosco, seja a queimá-la em raspadinhas para o grupo, a fazer IPs mágicas, ou simplesmente a dar-nos uma palavra amiga, de força e incentivo, ou de

garantia de que tudo vai correr bem. Tornaste-te confidente sem contar e quando mais precisava, e para isso não tenho palavras para demonstrar a minha gratidão. Vou torcer sempre pela estrelinha!

À minha tontinha de coração, Maria Joana, e ao meu Luisinho, porque nem imaginam a falta tremenda que me fazem, bem como as nossas "noites longas" dentro e fora do laboratório. Ao Luís, por teres sido o primeiro a receber-me no laboratório e a ensinar-me tudo o que sabias. Pelo teu contínuo interesse no trabalho e pelo teu entusiasmo evidente pela Ciência. Obrigada por todo o vernáculo maravilhoso, por seres tão carinhosamente revoltado contra todos os pseudo-púdicos, e acima de tudo por seres das pessoas mais genuínas que conheço. À Maria, por dares toda a incansável energia que tens e seres tão contagiante em tudo o que fazes. Porque estar contigo é fazer um refill a tudo o que é energia positiva e entusiasmo. Por seres amiga, confidente, por todos os miminhos bons que me dás e por me inspirares sempre a mais.

À minha Taty, por seres das pessoas mais especiais de sempre. Por partilhares comigo todo o encanto por gatinhos, tatuagens, homens barbudos e cenas afins. Por tudo o que tu fazes gritar claramente o teu nome. Por aturares com tanto afinco e dedicação três personagens que te azucrinam diariamente e dares tudo por nós. Por todo o miminho que me dás e por seres confidente sem necessidade de grandes palavras. Ao BIIIIIIIICHO Ivan, por seres uma das maiores personagens da minha vida. Não há quem seja tão revoltado, impaciente, malcriadão, insistente e chatinho (para o pôr de forma leve) que eu adore de coração, como a ti. E não há quem tente dar tanto e fazer tanto pelas pessoas de quem gosta como tu. Se te falta músculo em bíceps e tríceps, és biiiiiicho de coração.

À minha géeeeeeeeeeeeee Mariline/Dominique! Por tudo o que seja possível imaginar. Por teres sido companheira de nome, companheira de bancada, companheira de conferências e viagens, companheira de sushis e coisas gordas, companheira de quase histerismo quando temos boas células e bons resultados, companheira de desilusões, desânimos, frustrações e libertadoras idas à casa de banho ;) Confidente, maior apoiante possível, pessoa mais capaz de saber dizer o que eu mais preciso ouvir na hora certa. Gémea parece-me adequado. Obrigada.

A toda a malta desse grande ano que foi a 10^a edição do BEB. À Ju, Sara, Mariline, Nina, Tânia, Pati, Sofia, Tony, André, João e Marcelo, por durante 20 e tal longas semanas terem vivido comigo 24/24h, naquele que foi um dos melhores anos de sempre. Obrigada por toda a amizade, toda a parvoíce a longas horas da noite a "trabalhar", por todos os jantares, noitadas e festas. À Tânia, obrigada por todo o teu apoio em Baltimore, por me teres dado a conhecer tanta coisa, e por todo o chá acompanhado de desabafos e saudades de casa. À Ju, Nina e Sara pelas longas conversas e desabafos de amores e desamores, pelo miminho certo e apoio constante, e por serem umas rebaldeiras que fazem a festa comigo. Ao Tony e à Ju, por esse grande ano de partilha de casa, por me manterem alimentada nem que fosse a douradinhos e bróculos. Ao Tony, porque sabes sempre o que me dizer. À Ju, por conseguires sempre trazer-me à terra e pôr-me no rumo certo.

Ao Pedro Rio, Raquel (e a Titiz da tia), Diogo Comprido, Filipe e Leitão, por serem sempre certos desde há muitos anos em me garantirem uma boa dose diária de parvalheira. Pela vossa boa disposição e por convosco, sair sempre asneira certa. Ao Diogo, por ter aguentado viver comigo ano e meio e ser o melhor companheiro de casa possível. Ao Pedro, obrigado por teres ouvido muito disparate sem te mostrares farto e obrigada por todo o apoio do último ano.

À Sara, João, Ana, Isabel, Lígia e Rui, eterna grupeta do Porto espalhada pela Europa, obrigada pela amizade certa que não liga à distância, amizade que não exige grande esforço nem manutenção para além dos jantares bianuais que podemos ter, e em que nunca se parece que tenham passado já 12 anos.

À velha guarda da ESCA, Bia, André, Marta, Mariana, Luís, Zé Manel, Rita, Joana Maria e Daniel, por manterem isto vivo passado tantos anos e por continuarem iguaizinhos. É estranho ver-vos como adultos.

Ao André, em especial, por ter sido um dos grandes impulsionadores para que eu seguisse para doutoramento, não obstante o que isso implicaria. Por todo o companheirismo de anos e pela amizade que conseguimos manter.

À minha Bia, brazuca poderosa que está na minha vida há metade do tempo que eu existo, não tenho sequer palavras. Não sou muito de BFFs, mas acho que tu, sem dúvida, te encaixas no perfil. Por estares sempre lá, nem que seja à distância de mensagens ou telefonemas (quando isso ainda se usava) que normalmente acabam em horas. Por me apoiares quase sempre, mas por me chamares à razão quando mais ninguém o faz; por horas de desabafos de parte a parte; por seres incondicional e nunca exigires nada para além de uma amizade sincera. Pelas festas, jantaradas, por estares sempre roda no ar e pronta a sair. E por essa gargalha, Bia. Essa gargalhada que me põe sempre a sorrir certinho!

Ao Luís, porque invariavelmente, terias sempre que estar nesta posição. Foram demasiados anos da melhor amizade possível, em que me acompanhaste sempre em todos os percursos em que me aventurei e em todas as decisões que tomei. Nunca por um segundo questionaste a minha ida para os Estados Unidos e foste sempre quem mais me apoiou nisso, sabendo bem o que isso poderia acartar e o quanto tudo poderia mudar. E mudou. Enquanto quiseste estar, foi por completo e foi definidor do que sou agora. Tenho a agradecer-te por isso. Mas agradeço também por no último ano, talvez até propositadamente, teres contribuído para que eu crescesse e ficasse mais forte e, com o tempo acreditasse que era capaz.

A toda a minha família, por estarem sempre preocupados comigo e por serem compreensivos ao ponto de perceberem que não é desleixo. É só falta de tempo e cabeça aluada. Por me terem apoiado ao longo destes anos todos, quer directa, quer indirectamente por estarem presentes para os meus pais quando eu não posso. Um especial obrigada às minhas avós, pela preocupação constante e pelos melhores conselhos que eu possa receber, vindos de quase 90 anos de vida e experiência bem marcada no rosto. Por serem um exemplo vivo do que é ser uma mulher com garra, que supera tudo e que dá tudo o que tem aos seus. Obrigada Avozinhas!

Não posso deixar de incluir aquelas que para mim serão família, sempre. À Anuska, o meu primeiro amor de todos, que cresceu comigo e foi a primeira melhor amiga. À minha velhota Pixie, autocomedora de muita coisa, que vai à loucura em cada vez que me vê, por me mostrar de uma forma tão simples o quão bom é ir a casa. À minha badocha Pandora, por ser o meu primeiro amor gatil. Por ser tresloucada e nos dar entretenimento de horas, e por se ter tornado na filha preferida dos bubus com tanto amor que lhes deu em minha vez. À baby Hazel, por todos os dias me receber em casa com longos miados de mimo e não me largar um segundo que seja. Por ser a melhor companheira, que afasta qualquer tristeza com apenas 5 minutos de colinho. A todas, por me fazerem ver das maneiras mais simples que não há amor melhor. Incondicional, sem pedir nada em troca para além de miminhos bons.

Aos meus Pais, pessoas mais importantes na minha vida, agradeço por tudo. Por fazerem de mim o que sou hoje. Por serem as melhores pessoas que eu conheço, e terem posto um bocadinho disso em mim. Por serem os meus melhores amigos em todos os momentos. Por se preocuparem comigo permanentemente. Por todos os dias, invariavelmente, me conseguirem pôr um sorriso na cara, mesmo quando tudo parece mau. Por me terem proporcionado todos os dias da minha vida tudo o que eu sempre precisei para poder chegar aqui, e me apoiarem incondicionalmente em todas as minhas decisões. Por me darem tenacidade e força para lutar por aquilo que quero sem nunca desistir, por muito difícil que seja. Por nunca terem deixado de acreditar em mim, e por sempre se mostrarem orgulhosos, mesmo quando faço asneira da grossa. Por me fazerem acreditar que eu consigo realizar todos os meus sonhos. O maior deles é ver-vos sempre felizes. Obrigada.

Table of contents

Kevwords / Palavras-chave	iv
Abstract	
Resumo	vi
Chapter I - Introduction	
The Glutamatergic Synapse	
AMPA Receptors	(
Expression of AMPA receptors	-
AMPA receptor general structure and diversity	-
Subunit topology and tetrameric assembly	-
AMPA receptor diversity through alternative splicing, RNA editing and posttranslational modifications	ę
Regulation of AMPA receptors by protein interactions	1:
AMPA receptor subunit-specific intracellular interactions	1:
AMPA receptor transmembrane interactions	1:
AMPA receptor interaction with cell-adhesion molecules	1
AMPA receptor trafficking	1
Local dendritic synthesis of AMPA receptors	1
Surface dynamics of AMPA receptors	2
Synaptic Plasticity	2
Hebbian synaptic plasticity	24
Homeostatic synaptic plasticity	2
Homeostatic synaptic scaling	2
Molecular mechanisms of homeostatic synaptic scaling	3
Contactin-associated proteins	3
Expression and structure of Caspr1 and Caspr2	3
Biological functions of Caspr1 and Caspr2	3
Role in axonal organization, myelination and nerve conduction	3
Role in synaptic regulation, cell development and network activity	4
Implication of Caspr1 and Caspr2 in the pathogenesis of neurological and neuropsychiatric disorders	4
Objectives of the present study	4
Chapter II - Materials and Methods	4
Materials	5
Antibodies	5
Constructs and primers	5
Methods	5
Animals	54

Cell line culture – maintenance and transfection	54
Primary culture of cortical and hippocampal neurons (high-density and Banker low- density cultures)	55

Neuronal transfection	56
Anti-CASPR2 encephalitis patient – clinical history	56
Preparation of purified human IgG	57
In vitro paradigms	57
Immunocytochemistry	58
Live cell-based assays for human IgG titration and subtyping	58
Detection of antibody binding to the surface of live primary neurons and pre- adsorption assays to test binding specificity	59
Labelling of cell surface AMPARs	59
Human IgG internalization assays	60
Culture imaging and quantitative fluorescence analysis	60
Cell culture lysates	61
Tissue lysates	62
Immunoprecipitation assays	62
Purification of postsynaptic density fractions	63
Gel electrophoresis and Western Blot	63
Ribonucleoprotein Immunoprecipitation Protocol (RIP)	64
Semi-quantitative Real-time PCR	65
Generation of Lentivirus	67
Stereotactic surgeries	67
Paradigms for manipulation of visual experience	68
Primary visual cortex acute slice preparation	68
Electrophysiology	69
Statistical analysis	69

Chapter III - Homeostatic regulation of AMPARs by Caspr1 & ZBP1	
Summary	73
Introduction	75
Results	78
Caspr1 regulates total protein and mRNA levels of GluA1-containing AMPARs through an intracellular proline-rich domain	78
Caspr1 modulates the phosphorylation status of the RNA-binding protein ZBP1 through activation of the Src kinase signalling cascade	83
ZBP1 binds to GluA1 mRNA and further regulates the surface expression and synaptic content of GluA1-containing AMPARs	88
Caspr1 expression and ZBP1 function are both regulated during mechanisms of homeostatic synaptic plasticity	93
Caspr1 is required for the homeostatic synaptic scaling of GluA1-containing AMPARs in hippocampal neurons	96
ZBP1 is required for homeostatic synaptic scaling of GluA1-containing AMPARs in hippocampal neurons	103
The translational competence of ZBP1 is required for homeostatic scaling of synaptic GluA1-containing AMPARs	106
Discussion	111
Regulation of GluA1-containing AMPARs by Caspr1	111
Requirement of Caspr1 and ZBP1 for homeostatic synaptic scaling of GluA1- containing AMPARs	114

Physiological relevance of the proposed mechanism and potential implication in	119
neurological disorders	
Chapter IV - Homeostatic and experience-dependent regulation of AMPARs by Caspr2	123
Summary	125
Introduction	127
Results	131
Caspr2 localizes to excitatory synapses along dendrites, and it is present in isolated postsynaptic density fractions	131
Caspr2 interacts with the GluA1 subunit of AMPARs, and it is required to regulate surface GluA1-AMPARs in cortical synapses	133
Caspr2 is required for in vivo regulation of AMPAR function in the mouse visual cortex	137
Caspr2 is regulated by neuronal activity and its loss prevents the homeostatic synaptic scaling of GluA1-AMPARs in cortical neurons	140
Caspr2 is regulated by visual experience and it is required for visually-driven experience-dependent homeostatic plasticity	147
Discussion	152
Synaptic role of Caspr2 in the regulation of AMPAR trafficking and <i>in vivo</i> AMPAR- mediated synaptic transmission	153
Requirement of Caspr2 in the regulation of homeostatic synaptic scaling and <i>in vivo</i> experience-dependent homeostatic plasticity	157
How do the proposed mechanisms integrate with other known CASPR2 functions?	159
How far have we come in understanding the pathogenesis of CNTNAP2-related neuropsychiatric disorders?	161
Supplementary Data	163

of Caspr2	173	
Summary	175	
Introduction	177	
Results	181	
CASPR2 autoantibodies purified from a patient with autoimmune encephalitis specifically recognize and bind to Caspr2, altering its synaptic distribution	181	
CASPR2 autoantibodies disrupt cortical synaptic AMPAR trafficking and glutamatergic synaptic transmission in the mouse visual cortex	184	
CASPR2 autoantibodies prevent chemical LTP-, but not homeostatic synaptic scaling-induced AMPAR trafficking and synaptic insertion		
Patient-purified human immunoglobulins at the cell surface undergo time-dependent internalization	196	
Discussion	200	
Disrupted AMPAR function and glutamatergic synaptic transmission upon autoantibody-mediated loss of CASPR2 function	200	
CASPR2-Ab-mediated perturbation of synaptic plasticity events	203	
What are the underlying mechanisms behind the pathogenic effect of CASPR2- autoantibodies in CASPR2 and AMPAR function?	205	
How do the proposed mechanisms correlate with the pathophysiology of CASPR2 autoimmune encephaltis, and of other CNTNAP2-related neuropsychiatric disorders?	207	
Supplementary Data	210	

Chapter VI - Concluding remarks & Future perspectives	
Concluding remarks	217
Heads or tails - are Caspr1 and Caspr2 two sides of the same coin?	218
CASPR1 and CASPR2 dysfunction underlying the pathogenesis of neurological and neuropsychiatric disorders	219
Future perspectives	222
Role of Caspr1 and ZBP1 in the regulation of activity-dependent local protein synthesis of AMPARs at dendrites and nearby synapses	223
Pathogenic effect of disease-related <i>CNTNAP</i> 2 mutations in the regulation of AMPARs mediated by CASPR2	224
Causal link for pathogenesis mediated by CASPR2-autoantibodies - insights from an in vivo mouse model of passive antibody transfer	225
Chapter VII - References	227

Abbreviations

3'UTR	3'Untranslated region
λΡΡ	Lambda protein phosphatase
aCSF	Artificial cerebral spinal fluid
ADAM	Disintegrin and metalloproteinase domain-containing protein
AMCA	Aminomethylcoumarin Acetate
AMPA	α -amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazole propionic acid
AMPAR	AMPA receptors
ANOVA	Analysis of variance
APV	D-(-)-2-Amino-5-phosphonopentanoic acid
Arc	Activity-regulated cytoskeleton-associated protein
ASD	Autism-spectrum disorder
BDNF	Brain-derived neurotrophic factor
BSA	Bovine serum albumin
CAM	Cell-adhesion molecule
CaMKII	Calcium-calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II
Caspr1	Contactin-associated protein 1
Caspr1∆PRO	Contactin-associated protein 1 lacking a proline domain
Caspr1∆GNP	Contactin-associated protein 1 lacking a GNP motif
Caspr2	Contactin-associated protein 2
CDFE	Cortical dysplasia and focal epilepsy
cDNA	complimentary DNA
CNS	Central nervous system
CNTN	Contactin
CNTNAP	Contactin-associated protein
CSF	Cerebrospinal fluid
Ct	Cycle threshold
DE	Dark exposure
DIV	Days in vitro
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
ECF	Enhanced chemifluorescence
ECM	Extracellular matrix
EDTA	Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid
EGF	Epidermal growth factor
ER	Endoplasmic reticulum
FERM	Four-point-one, Ezrin, Radixin, Moesin
FMRP	Fragile X mental retardation protein
FXS	Fragile X Syndrome
GAP-43	Growth associated protein 43
GAPDH	Glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase
GFP	Green fluorescent protein

GluRs	Glutamate receptors			
GNP	Glycophorin C, Neurexin, Paranodin (GNP) motif			
GPI	Glycosylphosphatidyl inositol			
GRIP/ABP	Glutamate receptor interacting protein / AMPAR binding protein			
HBSS	Hank's balanced salt solution			
HEPES	N-(2-hydroxyethyl)piperazine-N'-(2-ethanesulfonic acid)			
ID	Intellectual disability			
lgG	Immunoglobulin G			
IP	Immunoprecipitation			
KD	Knock-down			
kDa	kiloDalton			
КН	hnRNP K homology domain			
ко	Knock-out			
LBD	Ligand binding domain			
LGI1	Leucine-rich glioma-inactivated 1			
LTD	Long-term depression			
LTP	Long-term potentiation			
MAGUK	Membrane associated guanylate kinase			
MAP2	Microtubule associated protein 2			
mEPSCs	Miniature excitatory postsynaptic currents			
MRI	Magnetic ressonance imaging			
mRNA	Messenger RNA			
NBM	Neurobasal medium			
NLG	Neuroligin			
NMDA	N-methyl D-aspartate			
NR	Normal reared			
NRX	Neurexin			
NTD	Amino terminal domain			
PBS	Phosphate buffered saline			
PDZ	Postsynaptic density-95 / Disc large / Zonula occludens-1 protein domain			
PGY	Proline, glycine, tyrosine (PGY) repeats			
PI3K	Phosphoinositide 3-kinase			
PICK1	Protein interacting with C-kinase 1			
plgGs	Purified immonuglobulins			
РКА	Protein kinase A			
РКС	Protein kinase C			
ΡLCγ	Phospholipase C gamma subunit			
PMSF	Phenylmethylsulfonyl fluoride			
PNS	Peripheral nervous system			
PSD	Postsynaptic density			
PSD95	Postsynaptic density protein 95			
PVDF	Polyvinylidene difluoride			

RA	Retinoic acid
RARα	Retinoic acid receptor-α
RBD	RNA-binding domain
RBP	RNA-binding protein
RIP	Ribonucleoprotein immunoprecipitation
RNA	Ribonucleic acid
RNP	Ribonucleoprotein
RRM	RNA recognition motif
RT	Room temperature
SAP97	Synapse-associated protein 97
SCZ	Schizophrenia
SDS	Sodium dodecyl sulfate
SDS-PAGE	SDS-polyacrylimide gel electrophoresis
SEM	Standard error of the mean
SH3	Src homology 3 domain
shRNA	Short hairpin ribonucleic acid
TARP	Transmembrane AMPAR-associated regulatory protein
TMD	Transmembrane domain
ΤΝFα	Tumor necrosis factor-α
ттх	Tetrodotoxin
V1	Primary visual cortex
V1-layer2/3	Layer 2/3 of the primary visual cortex
VGKC	Voltage-gated potassium channels
vGluT1	Vesicular glutamate transporter 1
WB	Western blot
wт	Wild-type
ZBP1	Zipcode-binding protein 1

Keywords

CASPR1 & CASPR2 Glutamate AMPA receptors Homeostatic synaptic plasticity Neuropsychiatric disorders Autoimmune encephalitis

Palavras-chave

CASPR1 & CASPR2 Receptores de glutamato do tipo AMPA Plasticidade homeostática Doenças neuropsiquiátricas Encefalite autoimune

Abstract

The human brain is distinctively unique due to its remarkable ability for complex language, higher cognition, emotion regulation and executive control of behaviour. Yet, these are precisely the brain functions impaired in several neurological and neuropsychiatric disorders that afflict a large percentage of the population worldwide. Emerging evidence in the field suggests that one potential functional process thought to be compromised in pathological conditions is homeostatic synaptic plasticity. This form of plasticity is able to modulate the overall activity of neuronal networks so that it never goes off-balance, even in face of constant changes, such as occurring during development, sensory experience or even during learning-related adaptations. At the molecular level, bidirectional compensatory changes in the postsynaptic accumulation of glutamate receptors of the AMPA-type are thought to be one cellular substrate to achieve neuronal homeostasis. However, full comprehension of the AMPAR regulatory mechanisms that underlie this form of plasticity, and of how such mechanisms can fail in the context of disease, is still elusive.

Contactin-associated proteins 1 and 2 (Caspr1 and Caspr2) are integral transmembrane cell-adhesion molecules that have received considerable attention in the past few years due to emerging roles in the regulation of synaptic, cellular and functional processes in the brain. Previous evidence from our laboratory identified Caspr1 as an AMPAR-interacting protein necessary to regulate the trafficking of surface AMPARs into synapses. However, the molecular mechanisms underlying this role of Caspr1 are still uncharacterized, and no link has yet been established between its role in AMPAR regulation and synaptic plasticity mechanisms. Herein, we describe a posttranscriptional mechanism orchestrated by Caspr1 and the RNA-binding protein ZBP1 in the regulation of AMPAR. We found that ZBP1 binds to the mRNA of the GluA1 subunit of AMPARs in an activity-dependent manner, and regulates synaptic levels of cell surface GluA1-containing AMPARs. During periods of prolonged activity inhibition, when homeostatic responses are elicited to upscale surface AMPARs, endogenous expression of Caspr1 is upregulated, and the phosphorylation of ZBP1 increases, resulting in a significant decrease in GluA1 mRNA molecules bound to ZBP1, suggesting an activitydependent release of GluA1 transcripts to undergo translation on demand. Importantly, when the expression of either Caspr1 or ZBP1 is lost, synaptic upscaling of AMPARs is compromised, indicating a specific requirement for both Caspr1 and ZBP1 in the regulation of postsynaptic AMPARs during homeostatic synaptic plasticity.

Mutations in the CASPR2-encoding gene *CNTNAP2* have been recurrently implicated in several neuropsychiatric disorders including autism, schizophrenia and intellectual disability. Recent findings have attributed an important function for CASPR2 in synapse regulation, but

the full-spectrum of mechanisms mediated by CASPR2 remains elusive. Importantly, it is still unclear how perturbations in CASPR2 function become pathogenic and drive the severe cognitive and psychiatric symptoms presented by patients. Herein, we find that Caspr2 is expressed in cortical excitatory synapses, and identify Caspr2 as a novel AMPAR-interacting protein capable of regulating the trafficking of AMPARs to synapses. Moreover, we demonstrate that loss of Caspr2 impairs AMPAR function and *in vivo* excitatory synaptic transmission in the cortex, and reveal a requirement for Caspr2 in the regulation of homeostatic mechanisms necessary for the expression of visually-driven experience-dependent plasticity.

Finally, autoantibodies targeting CASPR2 have been recently discovered in patients with autoimmune synaptic encephalitis that can manifest with severe memory deficits, cognitive impairments and psychosis. However, it is not clear to date if CASPR2 autoantibodies (CASPR2-Abs) perturb CASPR2 functions, and whether they can mediate a direct pathogenic effect that can drive the disease symptoms. Taking into consideration the role we describe for Caspr2 in the regulation of AMPARs, we hypothesized that CASPR2-Abs exert their pathogenic effect by disrupting this Caspr2 function. Using human immunoglobulin (IgGs) preparations from a patient with CASPR2 encephalitis, we found that patient IgGs significantly alter the synaptic distribution of Caspr2 and cell surface AMPARs. Moreover, patient IgGs hamper Caspr2 function *in vivo* and perturb basal glutamatergic synaptic transmission in the visual cortex of mice. Additionally, patient IgGs prevent the triggering of long-term potentiation, whilst sparing homeostatic synaptic scaling mechanisms. Finally, we reveal that patient IgGs bound to the neuronal surface can undergo time-dependent internalization, thus underpinning a likely mechanism of pathogenesis elicited by CASPR2-Abs.

Altogether, our findings identify Contactin-associated proteins as crucial regulators of glutamatergic synaptic transmission and synaptic plasticity mechanisms, and suggest that these processes are likely targets for the pathogenesis of several neurological and neuropsychiatric disorders, including those ensuing from genetic- or antibody-mediated disruptions of CASPR2.

Resumo

O cérebro humano é único, capaz de processos altamente complexos tal como cognição, formas de linguagem superior, regulação de emoções e controlo executivo do comportamento, que nos distinguem de outros mamíferos. No entanto, são precisamente estas as funções cerebrais afectadas em doenças neurológicas e do foro psiguiátrico, que atingem uma larga percentagem da população em todo o mundo. Evidências recentes sugerem que um dos processos cerebrais que possa estar comprometido em condições patológicas é a plasticidade homeostática. Esta forma de plasticidade é capaz de modular a actividade de redes neuronais de forma a mantê-la dentro de limites funcionais necessários para um adequado funcionamento do cérebro, mesmo face a constantes alterações potencialmente desestabilizadoras, como as que ocorrem durante o desenvolvimento neuronal, em resposta ao ambiente sensorial ou até durante processos de aprendizagem. Ao nível molecular, a homeostase neuronal é conseguida, por exemplo, através de alterações compensatórias e bidirecionais na acumulação pós-sináptica de receptores de glutamato do tipo AMPA (AMPAR). No entanto, os mecanismos regulatórios de AMPAR que estão na base deste tipo de plasticidade ainda não são completamente conhecidos, e não se compreende ainda de que forma estes mecanismos podem falhar num contexto de doença.

As proteínas 1 e 2 associadas à Contactina (Caspr1 e Caspr2) são moléculas de adesão celular que têm recebido considerável atenção nos últimos anos devido a novas funções que lhes foram atribuídas na regulação de processos sinápticos, celulares e funcionais do cérebro. Resultados anteriores obtidos no nosso laboratório identificaram a Caspr1 como uma nova interactora de receptores AMPA necessária para regular o seu tráfego para a sinapse. No entanto, os mecanismos moleculares que estão na base da função da Caspr1 ainda não foram caracterizados, e nenhuma relação foi ainda estabelecida entre a sua função na regulação de AMPAR e mecanismos de plasticidade sináptica. Neste estudo, descrevemos um novo mecanismo pós-transcripcional regulado pela Caspr1 e pela proteína de ligação a RNA, ZBP1. Descobrimos que a ZBP1 é capaz de se ligar ao RNA mensageiro da subunidade GluA1 dos AMPARs de uma forma dependente de actividade, e que regula os níveis sinápticos basais de AMPARs à superfície da célula. Durante períodos de bloqueio crónico de actividade, quando processos homeostáticos são activados para induzir o escalamento sináptico de AMPARs, a expressão endógena da Caspr1 é aumentada, bem como os níveis de fosforilação da ZBP1, o que reduz significativamente o número de moléculas de RNAm de GluA1 ligado à ZBP1, e sugere que a actividade neuronal poderá induzir uma libertação de transcriptos de GluA1 para que possam ser traduzidos quando necessário. Finalmente, inibição da expressão endógena da Caspr1 ou da ZBP1 compromete o escalamento sináptico de AMPARs, o que

indica que a Caspr1 e a ZBP1 são necessárias para a regulação de AMPARs durante mecanismos de plasticidade homeostática.

Mutações no gene codificante da Caspr2, *CNTNAP2*, foram já implicadas em várias doenças neuropsiquiátricas, incluindo autismo, esquizofrenia e défice intelectual. Evidências recentes sugerem que a Caspr2 tem um importante papel na sinapse, no entanto não se conhecem ainda os mecanismos através dos quais a Caspr2 regula a função sináptica. Além disso, é ainda incerto de que forma perturbações na função da CASPR2 se podem tornar patogénicas e causar o desenvolvimento de sintomas cognitivos e psiquiátricos nos pacientes. Neste estudo vimos que a Caspr2 é bastante expressa em sinapses excitatórias do cortéx, e identificámos a Caspr2 como uma nova proteína interactora de AMPARs capaz de regular o seu tráfego para a sinapse. Adicionalmente, demonstrámos que inibição da expressão endógena da Caspr2 perturba a função de AMPARs e a transmissão sináptica excitatória *in vivo*, e revelámos que a Caspr2 é necessária para mecanismos de escalamento sináptico que regulam a expressão de plasticidade sináptica induzida *in vivo* por experiência visual.

Autoanticorpos contra a CASPR2 foram recentemente identificados em pacientes com encefalite autoimune, que podem apresentar graves défices de memória, perturbações cognitivas e psicose. No entanto, não se sabe ainda se os autoanticorpos contra a CASPR2 perturbam a sua função, e se poderão mediar um efeito patogénico directo que possa ser causal para o desenvolvimento dos sintomas da doença. Tendo em consideração o papel que descrevemos para a Caspr2 na regulação de AMPARs, colocamos a hipótese de os autoanticorpos exercerem o seu efeito patogénico por disrupção desta função da Caspr2. Usando amostras de imunoglobulinas humanas purificadas a partir do plasma de um paciente com encefalite anti-CASPR2, descobrimos que estas alteram significativamente a distribuição sináptica da Caspr2 endógena e de AMPAR superficiais. Adicionalmente, vimos que as IgGs do paciente bloqueiam a função da Caspr2 in vivo e perturbam a transmissão glutamatérgica no córtex visual de ratinhos. Vimos também que as IgGs do paciente inibem a indução de mecanismos de potenciação de longo-termo, embora o escalamento sináptico se mantenha intacto. Finalmente, revelamos que IgGs do paciente que se ligam à superfície neuronal são internalizadas ao longo do tempo, sugerindo assim um potencial mecanismo patogénico induzido por estes anticorpos.

Em conclusão, os nossos resultados identificam as proteínas Casprs como reguladoras fundamentais da transmissão glutamatérgica e de mecanismos de plasticidade homeostática, e sugere que estes processos sejam facilmente perturbados no contexto de doença e contribuam assim para a patogénese de doenças neuropsiquiátricas, nomeadamente para doenças associadas à Caspr2.

Chapter I Introduction

Part of the information revised in this chapter is included in the following published review:

Dominique Fernandes & Ana Luísa Carvalho (2016). Mechanisms of homeostatic plasticity in the excitatory synapse. *Journal of Neurochemistry*. **139**(6): 973-996.

The mammalian central nervous system (CNS) is, like no other system, remarkably complex. All brain processes, from the control of simple reflexes to higher-order brain functions, such as learning, memory and other processes that define human behaviour, are possible due to the intricate connectivity between neurons in the brain. The adult human brain has roughly 100 billion neurons, each potentially participating in thousands of connections. These connections, known as synapses, allow neurons to communicate with each other and establish functional neuronal circuits. To ensure a proper wiring of the neuronal circuitry, a highly complex sequence of events takes place. In broad terms, neurons, guided by specific extracellular cues, are able to send axonal branches to precise spatial locations in receptive dendrites, where synapse formation is triggered (O'Donnell *et al.*, 2009). Subsequent sensory experience refines circuitry through a combination of synapse maturation and pruning mechanisms, linking neurons that are active together in a functional context (Caroni *et al.*, 2012; Lu *et al.*, 2009a; Volk *et al.*, 2015). Finally, the continual change in neuronal communication occurs through an exquisite activity-dependent and long-lasting regulation of the mature synapses, a cellular mechanism best known as synaptic plasticity.

At individual synapses, synaptic transmission can be regulated either at the presynaptic side, by changing the efficacy of neurotransmitter release, or at the apposing postsynaptic side, by altering the type, density or properties of neurotransmitter receptors.

The Glutamatergic Synapse

Glutamatergic synapses convey most of the fast excitatory neurotransmission in the CNS, and intact glutamate signalling is thus critical for the majority of sensory processing and cognitive function. In a functionally mature glutamatergic synapse (Figure 1.1), presynaptic compartments are enriched with glutamate-filled synaptic vesicles and specialized active zones that support the release of glutamate to the synaptic cleft in response to depolarization of the presynaptic nerve terminal (Sudhof, 2013; Volk *et al.*, 2015). Postsynaptically, glutamate acts on two distinct categories of glutamate receptors (GluRs): metabotropic receptors (mGluRs) and ionotropic receptors (iGluRs), which differ in their molecular, biochemical, pharmacological and physiological properties (Hollmann & Heinemann, 1994; Kew & Kemp, 2005).

Metabotropic glutamate receptors are coupled to G proteins and their activation generates intracellular secondary messengers. As such, they mediate slow synaptic responses, occurring within seconds or even minutes. mGluRs can be located both presynaptically or postsynaptically, depending on receptor subtype. However, on the postsynaptic side, metabotropic receptors are mainly located perisynaptically, outside of the active zone of the synapse (Ferraguti & Shigemoto, 2006; Okabe, 2007).

lonotropic glutamate receptors usually mediate fast synaptic responses (in the order of milliseconds), due to their ligand-gated ion channel conformation. Upon binding by glutamate, the channel pore opens, triggering a rapid influx of cations that results in membrane depolarization of the postsynaptic neuron. Mammalian iGluRs [reviewed in (Smart & Paoletti, 2012)] exhibit great diversity and are encoded by a total of 18 genes that assemble into four major families, according to their electrophysiological properties and most selective agonists (Table 1.1): alpha-amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid receptors (AMPARs), kainate (KARs), N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDARs) and delta (deltaRs) receptors (Dingledine *et al.*, 1999; Hollmann *et al.*, 1989; Nakanishi & Masu, 1994; Seeburg, 1993; Watkins, 1981).

Table 1.1 – The four families of iGluRs. Each subunit is encoded by a different gene, and there is no known mixing between subunits of different families. Functional receptors only form between subunits within the same family. [Adapted from (Smart & Paoletti, 2012)].

Ionotropic glutamate receptors (iGluRs)			
AMPARs	KainateRs	NMDARs	DeltaRs
GluA1 GluA2 GluA3 GluA4	GluK1 GluK4 GluK2 GluK5 GluK3	GluN1* GluN2A GluN3A* GluN2B GluN3B* GluN2C GluN2D	GluD1 GluD2*

* These subunits bind glycine or D-serine.

At the synapse, iGluRs are highly accumulated in clusters at the postsynaptic density (PSD), a functional specialization of the postsynaptic membrane (Figure 1.1). This dense and rich protein network is comprised not only of the glutamate receptors, but also of a set of anchoring and scaffolding molecules that bind to the receptors, as well as to cell-adhesion molecules, signalling enzymes and cytoskeletal components, thus holding the PSD together [reviewed in (Harris & Weinberg, 2012; Sheng & Kim, 2011)]. AMPARs, NMDARs and KARs can also be expressed presynaptically (Corlew *et al.*, 2008; Jane *et al.*, 2009; Schenk & Matteoli, 2004), where they can act by altering neurotransmitter release.



Figure 1.1 – Molecular organization of glutamatergic synapses. Simplified diagram of the main proteins that compose a glutamatergic synapse. A typical mature glutamatergic synapse is composed of a presynaptic compartment packed with membrane proteins (e.g., voltage-gated ion channels, mGluRs, and cell-adhesion molecules), neurotransmitter-filled synaptic vesicles, and SNARE protein complexes for vesicle fusion and glutamate release. This is opposed by a postsynaptic spine containing membrane proteins [e.g., iGluRs (AMPARs and NMDARs), mGluRs, voltage-gated ion channels, and cell-adhesion molecules], extensive scaffolding proteins, endosomes, and local protein translation machinery. [Adapted from (Volk *et al.*, 2015)].

AMPARs and KARs are voltage-independent ion channels, permeable to Na⁺ and K⁺, which allow a net depolarizing influx of cations upon activation with glutamate, making them responsible for most of the fast excitatory synaptic transmission. KARs, however, are thought to have more of a modulatory than a direct role at the synapse (Contractor *et al.*, 2011; Jane *et al.*, 2009; Lerma, 2006). Despite sharing high sequence homology with other iGluR families (Lomeli *et al.*, 1993; Yamazaki *et al.*, 1992), DeltaRs are the least understood iGluRs largely because, in contrast with the other families, their apparent incapacity to gate an ion channel following ligand binding makes them electrically "silent" (Kohda *et al.*, 2000; Schmid *et al.*, 2009). Unlike AMPARs, which have a great influence in the strength of the fast immediate synaptic response (Esteban, 2003; Ozawa *et al.*, 1998), NMDARs are ligand-gated ion channels that, at resting membrane potential, remain silent with a voltage-dependent magnesium blockade, even in the presence of glutamate and the coagonist glycine (Kauer *et al.*, 1988; Watkins, 1981). However, if the cell depolarizes, Mg²⁺ dissociates from its binding

site within the NMDAR channel pore, allowing a maximal influx of Ca²⁺, as well as Na⁺, into the dendritic spine, which activates intracellular signalling cascades ultimately responsible for altering synaptic efficacy. Hence, NMDARs function as molecular coincidence detectors, since they open only when both the pre- and postsynaptic neurons are active, and this is of particular importance for the induction of specific forms of synaptic plasticity, such as long-term potentiation (LTP) and long-term depression (LTD) (Bear & Malenka, 1994; Luscher & Malenka, 2012; Malenka & Nicoll, 1999).

It is clear that iGluRs are very diverse and each receptor subtype displays unique functional properties. In vivo, the diversity of these receptors ultimately varies with gene expression in a given neuron, and even within the same neuron, iGluR subtypes can differ from one synapse to another in an input-specific manner. The synaptic content of iGluR subtypes, and the subunit composition of the receptors within the same family, is highly dynamic and varies according to developmental stages, synaptic activity and even disease (Bellone & Nicoll, 2007; Liu & Cull-Candy, 2000; Mameli et al., 2007; Smart & Paoletti, 2012). Importantly, iGluRs, and in particular NMDARs and AMPARs, are essential for the induction and maintenance of synaptic plasticity mechanisms, which continually change synaptic efficacy and constitute the cellular substrate of learning and memory [reviewed in (Luscher & Malenka, 2012)]. Despite many forms of plasticity being dependent on the activation of NMDARs, AMPARs are the workhorse of glutamatergic transmission. Indeed, growing evidence show that changes in AMPARs, from phosphorylation/dephosphorylation events to their insertion or removal from the PSD, underlie the changes in synaptic strength associated with synaptic plasticity (Bredt & Nicoll, 2003; Carvalho et al., 2000; Derkach et al., 2007; Gomes et al., 2003; Jiang et al., 2006; Lee et al., 2010; Santos et al., 2009).

AMPA Receptors

The major mediators of the primary depolarization in glutamatergic neurotransmission are AMPARs, which drive large and rapid synaptic responses. Because they play key roles in synaptic plasticity, they are targets for dynamic regulation of multiple mechanisms that range from post-transcriptional and post-translational modifications of receptor subunits to alterations in traffic and cellular distribution of AMPARs. These regulated modifications in AMPARs ultimately underlie activity-dependent and long-lasting changes in synaptic strength and efficacy [reviewed in (Anggono & Huganir, 2012; Derkach *et al.*, 2007; Kessels & Malinow, 2009; Santos *et al.*, 2009; Shepherd & Huganir, 2007)].

Expression of AMPA receptors

AMPARs are composed of four homologous subunits, GluA1 – GluA4 (Hollmann & Heinemann, 1994) encoded by four closely related genes, with about 70% sequence homology (Collingridge *et al.*, 2004). They comprise about 900 amino acids, have a molecular weight of about 105 kDa and assemble in tetramers (see Figure 1.2) to form AMPARs with different properties (Ozawa *et al.*, 1998; Rosenmund *et al.*, 1998; Santos *et al.*, 2009; Sobolevsky *et al.*, 2009). In conformity with their key role in excitatory neurotransmission, AMPARs are widely distributed throughout the brain, although the expression of the receptor subunits is brain region-specific and developmentally regulated (Santos *et al.*, 2009; Shepherd & Huganir, 2007). GluA1-GluA3 subunits seem to be ubiquitous, but particularly enriched in the cerebral cortex, hippocampus and amygdala (Keinanen *et al.*, 1990), whereas the GluA4 subunit is abundant in the cerebellum in the adult brain (Petralia & Wenthold, 1992). Curiously, despite being almost inexistent in the mature hippocampus, GluA4-containing AMPARs are primarily expressed in early postnatal development, in detriment of other subunits (Esteban, 2003; Zhu *et al.*, 2000).

AMPA receptor general structure and diversity

Subunit topology and tetrameric assembly

Functional AMPARs are formed by the association of two dimers in tetramers, composed of either homomers of the same AMPAR subunit, or heteromers of two differing subunits, typically GluA1/2 or GluA2/3 (Lu *et al.*, 2009b; Rosenmund *et al.*, 1998). Each individual subunit presents a characteristic modular organization that includes: i) an extracellular N-terminal domain (NTD) responsible for subunit-specific receptor assembly and modulation; ii) the ligand-binding domain (LBD); iii) the transmembrane domain (TMD), composed of three membrane-spanning segments (M1-M4) plus a short re-entrant membrane loop (M2) that forms the ion pore; and iv) the final intracellular C-terminal domain (Figure 1.2A). The individual subunits will then assemble to form the tetrameric channel (Greger & Esteban, 2007; Greger *et al.*, 2007; Madden, 2002). In 2009, Gouaux and colleagues were able to determine the first accurate atomic resolution of the subunit arrangement and tetrameric architecture of a full-length homomeric GluA2 AMPAR, through crystallographic studies (Figure 1.2B/C) (Sobolevsky *et al.*, 2009). This study confirmed some of the predictions for AMPAR assembly, but also uncovered some unanticipated features. The extracellular NTD and LBD domains are organized as dimers with an overall two-fold symmetry, whereas the pore region, formed by

the TMD, presents a typical four-fold symmetry (Figure 1.2C). Besides the symmetry mismatch, the GluA2 ultrastructure revealed the occurrence of domain swapping and crossover between subunits. The tetrameric complex presents two distinct pairs of subunits, referred to as A/C and B/D (Figure 1.2C). While at the level of the NTD the dimer pairs are A– B and C–D, at the level of the LBD, the dimer pairs interchange between subunits (A–D and B–C dimers) (Figure 1.2C). This pairwise arrangement is abolished in the TMD, in which four independent but equivalent subunits have four-fold symmetry [(Sobolevsky *et al.*, 2009), and reviewed in (Wollmuth & Traynelis, 2009)].





[Figure 1.2 - subtitle on the next page]
Figure 1.2 – Modular topology of AMPAR subunits and their tetrameric assembly. (A) Membrane topology of AMPAR subunits and schematic representation of the tetrameric channel. Each individual subunit is composed of an extracellular N-terminal, a ligand binding domain, four transmembrane domains and a final intracellular C-terminal. [Adapted from (Shepherd & Huganir, 2007)]. (B, C) Crystallographic structure of the AMPA GluA2 homotetrameric receptor. (Sobolevsky et al., 2009). (B) Surface representation of the AMPAR with four subunits of identical amino-acid sequence (A-D) coloured green (A), red (B), blue (C) and yellow (D). The tetramer shows a typical layer organization with the extracellular NTD and LBD domains, and the TMD that forms the ion channel. The circles indicate competitive antagonists (grey) occupying the agonist-recognition sites. (C) Top-down view of the NTD, LBD and TMD, illustrating domain swapping and symmetry mismatch (between LBD and TMD). The dashed lines in ATD and LBD indicate a dimer containing the A subunit, which in the NTD associates with the B subunit, but in the LBD associates with the D subunit. The TMD shows four-fold symmetry. Because the LBD is bound by an antagonist, the permeation pore, located in the centre of the TMD, is closed. [Adapted from (Wollmuth & Traynelis, 2009)].

AMPA receptor diversity through alternative splicing, RNA editing and posttranslational modifications

The AMPAR ultrastructure determined by Gouaux (mentioned in the section above) focused on the extracellular and transmembrane regions of the receptors, which are highly homologous between different subunits. However, the intracellular C-tails are the most structurally and functionally divergent region among AMPAR subunits, playing crucial roles in controlling AMPAR function, including receptor trafficking and stabilization at synapses (Anggono & Huganir, 2012; Greger & Esteban, 2007; Santos et al., 2009). The GluA1, GluA4, and an alternative splice form of GluA2 (GluA2L) have long cytoplasmic tails with high homology (Figure 1.3). In contrast, the predominant splice form of GluA2, GluA3, and an alternative splice form of GluA4 (Glu4c) have shorter, homologous cytoplasmic tails (Figure 1.3). Expression of these subunits undoubtedly changes the properties of AMPARs. For instance, receptors composed of subunits with short C-tails (e.g. GluA2/3) are able to cycle continuously in and out of the synapse (Passafaro et al., 2001; Shi et al., 2001), whereas AMPARs containing long C-tails (e.g. GluA1/2) are added to synapses in an activity-dependent manner (Hayashi et al., 2000; Shi et al., 2001). Alternative splicing of the C-terminal domains can further determine the binding of subunits to specific interacting proteins or dictate the type of posttranslational modification the subunits undergo (Figure 1.3) (Shepherd & Huganir, 2007). The long-tailed GluA1 subunit is able to bind to the actin-binding protein 4.1N (Shen et al., 2000) and to SAP97 (Synapse-associated protein 97) (Leonard et al., 1998), which regulate the trafficking and surface expression of AMPARs. On the other hand, short-tailed AMPAR subunits like GluA2 can interact with GRIP (Glutamate receptor-interacting protein) (Dong et *al.*, 1997), ABP (AMPA receptor-binding protein) (Srivastava *et al.*, 1998), and PICK1 (Protein interacting with C-kinase 1) (Dev *et al.*, 1999; Xia *et al.*, 1999) to regulate the stabilization and recycling of the subunit in and out of the synapse.

AMPARs can further be diversified through posttranslational modifications such as glycosylation, palmitovlation, sumovlation, ubiguitination and phosphorylation and these changes can be subunit-specific [reviewed in (Jiang et al., 2006; Lu & Roche, 2012)]. Phosphorylation, for instance, has been described to modify and regulate all four AMPAR subunits, but through distinct signalling mediators and in different target regions (Figure 1.3) (Jiang et al., 2006; Lee, 2006). Four distinct phosphorylation sites have already been reported in the intracellular C-tail of the GluA1 subunit alone. The first identified site was a serine residue 831 (S831) prone to be phosphorylated by protein kinase C (PKC) (Roche et al., 1996) and calcium-calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II (CaMKII) (Mammen et al., 1997). Serine 845 (S845) was identified as a target site for protein kinase A (PKA) and cGMP-dependent protein kinase II (cGKII) phosphorylation (Roche et al., 1996; Serulle et al., 2007). Serine 818 (S818) and Threonine 840 (T840) were only later discovered to be major regulatory phosphorylation sites of PKC in GluA1 (Boehm et al., 2006; Lee et al., 2007). Phosphorylation of these residues is thought to be important for regulating AMPAR trafficking and synaptic insertion, as well as the induction of synaptic plasticity events (Carvalho et al., 2000; Jiang et al., 2006; Lu & Roche, 2012). Phosphorylation of S831 is increased with LTP (Lee et al., 1998), however, it does not seem required for synaptic insertion of receptors (Hayashi et al., 2000) and S831 phosphodead knockin mice have intact hippocampal LTP (Lee et al., 2010). Similarly, knockin mice lacking phosphorylation at S845 express normal LTP (Lee et al., 2010), although mutations in the residue prevent the delivery of GluA1 to synapses (Esteban et al., 2003). Interestingly, LTP is impaired in double knockin mice lacking phosphorylation in both S831 and S845, indicating that, while none of the residues is absolutely required, they can substitute one another and be sufficient for LTP induction (Lee et al., 2003). Phosphorylation of S818 by PKC, on the other hand, is critical for the synaptic insertion and stabilization of GluA1-AMPARs and for LTP induction (Boehm et al., 2006). By contrast, GluA1 phosphorylation on T840 seems to have an important role in hippocampal LTD, and not LTP (Delgado et al., 2007; Lee et al., 2007).



Figure 1.3 – Schematic representation of the intracellular C-terminal region of AMPAR subunits. Sequence alignment of the intracellular C-terminal region of the longtailed (GluA1, GluA2L and GluA4) and short-tailed (GluA2, GluA3 and GluA4c) AMPAR subunits. Phosphorylation sites for each subunit and binding sites for interacting proteins are underlined and highlighted in red or with boxes, respectively. [Adapted from (Santos *et al.*, 2009)].

AMPAR function is further diversified by RNA processing events, including alternative splicing and RNA editing. In the adult brain, particularly at mature hippocampal synapses, AMPARs consist predominantly of GluA1/2 or GluA2/3 subunits. The presence of the GluA2 subunit in the receptors has a profound effect on the channel properties of AMPARs. Following transcription, the GluA2 subunit mRNA undergoes RNA editing in the channel pore-encoding region (Q/R site), whereby the RNA coding for a glutamine (Q) residue is exchanged for the RNA coding for arginine (R), which has a positive charge, thus preventing divalent ions from entering the cell (Figure 1.2A). As such, GluA2-lacking receptors have a high Ca²⁺ permeability, as opposed to GluA2-containing receptors that are highly impermeable to Ca²⁺. Besides calcium permeability, this Q/R editing also regulates channel conductance properties, endoplasmic reticulum (ER) export kinetics, and subunit assembly into functional receptors (Geiger *et al.*, 1995; Greger *et al.*, 2003; Greger *et al.*, 2002; Mansour *et al.*, 2001; Sommer *et al.*, 1991; Swanson *et al.*, 1997).

Regulation of AMPA receptors by protein interactions

Unquestionably, the presence of AMPARs at synapses is of major importance. AMPARs not only mediate basic synaptic functions, but are fundamental for plasticity events that allow synaptic strengthening. As such, mechanisms that allow trafficking and stabilization of AMPARs at synapses are carefully regulated. These regulatory mechanisms are only possible through a myriad of proteins that interact with AMPARs and regulate their function. Indeed, accessory and scaffolding proteins interact with AMPARs at numerous subcellular domains. As previously mentioned, because the intracellular C-tail of AMPARs contains several regulatory domains, this region is particularly targeted by distinct binding partners, which can be subunit-specific. However, several proteins, from transmembrane proteins to cell-adhesion complexes, were found interacting with extracellular domains of AMPARs, thus contributing to the idea that AMPARs are subject to complex regulation.

The large collection, certainly still incomplete, of AMPAR partners identified and characterized until today has given an insight not only on the roles of individual interactors regulating AMPARs, but on how these partners influence one another to function within an intricate network in the synapse. Importantly, the discovery of AMPAR partners has begun to explain the details of how AMPARs reach the synapse and how they are regulated upon activity within the PSD to modulate synaptic function (Anggono & Huganir, 2012; Bredt & Nicoll, 2003; Cheng *et al.*, 2012; Henley, 2003; Jackson & Nicoll, 2011; Jacobi & von Engelhardt, 2017; Sheng & Kim, 2011).

AMPA receptor subunit-specific intracellular interactions

AMPA receptor insertion in the synaptic membrane involves tightly regulated events that depend on the subunit composition of the receptor and on specific signals contained within their C-termini. As previously mentioned, the C-tails are highly divergent between AMPAR subunits and each can be targeted by specific interacting proteins.

SAP97 was the first protein reported to directly interact with the GluA1 subunit (Figure 1.3), through a PDZ domain (Leonard *et al.*, 1998), and it allows the transport of GluA1containing AMPARs from the ER and Golgi apparatus to the plasma membrane (Sans *et al.*, 2001). Also, SAP97 highly accumulates at GluA1-containing synapses and recruits PKA to GluA1, suggesting that it could further act to facilitate GluA1 phosphorylation and its trafficking to the synapse (Colledge *et al.*, 2000; Valtschanoff *et al.*, 2000). Protein 4.1N is an actinbinding protein highly expressed in excitatory synapses, where it interacts and binds to the intracellular C-tail of GluA1 to regulate its surface expression (Figure 1.3) (Shen *et al.*, 2000). Disrupting 4.1N binding to GluA1 decreases the surface expression of the receptor (Coleman *et al.*, 2003), whereas enhancing the interaction by phosphorylation of GluA1 in S816 and S818, promotes exocytosis of AMPARs in a PKC-dependent manner (Lin *et al.*, 2009). Importantly, loss of 4.1N expression decreases the insertion of GluA1 on extrasynaptic sites and impairs the maintenance of LTP (Lin *et al.*, 2009).

The GluA2 subunit is also target to specific interacting proteins, previously mentioned, that regulate its trafficking in and out of the synapse (Figure 1.3). GRIP and ABP are both localized in synapses where they bind to a PDZ domain of GluA2 and promote its anchoring in the synapse. Blocking the interaction of GRIP/ABP with GluA2 by specifically mutating the GluA2 PDZ domain accelerates the endocytosis of the receptor (Osten *et al.*, 2000). Despite also binding to the PDZ domain of GluA2 (Chung *et al.*, 2000), PICK1 acts to promote the receptor endocytosis. PICK1 is able to chaperone AMPARs with activated PKC, which, in turn, phosphorylates GluA2 and promotes its binding to PICK1, resulting in the endocytosis of GluA2 (Lin & Huganir, 2007; Terashima *et al.*, 2004).

AMPA receptor transmembrane interactions

Transmembrane AMPAR-associated proteins (TARPs) bind to AMPARs within a stable complex at the cell surface, and are able to regulate AMPAR functions, including targeting and mediating surface trafficking of the receptors to the synapse [reviewed in (Jackson & Nicoll, 2011; Nicoll et al., 2006; Opazo et al., 2012; Straub & Tomita, 2012; Ziff, 2007). Stargazin (also known as TARP y2) and its closely related TARPs y3, y4 and y8 proteins interact with AMPARs early in the secretory pathway to control their assembly, maturation and trafficking (Tomita et al., 2003). The C-terminal domain of Stargazin is a substrate for phosphorylation by CaMKII, and this regulation promotes the interaction of Stargazin with PSD95 (Schnell et al., 2002; Sumioka et al., 2010), which, in turn, allows the trapping of AMPAR complexes in the postsynaptic density (Bats et al., 2007; Opazo et al., 2010). Importantly, Stargazin phosphorylation is crucial for synaptic plasticity events. Tomita and colleagues showed that phosphorylation/dephosphorylation of Stargazin can bidirectionally regulate Hebbian plasticity, being required for the induction of either LTP or LTD, respectively (Tomita et al., 2005). Moreover, a recent study from our lab demonstrated that Stargazin, and its phosphorylation, is further required for synaptic scaling of AMPARs, playing an important role in the induction of homeostatic and experience-dependent plasticity (Louros et al., 2014).

Several other transmembrane proteins were more recently identified as auxiliary subunits to AMPARs and important for their regulation. Cornichons, for example, can be found associated with native AMPARs together with TARPs, possibly controlling the stoichiometry of TARPs associated with receptors. Cornichons further act to modulate channel properties of the receptor and regulate AMPAR surface expression (Schwenk *et al.*, 2009). Genetic deletion of cornichon family members CNIH-2 and -3 together causes a profound and selective loss of synaptic and surface GluA1-containing AMPARs (Herring *et al.*, 2013). SynDIG1 (Synapse Differentiation Induced Gene 1) was very recently identified as a new transmembrane regulator of AMPAR content at developing hippocampal synapses. SynDIG1 seems to be important to cluster GluA2-containing AMPARs in extrasynaptic sites; however, overexpression of SynDIG1 induces a selective increase in the synaptic content of GluA1 (Kalashnikova *et al.*, 2010).

AMPA receptor interaction with cell-adhesion molecules

Synaptic cell-adhesion molecules (CAMs) are usually localized in very close proximity to the synaptic cleft. These molecules interact in a homo- or heterophilic fashion across the synaptic cleft and are able to bridge pre- and postsynaptic specializations (trans-synaptic complexes) that are fundamental for synaptic formation, differentiation and maturation [Figure 1.4, extensively reviewed in (Bukalo & Dityatev, 2012; Dalva et al., 2007; McMahon & Diaz, 2011; Murase & Schuman, 1999)]. However, recent studies show that synaptic CAMs are not merely static structural components of the synapse, but are often dynamic modulators of synaptic function, able to regulate AMPARs and synaptic plasticity events. Integrins are transmembrane heterodimers of α - and β -subunits shown to be highly accumulated in synapses (Chavis & Westbrook, 2001; Einheber et al., 1996; Mortillo et al., 2012). Several studies using inhibitors or mutant/knockout mice for β 1 integrins revealed an impairment in basal excitatory synaptic transmission through AMPARs as well as in the induction of hippocampal LTP (Chan et al., 2003; Chan et al., 2006; Huang et al., 2006b; McGeachie et al., 2011). More recent studies have also shown that postsynaptic β 3 integrins interact with the C-terminal of GluA2, and disruption of this interaction promotes GluA2 endocytosis, reducing AMPAR-mediated currents. On the other hand, overexpression of β3 integrins increases synaptic currents mediated by GluA2-containing AMPARs. Importantly, β3 integrin expression is bidirectionally regulated by manipulation of neuronal activity and its interaction with GluA2 is fundamental for the expression of homeostatic synaptic scaling mechanisms (Cingolani & Goda, 2008; Cingolani et al., 2008; Pozo et al., 2012; Thalhammer & Cingolani, 2014).

Cadherins also play a role in AMPAR regulation. N-cadherin is the most prominent cadherin in the brain and it mediates homophilic adhesions in a Ca²⁺-dependent manner (Figure 1.4). Its intracellular C-tail binds to the cognate β -catenin, a PDZ-containing protein, which provides a link to the cytoskeleton and allows regulation of dendritic spine morphology (Fannon & Colman, 1996; Hirano & Takeichi, 2012; Uchida *et al.*, 1996). Recently, it has been shown that postsynaptic N-cadherin and β -catenin bind to and form a complex with the GluA2 subunit of AMPARs to regulate AMPAR surface expression (Nuriya & Huganir, 2006; Saglietti *et al.*, 2007). Furthermore, it is well established that preventing N-cadherin adhesion blocks the remodelling of dendritic spine morphology and the induction of LTP (Bozdagi *et al.*, 2000; Bozdagi *et al.*, 2010). More recent studies also provide evidence that β -catenin, and to a lesser extent N-cadherin, plays a key role in the regulation of AMPAR synaptic content in response to chronic deprivation of activity (Okuda *et al.*, 2007; Vitureira *et al.*, 2012).



Figure 1.4 – Molecular distribution of trans-synaptic cell-adhesion molecules known to regulate synaptic function. Cell-adhesion molecules connect pre- and postsynaptic sites through homophilic (e.g. cadherins, protocadherins) and heterophilic (e.g. neuroligins-neurexins, Caspr2 and contactins) interactions and have roles in synapse development, function and plasticity. These CAMs also interact with several cytoplasmic proteins, namely synaptic scaffolding proteins, cytoskeletal proteins and signalling molecules, all of which are involved in synapse function and plasticity. The expression and localization of CAMs can be modulated by neuronal activity, contributing to the regulation of synaptic strength and sculpting of the molecular components of the synapse. Proteins labelled in red have already been implicated in Autism spectrum disorder (ASD) or intellectual disability (ID) [Adapted from (Betancur *et al.*, 2009)].

Chapter I

Neuroligins (NLGs) constitute a family of cell-adhesion proteins that bind transsynaptically to presynaptic neurexins (NRXs) and are crucial for the formation and specification of synaptic properties (Figure 1.4) (Bukalo & Dityatev, 2012; Krueger et al., 2012; McMahon & Diaz, 2011; Sudhof, 2008). Despite extensive knowledge on their role as synaptic organizers, NLGs and NRXs are now thought to also play roles in the regulation of AMPARs. At the postsynaptic membrane, the interaction between NLGs and NRXs results in an increased clustering of PSD95, with increased subunit-specific accumulation of GluA2-AMPARs (Heine et al., 2008b). Interestingly, alternative splicing of a member of the neurexin family, NRX3, is able to trans-synaptically control the postsynaptic trafficking of AMPARs: inclusion of a splicing sequence in NRX3 that blocks its binding to NLGs enhances AMPAR endocytosis and abrogates AMPAR recruitment during the induction of LTP (Aoto et al., 2013). Furthermore, recent studies by Südhof and collaborators demonstrated that an autism-associated point mutation in the cytoplasmic tail of NLGs selectively impairs GluA1-containing AMPAR trafficking to synapses and significantly decreases AMPAR-mediated synaptic transmission (Chanda et al., 2015; Etherton et al., 2011). Other postsynaptic neurexin-interacting proteins similar to NLGs, the LRRTMs (leucine-rich repeat transmembrane neuronal), also bind transsynaptically to NRXs to promote formation of excitatory synapses (de Wit et al., 2009; Ko et al., 2009; Linhoff et al., 2009). Moreover, specific knockdown of LRRTM2 results in a significant reduction in GluA1 synaptic content (de Wit et al., 2009), and in vivo loss of LRRTM2 further impairs AMPAR-mediated currents and maintenance of LTP (Soler-Llavina et al., 2013; Soler-Llavina et al., 2011).

AMPA receptor trafficking

Long-lasting changes in synaptic strength in response to neuronal activity occur through exquisitely regulated changes in the number of AMPARs present in synapses. Interestingly, these receptors are not static components of the synaptic membrane. Instead, they are highly dynamic and are continuously being delivered and removed in and out of the synapse (Figure 1.6). This cycling is dependent on relative rates of exocytosis and endocytosis of the receptors at the postsynaptic membrane and these processes are at the basis of synaptic plasticity events (Anggono & Huganir, 2012; Huganir & Nicoll, 2013; Jacobi & von Engelhardt, 2017; Kessels & Malinow, 2009; Shepherd & Huganir, 2007). Because neurons are highly polarized and arborized, they pose many unique problems for the trafficking of membrane proteins, when compared to other cell types. As such, new AMPARs synthesized in the cell body have to travel long distances and undergo a series of trafficking steps before being delivered to distal

16

synapses. After synthesis and processing in the ER and Golgi apparatus, respectively, AMPARs can be transported to synapses through several possible pathways (Anggono & Huganir, 2012; Derkach *et al.*, 2007; Groc & Choquet, 2006; Jacobi & von Engelhardt, 2017; Santos *et al.*, 2009; Shepherd & Huganir, 2007). One possibility is that newly synthesized receptors can be directly inserted to the cell membrane and then move along dendrites by lateral diffusion until they reach the synapse and get anchored in the PSD (Borgdorff & Choquet, 2002). Another hypothesis is the intracellular dynein/kinesin-dependent transport of AMPAR-containing vesicles (endosomes) along dendrites to the vicinity of synaptic sites, and only then followed by exocytosis to the cell membrane (Passafaro *et al.*, 2001). One other alternative requires the transport of AMPAR mRNAs and their local dendritic synthesis close to synaptic sites, followed by synaptic insertion (Steward & Schuman, 2001; Steward & Worley, 2001). Despite high controversy among studies about the actual mechanism that conducts AMPARs to synapses, there is consensus in the fact that the trafficking of AMPARs is an exquisitely complex mechanism crucial for activity-dependent changes in synaptic strength.

Local dendritic synthesis of AMPA receptors

Nowadays, it is well established that synaptic potentiation requires gene transcription and is highly dependent on new protein synthesis [reviewed in (Holt & Schuman, 2013; Swanger & Bassell, 2013)]. Due to their polarized and highly compartmentalized structure, neurons developed extremely dynamic translational processes that have evolved into highly elaborate and crucial regulatory mechanisms of neuronal function (Holt & Schuman, 2013; Shepherd & Huganir, 2007; Sutton & Schuman, 2006; Tom Dieck et al., 2014). In particular, neurons have evolved specific pathways to transport mRNAs out into dendrites, which contain localized outposts with virtually all the requisite machinery for translation, from ribosomes to initiation and elongation factors (Asaki et al., 2003; Cajigas et al., 2012; Steward & Levy, 1982), and where subsequent translation can occur (Figure 1.5) [reviewed in (Bramham & Wells, 2007; Buxbaum et al., 2015a; Buxbaum et al., 2015b; Czaplinski, 2014; Doyle & Kiebler, 2011; Swanger & Bassell, 2013)]. Specifically, actively transported mRNAs contain cis-acting sequences or targeting elements, typically located within the 3' untranslated region (UTR) of the mRNA (Andreassi & Riccio, 2009; Chatterjee & Pal, 2009). These elements interact with RNA-binding proteins (RBPs) and other regulatory molecules to form ribonucleoprotein (RNP) complexes that are transported into dendrites along microtubules by motor proteins (Figure 1.5) (Andreassi & Riccio, 2009; Xing & Bassell, 2013). Moreover, localized transcripts travel within RNPs to their final destination in a translationally dormant state, until a specific synaptic stimulus is able to activate translation. Once an individual synapse is activated, RNPs partially

disassemble and translational repression is relieved locally (Figure 1.5) (Buxbaum *et al.*, 2014). This translational repression is often accomplished by the *trans*-acting RBPs already regulating the transport of the mRNA (Tolino *et al.*, 2012; Xing & Bassell, 2013).



Figure 1.5 – Transport and local translation of neuronal transcripts fundamental for synaptic function. RNA-binding proteins (RBPs) can bind to specific mRNAs and promote their translational silencing and incorporation into ribonucleoprotein (RNP) complexes that travel to dendrites, via motor proteins, along the microtubular network **(1)**. Following synaptic activation, the translational repression of the mRNA is abrogated through disassembly of the RNP granule, resulting in the release of the transcript to undergo translation **(2)**. After synthesis in the ER and processing in the Golgi apparatus (which contain dendritic outposts) **(3)**, newly synthesized proteins can then be inserted in the synapse to exert their functions **(4)**. The number of mRNAs found locally in dendrites is ever increasing and it includes transcripts belonging to the categories mentioned in the pink box. Importantly, their local dendritic synthesis allows the creation of a nearby toolbox for the turnover of the synaptic proteome and this is crucial for activity-induced changes in synaptic strength.

One striking example comes from the well-orchestrated regulation of β -actin mRNA transport and local translation by zipcode-binding protein 1 (ZBP1) (Ming, 2006; Paquin & Chartrand, 2005; Wu *et al.*, 2015). ZBP1 binding to a 54-nucleotide zipcode in the 3'UTR of β -actin mRNA (Ross *et al.*, 1997) induces both translational silencing of the transcript and its incorporation into RNPs for transport. Local β -actin synthesis is possible through phosphorylation of ZBP1. Upon specific stimulus, the Src kinase phosphorylates ZBP1 at a

key tyrosine residue required for its binding to RNA, resulting in the release of β-actin mRNA from the RNP and the activation of β -actin synthesis at sites of high actin dynamics (Huttelmaier et al., 2005; Sasaki et al., 2010; Wu et al., 2015). In developing neurons, this ZBP1-dependent temporal and spatial control over β -actin translation is fundamental for mechanisms of axonal guidance and neurite outgrowth (Huttelmaier et al., 2005; Sasaki et al., 2010; Welshhans & Bassell, 2011). Later in development, ZBP1 further contributes to proper dendritic branching, and ZBP1 deficiency or impairment of its phosphorylation alters dendritic morphology (Perycz et al., 2011). Moreover, ZBP1-β-actin mRNA complexes selectively traffic into dendritic spines upon synaptic stimulation to regulate dendritic structure and density (Eom et al., 2003; Tiruchinapalli et al., 2003). Other RBPs have also been identified to regulate the transport and local translation of transcripts fundamental for proper synaptic function. For example, cytoplasmic polyadenylation element-binding protein (CPEB) binds to and regulates experience-dependent translation of CaMKII mRNA at synapses (Wu et al., 1998), whilst fragile X mental retardation protein (FMRP), impaired in individuals with Fragile X syndrome (FXS), regulates the translation of synaptic transcripts such as PSD95, CaMKII and the immediate early gene Arc/Arg3.1 (Kao et al., 2010; Niere et al., 2012; Zalfa et al., 2007; Zalfa et al., 2003).

The targeting and localization of specific transcripts to synapses offers neurons a flexible "at hand" toolbox for the maintenance, turnover and modification of the synaptic proteome, which might provide an important means to fine-tune synaptic strength with great temporal and spatial resolution. Early in vitro and in vivo studies suggested that dendritic mRNA location was specific only to a handful of transcripts. However, recent advances in genome-wide deep sequencing and single-molecule RNA imaging in live cells and whole organisms have dramatically expanded the local transcriptome in dendrites, suggesting that local translation is the rule rather than the exception [(Cajigas et al., 2012; Lionnet et al., 2011; Park et al., 2014; Poon et al., 2006) and reviewed in (Buxbaum et al., 2015a; Buxbaum et al., 2015b; Holt & Schuman, 2013; Tom Dieck et al., 2014)]. One of the most surprising findings from these studies is the vast number of mRNAs present in dendrites, which surpasses 2500 transcripts spanning many different functional classes of synaptic molecules, from scaffolding and cytoskeletal proteins, cell-adhesion and signalling molecules to ion channels and neurotransmitter receptors, including AMPARs (Figure 1.5) (Cajigas et al., 2012). Indeed, it has been known for a while that a substantial fraction of synaptic sites contain mRNA molecules for the GluA1 and GluA2 AMPAR subunits, which can be locally synthesized upon manipulations of neuronal activity (Grooms et al., 2006; Ju et al., 2004; Kacharmina et al., 2000). Using transected dendrites from hippocampal neurons, a couple of studies showed that exogenously expressed GluA1 and GluA2 subunits could still be locally synthesized,

independently of the cell soma (Ju *et al.*, 2004; Kacharmina *et al.*, 2000). Moreover, they demonstrated that activation of mGluRs led to increased dendritic synthesis and membrane insertion of both AMPARs subunits, whereas a chronic blockade of synaptic activity specifically increased the synthesis of GluA1 alone (Ju *et al.*, 2004; Kacharmina *et al.*, 2000). One other study also found endogenous mRNA molecules for AMPARs localized to distal and proximal dendrites in hippocampal neurons, whose synthesis is decreased upon activation of NMDARs (Grooms *et al.*, 2006).

Despite still poorly understood, some recent studies are starting to shed some light on the mechanisms regulating the targeting and local translation of AMPARs in dendrites. For instance, CPEB3, a CPEB-like RNA-binding protein, seems to act as a specific translational repressor of GluA2 mRNA. CPEB3 binds to and represses the translation of the GluA2 mRNA, which is reverted upon activation of NMDARs. Moreover, loss of expression of CPEB3 stimulates the local translation of GluA2 mRNA (Huang et al., 2006a). Also, FMRP and its autosomal paralogs FXR1P and FXR2P, whose loss of function leads to intellectual disability traits in individuals with Fragile X Syndrome, have recently been shown to be located near synaptic sites and regulate AMPAR mRNA with distinct functions. FXRP1, for instance, was shown to repress the local translation and synaptic incorporation of GluA2 and impair hippocampal LTP (Cook et al., 2014), whereas FXR2P and FMRP promote the stabilization and translation of GluA1 mRNA and its subsequent membrane insertion, respectively (Guo et al., 2015). GluA1 mRNA was just recently shown to be further regulated by the Fused in Sarcoma (FUS) RNA-binding protein, which binds to and stabilizes the GluA1 transcript. Moreover, in vitro and in vivo loss of FUS leads to a decrease in surface levels of GluA1 and reduction of AMPAR-mediated miniature excitatory postsynaptic currents (mEPSCs) amplitude (Udagawa et al., 2015). AMPAR local translation has further been shown to be regulated through other mechanisms such as retinoic acid and its receptor or small non-coding microRNAs (miRNA), and these seem to be crucial for the homeostatic regulation of AMPARs (please see section "Homeostatic regulation of AMPA receptors" in Chapter I). Altogether, these evidence converge to point out that the local regulation of AMPAR translation, in close proximity to synapses, empowers neurons to rapidly respond to activity-dependent changes in synaptic AMPARs and subsequent modulation of synaptic strength.

Surface dynamics of AMPA receptors

Changes in the number of synaptic AMPARs underlie long-lasting modifications in synaptic strength, and contribute to mechanisms of synaptic plasticity. In the absence of neuronal activity, AMPARs undergo constitutive recycling between synapses and local pools in the cytosol, where they are sorted for either degradation or reinsertion at synapses (Ehlers, 2000; Passafaro et al., 2001). Upon synaptic activity, the cycling of AMPARs rapidly shifts to adapt to changes in activity and increases either the insertion or removal of AMPARs from the synapse (Figure 1.6). Whilst an increased synaptic insertion of AMPARs correlates with synaptic potentiation, increased removal of the receptors from the PSD is associated with synaptic weakening (Figure 1.6). Despite under intense study, there is still high controversy on the mechanisms regulating the trafficking and insertion of AMPARs into synapses. Although it is likely that a combination of several pathways mediates the synaptic insertion of AMPARs, the consensual hypothesis is that SNARE protein-mediated exocytosis (Kennedy et al., 2010; Lu et al., 2001; Suh et al., 2010) of nearby local pools of AMPARs occurs firstly on extra/perisynaptic regions of the membrane, with subsequent lateral diffusion of the receptors to the synapse (Figure 1.6) (Adesnik et al., 2005; Borgdorff & Choquet, 2002; Makino & Malinow, 2009; Passafaro et al., 2001; Patterson et al., 2010; Yang et al., 2008). This extrasynaptic insertion of AMPARs seems to be largely regulated by AMPAR interaction partners and phosphorylation of AMPAR subunits [reviewed in (Anggono & Huganir, 2012; Henley et al., 2011)]. For instance, overexpression of Stargazin (Schnell et al., 2002) and PKCdependent phosphorylation of GluA1 S816 and S818 residues, through binding of the 4.1N protein (Lin et al., 2009), enhance the surface insertion of GluA1-containing AMPARs to extrasynaptic pools (Figure 1.6). Also, PKA-dependent phosphorylation of GluA1 at S845 specifically targets and clusters receptors to extrasynaptic sites but not synapses (Man et al., 2007; Oh et al., 2006).

Studies with advanced imaging approaches to directly visualize the mobility of individual AMPARs, like single particle tracking (SPT) or fluorescence recovery after photobleaching (FRAP), show that, once at the cell surface, extrasynaptic AMPARs are highly mobile and able to laterally diffuse into synapses, where they can be retained (Figure 1.6) (Bats *et al.*, 2007; Borgdorff & Choquet, 2002; Groc *et al.*, 2004; Heine *et al.*, 2008a). Interestingly, not all extrasynaptic receptors are necessarily retained, since, under basal conditions, extrasynaptic AMPARs can easily enter and scan the synaptic surface, and eventually exit it (Borgdorff & Choquet, 2002; Tardin *et al.*, 2003). In agreement with the lack of retention of the receptors, neither Stargazin overexpression nor PKA activation correlate with increased synaptic accumulation of AMPARs and subsequent synaptic potentiation, despite increased number of

21

Chapter I

surface AMPARs. Instead, Stargazin- or PKA-mediated synaptic accumulation of AMPARs occurs only after activation of NMDARs (Oh et al., 2006). This evidence suggests that both Stargazin and PKA prime AMPARs for synaptic plasticity by inducing their extrasynaptic accumulation, and point out the necessity for an additional activity-dependent trapping step to retain AMPARs in the synapse. This diffusional trapping of AMPARs from extra/perisynaptic sites into the synapse is mediated by an activity-dependent interplay between Stargazin, PSD95 and CaMKII that allows the immobilization of passing AMPARs in the postsynaptic membrane (Figure 1.6) [reviewed in (Opazo & Choquet, 2011; Opazo et al., 2012). Several studies performed by Choquet and collaborators show that activation of NMDARs triggers the immobilization of diffusing surface AMPARs at synapses, through a Ca²⁺-dependent signalling cascade (Borgdorff & Choquet, 2002; Heine et al., 2008a; Petrini et al., 2009). Activation of NMDARs promotes the rapid translocation of CaMKII into active synapses, which in turn mediates the phosphorylation of GluA1 at S831 and of Stargazin. Phosphorylation of Stargazin will facilitate its binding to PSD95 in the postsynaptic membrane, thus allowing the trapping of AMPARs in the synapse (Bats et al., 2007; Opazo et al., 2010). Taken together, these findings suggest a three-step mechanism for the trafficking of AMPARs (Figure 1.6), in which AMPARs are inserted to extra/perisynaptic sites and intrinsically diffuse within the neuronal surface to synapses, where they can finally be trapped in an activity-dependent manner [extensively reviewed in (Chater & Goda, 2014; Lisman et al., 2012; Opazo & Choquet, 2011)].



[Figure 1.6 - subtitle on the next page]

Figure 1.6 – Three-step model for the surface dynamics of AMPARs during synaptic plasticity. During LTP (in green), AMPARs are inserted to the cell membrane in extra/perisynaptic sites via phosphorylation events (1). Following exocytosis, AMPARs rapidly diffuse to synaptic sites (2), where they can be trapped by phosphorylation events triggered by CaMKII that target Stargazin and increase its affinity to PSD95 (3). During LTD (in blue), the reverse order of events is likely to take place. Dephosphorylation of AMPARs and Stargazin mediated by PP1 and PP2B protein phosphatases might destabilize AMPARs from the PSD (1), and allow their lateral diffusion out of the synapse (2), where they can undergo clathrin-mediated endocytosis (3). [Adapted from (Opazo & Choquet, 2011)].

In addition to their regulated insertion into synapses, the number of AMPARs expressed in the synaptic membrane is also dependent on their regulated internalization (Figure 1.6). This process is thought to occur through dynamin-dependent endocytosis via clathrin-coated vesicles that form in specializations stably positioned adjacent to the PSD (endocytic zone -EZ) (Carroll et al., 1999; Ehlers, 2000; Man et al., 2000). These endocytic zones and complementary components of the endocytic machinery seem to lie in lateral domains of the spine (Blanpied et al., 2002; Lu et al., 2007; Petrini et al., 2009; Racz et al., 2004), suggesting that AMPAR removal from the synapse, similarly to exocytosis, occurs in extra- or perisynaptic sites (Figure 1.6). This possibility implies that, as they get stabilized in the PSD for synaptic accumulation, AMPARs should be conversely destabilized from the postsynaptic membrane and laterally diffuse out of the synapse to undergo endocytosis. Consistent with this idea, synaptic proteins mediating AMPARs stabilization, like Stargazin, are targeted to dephosphorylation by the protein phosphatases PP1 and calcineurin (PP2B) following NMDAR activation (Mulkey et al., 1994; Mulkey & Malenka, 1992). Accordingly, dephosphorylation of Stargazin seems to be required for the induction of LTD (Tomita et al., 2005), and this event may be the trigger necessary to promote the destabilization and escape of AMPARs to extrasynaptic endocytic domains of the cell membrane (Figure 1.6).

Following internalization, AMPARs can be differentially sorted between recycling and degradative pathways. AMPARs sorted to late endosomes are usually fused with lysosomes and subsequently degraded, and this mechanism may underlie LTD phenomena. On the other hand, receptors targeted to recycling endosomes can then be reinserted to the cell membrane, allowing the maintenance of a stable pool of AMPARs nearby synaptic sites, which, in turn, underlies LTP events. Moreover, these sorting cycles between recycling/ degradation pathways can also underlie scaling mechanisms associated with homeostatic plasticity (Hanley, 2010).

Synaptic Plasticity

Learning and memory as well as other processes involved in all human behaviour are possible due to the ability of the mammalian brain to undergo experience-based adaptations. Such plasticity occurs at the level of synapses, which become stronger or weaker in response to specific patterns of activity. These changes in synaptic strength are mostly mediated by mechanisms regulating the number, distribution and function of postsynaptic AMPARs, and later on, through new protein synthesis-dependent structural changes that modulate the shape of the synapse. Changes in synaptic strength as a mechanism underlying learning and memory had already been proposed by Cajal at the beginning of the last century and formulated into a concrete synaptic model by Hebb in 1949 (Hebb, 1949). However, experimental evidence backing up the synaptic hypothesis was only obtained when Bliss and Lomo first discovered long-term potentiation (LTP), by showing that repetitive activation of excitatory synapses in the hippocampus triggered a persistent and long-lasting increase in synaptic transmission (Bliss & Lomo, 1973). LTP and long-term depression (LTD), the weakening counterpart of synaptic strength, are the two most studied and prevailing cellular models of synaptic plasticity [reviewed in (Huganir & Nicoll, 2013; Luscher & Malenka, 2012; Malenka & Bear, 2004; Nicoll & Roche, 2013)]. In addition to these input-specific forms of Hebbian plasticity, neurons have also developed mechanisms of homeostatic synaptic plasticity to respond to chronic changes in the overall level of network activity [reviewed in (Chater & Goda, 2014; Fernandes & Carvalho, 2016; Turrigiano, 1999; Turrigiano, 2008; Vitureira & Goda, 2013)].

Hebbian synaptic plasticity

Hebbian synaptic plasticity is the most widely studied form of long-lasting activitydependent changes in synaptic strength and includes both long-term potentiation (LTP) and long-term depression (LTD). These Hebbian mechanisms are thought to be the cellular basis of learning and memory because they typically function in an input-specific manner, are rapidly induced and long-lasting, and are associative in requiring correlated firing of the pre- and postsynaptic neurons, thus reinforcing precise synaptic connections [reviewed in (Huganir & Nicoll, 2013; Luscher & Malenka, 2012; Malenka & Bear, 2004)].

Although resulting in opposing outcomes in terms of synaptic strength, both LTP and LTD can be elicited by activation of NMDARs. In brief, following presynaptic stimulation and partial postsynaptic depolarization, NMDARs are activated by glutamate binding, increasing Ca²⁺ intracellular concentration. The rise in intracellular Ca²⁺ is what typically distinguishes the

trigger for either LTP or LTD: a brief but strong increase in postsynaptic Ca²⁺ promotes the induction of LTP, whereas a sustained low-level Ca²⁺ elevation induces LTD. Different intracellular Ca²⁺ levels will then trigger distinct downstream signalling cascades, known to regulate either AMPARs or other players involved in their trafficking (Luscher & Malenka, 2012; Malenka & Bear, 2004; Malenka & Nicoll, 1999). These Ca²⁺-triggered mechanisms regulating AMPARs, from posttranslational modifications of the receptors to their subcellular redistribution, largely underlie the changes in synaptic strength associated with LTP or LTD: phosphorylation and insertion of AMPARs in the PSD potentiates synapses, whereas dephosphorylation and endocytosis of AMPARs leads to synaptic weakening (Figure 1.6).

Typically induced following a short period of high-frequency tetanic stimulation, LTP is characterized by a persistent increase in AMPAR-mediated EPSCs, as a direct consequence of a higher number of synaptic AMPARs (Figure 1.6). Although the adult hippocampus contains both GluA1/2 and GluA2/3 heteromers, only GluA2/3-containing AMPARs are constitutively trafficked to the synapse (Malinow et al., 2000). GluA1-containing AMPARs, on the other hand, are only recruited to the synapse upon LTP induction (Hayashi et al., 2000; Shi et al., 2001; Shi et al., 1999). GluA1 plays a central role in the induction of LTP, since GluA1-knockout mice show impaired hippocampal LTP, which is recovered by genetically expressing GluA1 (Mack et al., 2001; Zamanillo et al., 1999). Curiously, LTP seems to be normal in GluA2/3 double KO mice (Meng et al., 2003), emphasizing the requirement for GluA1 in LTP induction and the distinct activity-dependent trafficking behaviour of this subunit. The activity-dependent regulation of GluA1 trafficking into synapses requires NMDAR activation and the subsequent Ca²⁺-dependent activation of several kinases such as PKA, PKC and CaMKII (Figure 1.6). Firstly, phosphorylation of GluA1 at S845 and S818/831 by PKA and PKC, respectively, mediates the insertion of AMPARs to extrasynaptic sites and their lateral diffusion to the synapse. CaMKII-dependent phosphorylation of GluA1 at S831 is then further required for the diffusional trapping of GluA1 in the PSD (for more detail, please see sections "AMPA receptor diversity through alternative splicing, RNA editing and posttranslational modifications" and "Surface dynamics of AMPARs"). Importantly, phosphorylation of GluA1 by these kinases, as well as of GluA1-interacting proteins such as Stargazin, has been extensively implicated and shown to be required for the induction and expression of LTP [extensively reviewed in (Carvalho et al., 2000; Jiang et al., 2006; Lu & Roche, 2012; Luscher & Malenka, 2012; Santos et al., 2009)].

Prolonged low levels of synaptic stimulation can trigger NMDAR activation and cause a persistent weakening of synaptic strength that is characterized by the loss of synaptic AMPARs by endocytosis (Figure 1.6) (Beattie *et al.*, 2000; Carroll *et al.*, 1999; Man *et al.*, 2000). Similarly

to LTP, the phosphorylation status of AMPARs plays a central role in the induction and expression of LTD. NMDAR-dependent LTD causes a moderate postsynaptic increase in calcium influx that results in the activation of protein phosphatases such as calcineurin and PP1 (Figure 1.6). These phosphatases catalyse the dephosphorylation of GluA1 at S831 and S845, as well as of AMPAR-interacting proteins, and trigger the destabilization of GluA1-containing AMPARs from the synapse, with subsequent endocytosis and lysosomal degradation (for details check section "Surface dynamics of AMPARs") (Ehlers, 2000). Importantly, mice containing mutations in GluA1 S831 and S845 exhibit major deficits in LTD, with impaired AMPAR internalization (Lee *et al.*, 2003; Lee *et al.*, 2010). The phosphorylation of the GluA2 subunit has also been implicated in LTD. Evidence shows that GluA2 phosphorylation at S880 disrupts its interaction with GRIP/ABP and shifts GluA2-containing AMPARs to PICK1, which results in the removal of synaptic AMPARs by increased endocytosis (Chung *et al.*, 2003; Chung *et al.*, 2000; Matsuda *et al.*, 1999; Perez *et al.*, 2001).

Hebbian plasticity mechanisms are widely considered to be the cellular correlates of learning and memory and are fundamental for information storage in the brain. Nevertheless, Hebbian plasticity is a positive-feedback process (Figure 1.7); for example, once LTP is induced, potentiated synapses can be excited to undergo further LTP with greater ease; similarly, depressed synapses easily undergo further LTD. These forms of unconstrained synaptic modulation could potentially result in synapses prone to either functional hyperexcitability or silence, driving neuronal activity to a runaway state [Figure 1.7; extensively reviewed in (Fernandes & Carvalho, 2016; Turrigiano, 1999; Turrigiano, 2008; Vitureira & Goda, 2013; Watt & Desai, 2010)]. In order to prevent such instability, neurons are able to sense their own excitability and trigger negative-feedback homeostatic mechanisms to counteract perturbations in activity and restrain it within a physiological range (Figure 1.7).

Homeostatic synaptic plasticity

Many of the plastic changes that underlie developmental or learning-related adaptations require input-specific modifications in synaptic strength, which can, nevertheless, exert destabilizing influence on network function, through unconstrained positive-feedback cycles of activity. To overcome this limitation, neurons have developed multiple mechanisms of homeostatic plasticity to adapt to overall changes in synaptic activity, which are critical for proper brain functions. Several distinct modes of homeostatic regulation of neural responses have been identified so far, involving possible changes in either the pre- or the postsynaptic

side of a neuron that range from adjustment of excitatory and inhibitory synaptic gain, changes in intrinsic excitability, and alterations in the threshold for LTP or LTD induction [reviewed in (Lee, 2012; Pozo & Goda, 2010; Turrigiano, 1999)]. Nevertheless, the best-studied form of homeostatic plasticity at central excitatory synapses occurs postsynaptically through mechanisms of synaptic scaling.



Figure 1.7 – Schematic representation of the circuitry in the primary visual cortex, which integrates visual experience through glutamatergic feed-forward inputs. Hebbian forms of synaptic plasticity, such as long-term potentiation (LTP), induce positive-feedback long-lasting changes in synaptic strength, which can, nonetheless, be destabilizing and drive activity to saturation, resulting in synapses prone to hyperexcitability. In a converse mechanism, unconstrained LTD can lead to synapse elimination. On the other hand, homeostatic plasticity bidirectionally regulates pre- and postsynaptic mechanisms through negative-feedback responses, in order to compensate for prolonged activity changes, thus stabilizing neuronal firing within a dynamic physiological range for adequate brain function.

Homeostatic synaptic scaling

The most extensively studied form of homeostatic plasticity at excitatory synapses occurs through postsynaptic mechanisms that maintain the overall firing of neurons within dynamic but functional boundaries, by fundamentally regulating their synaptic strength (Figure 1.7). This homeostatic regulation of synaptic strength, otherwise known as synaptic scaling, is typically expressed as a compensatory and bidirectional change in the postsynaptic accumulation of AMPARs (Figure 1.7; 1.9). Experimental evidence supporting a synaptic

scaling homeostatic mechanism was initially obtained *in vitro* from cortical, spinal cord and hippocampal neuronal cultures, via chronic pharmacological manipulations of neuronal activity that elicited compensatory and bidirectional changes in AMPAR-mediated synaptic transmission (Burrone *et al.*, 2002; O'Brien *et al.*, 1998; Turrigiano *et al.*, 1998). When neuronal firing was blocked over many hours with tetrodotoxin (TTX), a specific blocker of voltage-gated sodium channels, the amplitude of AMPAR-mediated miniature excitatory postsynaptic currents (mEPSCs) increased significantly, whereas increasing firing rates over time, by blocking GABA-mediated inhibition, resulted in the opposite effect.

Since this initial proposal of a homeostatic scaling mechanism by which neurons are able to adapt to chronic changes in their activity, numerous studies have followed up to demonstrate that such mechanism also occurs in vivo [reviewed in (Lee, 2012; Turrigiano, 2008)]. Physiologically, in vivo homeostatic plasticity mechanisms are thought to be of particular importance during development, when a massive adjustment of synapses and neural circuits occurs, and during periods of heightened plasticity, triggered by prolonged changes in the sensory environment or from neurological conditions [reviewed in (Turrigiano, 2011; Turrigiano & Nelson, 2004; Whitt et al., 2014)]. Homeostatic scaling processes were also shown to occur during cross-modal plasticity of sensory modalities [(Goel et al., 2006; Petrus et al., 2014), and reviewed in (Lee & Whitt, 2015)], a process elicited to compensate for the loss of function of an affected modality in either deaf or blind people, for instance. Furthermore, a relevant role for homeostatic plasticity has just been recently established in the regulation of sleep/wake physiology (de Vivo et al., 2017; Diering et al., 2017; Hengen et al., 2016). Homeostatic downscaling mechanisms were shown to occur during the sleep phase, promoting a "reset" of the overall network activity for the next vigilant state. These mechanisms were considered to be fundamental for memory consolidation and learning [reviewed in (Cirelli, 2017; Tononi & Cirelli, 2014)].

The most frequently used system to study *in vivo* homeostatic plasticity is the visual cortex (Figure 1.8), since it is amenable to manipulations of sensory experience and, thus, an excellence model to investigate experience-driven homeostatic changes. In this model system, several paradigms to manipulate visual experience have been shown to scale up or down excitatory synapses in the visual cortex. In particular, intraocular injections with TTX (to block action potentials) or chronic visual deprivation (such as dark rearing or dark exposure) are able to homeostatically scale up the amplitude of AMPAR-mediated mEPSCs in the layer 2/3 pyramidal neurons of the primary visual cortex (V1), while re-exposing visually deprived animals to light scales down mEPSCs back to basal levels [reviewed in (Lee, 2012; Whitt *et al.*, 2014)].

28



Figure 1.8 – Schematic representation of the circuitry in the primary visual cortex, which integrates visual experience through glutamatergic feed-forward inputs. (A) Homeostatic plasticity mechanisms occur *in vivo* through integration of sensory experience in the primary sensory cortices, including in the primary visual cortex circuitry (V1). Visual experience is integrated through sensory inputs from the eye onto the Lateral Geniculate Nucleus (LGN) of the thalamus, which outputs onto layer 4 of the V1. Pyramidal neurons on layer 2/3 of the V1, in turn, receive feed-forward inputs from layer 4. (B) Feed-forward inputs onto layer 2/3 pyramidal neurons of the V1 are known to be mainly glutamatergic and are known to be homeostatically regulated following prolonged periods of visual deprivation.

Both *in vitro* and *in vivo* studies of homeostatic synaptic scaling highlight an obvious dependence on the regulation of AMPARs. Interestingly, the functional changes in AMPAR-mediated currents are often accompanied by changes in the composition and abundance of synaptic AMPARs, both *in vitro* and *in vivo* (Figure 1.9). Hours to days of neuronal inactivity *in vitro* or decreased sensory input to neurons *in vivo* results in a synaptic accumulation of AMPAR subunits that correlates with increases in the amplitude of mEPSCs (Figure 1.9) (Goel *et al.*, 2006; Goel *et al.*, 2011; Ju *et al.*, 2004; O'Brien *et al.*, 1998; Thiagarajan *et al.*, 2005; Wierenga *et al.*, 2005). However, while most studies agree that synaptic scaling mechanisms depend on the accumulation of AMPARs at synapses, there is less agreement on the subunit composition of these receptors. Several reports show that both *in vitro* pharmacological blockade of neuronal activity (Aoto *et al.*, 2008; Ju *et al.*, 2004; Sutton *et al.*, 2006; Thiagarajan *et al.*, 2011), trigger synaptic scaling mechanisms by selectively increasing the accumulation of Ca²⁺-permeable (CP) GluA1-containing AMPARs at synapses, without much change in GluA2 levels. Other

studies, however, report a proportional and concurrent increase in the synaptic content of both GluA1 and GluA2 subunits following synaptic scaling triggered by pharmacological (Anggono *et al.*, 2011; O'Brien *et al.*, 1998; Wierenga *et al.*, 2005) or sensory manipulations of activity (Gainey *et al.*, 2009).

The discrepancy in results regarding the subunit regulation of AMPARs during synaptic scaling still remains to be clarified, but one possible explanation is that it may depend on the paradigm to manipulate neuronal activity. Homeostatic synaptic scaling has traditionally been considered a global phenomenon that uniformly changes synaptic strength across the entire synapse population of a given neuron. This is important as it conserves the relative differences in synaptic strength among synapses, which is crucial for information storage. However, it is now clear that synaptic scaling can operate locally at single dendritic branches or specific synapses to individually tune their own activity (Barnes et al., 2017; Beigue et al., 2011; Branco et al., 2008; Hou et al., 2008; Ju et al., 2004), without disrupting input-specific storage and processing [extensively reviewed in (Fernandes & Carvalho, 2016; Rabinowitch & Segev, 2008; Turrigiano, 2012; Turrigiano, 2008; Vitureira & Goda, 2013; Yu & Goda, 2009)]. While the details are not fully understood yet, there is some evidence that the mechanisms underlying the induction of global versus local synaptic scaling may differ. For instance, blocking action potentials with TTX may trigger a global synaptic scaling response that regulates both GluA1 and GluA2 subunits, in a manner that depends in decreased somatic Ca²⁺ signals and CaMKIV-mediated regulation of transcription (Ibata et al., 2008). Local synaptic scaling, on the other hand, seems to require local NMDAR inhibition in conjunction with action potential blockade, resulting in a selective increase in the dendritic protein synthesis of GluA1containing AMPARs (Aoto et al., 2008; Ju et al., 2004; Sutton et al., 2006). In vivo sensory experience-induced synaptic scaling can also be global or restricted to a subset of synapses depending on the age of the animal or the particular neuronal type studied in an intact circuit (Gao et al., 2010; Goel et al., 2006; Goel & Lee, 2007; Petrus et al., 2011). Altogether, these observations suggest that, similarly to Hebbian plasticity events, the postsynaptic expression of homeostatic plasticity relies on mechanisms that regulate not only the trafficking and accumulation of AMPARs at synapses, but also the dendritic availability of AMPAR transcripts and their local translation.



Figure 1.9 – Homeostatic synaptic scaling is accompanied by changes in the synaptic accumulation of AMPARs. In response to chronic changes in activity, neurons trigger compensatory mechanisms of synaptic scaling to adapt and maintain their overall firing within a dynamic range. These mechanisms are accompanied by changes in the synaptic accumulation of AMPARs, as well as turnover of scaffolding proteins that tether AMPARs to the synapse. Synaptic scaling triggered by pharmacological blockade of activity or by sensory deprivation results in an increased trafficking of AMPARs and respective scaffolding proteins to synapses (bottom right). Conversely, increased neuronal activity leads to a decrease in the synaptic content of AMPARs (bottom left). [Adapted from (Turrigiano & Nelson, 2004)].

Molecular mechanisms of homeostatic synaptic scaling

Since the first descriptions of homeostatic synaptic plasticity, the knowledge on the cellular properties of this type of plasticity has increased significantly. However, the molecular mechanisms underlying synaptic scaling are still poorly understood. Nevertheless, several novel players have been identified to interfere with the regulation of AMPARs and expression of homeostatic plasticity (Figure 1.10), contributing to emphasize the complexity of possible signalling pathways that neurons use to maintain their homeostasis [extensively reviewed in (Chater & Goda, 2014; Fernandes & Carvalho, 2016; Pozo & Goda, 2010; Turrigiano, 2008; Wang *et al.*, 2012)]. For a more comprehensive view of the mechanisms underlying synaptic scaling, please refer to Table 1.2 and (Fernandes & Carvalho, 2016).

The synaptic trafficking of AMPARs during Hebbian plasticity depends critically on the activation of CaMKII, but there is now evidence for an involvement of CaMKII function in synaptic scaling (Thiagarajan et al., 2002). Distinct isoforms of CaMKII have been suggested to respond inversely to neuronal inactivity, such that CaMKIIa is down-regulated, while CaMKIIß increases. Furthermore, knocking down CaMKIIß expression prevents the inactivityinduced increase in GluA1 synaptic accumulation and AMPAR-mediated mEPSC amplitude (Groth et al., 2011). In line with these evidence, mice lacking the GluA1-S831 site for CaMKIImediated phosphorylation display abnormal synaptic scaling of visual cortex synapses, such that visual deprivation scales down mEPSCs, which is opposite from what is observed in wildtype mice (Goel et al., 2011). These results provide evidence for a requirement of CaMKII signalling in the expression of synaptic scaling. As previously mentioned, CaMKII-dependent phosphorylation of Stargazin is fundamental for the synaptic trapping of AMPARs (please see section "Surface dynamics of AMPARs"). Interestingly, a recent study from our lab has implicated Stargazin in homeostatic synaptic scaling (Figure 1.10 and Table 1.2). Synaptic Stargazin is increased following neuronal inactivity both in vitro and in vivo, and loss of its expression blocks the GluA1 synaptic increase induced by chronic blockade of activity. Synaptic scaling is also prevented with the expression of Stargazin phosphodead mutants, further indicating a requirement for Stargazin phosphorylation in the expression of homeostatic synaptic plasticity (Louros et al., 2014).

Other players recently involved in mechanisms regulating the expression of synaptic scaling are cell-adhesion molecules (Figure 1.10) [extensively reviewed in (McGeachie et al., 2011; Thalhammer & Cingolani, 2014)], which had previously been implicated in the regulation of AMPAR surface expression and Hebbian plasticity (please see section "AMPAR interaction with cell-adhesion molecules"). One such example is the postsynaptic N-cadherin/ β -catenin complex that regulates the GluA2 subunit. Recent studies have shown that bidirectional synaptic scaling is impaired in the absence of β -catenin. Moreover, expression of β -catenin deletion mutants, lacking either its PDZ domain or the N-cadherin binding region, cause a similar effect (Okuda et al., 2007). Accordingly, the postsynaptic expression of dominantnegative constructs of N-cadherin impairs synaptic upscaling as effectively as ablating βcatenin (Vitureira et al., 2012). Similarly to the N-cadherin/ β -catenin complex, postsynaptic β 3 integrins have recently been implicated in the homeostatic regulation of GluA2-containing AMPARs. β3 integrin expression is bidirectionally regulated by manipulations of neuronal activity. Furthermore, chronic suppression of activity is completely ineffective in scaling up synapses with loss of function or genetic ablation of β3 integrins (Cingolani & Goda, 2008; Cingolani et al., 2008; Pozo et al., 2012). These evidence suggesting a fundamental role of cell adhesion molecules in the homeostatic regulation of AMPARs are of particular interest to the present study, where we show that Contactin-associated proteins 1 and 2 have a similar effect.



Figure 1.10 - Homeostatic synaptic scaling of excitatory synapses maintains neuronal activity within a dynamic range. (A) Synaptic scaling occurs through compensatory and bidirectional changes in the postsynaptic accumulation of AMPARs. Prolonged inhibition of neuronal activity will enhance AMPAR-mediated excitatory synaptic transmission, whilst there is a decrease of AMPAR-mediated transmission when neuronal activity is chronically enhanced. (B) Major molecular players and pathways implicated in synaptic scaling. Molecules involved in synaptic upscaling are indicated in green, whereas those involved in synaptic downscaling are drawn in magenta. Dual colour players are implicated in both forms of homeostatic scaling. Disease-related molecules are indicated (*).

Table 1.2 – Summary of the molecular mechanisms underlying the postsynaptic expression of homeostatic synaptic scaling.

Pathway	Role	Scaling up or down	References
Secreted molecules			
BDNF	Released in activity- dependent manner; acutely regulates AMPAR trafficking.	Reduced BDNF scales up synapses, and prevents scaling down.	(Reimers <i>et al.</i> , 2014; Rutherford <i>et al.</i> , 1998)
ΤΝFα	Released by glia when activity falls.	Increased TNFα scales up synapses; TNFα KO or scavenging abolishes scaling up. No effect in scaling down.	(Kaneko <i>et al.</i> , 2008; Steinmetz & Turrigiano, 2010; Stellwagen & Malenka, 2006)
Trans-synaptic complexes and Cell adhesion molecules			
MHC-1	Synaptic localization and expression regulated by neuronal activity.	Reduced expression of MHC-1 prevents scaling up of synapses. Not tested in scaling down.	(Goddard <i>et al.</i> , 2007)
Presinilin 1	Integral member of γ- secretase enzyme; affects PI3/Akt signalling.	Loss of PSEN1 or Alzheimer's-linked mutation impairs synaptic upscaling. Scaling down not tested.	(Pratt <i>et al.</i> , 2011)
Intracellular pathways, proteins and mediators			
PKA signalling	GluA1-S845 phosphorylation. AMPAR synaptic targeting.	Scaling up increases PKA and GluA1- S845 phosphorylation; impaired visual deprivation-induced scaling up in mice lacking GluA1-S845 site.	(Diering <i>et al.</i> , 2014; Goel <i>et al.</i> , 2006; Goel <i>et al.</i> , 2011)
PICK1	Interacts with GluA2 to regulate AMPAR endocytosis	PICK1 loss of function occludes scaling up. No effect in scaling down.	(Anggono <i>et al</i> ., 2011)
GRIP1	Interacts with GluA1 to regulate AMPAR synaptic insertion.	GRIP1 synaptic expression bidirectionally regulated by synaptic scaling. GRIP1 loss of function blocks scaling up. Not tested in scaling down.	(Gainey <i>et al.</i> , 2015; Tan <i>et al.</i> , 2015)
PSD95/PSD93	Scaffold proteins essential for synaptic organization.	Altered synaptic expression with bidirectional scaling. Double KO prevents scaling up, but only PSD95 is required for scaling down.	(Sun & Turrigiano, 2011)
Arc	Immediate-early gene regulated by activity. Protein regulates AMPAR endocytosis.	Altered expression with bidirectional scaling. Increased Arc blocks upscaling Arc KO occludes both scaling up and down. Required for in vivo experience- dependent synaptic scaling.	(Gao <i>et al.</i> , 2010; Rial Verde <i>et al.</i> , 2006; Shepherd <i>et al.</i> , 2006)
MeCP2	Transcriptional factor regulating GluA2 transcription.	Loss of MeCP2 blocks both scaling up and down. MeCP2 required for in vivo experience-dependent scaling up.	(Blackman <i>et al.</i> , 2012; Qiu <i>et al.</i> , 2012)
miRNAs	Translational repressors. miR-485 and -134 regulate GluA2. miR-92a regulates GluA1.	miRs-485 and -134 required for scaling down. Not tested in scaling up. miR- 92a blocks scaling up of synapses; not tested in scaling down.	(Cohen <i>et al.</i> , 2011; Fiore <i>et al.</i> , 2014; Letellier <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> , 2014)

Several studies have also proposed a role for some secreted molecules in shaping homeostatic adaptations of synaptic strength, such as $TNF\alpha$, BDNF and Retinoic acid (for more details on TNF α and BDNF, please check Table 1.2). A series of recent studies by Chen and collaborators showed that scaling up of synapses following chronic neuronal inactivity is accompanied by an increased synthesis of Retinoic acid (RA). Moreover, exogenous application of RA increases the synaptic accumulation of AMPARs and occludes the same effect mediated by chronic inactivity, while suppression of RA synthesis prevents synaptic scaling (Aoto et al., 2008). Importantly, RA-induced scaling of AMPARs occurs through a specific increase in the local dendritic synthesis of the GluA1 subunit, through signalling via the RA receptor RARa, which binds to and represses GluA1 mRNA translation in basal conditions (Maghsoodi et al., 2008; Poon & Chen, 2008). Another study by the same group further uncovers a role of the RNA-binding protein FMRP in synaptic scaling and RA-induced GluA1 local translation (Soden & Chen, 2010). In Fmr1 KO mice, both inactivity-induced and RA-mediated upregulation of AMPARs is impaired, while expression of WT FMRP is able to restore the homeostatic upscaling of AMPAR-mediated mEPSCs. This evidence suggests that regulation of homeostatic plasticity, via FMRP, may be implicated in the neurodysfunction that characterizes the fragile X syndrome.

Undoubtedly, homeostatic synaptic scaling plays a crucial role in fundamentally stabilizing neuronal networks in face of exceedingly perturbing circumstances, such as massive circuit remodelling during development, prolonged changes in the sensory environment, or heightened plasticity caused by injury, for instance. These situations, if not counterbalanced by proper homeostatic mechanisms, eventually lead to neurological malfunctions, ranging from synaptic dysfunctions caused by aberrant protein translation or trafficking of synaptic proteins, to imbalances in excitation/inhibition. Ultimately, these abnormalities can lead to the onset of neurological disorders. Nevertheless, compelling evidence actually linking brain diseases to defects in homeostatic synaptic signalling is just starting to emerge. Indeed, many of the genes and molecules required for homeostatic synaptic plasticity are now being implicated in a variety of seemingly disparate neurological and neuropsychiatric conditions, including autism spectrum disorders, intellectual disability, schizophrenia, and Fragile X syndrome. Nonetheless, most of the molecular mechanisms through which defective homeostatic signalling may lead to disease pathogenesis still remain elusive.

Contactin-associated proteins

Contactin-associated proteins (CASPRs) are integral single-pass transmembrane proteins that typically form trans-synaptic cell-adhesion complexes with members of the Contactin (CNTN) family, and play fundamental roles in neuron-glia cell-adhesion and intercellular communication, crucial for the proper development and functioning of both the peripheral and central nervous system [(Peles *et al.*, 1997; Poliak *et al.*, 1999; Spiegel *et al.*, 2002; Traut *et al.*, 2006), and reviewed in (Poliak & Peles, 2003; Simons & Trajkovic, 2006)].

Expression and structure of Caspr1 and Caspr2

Contactin-associated protein 1 and 2 (Caspr1 and Caspr2, respectively; Figure 1.11) were the first family members of the CASPR family of proteins to be identified nearly 20 years ago as the mammalian orthologs of the *Drosophila* Neurexin IV (Peles *et al.*, 1997; Poliak *et al.*, 1999). In humans, they are encoded by the *CNTNAP1* and *CNTNAP2* genes as 190 and 150 kDa proteins, respectively. Alternative splicing of *CNTNAP2* has been reported to additionally generate either non-coding transcripts or developmentally-expressed shorter isoforms of Caspr2 (Poliak *et al.*, 1999; Poot, 2015). The expression of both Caspr1 and Caspr2 starts early on during embryonic stages, but increases significantly as development progresses into adulthood, when peak expression is achieved. Both Caspr1 and Caspr2 are highly expressed throughout the brain, presenting similar expression patterns in the hippocampus, cortex and thalamus, although some region-specificity has been reported in the cerebellum and amygdala, where Caspr1 or Caspr2, respectively, are preferentially expressed instead of the other (Peles *et al.*, 1997; Poliak *et al.*, 1999). A recent study also reports an enrichment of Caspr2 in primary sensory organs and related sensory cortical areas (Gordon *et al.*, 2016).

At the molecular level, Caspr1 and Caspr2 are composed of a mosaic of domains typically involved in protein-protein interactions, encompassing a long extracellular region and a short cytoplasmic tail (Figure 1.11). The overall extracellular architecture of both proteins is very similar, and shares high homology to that of neurexins, a family of highly polymorphic cell surface molecules (Peles *et al.*, 1997; Poliak *et al.*, 1999). Their extracellular tails contain a discoidin I homology domain right next to the N-terminal, several laminin G neurexin-like motifs, two epidermal growth factor-like repeats and a region related to fibrinogen β/γ . Caspr1 contains additional unique PGY (proline – glycine – tyrosine) repeats, whereas Caspr2 contains a signal peptide domain at the N-terminal (Figure 1.11).



Figure 1.11 – Schematic representation of the protein domains present in Caspr1 and Caspr2. Caspr1 and Caspr2 are transmembrane neuronal proteins belonging to the neurexin family, which contain a mosaic of domains implicated in protein-protein interactions. Their extracellular terminal is very similar, containing a discoidin I homology domain, a region related to fibrinogen β/γ , epidermal growth factor- like repeats and several laminin G neurexin-like motifs. Caspr1 contains additional unique PGY repeats, whereas Caspr2 contains a signal peptide domain. The major difference between both proteins lies on their intracellular C-terminus. Caspr1 contains a juxtamembrane conserved GNP motif for the binding of the cytoskeleton adaptor 4.1 protein as well as a proline-rich region capable of binding SH3 domains. Caspr2, despite also having the GNP motif, contains an additional PDZ-like domain.

The intracellular C-tail of Caspr1 and Caspr2, despite being a short region, possesses particular interest, since it contains domains of a potential regulatory nature (Figure 1.11). Both Caspr1 and Caspr2 contain a juxtamembrane GNP (Glycophorin C, Neurexin IV, Paranodin) motif (Figure 1.11) for the binding of molecules containing FERM (Four-point-one, Ezrin, Radixin, Moesin) domains, such as β 1 integrins, schwannomin and the cytoskeleton adaptor protein 4.1 (Denisenko-Nehrbass *et al.*, 2003a; Denisenko-Nehrbass *et al.*, 2003b). Caspr1 contains an additional unique proline-rich (PRO-rich) region (Figure 1.11) capable of binding canonical Src homology 3 (SH3) domains, which suggests the likelihood of Caspr1 interacting with molecules typically involved in signalling pathways (Peles *et al.*, 1997). Caspr2, on the other hand, presents a shorter cytoplasmic region that contains a type II PDZ-binding domain (Figure 1.11), which is thought to mediate the interaction of Caspr2 with *Shaker*-type rectifier K⁺ channels (Poliak *et al.*, 1999).

Extracellularly, Caspr1 and Caspr2 are known to bind to Contactin-1 and Contactin-2 (Peles *et al.*, 1997; Poliak *et al.*, 2003; Rubio-Marrero *et al.*, 2016; Traka *et al.*, 2003), cell surface proteins that anchor to the cell membrane through a glycosylphosphatidyl inositol (GPI)

moiety, to form heterophilic membrane complexes that participate in neuron-glia interactions and play fundamental roles in cell adhesion and axonal myelination [reviewed in (Poliak & Peles, 2003; Simons & Trajkovic, 2006)]. Through their juxtamembrane GNP motif, both Caspr1 and Caspr2 have been shown to interact with the cytoskeleton adaptor protein 4.1B/N (Denisenko-Nehrbass et al., 2003b), which is necessary for the distribution and clustering of Caspr1 and Caspr2 at subcellular specialized axonal microdomains (Cifuentes-Diaz et al., 2011; Horresh et al., 2010), indicating that it most likely serves as a local anchor of these membrane proteins to the actin-based cytoskeleton. Caspr1, through its other C-tail prolinerich motif, has been shown to selectively interact with the SH3 domains of the Src tyrosine kinase, Fyn, p85 and PLCy (Peles et al., 1997), indicating that it probably mediates the activation of downstream signalling cascades. On the other hand, recent studies have analysed the intracellular proteome of Caspr2 and found that it interacts not only with the Kv1 family of K⁺-channels (Horresh et al., 2008) but also with G protein-coupled receptor 37 [(GPR37), (Tanabe et al., 2015)], members of the ADAM (Disintegrin and metalloproteinase domain-containing protein) family of proteins, in particular ADAM22 in complex with the secreted LGI1 (Leucine-rich glioma-inactivated 1) protein (Chen et al., 2015), as well as with PSD93 and PSD95, SAP97, CASK and other PSD-MAGUKs (Chen et al., 2015; Horresh et al., 2008; Poliak et al., 1999).

It is remarkable that, despite the high similarity between Caspr1 and Caspr2, a singledomain difference in their cytoplasmic regions opens up a series of potentially different biological processes in which they can participate, thus likely entailing a significant functional distinction between Caspr1 and Caspr2.

Biological functions of Caspr1 and Caspr2

Caspr1 and Caspr2 were initially identified in specialized axonal microdomains of peripheral and central myelinated neurons, where they have been thoroughly studied and their roles in mediating axonal organization and myelination, and nerve conduction well characterized. Interestingly, recent investigations have shed light on additional roles played by these proteins in the brain, including at the level of synapse regulation, cellular development and neuronal network activity.

Role in axonal organization, myelination and nerve conduction

Several studies have thoroughly characterized the role of Caspr1 and Caspr2 in peripheral and central myelinated axons, where they are known to play fundamental functions in the organization and maintenance of axonal microdomains at the nodes of Ranvier, which are critical for myelin ensheathing, correct saltatory propagation of action potentials and overall axonal excitability [Figure 1.12, reviewed in (Faivre-Sarrailh & Devaux, 2013; Poliak & Peles, 2003; Simons & Trajkovic, 2006)].

Caspr1 was one the first identified constituents of the paranodal junctions (Einheber *et al.*, 1997; Menegoz *et al.*, 1997), which act as a physical and electrical barrier to restrict the localization of voltage-gated Na⁺-channels to the nodes of Ranvier, hence promoting action potential propagation (Figure 1.12). With a diffuse axonal expression during development, Caspr1 rapidly increases at the onset of myelination and localizes into clustered hotspots near the nodes of Ranvier to promote the initial steps of myelin ensheathing (Menegoz *et al.*, 1997). Here, by binding intracellularly to the cytoskeleton adapter 4.1 protein and extracellularly in *cis* with Contactin-1, which, in turn, binds in *trans* to glial cell surface-expressed Neurofascin155, Caspr1 initiates the formation of the paranodal junction and promotes the tethering of the myelin sheath to axons [Figure 1.12; reviewed in (Faivre-Sarrailh & Devaux, 2013; Poliak & Peles, 2003; Simons & Trajkovic, 2006)]. Importantly, mice lacking Caspr1 exhibit tremor, ataxia and motor paresis ensuing from severe perturbations in the organization of the paranodes, with altered distribution of the paranodal components Contactin-1 and Neurofascin155 and diffusion of voltage-gated Na⁺-channel from the nodes of Ranvier, resulting in a marked decrease in nerve conduction velocity (Bhat *et al.*, 2001).

Caspr2, on the other hand, localizes with Contactin-2 to the juxtaparanodal region, a nodal specialization adjacent to the paranodes (Figure 1.12), highly enriched in *Shaker*-like rectifier K⁺-channels that are crucial for the regulation of axonal excitability. In the juxtaparanodes, Caspr2 serves as a membrane scaffold to cluster K⁺-channels (Poliak *et al.*, 2003; Traka *et al.*, 2003), in a mechanism that requires cytoskeleton anchoring of Caspr2 via 4.1-binding, and that also involves the scaffolding PSD93 and PSD95 proteins (Horresh *et al.*, 2010; Horresh *et al.*, 2008). Conversely, it seems that Caspr2 is not required for PSD93/95-mediated clustering of K⁺-channels at the axon initial segment (Ogawa *et al.*, 2008; Pinatel *et al.*, 2017). Absence of Caspr2 in mice results in a complete disorganization of the juxtaparanodes, with K⁺-channels diffusing along the internodal region. Interestingly, however, no gross alterations were reported in axonal myelination or conduction velocity of peripheral nerves in *Cntnap2* KO mice, despite K⁺-channel mislocalization (Poliak *et al.*, 2003; Traka *et al.*, 2003). Recent reports in the CNS are confounding, with one study reporting defects in

nodal formation and myelin ensheathing, as well as abnormal action potential propagation in *Cntnap2* KO mice (Scott *et al.*, 2017), whilst one other study reports reduced local and long-range prefrontal functional connectivity, albeit observing no changes in myelination (Liska *et al.*, 2017).



Figure 1.12 – Caspr1 and Caspr2 play critical roles during axonal myelination. Voltage-gated Na⁺ channels in the nodes of Ranvier are anchored in clusters in the axonal membrane through interaction with the CAMs neurofascin-186 and NrCAM, and several cytoskeleton/scaffolding proteins. The myelin sheath is initially formed in the paranodes, which surround the nodes of Ranvier. Formation of the paranodes depends on the interaction between a Contactin1/Caspr1 complex in the axonal membrane with the glial loop, with further stabilization by the 4.1 cytoskeleton-binding protein. The assembly of the myelin sheath next progresses to the juxtaparanodes, which are enriched in *Shaker*-type K⁺ channels. These are tethered in the axonal membrane by a complex containing the 4.1 protein, Caspr2 and TAG-1, or Contactin2; and linked to the myelin sheath through a *trans*-interaction with TAG-1, also present in the glial membrane. [Adapted from (Simons & Trajkovic, 2006)].

Role in synaptic regulation, cell development and network activity

Multiple central roles have been attributed to Caspr2 in recent years, including in the regulation of synapses, cell development and migration, and neuronal network activity [reviewed in (Penagarikano & Geschwind, 2012; Poot, 2015; Poot, 2017; Rodenas-Cuadrado *et al.*, 2014)]. One seminal milestone in understanding the role of Caspr2 in brain function came from the characterization of severe histopathological brain defects and behavioural abnormalities in the *Cntnap2* KO mouse that recapitulated the pathology of neuropsychiatric patients carrying *CNTNAP2* mutations [(Penagarikano *et al.*, 2017; Rodenas-Cuadrado *et al.*, 2014)], and reviewed in (Penagarikano & Geschwind, 2012; Poot, 2015; Poot, 2017; Rodenas-Cuadrado *et al.*, 2014)].

One overarching phenotype reported in *CNTNAP2* KO animal models is a loss of GABAergic interneurons and asynchronous neuronal firing (Hoffman *et al.*, 2016; Penagarikano *et al.*, 2011; Vogt *et al.*, 2017), that results in impaired hippocampal and cortical GABAergic inhibitory transmission in adult mice (Bridi *et al.*, 2017; Jurgensen & Castillo, 2015). Animals also present abnormal migration of excitatory projection neurons and altered cortical layer patterning (Penagarikano *et al.*, 2011), likely contributing to a reduction in local and long-range prefrontal functional connectivity assessed by fMRI (Liska *et al.*, 2017). These observations hint at severe circuitry and neuronal network activity defects occurring in the absence of Caspr2, thus indicating that its role goes well beyond the regulation of juxtaparanodal K⁺-channel clustering.

Further arguing in favour of an important role of Caspr2 in the establishment of neuronal networks and circuits is the evidence that transient loss of Caspr2, induced by shRNAmediated knockdown, significantly alters the dendritic complexity of cortical neurons and decreases the overall density of excitatory spines, resulting in impaired excitatory synaptic transmission (Anderson et al., 2012). This study also reports a decrease in basal inhibitory transmission, which, together with previous evidence, pinpoint a critical role for Caspr2 in the regulation of excitatory/inhibitory (E/I) balance in the brain. Recent studies have provided additional compelling evidence to establish a fundamental role for Caspr2 in synapse regulation and proper development of synaptic circuitry. Resorting to super-resolution imaging methods, one study further demonstrated that Caspr2 is enriched in dendritic spines (Varea et al., 2015), in accord to previous biochemical evidence reporting its presence in synaptic membranes (Bakkaloglu et al., 2008). Additionally, Cntnap2 KO cortical neurons displayed reduced spine density and altered spine morphology (Varea et al., 2015), thus proposing a role for Caspr2 in spine dynamics. Confirming this hypothesis, an in vivo imaging study reported that, whilst formation of new spines remains intact in Cntnap2 KO mice, there is an impairment in the stabilization of newly formed spines (Gdalyahu et al., 2015).

A synaptic function for Caspr1 has also been recently established. Several studies have already uncovered an extensive localization of Caspr1 in dendrites and synaptic sites (Cajigas *et al.*, 2012; Collins *et al.*, 2006; Murai *et al.*, 2002; Santos *et al.*, 2012), and a recent study performed in our laboratory established Caspr1 as novel regulator of AMPAR trafficking to synapses (Santos *et al.*, 2012). Santos and colleagues identified Caspr1 as a novel interactor of the GluA1 AMPAR subunit capable of regulating the synaptic trafficking of cell surface GluA1-containing AMPARs: overexpression of Caspr1 in hippocampal neurons resulted in a significant increase in the synaptic content of cell surface AMPARs, and co-expression of Caspr1 with GluA1 in a heterologous system increased the amplitude of AMPAR-currents evoked by glutamate. Conversely, shRNA-mediated loss of Caspr1 expression led to a significant reduction in synaptic cell surface AMPARs, indicating that Caspr1 is required for the

regulation of their trafficking. Interestingly, the C-tail domain of Caspr1 (through which Caspr1 binds to GluA1) alone is sufficient to upregulate surface AMPARs at the synapse, or to rescue AMPARs to the surface following loss of endogenous Caspr1 (Santos *et al.*, 2012). Interestingly, a potential role of Caspr2 in the regulation of AMPARs has recently been suggested since *Cntnap2* KO cortical neurons present cytoplasmic aggregates of AMPARs in parallel to synaptic abnormalities (Varea *et al.*, 2015).

Implication of Caspr1 and Caspr2 in the pathogenesis of neurological and neuropsychiatric disorders

Past investigation on the biological functions of Caspr1 and Caspr2 emphasize their likely relevance for mediating important physiological processes required for proper brain function. Confirming this hypothesis is surmounting clinical and experimental evidence implicating both Caspr1 and Caspr2 in the pathogenesis of several neurological and neuropsychiatric disorders.

Although evidence linking Caspr1 to pathological conditions is rather recent, mutations in the CASPR1-encoding gene CNTNAP1 have been found in patients with arthrogryposis multiplex congenita and other congenital forms of hypomielynating disorders, and peripheral neuropathy (Hengel et al., 2017; Lakhani et al., 2017; Laguerriere et al., 2014; Mehta et al., 2017; Nizon et al., 2016; Vallat et al., 2016). Additionally, autoantibodies targeting CASPR1 have recently been found in patients with inflammatory neuropathy (Doppler et al., 2016). These disorders, in particular arthrogryposis multiplex congenita (most affected children die within months or few years from birth), are severely debilitating, presenting with severe motor and sensory nerve dysfunctions, including cramps, fasciculations, muscle fibrosis and juncture contractions. Although the primary aetiology of some of these disorders can be orthopedic, in most cases patients' symptoms are secondary to neurological dysfunction. Interestingly, Cntnap1 KO mice exhibit tremors, ataxia and motor paresis secondary to abnormal paranodal junctions and aberrant myelination in peripheral and central axons (Bhat et al., 2001), and similar phenotypes have been observed in the shambling mouse, caused by a frameshift mutation in *Cntnap1* (Sun *et al.*, 2009). Interestingly, a similar perturbation in the paranodes and reduced myelination have been reported by electron microscopy imaging of the sciatic nerves of CNTNAP1 patients (Laquerriere et al., 2014).

Interestingly, a recent meta-analysis of transcriptomic profiling studies across several neuropsychiatric disorders, reveals that gene expression of *CNTNAP1* is significantly downregulated in psychiatric disorders such as ASD, SCZ, bipolar disorder and depression

42

(Gandal *et al.*, 2018), giving a first prospect of the potential relevance of CASPR1 in brain function. Curiously, some of the patients with congenital hypomyelination carrying *CNTNAP1* mutations have been diagnosed with severe intellectual disability (Hengel *et al.*, 2017), which could correlate with a potential disruption of synaptic functions played by CASPR1.



Figure 1.13 – The human CNTNAP2 locus at chromosomal region 7q35 harbouring mutations implicated in several neuropsychiatric disorders. Schematic representation of the 24 exons (black bar) of the *CNTNAP2* gene. Large grey arrows indicate binding sites for regulation by the transcription factors: TCF4, STOX1A and FOXP2. Mutation and deletions identified in patients are colour-coded for the primary patient diagnosis indicated in the key box. *The SNP cluster contains the following SNPs: rs851715, rs10246256, rs2710102, rs759178, rs1922892, rs2538991, rs17236239, rs2538976, rs2710117 and rs4431523. The protein domains of Caspr2 are represented below in black, with vertical lines corresponding to each encoding exon [Adapted from (Rodenas-Cuadrado *et al.*, 2014)].

On the other hand, several linkage, association, gene expression analysis and imaging data studies conducted in the past decade found countless mutations in the *CNTNAP2* gene (Figure 1.13) that have been implicated, with more or less robustness, in the pathogenesis of several neuropsychiatric disorders including ASD (Alarcon *et al.*, 2008; Arking *et al.*, 2008; Bakkaloglu *et al.*, 2008; O'Roak *et al.*, 2011; Poot *et al.*, 2010), SCZ and bipolar disorder (Friedman *et al.*, 2008; O'Dushlaine *et al.*, 2011; Wang *et al.*, 2010b), ID and language impairment (Mikhail *et al.*, 2011; Petrin *et al.*, 2010; Sehested *et al.*, 2010; Smogavec *et al.*, 2016; Vernes *et al.*, 2008; Zweier *et al.*, 2009), epilepsy and cortical dysplasia focal epilepsy (CFDE) syndrome (Friedman *et al.*, 2008; Mefford *et al.*, 2010; Smogavec *et al.*, 2016; Strauss *et al.*, 2006), Tourette syndrome (Belloso *et al.*, 2007; Verkerk *et al.*, 2003), among other disorders (Figure 1.13). Patients harbouring *CNTNAP2* mutations typically present with a very complex phenotypic variability, but their overarching features can include seizures, language

Chapter I

impairments, intellectual disability and varying autistic-core behaviours [reviewed in (Penagarikano & Geschwind, 2012; Poot, 2017; Rodenas-Cuadrado *et al.*, 2014)]. Histopathological analysis of temporal-lobe specimens obtained during resective surgeries done to patients with CFDE showed evidence of abnormalities in neuronal migration, altered cortical layering and widespread astrogliosis (Strauss *et al.*, 2006). Additionally, human MRI studies revealed dramatic losses in frontal-lobe grey matter and alterations in functional connectivity in patients carrying *CNTNAP2* variations (Scott-Van Zeeland *et al.*, 2010; Tan *et al.*, 2010). Importantly, *Cntnap2* KO animal models display histopathological defects (Liska *et al.*, 2017; Penagarikano *et al.*, 2011) and develop behavioural abnormalities (Hoffman *et al.*, 2016; Penagarikano *et al.*, 2011) that recapitulate the core features of patients with *CNTNAP2* mutations.

Caspr2 has also been recently associated to autoimmune synaptic encephalitis (Irani et al., 2010; Lancaster et al., 2011a), a rare neurological / neuropsychiatric disorder recently characterized in which autoantibodies are aberrantly produced against neuronal receptors and synaptic cell surface proteins, leading to the development of severe neurological and psychiatric symptoms. Some of the identified synaptic antigen targets identified to date include NMDA- (Dalmau et al., 2008; Dalmau et al., 2007) and AMPA-type (Lai et al., 2009), GABAergic (Lancaster et al., 2010; Petit-Pedrol et al., 2014), glycinergic (Hutchinson et al., 2008) and metabotropic receptors (Lancaster et al., 2011b; Marignier et al., 2010), as well as proteins other proteins of the voltage-gated K+-channel (VGKC) complex (Vincent et al., 2004), including the leucine-rich glioma-inactivated 1 protein [LGI1; (Irani et al., 2010; Lai et al., 2010)], among others [extensively reviewed in (Chefdeville et al., 2016; Coutinho et al., 2014; Crisp et al., 2016; Dalmau, 2016)]. Autoantibodies targeting CASPR2 have been identified less than a decade ago in the serum and cerebrospinal fluid of patients presenting with severe neurological syndromes that can include neuromyotonia, Morvan's syndrome and limbic encephalitis [reviewed in (Bastiaansen et al., 2017; Binks et al., 2017; Pruss & Lennox, 2016; van Sonderen et al., 2017)]. Overarching features of these patients reveal a complex dysfunction of both the PNS and CNS, with patients often manifesting with peripheral nerve hyperexcitability and neuropathic pain, sleep alterations, seizures, memory impairment, cognitive deficits and psychosis (Bien et al., 2017; Irani et al., 2010; Irani et al., 2012; Joubert et al., 2016; Klein et al., 2013; Lancaster et al., 2011a; Somers et al., 2011; Sunwoo et al., 2015; van Sonderen et al., 2016).

These disorders are treatable with timely immunotherapy, and most patients present a good clinical outcome. Nevertheless, the risk for relapse is particularly high and most patients require continuous immunosuppression throughout life, with some retaining permanent cognitive sequelae [reviewed in (Bastiaansen *et al.*, 2017; Binks *et al.*, 2017; Pruss & Lennox,
2016; van Sonderen et al., 2017)]. Importantly, a good clinical outcome following immunotherapy can be correlated with decreasing circulating titres of CASPR2 autoantibodies in patients' sera [reviewed in (Bastiaansen et al., 2017; Pruss & Lennox, 2016; van Sonderen et al., 2017)], which is suggestive of a potential direct pathogenic effect of CASPR2 autoantibodies. Unfortunately, potential pathogenic mechanisms elicited by CASPR2 antibodies still remain uncharacterized and compelling evidence for a direct antibody-mediated pathogenesis is only now starting to surface. A couple of studies have recently developed maternal-to-foetus antibody transfer models by exposing mice in utero to CASPR2 autoantibodies (Brimberg et al., 2016; Coutinho et al., 2017b). Curiously, they found that exposed offspring mice developed behavioural abnormalities comparable to those of the Cntnap2 KO mouse model, and that recapitulate the psychiatric phenotypes of patients with anti-CASPR2 encephalitis, thus suggesting a direct pathogenic effect elicited by CASPR2 autoantibodies. Interestingly, circulating autoantibodies against CASPR2 were recently detected during pregnancy in mothers of children with autism-spectrum disorders (Brimberg et al., 2016) or intellectual disability (Coutinho et al., 2017a), which suggest that gestational transfer of CASPR2 autoantibodies might contribute to the development of neuropsychiatric disorders in the progeny.

Objectives of the present study

During development, sensory experience and throughout learning-related adaptations, the mammalian brain undergoes constant changes that can compromise its function. To prevent this, neurons can elicit homeostatic responses that maintain neuronal activity within dynamic, yet stable boundaries that keep neuronal networks in-balance, even in face of constant changes of activity. Hence, homeostatic synaptic plasticity has stood out as a fundamental process to conserve brain function, and ultimately behaviour and cognition. The dynamic regulation of synaptic glutamate receptors of the AMPA-type has been pinpointed as a major cellular correlate to achieve neuronal homeostasis. Emerging evidence implicating a failure in glutamatergic transmission and neuronal synaptic homeostasis in the pathogenesis of distinct neuropsychiatric disorders warrants a full comprehension of the mechanisms underlying these processes, and how they can be compromised in the context of disease.

Contactin-associated proteins 1 and 2 are cell-adhesion molecules with emerging roles in the regulation of fundamental cellular and synaptic processes, including in glutamatergic synaptic transmission. Taking into consideration the established association of Caspr1 and Caspr2 with several neurological and psychiatric disorders, herein we aimed at exploring potential roles played by these proteins in the regulation of glutamatergic synaptic transmission and synaptic plasticity phenomena.

- Previous studies carried out in our laboratory have identified Caspr1 as an AMPARinteracting protein required for the regulation of cell surface AMPARs at the synapse. Here, we aimed at exploring the molecular mechanisms underlying the function of Caspr1 in AMPAR regulation, and investigated a link between its function and the expression of homeostatic synaptic plasticity. (Chapter III)
- 2) Mutations in the CASPR2-encoding gene CNTNAP2 have been found in association with cognitive and psychiatric disorders; however, the deleterious effects of these mutations in CASPR2 function remain elusive. Given the shared homology with Caspr1, we hypothesized Caspr2 to play a similar role in AMPAR regulation. We evaluated the presence of Caspr2 at glutamatergic synapses of cortical neurons and evaluated the synaptic content of cell surface AMPARs, as well as the expression of homeostatic synaptic scaling mechanisms upon loss of expression of endogenous Caspr2. We also aimed at determining the physiological relevance of Caspr2 in the

regulation of glutamatergic function *in vivo*, and in the expression of experiencedependent mechanisms of plasticity driven by visual experience. (Chapter IV)

3) Autoantibodies against CASPR2 have been recently found in patients with autoimmune synaptic encephalitis that manifest with severe cognitive and psychiatric symptoms. However, the mechanisms elicited by CASPR2 autoantibodies are still uncharacterized, and a causal link establishing their direct pathogenic effect is still missing. Here, we hypothesized that CASPR2 autoantibodies exert their pathogenesis by disrupting the role of CASPR2 in the regulation of AMPARs. We used human immunoglobulins purified from a patient with CASPR2 encephalitis and evaluated how they impinged on the regulation of AMPAR trafficking, basal glutamatergic transmission and synaptic plasticity mechanisms. We further aimed at identifying the mechanisms elicited by CASPR2 autoantibodies to elicit pathogenesis. (Chapter V)

This study provides compelling evidence of a fundamental role played by both Contactinassociated proteins 1 and 2 in the regulation of AMPAR trafficking and function and in underlying important mechanisms to achieve neuronal synaptic homeostasis. Importantly, our findings provide insights into the pathogenesis of neurological and neuropsychiatric disorders.

Chapter II Materials & Methods

Materials

Horse serum, gentamycin, penicillin/streptomycin, Neurobasal Medium (NBM), Fetal Bovine Serum (FBS), Lipofectamine LTX with Plus reagent, Opti-MEM, RNAse-free water and trypsin were purchased from GIBCO, as part of Thermo Fisher Scientific (MA, USA). Cytosine arabinoside, kynurenic acid, glutamine, Minimum Essencial Medium (MEM), Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium (DMEM) and poly-D-lysine were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich, as part of Merck (MA, USA). SM1 supplement was acquired from STEMCELL Technologies (Vancouver, Canada). TRIzol reagent was purchased from Invitrogen, as part of Thermo Fisher Scientific (MA, USA). All other reagents were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (Sintra, Portugal or St. Louis, MO, USA), Fisher Scientific (Loures, Portugal or Pittsburgh, PA, USA), Merck (Oeiras, Portugal), Gibco, as part of Life Technologies (Alfagene, Carcavelos, Portugal), and NZYTech (Lisboa, Portugal), unless stated otherwise.

The drugs used in this study were: Tetrodotoxin (TTX), picrotoxin and D-(-)-2-Amino-5phosphonopentanoic acid (APV) for *in vitro* assays were purchased from Tocris Bioscience (Bristol, UK). Strychnine was purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (Sintra, Portugal). For electrophysiology experiments, TTX was purchased from Abcam (Cambridge, MA, USA), APV from Sigma-Aldrich (St. Louis, MO, USA) and Bicuculline (Bicc) was acquired from Enzo Life Sciences (Farmingdale, NY, USA).

Antibodies

Primary antibodies	Dilution (application)	Source
β-Tubulin	1:5000 (WB)	Abcam (Cambridge, UK)
Caspr1	1:50 (ICC) / 1:250 (WB)	Abcam (Cambridge, UK)
Caspr2	1:200 (ICC) / 1:250 (WB/IP)	Abcam (Cambridge, UK)
GAPDH	1:5000 (WB)	Abcam (Cambridge, UK)
GFP	1:500 (ICC) / 1:1000 (WB)	MBL International (MA, USA)
GluA1 C-terminal	1:1000 (WB)	Millipore (Oeiras, Portugal)
GluA1 N-terminal	1:200 (ICC)	kind gift from Dr. Andrew Irving (U. of Dundee, Scotland)
GluA1 N-terminal	1:100 (ICC)	Millipore (Oeiras, Portugal)
GluA2 N-terminal	1:100 (ICC)	Millipore (Oeiras, Portugal)
Human IgG1 subtype	1:50 (ICC)	Sigma-Aldrich (UK)

Table 2.1 – Primary antibodies used in this study.

Human IgG2 subtype	1:50 (ICC)	Sigma-Aldrich (UK)
Human IgG3 subtype	1:50 (ICC)	Sigma-Aldrich (UK)
Human IgG4 subtype	1:50 (ICC)	Sigma-Aldrich (UK)
Human Transferrin receptor	1:500 (WB)	Invitrogen (UK)
MAP2	1:5000 (ICC)	Abcam (Cambridge, UK)
Phospho-ZBP1 (Tyr396)	1:250 (ICC) / 1:500 (WB)	kind gift from Dr. Gary Bassell (Emory U., Atlanta, USA)
Phospho-Src (Tyr416)	1:500 (WB)	Cell Signalling (MA, USA)
PSD95	1:200 (ICC)	Thermo Fisher Scientific (Loures, Portugal)
PSD95	1:750 (ICC)	Cell Signalling (MA, USA)
Synaptophysin	1:20000 (WB)	Abcam (Cambridge, UK)
vGluT1	1:5000 (ICC)	Millipore (Oeiras, Portugal)
ZBP1	1:500 (WB / IP)	SantaCruz Biotechnologies (Frilabo, Maia, Portugal)

Abbreviations: ICC – Immunocytochemistry, IP – Immunoprecipitation, WB – Western Blot

 Table 2.2 – Secondary antibodies used in this study.

Secondary antibodies	Dilution (application)	Source
Alexa 488-conjugated anti-human	1:500 (ICC)	Molecular Probes (Leiden, Netherlands)
Alexa 488-conjugated anti-rabbit	1:500 (ICC)	Molecular Probes (Leiden, Netherlands)
Alexa 488-conjugated anti-sheep	1:500 (ICC)	Molecular Probes (Leiden, Netherlands)
Alexa 568-conjugated anti-human	1:500 (ICC)	Molecular Probes (Leiden, Netherlands)
Alexa 568-conjugated anti-human	1:750 (ICC)	Invitrogen (UK)
Alexa 568-conjugated anti-mouse	1:500 (ICC)	Molecular Probes (Leiden, Netherlands)
Alexa 568-conjugated anti-mouse	1:750 (ICC)	Invitrogen (UK)
Alexa 568-conjugated anti-sheep	1:500 (ICC)	Molecular Probes (Leiden, Netherlands)
Alexa 594-conjugated anti-rabbit	1:500 (ICC)	Molecular Probes (Leiden, Netherlands)
Alexa 647-conjugated anti-guinea pig	1:500 (ICC)	Molecular Probes (Leiden, Netherlands)
Alexa 647-conjugated anti-mouse	1:500 (ICC)	Molecular Probes (Leiden, Netherlands)
Alexa 647-conjugated anti-rabbit	1:500 (ICC)	Molecular Probes (Leiden, Netherlands)
Alkaline phosphatase- conjugated anti-mouse	1:20000 (WB)	GE Healthcare (Carnaxide, Portugal)

Alkaline phosphatase- conjugated anti-rabbit	1:20000 (WB)	GE Healthcare (Carnaxide, Portugal)
Alkaline phosphatase- conjugated anti-rabbit light chain specific	1:10000 (WB)	Jackson ImmunoResearch (PA, USA)
AMCA-conjugated anti-chicken	1:200 (ICC)	Jackson ImmunoResearch (PA, USA)

Abbreviations: ICC – Immunocytochemistry, WB – Western Blot

Constructs and primers

The GluA1 construct was a kind gift from Dr. Juan Lerma (Instituto de Neurociencias de Alicante, Spain). The deletion construct GluA1 Δ 3'UTR was prepared with the QuickChange II XL-site-directed mutagenesis kit (Agilent Technologies, CA, USA). The GluA1 construct was used as template and the primers (sense primer: 5' GAG CCA CAG GAT TGT AAG TCG ACC T 3'; antisense primer: 5' AGG TCG ACT TAC AAT CCT GTG GCT C 3') were designed to match all regions upstream of the 3'UTR, to specifically exclude this region. Caspr1 was kindly provided by Dr. Catherine Faivre-Sarrailh (CNRS, Marseille, France) and cloned as described by Bonnon and colleagues (Bonnon et al., 2003). The deletion constructs Caspr1 APro, deleted for the proline-rich region of Caspr1 C-terminal, and Caspr1AGNP, deleted for the FERM domain, were prepared with the QuickChange II XL-site-directed mutagenesis kit (Agilent). The Caspr1 construct was used as template and primers were designed to match the upstream and downstream regions of each domain, in order to specifically delete only that region. Primers were the following: Caspr1APro - sense primer: 5' GGC CAC CCA TGA TTC CCA CAG GGA CCA GAA CC 3', antisense primer: 5' GGT TCT GGT CCC TGT GGG AAT CAT GGG TGG CC 3'; Caspr1 ΔGNP - sense primer: 5' TGC TGT TCT ATT CCC ACC CTG GCG GC 3', antisense primer: 5' GCC GCC AGG GTG GGA ATA GAA CAG CA 3'. Dr. Thomas Südhof (Stanford University, USA) generously provided the Caspr2 construct, together with the shRNA plasmids for knocking down Caspr1 and Caspr2. The ZBP1 constructs (ZBP1*, ZBP1-Y396F) and the shRNA plasmid against ZBP1 were a kind offer from Dr. Jacek Jaworski (International Institute of Molecular and Cell Biology, Warsaw, Poland). The constructs pEGFP-N1 (Clontech, Saint-Germain-en-Laye, France) and pBK-CMV (Stratagene, Cambridge, UK) were used as controls for transfection. The constructs pMDLg/pRRE, pRSV-Rev and pCMV-VSV-G were used for the production of lentivirus and were kindly provided by Dr. Ann Marie Craig (Djavad Mowafaghian Centre for Brain Health and Department of Psychiatry, University of British Columbia, Vancouver, Canada). All DNA constructs were verified by DNA sequencing.

Methods

Animals

For electrophysiological studies, C57BL/6J mice (Jackson Laboratories) were raised under a normal 12 hour (h) light/dark cycle until the beginning of experiments. For primary cultures of hippocampal and cortical neurons, either pregnant Wistar rats, Wistar pups at postnatal day 0 (P0) or pregnant *Cntnap2* knockout (KO) mice [B6.129(Cg)*Cntnap2*^{tm1Pele}/J; Jackson Laboratory] were used. All procedures were reviewed and approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee (IACUC) at Johns Hopkins University, Baltimore, USA, or by the Portuguese National Authority for Animal Health (DGAV).

Cell line culture – maintenance and transfection

COS7, immortalized kidney cells of the African green monkey, and Human embryonic kidney (HEK) 293T cell lines were maintained at 37° C in a humidified incubator with $5\% \text{ CO}_2/95\%$ air, incubated in Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium (DMEM), supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum, 1% penicillin/streptomycin and 44 mM NaHCO₃ at pH 7.2, to a subconfluence of 60-80% and diluted 1:5 every three days.

COS7 cells in 6-well plates and cultured to 70 - 80% confluency were transiently transfected with Lipofectamine reagent (Invitrogen, Barcelona, Spain) as follows: Lipofectamine was diluted in OptiMEM reduced serum medium, to which a total of 12 µg of plasmid DNA, previously diluted in OptiMEM to an equivalent volume, was added. The DNA-Lipofectamine mix was then gently vortexed for 2-3 seconds (sec) and incubated at room temperature (RT) for 20 minutes (min) to allow the formation of complexes. Precipitates were then added to the cells and incubated for 5 hours (h) at 37°C. HEK293T cells in 6-well plates and cultured to 70 - 80% confluency were transfected using the calcium phosphate method. Briefly, to allow formation of DNA precipitates, a solution of 2 M CaCl₂ was added dropwise to a total of 12 µg of DNA previously diluted in water. This mixture was then added to HEPESbuffered transfection solution (50 mM HEPES, 280 mM NaCl, 1.5 mM Na₂HPO₄, pH 7.05) and incubated for 20 min, at RT, in the dark. The precipitates were added to the cells and incubated at 37°C for 5 h. For both transfection methods, after the period of incubation with the precipitates, the medium was completely changed to fresh culture medium in order to remove the remaining precipitates and prevent toxicity. Cells were returned to the incubator and allowed to express the transfected constructs for 48 h.

For live cell-based assays, HEK293T cells were grown in DMEM supplemented with 10% Fetal Calf Serum (FCS) and 1% penicillin G / streptomycin /amphotericin (PSA) and maintained

in flasks at 37°C in a humidified incubator with 5% $CO_2/95\%$ air. For screening purposes, cells grown in flasks were transferred to 6-well plates with 13 mm poly-L-lysine-coated glass coverslips, by gentle detachment with 1% trypsin in Phosphate buffer saline (PBS) and reseded in DMEM/10% FCS/1% PSA at a concentration of 2.5x10⁵ cells/mL. The following day, cells were transfected using 1.5 µL polyethylenimine (PEI) with 3 µg of the cDNA plasmid of EGFP-tagged CASPR2 per well. After 14-16 h, medium was replaced with fresh DMEM/10% FCS/1% PSA.

Primary culture of cortical and hippocampal neurons (high-density and Banker low-density cultures)

High- and low-density primary cultures of rat cortical and hippocampal neurons were prepared from the cortices and hippocampi of E18 Wistar rat embryos, as previously described (Santos et al., 2012). Briefly, after dissection, tissue was treated for 15 min at 37°C with 0.06% trypsin, in Ca²⁺- and Mg²⁺-free Hank's balanced salt solution (HBSS: 5.36 mM KCl, 0.44 mM KH₂PO₄, 137 mM NaCl, 4.16 mM NaHCO₃, 0.34 mM Na₂HPO₄.2H₂O, 5 mM glucose, 1 mM sodium pyruvate, 10 mM HEPES and 0.001% phenol red). Cells were then washed 6 times in HBSS and mechanically dissociated. Cells were plated in neuronal plating medium [Minimal Essential Medium (MEM) supplemented with 10% horse serum, 0.6% glucose and 1 mM pyruvic acid)] at a density of 8.9 x 10⁴ cells/cm² in 6-well plates, coated with poly-D-lysine (0.1 mg/mL). After 2-4 h, the medium was replaced with fresh Neurobasal medium [NBM supplemented with SM1 neuronal supplement (StemCell Technologies, Grenoble, France), 0.12 mg/mL gentamycin, 0.5 mM glutamine and 25 µM glutamate (to prevent excitotoxicity, glutamate was not added to cortical cultures)]. For imaging purposes, low-density Banker cultures were prepared as previously described by Banker and colleagues (Banker & Goslin, 1998). Low-density cells were plated onto poly-D-lysine-coated coverslips in 60 mm culture dishes, at a final density of 3 x 10⁵ cells/dish. After 2-4 h, coverslips were flipped over an astroglial feeder layer in NBM. Wax dots on the neuronal side of the coverslips allowed the physical separation of neurons from the glia, despite neurons growing face down over the feeder layer. To further prevent glia overgrowth, neuron cultures were treated with 5 µM cytosine arabinoside after 3 days in vitro (DIV). Cultures were maintained at 37°C in a humidified incubator of 5% CO_2 / 95% air, for up to 15 DIV.

For screening of human samples, primary hippocampal neurons were prepared either from Wistar rat pups at postnatal day 0 (P0), or from E18.5 *Cntnap2* knockout mice embryos [B6.129(Cg)*Cntnap2*^{tm1Pele}/J; Jackson Laboratory]. Briefly, hippocampi were dissected, washed with HBSS and dissociated in 1% trypsin-HBSS solution for 20 min at 37°C. Trypsin

was aspirated and replaced with complete MEM, supplemented with 10% FCS and 1% PSA, and cells gently triturated until no visible clumps of tissue remained. The cell suspension was gently centrifuged at 1,000 rpm for 5 min, the supernatant aspirated and the cell pellet resuspended in complete MEM medium. Cells were plated onto poly-lysine-coated glass coverslips in a 6-well plate at a final density of 2x10⁵ cells/well. After 2 h plating medium was replaced with NBM (supplemented with 1% B-27 serum free supplement, 200 mM L-glutamine and 1% PSA). Cultures were maintained at 37°C in a humidified incubator of 5% CO₂ / 95% air, until 14-18 DIV.

Neuronal transfection

DNA plasmids were recombinantly expressed in both high- and low-density primary cultures of hippocampal or cortical neurons using an adapted calcium phosphate transfection protocol (Jiang *et al.*, 2004). Briefly, plasmid DNAs were diluted in Tris-EDTA transfection buffer (10 mM Tris-HCl, 2.5 mM EDTA, pH 7.3). A CaCl₂ solution (2.5 M in 10 mM HEPES) was added, drop-wise, to the diluted DNA to a final concentration of 250 mM CaCl₂, and added to an equivalent volume of HEPES-buffered solution (274 mM NaCl, 10 mM KCl, 1.4 mM Na₂HPO₄, 11 mM dextrose and 42 mM HEPES, pH 7.2). The final transfection solution was then gently vortexed and incubated at room temperature for 30 min to allow the formation of precipitates. Precipitated DNA was then added, drop-wise, to DIV 7 neurons and cultures were incubated at 37°C for 1-3 h in the presence of kynurenic acid (2 mM in Neurobasal medium). To dissolve the precipitates, cells were incubated at 37°C for 20 min with slightly acidified culture medium containing kynurenic acid. Finally, reserved, conditioned medium was added to the cells (or coverslips were transferred back to the original astroglial plate), which returned to the incubator to allow expression of the transfected constructs, until DIV 13 (cortical) or DIV 15 (hippocampal).

Anti-CASPR2 encephalitis patient – clinical history

Plasma samples (obtained during periods of disease exacerbation) of a 72 year-old male patient with anti-CASPR2 autoimmune encephalitis were used in this study. The patient, presenting with Morvan's syndrome secondary to high levels of CASPR2 autoantibodies, has developed progressive neuropathic pain, episodes of lack of perception with goosebumps, and memory complaints (short- and long-term memory, including word-finding difficulties), with no indication of paraneoplastic causes. The patient was subjected to plasma exchange and immunosuppressive therapy, with good clinical outcome. Some of the symptoms persisted, and the patient retained permanent cognitive sequelae, despite continuous immunosuppression. Serum from an age- and sex-matched healthy subject was also kindly donated. Written informed consent was obtained from both patient and healthy control.

Preparation of purified human IgG

Purification of human immunoglobulins (IgGs) from patient samples was done using the ammonium sulphate precipitation method, as previously described (Coutinho *et al.*, 2017b). Briefly, saturated ammonium sulphate solution was added to the human plasma to produce a 45% final saturation and left to stir at 4°C overnight. The following day, the solution was centrifuged at 12000 rpm for 2 h. The supernatant was discarded and the precipitate was resuspended in 10% of the original volume in Hartmann's solution. After homogenization, the solution was dialysed against a minimum of three changes of Hartmann's buffer (2L per change). IgG concentration was determined using a commercially available human IgG radial immunodiffusion kit (The Binding Site, Birmingham, UK): healthy plgG - 21.2 mg/mL; patient plgG - 15.1 mg/mL.

In vitro paradigms

To study the pathogenic effects of CASPR2 autoantibodies, 200 η g/mL or 50 μ g/mL of purified human IgGs from the plasma of the CASPR2-encephalitis patient or the healthy control were incubated in DIV 14-15 hippocampal neurons or DIV 11-13 cortical neurons for periods of 1, 2, 7 and 21 h, at 37°C, in conditioned medium.

To elicit paradigms of homeostatic synaptic scaling, neuronal activity in hippocampal or cortical neurons was chronically blocked with 1 μ M tetrodotoxin (TTX), or TTX together with 100 μ M D-(-)-2-Amino-5-phosphonopentanoic acid (APV). Hippocampal neurons at DIV 13/14 or cortical neurons at DIV 11 (from primary high density or Banker cultures) were incubated for 24 or 48 h, at 37°C, in conditioned medium.

To induce a chemical protocol of NMDAR-dependent long-term potentiation (cLTP), 13 DIV cortical neurons were preincubated for 15 min at 37°C in chemLTP buffer [125 mM NaCl, 2.5 mM KCl, 2 mM CaCl₂, 1 mM MgCl₂, 33 mM glucose, 25 mM HEPES (pH 7.4), supplemented with 20 μ M Bicuculline to block GABA_A receptors, 500 μ M TTX to block voltage-gated Na⁺-channels and 1 μ M strychnine to block Glycine receptors], followed by 200 μ M glycine treatment for 5 min at room temperature for activation of NMDARs (in chemLTP buffer without Mg²⁺). Neurons were allowed to recover (in original chemLTP buffer without glycine) for 20 min at 37°C. This protocol was previously described in (Diering *et al.*, 2016; Hussain *et al.*, 2014).

Following *in vitro* paradigms, cells were either lysed for Western blot analysis (high density cultures) or fixed for immunocytochemistry experiments (Banker cultures).

Immunocytochemistry

Live cell-based assays for human IgG titration and subtyping

To determine antibody levels in patient serum, a live cell-based assay (CBA) expressing EGFP-tagged human CASPR2 was used, as previously reported (Coutinho et al., 2017b). Patient serum samples were diluted at a 1:100 dilution ratio in DMEM supplemented with 1% BSA (v/v) and 200 mM HEPES and added to HEK293T cells expressing EGFP-CASPR2. Patient samples and healthy controls were added in each assay. Diluted sera were incubated with the live cells on coverslips at room temperature for 1 h, after which the supernatant was aspirated and washed 3 times in DMEM/HEPES. Cells were fixed in 4% formaldehyde in PBS and incubated for 10 min at RT and then washed 3 times in DMEM or PBS. Afterwards, cultures were incubated for 45 min, at room temperature, with an anti-human IgG fluorophoreconjugated secondary antibody in DMEM+HEPES+BSA. The coverslips were washed 4 times in PBS and mounted using fluorescent mounting media (DakoCytomation, Cambridge, UK), containing 4',6'-diamidino-2-phenylindole (DAPI; 1:1000). After drying, cells were viewed with a Leica DM 2500 immunofluorescent microscope. Human IgG binding was scored in a scale from 0-4 according to immunofluorescence intensity (0= no binding, 1= weak binding, 2= moderate binding, 3=strong binding, 4=very strong binding). Any sample scoring 1 or above was repeated and double scored by a second observer. Positive samples (score≥1) were then titrated and end-point titration determined. Patient antibody titre was 1:6400, as determined by the last titration at which a positive signal was still observed.

To analyse IgG subclasses, diluted serum at 1:100 was incubated for 1 h with EGFP-CASPR2-expressing HEK293T cells as mentioned above. After fixation, cultures were incubated for 45 min, at room temperature, with a mouse IgG-specific anti-human IgG primary antibody (IgG1 - IgG4), followed by 3 washes in PBS, and then incubated for 45 min with an anti-mouse fluorophore-conjugated secondary antibody. The coverslips were washed and mounted as described above. Binding of specific IgG subclasses was scored, and their specific titres determined as previously mentioned.

Detection of antibody binding to the surface of live primary neurons and pre-adsorption assays to test binding specificity

To recognize human IgGs bound to the neuronal surface, patient serum diluted at 1:100 in NBM supplemented with 1% BSA were incubated live with primary WT or *Cntnap2* KO hippocampal neurons for 1 h, at room temperature. Coverslips were washed three times in NBM, fixed for 15 min in 3% formaldehyde in PBS and then re-washed before incubating with an anti-human IgG fluorophore-conjugated secondary antibody for 45 minutes. Cells were then permeabilised with 0.25% Triton-X-100 in PBS for 15 min. Coverslips were incubated with an anti-MAP2 antibody to identify the neuronal cells in the preparation. After 1 h coverslips were washed and incubated with the appropriate secondary antibody for 45 minutes, washed 3 times in NBM/BSA, twice in PBS and mounted as described previously.

To test specificity of binding of patient antibodies, a pre-adsorption assay was performed. HEK293T cells either un-transfected or transfected with EGFP-CASPR2 were trypsinised and re-suspended in DMEM-1% HEPES. Patient serum, diluted 1:10, was incubated against live cells in solution for 1 h at room temperature on a rotator. This procedure was repeated 3 times. The adsorbed samples were collected and re-tested on the cell-based assay and on the neuronal primary cultures (at a 1:100 dilution) to confirm complete adsorption.

Immunocytochemistry

Low-density cortical or hippocampal neurons in coverslips were fixed for 15 min in 4% sucrose / 4% paraformaldehyde in PBS, at room temperature, and permeabilized with 0.25% Triton X-100 in PBS for 5 min, at 4°C. Neurons were then incubated in 10% (w/v) BSA in PBS for 30 min, at 37°C, to block nonspecific staining, and incubated with the indicated primary antibodies diluted in 3% BSA in PBS (2 h, 37°C or overnight, 4°C). Following several washes with PBS to remove primary antibodies, cells were incubated with the appropriate fluorophore-conjugated secondary antibodies diluted in 3% BSA in PBS, for 1 h at 37°C. Coverslips were then washed with PBS and mounted using fluorescent mounting medium from DAKO (Glostrup, Germany). Preparations were cured overnight at 4°C, protected from light, sealed with nailpolish and kept at 4°C until microscopy analysis.

Labelling of cell surface AMPARs

To label surface GluA1-containing AMPA receptors, live cortical or hippocampal neurons in coverslips were incubated for 10 min at room temperature with a primary antibody against an extracellular epitope in the GluA1 N-terminus, diluted in conditioned neuronal culture medium. Each coverslip was then briefly rinsed in PBS and fixed as described above. Coverslips were then incubated with an anti-sheep fluorophore-conjugated secondary antibody diluted in 3% BSA in PBS, overnight at 4°C. Coverslips were subsequently permeabilized and probed as described above. Alternatively, surface GluA1 or GluA2-containing AMPARs were immunolabelled in fixed, but un-permeabilized neurons. Briefly, cells were fixed as mentioned above and incubated in 10% (w/v) horse serum for 30 min, at 37°C, to block nonspecific staining. Primary antibodies against extracellular epitopes in the GluA1 and GluA2 N-terminals were diluted in 5% horse serum and incubated overnight, at 4°C. Cells were then washed 5 times, permeabilized with 0.25% Triton X-100 in PBS for 5 min, at 4°C, and re-blocked. Subsequent steps were performed as described above.

Human IgG internalization assays

To test if CASPR2 autoantibodies bound to cell surface of primary neurons are internalized, cortical neurons incubated for 1 or 7 h with human IgGs purified from the plasma of either the healthy control or the encephalitis patient were fixed as before. Coverslips were incubated in 10% (w/v) BSA for 30 min, at 37°C, to block nonspecific staining, and then incubated overnight, at 4°C, with an excess concentration (1:50) of a first anti-human IgG fluorophore-conjugated secondary antibody in order to label all human IgGs bound to the neuronal surface. Coverslips were thoroughly washed to remove the excess of unbound antibody, permeabilized as described above and then re-blocked. Internalized human IgGs were then labelled with a normal concentration (1:500) of a second anti-human IgG fluorophore-conjugated secondary antibody for 1 h, at 37°C. Coverslips were incubated with an anti-MAP2 primary antibody (2 h, 37°C) to identify dendritic processes, and with an appropriate secondary antibody and probed as before.

Culture imaging and quantitative fluorescence analysis

Imaging was performed on a Zeiss Axiovert 200M microscope using a 63 X 1.4 numerical aperture oil objective. Images were quantified using the image analysis software FIJI (FIJI Is Just ImageJ). For quantification, sets of cells were cultured and stained simultaneously, and imaged using identical settings. The region of interest was randomly selected avoiding primary dendrites, and dendritic length was measured using MAP2 staining. In experiments where cells had been previously transfected, fields for imaging were chosen by the GFP or mCherry channels, for the presence of transfected, GFP/mCherry-positive, neurons. Surface GluA1 or GluA2, phospho-ZBP1, Caspr2 and human IgG digital images were thresholded such that recognizable clusters were included in the analysis, and measured for cluster intensity, number, and area for the selected region. Synaptic clusters of GluA1, GluA2, phospho-ZBP1

and Caspr2 were selected by their overlap with thresholded and dilated PSD95 or vGluT1 (or both) signal. The number of glutamatergic synapses containing Caspr2 per dendritic length was determined by identifying PSD-95- and vGluT1- positive clusters that were also labelled for Caspr2. The same criteria was used to identify glutamatergic synapses that contained both GluA1 and Caspr2 signal. Measurements were performed in a minimum of 3 independent experiments, and at least 10 cells per condition were analysed for each preparation.

Cell culture lysates

Total protein extracts of COS7 cells and high-density neuronal cultures were prepared for Western Blot (WB) analysis. Total extracts of COS7 cells were prepared at 48 h after transfection. Protein extracts from cortical or hippocampal neurons were prepared at DIV 13 or 15, respectively. Cells were washed once with cold phosphate buffered saline (PBS – 137 mM NaCl, 2.7 mM KCl, 10 mM Na₂HPO₄, 1.8 mM KH₂PO₄, pH 7.4) and protein extracts were prepared in ice-cold lysis buffer RIPA (150 mM NaCl, 50 mM Tris-HCl (pH 7.4), 5 mM EGTA, 1% Triton, 0.5% DOC and 0.1% SDS at a final pH 7.5, with phosphatase inhibitors [2 mM sodium orthovanadate (Na₃VO₄), 50 mM sodium fluoride (NaF) and 1 μ M okadaic acid] supplemented immediately before use with a cocktail of protease inhibitors [200 μ M PMSF and 1 μ g/ml each of chymostatin, leupeptin, antipain and pepstatin – CLAP]). The lysates were sonicated with an ultrasonic probe, on ice, for 30 sec (6 pulses of 5 sec each). After centrifugation at 16100 x *g* for 10 min at 4°C, cell debris and insoluble material were discarded and the supernatant submitted to protein quantification by the Bicinchoninic acid (BCA) assay kit (Pierce, Thermo Fisher Scientific). The protein was aliquoted and frozen at -20°C, until needed.

For the dephosphorylation assays using the Lambda protein phosphatase ($\lambda PP - New$ England Biolabs through Izasa, Lisbon, Portugal), total cell extracts of COS7 cells were washed in ice-cold PBS and extracted with the lysis buffer RIPA without phosphatase inhibitors (sodium orthovanadate and sodium fluoride). Lysates were then solubilized and protein was quantified, as described above. Approximately 150 µg of protein of each sample to be dephosphorylated were incubated with 2 µl of λPP in 1xNEBuffer for protein metallophosphatases (PMP - 50 mM HEPES, 100 mM NaCl, 2 mM DTT, 0.01% Brij 35, pH 7.5) supplemented with 1 mM MnCl₂, for 2 h at 30°C. Following this period, samples were denatured at 95°C for 5 min, aliquoted and stored at -20°C, until needed.

Tissue lysates

Rat cerebellum and mouse cortex were collected and lysed as previously described (Santos *et al.*, 2012). Briefly, tissue blocks were homogenized in a potter with 10 volumes (10 x weight) of ice-cold 10 mM Tris-HCl buffer, pH 7.4, containing 320 mM sucrose. The homogenate was centrifuged at 700 x *g* for 10 min, at 4°C. The pellet was homogenized again and centrifuged at 700 x *g* for 10 min, at 4°C. Both supernatants were pooled and supplemented with protease inhibitors (0.2 mM PMSF, 100 mM DTT, 1 μ g/ml each of CLAP). All samples were submitted to protein quantification by the BCA method.

For biochemical experiments using the primary visual cortex, the brain of C57BL/6J mice was removed and immersed in ice-cold dissection buffer (212.7 mM sucrose, 2.6 mM KCl, 1.23 mM NaH₂PO₄, 26 mM NaHCO₃ and 10 mM glucose, supplemented with 3 mM MgCl₂ and 1 mM CaCl₂) saturated with 5% CO₂ / 95% air mixture. Blocks of primary visual cortices were rapidly dissected and snap-frozen at -80°C. Samples were homogenized in ice-cold 1% Triton X-100 lysis buffer (20 mM Na₃PO₄, 150 mM NaCl, 10 mM EDTA, 10 mM EGTA, 10 mM Na₄P₂O₇, 50 mM NaF, 1 mM Na₃VO₄, pH 7.4 freshly supplemented with 1 μ M okadaic acid and 10 U/mL aprotinin) by sonication (15 pulses). To ensure lysis, homogenates were incubated with 0.2% SDS for 30 min with rotation, at 4°C. Samples were then centrifuged at 1000 x *g* for 10 min, at 4°C, to remove unhomogenized tissue and protein concentration was quantified with the BCA method. Samples were denatured with 3x sample buffer [2% (w/v) SDS, 10% (v/v) glycerol, 5% (v/v) β -mercaptoethanol in 0.125 M Tris, pH 7.4] and boiled for 5 min.

Immunoprecipitation assays

The interaction between Caspr2 and AMPAR subunits was evaluated through immunoprecipitation assays done from rat whole cerebellum or mouse cortical lysates, as previously described (Santos *et al.*, 2012). Briefly, 4 mg of protein lysates were solubilized in TEEN buffer [25 mM Tris (pH=7.4), 150 mM NaCl, 1 mM EDTA, 1 mM EGTA and 1% TritonX-100, supplemented with protease inhibitors], and sonicated with an ultrasonic probe, on ice, for 30 sec. The insoluble material was removed by centrifuging the sample at 13000 x *g* for 10 min, at 4°C. At this point the supernatant was collected and 50 µL were removed for analysis by Western Blot (input). The supernatant was transferred to a tube containing 30 µL of a 50% slurry of protein A sepharose beads (GE Healthcare, Carnaxide, Portugal) suspended in TEEN and rotated at 4°C for 1 h for pre-clearing. After a 5 min centrifugation step, the sedimented sepharose beads were discarded. The supernatant was split and incubated either with 3 µg of anti-Caspr2 antibody (IP) or with the same amount of non-immune rabbit IgGs (negative IP).

This incubation step was performed at 4°C with orbital rotation, for 3 h or overnight. Samples were then incubated with 80 μ L of a 50% slurry of protein A sepharose beads and rotated for 2 h at 4°C. To further avoid non-specific binding, samples were washed in subsequent steps: 4x TEEN + 0.1% TritonX-100, 3x TEEN + 1% TritonX-100 + 500 mM NaCl and 2x TEEN + 1% TritonX-100. Proteins were eluted by boiling the beads in 40 μ l of sample buffer 2x [125 mM Tris-HCl (pH 6.8), 100 mM glycine, 4% SDS, 200 mM DTT, 40% glycerol, 3 mM Na₃VO₄, and 0.01% bromophenol blue] for 5 min and processed for Western blot analysis.

Purification of postsynaptic density fractions

Postsynaptic densities (PSDs) were purified from the whole brain of P60 C57BL/6 mice. Briefly, brains were collected and homogeneized in HEPES-buffered sucrose solution [4 mM HEPES (pH=7.4), 0.32 M sucrose, containing protease and phosphatase inhibitors] in a motor driven homogenizer at 900 rpm (30-40 strokes). The homogenate was collected and centrifuged at 700 x g for 15 min to obtain the non-nuclear fraction (S1), a portion of which was recovered and stored as the brain lysate (BI) for Western blot (WB) analysis. The remaining S1 was further centrifuged for 15 min at 18000 \times g to yield the crude synaptosomal pellet (P2). P2 was resuspended in HEPES-buffered sucrose solution and homogenized, and then centrifuged again at $25000 \times g$ for 20 min to yield the lysed synaptosomal membrane fraction (P3). P3 was resuspended in a HEPES/EDTA-buffered solution [50 mM HEPES (pH=7.4), 2 mM EDTA, with protease and phosphatase inhibitors] and solubilized in 0.5% TritonX-100. A fraction of the synaptic plasma membrane (Pm) lysate was recovered and stored for WB analysis. The remaining P3 fraction was centrifuged at $32000 \times g$ for 20 min and the resulting pellet (PSD-1P) was again resuspended in HEPES/EDTA-buffered solution with 0.5% TritonX-100, incubated with orbital rotation for 15 min at 4°C, and centrifuged at 200000 \times g for 20 min. The remaining pellet, corresponding to the PSDs, was resuspended in HEPES/EDTA solution and stored for WB analysis.

Gel electrophoresis and Western Blot

All protein samples were denatured with sample buffer concentrated 2x or 5x [5x: 62.5 mM Tris-HCI (pH 6.8), 10% glycerol, 2% SDS, 0.01% bromophenol blue)], and boiled for 5 min. Protein extracts were resolved by SDS-PAGE in Tris-glycine-SDS (TGS) buffer (25 mM Tris, 192 mM glycine, 0.1% SDS, pH 8.3) in 7.5-8% polyacrylamide gels 1.5 mm thick at 60-80 V. For Western blot analysis, proteins were transferred onto a PVDF membrane (Millipore, Oeiras, Portugal) by electroblotting overnight at 40 V and 4°C. Membranes were blocked for 1

h at room temperature with 5% (w/v) non-fat dry milk or BSA (NZYTech, Lisboa, Portugal) in Tris-buffered saline (20 mM Tris, 137 mM NaCl, pH 7.6) containing 0.1% Tween-20 (TBS-T). Membranes were probed during 1 h, at room temperature, or overnight, at 4°C, with the primary antibodies diluted in 5% BSA in TBS-T. Following several washes with TBS-T, the membranes were incubated for 1 h, at room temperature, with the appropriate alkaline phosphatase-conjugated IgG secondary antibodies. Immunostaining was resolved with the enhanced chemifluorescence (ECF) substrate (GE Healthcare, Carnaxide, Portugal) for a maximum of 5 min or until protein bands were visible. Membranes were scanned on a VersaDoc Imaging System (Model3000 – BioRad, Amadora, Portugal) or on Storm 860 scanner (GE Healthcare, Carnaxide, Portugal). Bands corresponding to the proteins of interest were quantified using the FIJI software and normalized with the loading controls (GAPDH, Human transferrin receptor or β -tubulin) indicated in figure captions. When necessary, the membranes were stripped (0.2 M NaOH for 5 min) and re-probed.

Ribonucleoprotein Immunoprecipitation Protocol (RIP)

To evaluate mRNA molecules bound to the RNA-binding protein ZBP1, a ribonucleoprotein immunoprecipitation protocol (RIP) was performed. Briefly, total protein extracts were obtained by lysing cells with ice-cold RIPA buffer, as previously described, but further supplemented with NZY RNase inhibitor (NZYTech, Lisbon, Portugal) to prevent RNA degradation and preserve protein-RNA interactions. After processing and quantification of protein concentration, samples were stored at -80°C, until necessary. To immunoprecipitate ZBP1, 6 µg of anti-ZBP1 antibody were firstly mixed with 100 µL of protein G agarose beads (SantaCruz Biotechnology, Frilabo, Maia, Portugal) in 100 µL of RNase-free NT₂2x buffer [100 mM Tris-HCI (pH 7.4), 300 mM NaCl, 2 mM MgCl₂, 0.1% IGEPAL and supplemented with phosphatase and protease inhibitors (previously mentioned) and NZY RNase inhibitor] and incubated with rotation overnight, at 4°C. Non-immune goat IgGs were used as negative control for the IP. For each experiment, 100 µg of the initial protein sample were saved as input, while 2 mg of the remaining sample were diluted to 700 µg/mL in NT₂2x buffer and used for the immunoprecipitation. To avoid non-specific binding, protein samples were initially precleared with 50 µL of protein G agarose beads for 30 min, at 4°C. The mix was centrifuged at 2000 x g for 2 min, at 4°C, and the protein supernatant collected. The 2 mg of pre-cleared protein were then split in two for each of the tubes containing the protein G agarose beads together with either the anti-ZBP1 antibody or the control IgGs, and incubated with rotation for 1 h, at 4°C. To remove any non-specific binding, samples were centrifuged at 2000 x q for 2 min and washed with 500 µL of NT₂1X buffer four times. Following the IP, total RNA from the

input sample or RNA bound to the immunoprecipitate was extracted and analysed by real-time qPCR as described below.

Semi-quantitative Real-time PCR

Total RNA isolation, RNA quality and RNA concentration

Total RNA extraction from immunoprecipitation samples, as well as from COS7 cells and cultured hippocampal neurons transfected with the constructs of interest was performed with TRIzol reagent (Invitrogen, Barcelona, Spain). Briefly, 1 mL of TRIzol was added to each well of a 6-well plate (or vial in case of IPs) and the content of each experimental condition was collected. Chloroform was then added for phase separation and the RNA was precipitated by isopropanol addition. The precipitated RNA was washed with 75% ethanol, centrifuged, air-dried and resuspended in 20 µL of RNase-free water. RNA quality and integrity was evaluated using the Experion automated gel-electrophoresis system (Bio-Rad, Amadora, Portugal). A virtual gel was created for each sample, allowing the detection of degradation of the reference markers RNA 18S and 28S. Samples showing RNA degradation or contamination by DNA were discarded. RNA concentration was determined using a NanoDrop 2000c/2000 UV-Vis Spectrophotomer (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Rockford, USA). The samples were stored at -80°C, until further use.

Reverse Transcription

First strand cDNA was synthesized from 500 ng – 1 μ g of total RNA using the NZY First-Strand cDNA Synthesis kit (NZYTech, Lisboa, Portugal) following the manufacturer's specifications. Briefly, total RNA was mixed with a combination of random hexamers and oligo(dT)₁₈ primers (included in a NZYRT Mastermix, also containing dNTPs, MgCl₂ and an optimized buffer), and a NZYRT Enzyme mix containing a NZY Reverse Transcriptase and a ribonuclease inhibitor. The mix was incubated at 25°C for 10 min for primer annealing to the template, followed by a 30 min incubation at 50°C for cDNA synthesis. The reaction was inactivated by heating at 85°C for 5 min and then chilled on ice. To specifically degrade the RNA template in cDNA:RNA hybrids after the cDNA synthesis, samples were further incubated with a NZY RNase H (*E.coli*) for 20 min at 37°C. Samples were stored at -80°C, until further use.

Primer Design

Primers for real-time PCR were designed using the Beacon Designer 7 software (Premier Biosoft International, Palo Alto, CA, USA), with the following considerations taken into account: (1) GC content about 50%; (2) annealing temperature (Ta) between $55 \pm 3^{\circ}$ C; (3) secondary structures and primer-dimers were avoided; (4) primer length between 18-24 bp; (5) final product length between 100-200 bp. The primers used for Real-time PCR experiments were the following: 5' ACT ACA TCC TCG CCA ATC TG 3' (GluA1 *forward*); 5' AGT CAC TTG TCC TCC ATT GC 3' (GluA1 *reverse*); 5' TCC AGA TAG ACT TAA TGA AGA AG 3' (Caspr1 *forward*); 5' TGA CCC AAT CCC AAG AAT 3' (Caspr1 *reverse*); 5' GAT GAC CAT CCT TTT CCT TAC 3' (BDNF *forward*); 5' ATT CAC GCT CTC CAG AGT CC 3' (BDNF *reverse*); 5' ACT ACA TCC TCC ACC TTG 3' (GAPDH *forward*); 5' TAG CCA TAT TCA TCA TCC TCC CAT TCT TCC ACC TTT 3' (GAPDH *forward*); 5' TAG CCA TAT TCA TTG TCA TAC C 3' (GAPDH *reverse*); 5' CAT CCT CAC CAC CAC 3' (Tubulin *forward*); 5' GGA AGC AGT GAT GGA AGA C (Tubulin *reverse*); 5' GCA CCA TCT TTC AAG G 3' (GFP *forward*); 5' TTG TGG CTG TTA GTT G 3' (GFP *reverse*).

Real-time PCR

Gene expression analysis was performed using SsoFast SuperMix (Bio-Rad). Briefly, 2 μ L of 1:100 diluted cDNA were added to 10 μ L of 2x EvaGreen and to specific primers, with a final concentration of 250 nM each in 20 μ L total volume. The thermocycling reaction was initiated with 1) the activation of the Sso7d fusion DNA polymerase at 95°C for 30 sec, followed by 2) 45 cycles of a 10 sec denaturation step at 95°C, 3) a 30 sec annealing step at the optimal annealing temperature for each set of primers, and 4) a final elongation step of 30 sec at 72°C. The fluorescence was measured after the extension step, using the iQ5 Multicolor Real-Time PCR Detection System (BioRad). At the end of the thermocycling reaction a melting step was performed with slow heating (starting at 55°C, with a rate of 0.5°C per 10 sec, up to 95°C), and continuous measurement of fluorescence for detection of possible non-specific products. The assay included a non-template control and a standard curve of cDNA (in 10-fold steps) to assess the efficiency of each set of primers. The reactions were run in duplicate to reduce confounding variance.

Data processing and analysis

Data were processed and analysed based on the value of the threshold cycle (Ct). The Ct represents the detectable fluorescence signal above background resulting from the accumulation of amplified product, and it is a proportional measure of the starting concentration of the target sequence. Ct base line was always set at the beginning of the exponential phase,

and therefore was not affected by possible limiting components in the reaction. Data analysis was performed using the GenEx software (MultiD Analyses, Sweden) for Real-Time PCR expression profiling. Relative changes in mRNA levels for the GluA1 AMPAR subunit, Caspr1, β -actin or BDNF were assessed. The constitutively expressed housekeeping genes encoding tubulin and GAPDH, or the co-transfected GFP, were used as control.

Generation of Lentivirus

Generation of the lentiviral vectors used in this study was previously described by Anderson and colleagues (Anderson *et al.*, 2012). Lentivirus were produced for the expression of shRNA sequences against Caspr1 and Caspr2, or corresponding empty-vector. Briefly, HEK293T cells were transfected using the calcium phosphate protocol with the lentiviral expression vectors of interest together with three lentiviral packaging vectors: pMDLg/pRRE, pRSV-Rev and pCMV-VSV-G, for the expression of gag/pol genes, rev gene and vesicular stomatitis virus G (VSVG) envelope glycoprotein gene, respectively. Supernatant containing viral particles was collected 48 h after transfection, filtered and centrifuged at 95 x *g* for 10 min to remove cell debris. Viral particles were concentrated by centrifugation at 87300 x *g* for 2 h at 20°C, and the pellet was resuspended in 10 mL of PBS with 1% BSA (Calbiochem through Merck Millipore, Oeiras, Portugal), gently vortexed for 10 min and left resuspending for 30 min. The pellets were collected and ultracentrifuged again for 1 h 30 min at 83000 x *g* at 20°C. The pellets were then finally resuspended in 60 μ L of PBS with 1% BSA for 1 h, with rotation, aliquoted and stored at -80°C.

Stereotactic surgeries

Stereotactic surgeries were performed as previously described (Petrus *et al.*, 2015). Briefly, P21-P28 C57BL/6J mice were anesthetized with 1-3% isoflurane mixed with O_2 in an induction chamber and properly placed in a stereotactic apparatus with constant flow of isoflurane. The skin and periosteum were carefully cut and the wound properly disinfected. Stereotactic coordinates for the primary visual cortex were calculated after identification of the Bregma and intersections with the Sagittal and Lamdoid sutures of the skull. A craniotomy was done uni- or bilaterally using a hand-held drill under a surgical microscope at the location of - 3.6 mm from the Bregma and 2.5 mm lateral for the primary visual cortex (V1). To specifically target layer 2/3 of the V1, injections were done by lowering a glass micropipette into the brain 0.36 mm from the pia. Glass micropipettes were filled with either: 1 μ L of recombinant L309mCherry lentivirus expressing either the empty vector or specific shRNAs against Caspr1 or Caspr2 for the knock-down experiments; 200 η g (0.4 μ L at 0.5 mg/mL) of either healthy or patient purified IgGs for the CASPR2-Abs experiments. Injections were done at a rate of 0.10 μ L/min using a digital pump. After injection, the wound was cleaned with a 0.9% saline solution and the skin sutured and treated with an antibiotic gel. Animals recovered from the surgery in a heating pad and returned to the colony. Mice injected with human IgGs were recovered for 7 h before sacrifice. Lentiviral-infected mice were returned to the animal colony for 4-5 weeks post-infection to allow sufficient lentiviral expression before experimental paradigms were initiated. Wounds and behaviour were checked daily. All the procedures mentioned above were reviewed and approved by the IACUC at Johns Hopkins University, Baltimore, USA.

Paradigms for manipulation of visual experience

Both male and female C57BL/6J mice (Jackson Laboratories, USA) were raised in a normally lighted environment (12 h light/dark cycle). Visual deprivation was induced in the form of dark exposure (DE), as described previously (Goel & Lee, 2007). Briefly, mice within the critical period for visual plasticity (Desai *et al.*, 2002; Whitt *et al.*, 2014), were kept in a dark room for 2 days, and cared for using infrared vision goggles under dim infrared light. Agematched control [normally reared (NR)] animals were continuously raised in normal light conditions for the same duration. Experimental dark-reared animals were transferred to the lab for protein extraction or slice preparation in an opaque box to minimize light exposure prior to sacrifice. All procedures were reviewed and approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee (IACUC) at Johns Hopkins University, Baltimore, USA.

Primary visual cortex acute slice preparation

Mice were deeply anesthetized in a chamber (the chamber was light-tight for DE experimental groups) with isoflurane vapors and killed by decapitation. The brain was rapidly removed and immersed in ice-cold dissection buffer (212.7 mM sucrose, 2.6 mM KCl, 1.23 mM NaH₂PO₄, 26 mM NaHCO₃ and 10 mM dextrose, freshly supplemented with 3 mM MgCl₂ and 1 mM CaCl₂) saturated with 5% CO₂ / 95% air mixture. Blocks of tissue containing the primary visual cortex were rapidly dissected and coronally sectioned into 300 µm-thick slices using the PELCO easiSlicer[™] vibratome (Ted Pella, CA, USA). The slices were then gently transferred to a submersion holding chamber with artificial cerebral spinal fluid (aCSF – 124 mM NaCl, 5 mM KCl, 1.23 mM CaCl₂) saturated with 5% CO₂ / 95% air. The slices were allowed to recover for 1 h at room temperature, before recording.

Electrophysiology

Visual cortical slices (prepared as described above) were transferred to a submersiontype chamber mounted on a fixed stage of an upright microscope (Eclipse FN-1, Nikon, Japan) equipped with infrared oblique illumination. AMPA receptor (AMPAR)-mediated miniature excitatory postsynaptic currents (mEPSCs) were pharmacologically isolated by adding 1 µM TTX, 20 µM Bicc and 100 µM APV to aCSF at 30°C and saturated with 5% CO₂ / 95% air, which was continuously perfused at 2 mL/min. Pyramidal neurons on layer 2/3 were identified by their pyramidal-shaped soma and apical dendrite pointing to the pia, and patched using a whole cell patch pipette (tip resistance $3-5 \text{ M}\Omega$), which was filled with internal solution (130 mM Cs-gluconate, 8 mM KCl, 1 mM EGTA, 10 mM HEPES, 4 mM ATP, 0.5 mM GTP, 10 mM phosphocreatine and 5 mM Lidocaine; pH 7.3, 280–290 mOsm). Recordings were initiated 2-3 min after break-in, and each cell was recorded for 8-10 min to collect enough mEPSCs for analysis. The Axon patch-clamp amplifier 700B (Molecular Devices, CA, USA) was used for voltage-clamp recordings. Cells were held at -80 mV, and the recorded mEPSC data were digitized at 10 kHz with a data acquisition board (National Instruments, TX, USA) and acquired using the Igor Pro software (WaveMetrics). The MiniAnalysis program (Synaptosoft) was used to analyse the acquired mEPSCs, and the threshold for detecting mEPSCs was set at three times the root mean square (RMS) noise. Recordings were excluded from analysis if the RMS noise was > 2, the series resistance was > $25\Omega M$, and input resistance was < $150\Omega M$. To minimize the impact of dendritic filtering, we adopted the standard approach of excluding mEPSCs with rise time > 3 msec. At least two hundred consecutive mEPSCs that met the rise time criteria were analyzed from each cell.

Statistical analysis

Graphs and statistical analysis were performed using Graph Pad Prism 6 software. Results are presented as normalized mean ± S.E.M. Biochemical and immunocytochemistry data are presented from at least three different experiments, performed in independent preparations, unless stated otherwise. Statistical differences were calculated according to nonparametric tests for most part of the cases. Mann-Whitney test was used to compare statistical differences between any two groups. Comparisons between multiple groups were performed with the Kruskal-Wallis analysis of variance followed by Dunn's Multiple Comparison test, with the parametric one-way ANOVA analysis followed by Fisher's least significant difference (PLSD) test, or with a two-way ANOVA analysis followed by Tukey's multiple comparison test. Significance of cumulative distributions was calculated with the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test. For all tests, p<0.05 was considered statistically significant.

Chapter III Results & Discussion

Homeostatic regulation of synaptic AMPA receptors by Caspr1 and ZBP1

The results in this chapter are partially presented in the following publication in preparation:

Dominique Fernandes, Sandra Santos, Luís Ribeiro, Anna Ceccarelli, Ana Luísa Carvalho. Homeostatic regulation of synaptic AMPA receptors by Caspr1 and ZBP1. *In preparation.*

Summary

During development and throughout learning-related adaptations, the mammalian brain undergoes constant changes that can compromise its function. Nonetheless, the integrity and function of neuronal circuits is preserved. At the cellular level, such stability is accomplished by homeostatic synaptic plasticity, which allows experience-based adaptations to occur while maintaining the activity of neuronal networks in-balance. Amongst other processes, an evergrowing body of evidence pinpoints the dynamic regulation of synaptic glutamate receptors of the AMPA-type by distinct molecular players as a fundamental mechanism to achieve neuronal homeostasis.

Herein, we describe a post-transcriptional mechanism orchestrated by the cell-adhesion molecule Caspr1 and the RNA-binding protein ZBP1 that regulates the synaptic content of surface AMPARs in an activity-dependent manner. Caspr1 induces Src activation, and the phosphorylation of ZBP1 in neurons. During prolonged periods of neuronal inactivity, when mechanisms of homeostatic plasticity are triggered to upscale synaptic AMPARs, Caspr1 expression is upregulated, and the phosphorylation of Src and ZBP1 increases. ZBP1 binds to GluA1 mRNA in an activity-dependent manner, and regulates synaptic levels of GluA1-containing AMPARs. Accordingly, when the expression of either Caspr1 or ZBP1 is lost, synaptic upscaling of AMPARs is compromised. Overall, this study uncovers a specific requirement for both Caspr1 and ZBP1 in the regulation of postsynaptic AMPARs during homeostatic synaptic plasticity, which places Caspr1 and ZBP1 in the map of potential regulators of neuronal homeostasis.

Introduction

Throughout the years, many efforts have been made to uncover the cellular processes governing distinct higher-order brain functions, from behavioural mechanisms to learning and memory events, and cognition. These phenomena rely on the ability of the mammalian brain to undergo experience-based adaptations that occur at the level of glutamatergic synapses, which become stronger or weaker in response to specific patterns of activity (Shepherd & Huganir, 2007). Glutamate receptors of the AMPA-type mediate most of the fast excitatory synaptic transmission in the brain, and altering postsynaptic AMPAR number or function results in long-term changes in synaptic strength and efficacy. Understandably, the dynamic regulation of synaptic AMPARs has thus emerged as a critical mechanism underlying several forms of synaptic plasticity in different areas of the brain.

In Hebbian forms of plasticity, such as LTP and LTD, the trafficking and accumulation of AMPARs in synapses is modulated in a manner that positively correlates with synaptic potentiation or weakening: while increased AMPAR synaptic insertion triggers LTP, AMPAR removal from the synapse leads to LTD. These forms of plasticity, however, enable already potentiated or depressed synapses to undergo further LTP or LTD, respectively, and potentially lead to runaway excitation or synapse elimination. To counterbalance the destabilizing nature of Hebbian plasticity, neurons have developed homeostatic mechanisms to sense and adapt to overall changes in synaptic activity and restrain it within a physiological range (Fernandes & Carvalho, 2016; Turrigiano, 2008; Vitureira & Goda, 2013). In face of prolonged perturbations in activity, homeostatic mechanisms, such as synaptic scaling, modulate the postsynaptic accumulation of AMPARs in order to globally scale up or down the strength of synapses (Aoto *et al.*, 2008; Ju *et al.*, 2004; O'Brien *et al.*, 1998; Thiagarajan *et al.*, 2005; Wierenga *et al.*, 2005). Interestingly, the mechanisms underlying AMPAR trafficking and insertion at synapses seem to be partially shared between distinct forms of plasticity (Fernandes & Carvalho, 2016; Vitureira & Goda, 2013).

AMPAR trafficking and localization to synapses are dynamically modulated by multiple mechanisms ranging from post-transcriptional and post-translational modifications of AMPAR subunits, to specific interacting partners (Anggono & Huganir, 2012; Jiang *et al.*, 2006; Santos *et al.*, 2009). In particular, AMPAR subunits bind to a variety of accessory and scaffolding proteins that not only control the targeting and insertion (or removal) of AMPARs to extrasynaptic sites, but also regulate their anchoring to the synaptic membrane. Importantly, several of these binding partners regulate AMPARs in an activity-dependent manner, playing crucial roles in synaptic plasticity mechanisms, either Hebbian or homeostatic, or, in some

75

cases, even both. Although a fairly vast collection of studies already exists, a more comprehensive knowledge of AMPAR-interacting proteins would further contribute to fully uncover the mechanisms regulating AMPAR trafficking and function, and how they underlie the molecular basis for synaptic plasticity.

Taking this into account, a recent proteomic screening carried out in our laboratory to explore the AMPAR interactome allowed the identification of the transmembrane protein Contactin-associated protein 1 (Caspr1) as a novel binding partner of AMPARs (Santos et al., 2012). Caspr1 is a neurexin-like cell-adhesion molecule that has been thoroughly studied in axons, where it plays a fundamental role in the initial steps of axonal myelination (Einheber et al., 1997; Peles et al., 1997). Despite this canonical function, the possibility of Caspr1 having a role in the regulation of AMPARs is not that implausible. Firstly, cell-adhesion molecules are no longer considered just mere structural components of the synapse, solely regulating synapse formation and differentiation; instead, they are now increasingly recognized as dynamic modulators of synaptic function (Bukalo & Dityatev, 2012; Yamagata et al., 2003). Interestingly, Caspr1 typically forms a membrane complex with the cell-adhesion molecule Contactin 1 [also found in the screening (Santos et al., 2012)], which has been implicated in synaptic plasticity and memory (Murai et al., 2002; Puzzo et al., 2015; Puzzo et al., 2013). Secondly, several studies have already uncovered an extensive localization of Caspr1 in dendrites and synaptic sites (Cajigas et al., 2012; Collins et al., 2006; Murai et al., 2002). This evidence is in accordance with data obtained in our lab showing that Caspr1 is present in almost 50% of all hippocampal glutamatergic synapses, and also enriched in biochemically purified postsynaptic densities from cortical neurons (Santos et al., 2012).

Santos and colleagues demonstrated that Caspr1 interacts with AMPAR subunits, and that overexpression of Caspr1 in hippocampal neurons leads to a significant increase in the synaptic content of superficial GluA1-containing AMPARs. Co-expression of Caspr1 with GluA1 in HEK293 cells increases the average amplitude of currents evoked by glutamate. On the other hand, loss of endogenous Caspr1 results in decreased surface levels of synaptic GluA1, indicating that Caspr1 is indeed required for the synaptic localization of AMPARs (Santos *et al.*, 2012). The presence of Caspr1 in glutamatergic synapses and its regulation of AMPAR response to glutamate and AMPAR synaptic content point to a novel postsynaptic function for Caspr1 in regulating AMPARs.

Despite these exciting findings on a novel player in the regulation of synaptic AMPARs, the mechanism underlying the effect of Caspr1 in synaptic GluA1-containing AMPARs remains elusive, and evidence linking Caspr1 to synaptic plasticity is still missing. Here, we found that besides increasing GluA1 surface levels, Caspr1 also increases total protein levels of GluA1,

possibly through the post-transcriptional regulation of GluA1 mRNA. We further determined that this level of AMPAR regulation by Caspr1 occurs through a mechanism dependent on a specific intracellular C-tail proline-rich domain of Caspr1, which induces the activation of the tyrosine kinase Src. This signalling pathway, in turn, modulates the function of the RNA-binding protein Zipcode-binding protein 1 (ZBP1), which we found to bind to and regulate GluA1 mRNA, and to regulate the synaptic content of GluA1-AMPARs. Additionally, our results indicate that chronic manipulations of neuronal activity, which homeostatically scale up synaptic AMPARs, also increase the endogenous levels of Caspr1 and modulate the activation of the Src signalling pathway. Importantly, we determined that loss of either Caspr1 or ZBP1 in hippocampal neurons blocks synaptic scaling of GluA1-AMPARs induced by chronic neuronal inactivity. Lastly, we demonstrate that the modulation of ZBP1 function by Srcdependent phosphorylation is a specific requirement for the role ZBP1 plays in the activitydependent regulation of synaptic AMPARs. Altogether, our results demonstrate that Caspr1, through activation of the Src signalling pathway, regulates GluA1-containing AMPARs in an activity-dependent manner, and further uncover a specific requirement for both Caspr1 and ZBP1 in the expression of mechanisms underlying homeostatic synaptic scaling.

Results

Caspr1 regulates total protein and mRNA levels of GluA1-containing AMPARs through an intracellular proline-rich domain

The regulation of AMPARs at the levels of transcription and translation plays fundamental roles for plasticity events (Sutton & Schuman, 2006), being a means to control available pools of new AMPARs to be inserted at the synapse. Nevertheless, the mechanisms underlying this type of regulation of AMPARs are poorly characterized. We used a heterologous system to co-express GluA1 and Caspr1, and evaluated total levels of GluA1 by western blot (WB) analysis (Figure 3.1A). We observed that co-expression of Caspr1 and GluA1 in COS7 cells resulted in a significant 82.8 ± 29.0% increase on total protein levels of the GluA1 subunit, when compared to GluA1-transfected cells (Figure 3.1B). To confirm if a similar effect can be observed in a neuronal system, Caspr1 was overexpressed in highdensity cultured hippocampal neurons, and total protein levels of GluA1 were analysed by WB (Figure 3.1C). Similarly to what was observed in the heterologous system, overexpression of Caspr1 in hippocampal neurons resulted in a significant increase on GluA1 total protein levels (115.8 ± 5.3% of control; Figure 3.1D). This evidence indicates that Caspr1, besides increasing superficial and synaptic levels of GluA1 (Santos et al., 2012), also regulates GluA1 protein expression, suggesting that Caspr1 plays an unexpected wide-ranging role in the regulation of AMPARs.

The increase on GluA1 total levels following expression of Caspr1 could be explained by an effect in protein stabilization. However, co-expression of Caspr1 and GluA1 in COS7 cells did not affect GluA1 half-life, despite increasing GluA1 protein expression, indicating that Caspr1 does not alter GluA1 protein stability (Santos, 2009). Taking this into account, we hypothesized that the increase in GluA1 protein could be due to an upregulation of GluA1 mRNA levels in the presence of Caspr1. The evaluation of GluA1 mRNA relative levels using a semi-quantitative real-time PCR approach, in COS7 cells transfected with GluA1, alone or together with Caspr1, showed that Caspr1 significantly upregulates GluA1 mRNA in COS7 cells (1.48 ± 0.11 -fold increase when compared to control; Figure 3.1E). To understand if Caspr1 also regulates endogenous GluA1 mRNA in neurons, we overexpressed Caspr1 in high-density cultured hippocampal neurons and evaluated endogenous GluA1 mRNA levels by real-time PCR (Figure 3.1F). Similarly to what occurs in the heterologous system, Caspr1 overexpression resulted in a significant increase on the endogenous levels of neuronal GluA1 mRNA (1.77 ± 0.14 -fold increase when compared to control; Figure 3.1F), further suggesting that the observed increase in GluA1 protein levels following Caspr1 expression occurs through a regulation of GluA1 mRNA. Since GluA1 in COS7 cells is expressed from the transfected plasmid, under the control of the CMV promoter, it is unlikely that the increase on GluA1 mRNA in the presence of Caspr1 is a transcriptional effect. In fact, in the same system, Caspr1 expression fails to upregulate mRNA levels of another transcript under the same promoter as GluA1 (Santos, 2009). Altogether, these pieces of evidence hint at a novel post-transcriptional role for Caspr1 in regulating the GluA1 subunit of AMPARs.

These results, together with earlier evidence found in our lab (Santos, 2009; Santos et al., 2012), suggest that Caspr1 mediates a multi-level regulation of AMPARs, controlling the total amount of GluA1 protein and mRNA, as well as the surface expression and synaptic content of GluA1-containing AMPARs. Interestingly, this multi-function profile of Caspr1 might be consistent with its diverse structure, composed of a mosaic of distinctive domains. The extracellular architecture of Caspr1 is very similar to that of neurexins, containing domains usually associated with cell adhesion functions. The intracellular region of Caspr1, on the other hand, is composed of domains typically involved in protein-protein interactions (Figure 3.2A). Its juxtamembrane portion comprises a short peptide with a conserved GNP (glycophorin C, neurexin IV and paranodin) motif (Figure 3.2A), capable of interacting with proteins encompassing FERM domains, such as the cytoskeleton adaptor 4.1 protein (Denisenko-Nehrbass et al., 2003b). Besides the GNP motif, the intracellular C-tail portion of Caspr1 contains an additional sequence rich in proline residues (Figure 3.2A) that is capable of selectively interacting with the SH3 domain of several signalling molecules, particularly with the tyrosine kinases Src and Fyn, PLCy and the p85 subunit of PI3K (Peles et al., 1997). Given the overall architecture of Caspr1, comprising domains with such diverse functions, it is likely that one, or more, of these domains is responsible for the effects of Caspr1 in regulating GluA1containing AMPARs. In accordance, Santos and collaborators highlighted the importance of the intracellular C-terminal portion of Caspr1 in the regulation of cell surface GluA1: on one hand, overexpression of this region alone in hippocampal neurons is sufficient to promote the surface insertion of GluA1-containing AMPARs; on the other hand, expression of the C-tail of Caspr1 is able to rescue the decrease in the synaptic content of GluA1-AMPARs induced by loss of endogenous Caspr1 (Santos et al., 2012).



[Figure 3.1 - subtitle on the next page]
Figure 3.1 – Caspr1 overexpression increases total protein and mRNA levels of the GluA1 subunit of AMPARs in COS7 cells and in cultured hippocampal neurons. (A-D) Caspr1 increases total protein levels of GluA1 in COS7 cells (A, B) and hippocampal neurons (C, D). (A) GluA1 was expressed in COS7 cells, in the presence or absence of Caspr1, as indicated. 48 h after transfection, total protein levels of GluA1 and Caspr1 were assessed by Western blot. (C) Cultured rat hippocampal neurons at DIV7 were transfected with either Caspr1 or GFP (Control), as indicated. Following total protein extraction at DIV15, GluA1 and Caspr1 protein levels were evaluated by Western blot. (B, D) Results are presented as mean ± S.E.M., when compared to control and normalized to the loading control GAPDH. Statistical significance was determined by the non-parametric test Mann-Whitney, ***p<0.001 (N=8) (B), and *p<0.05 (N=10) (D). (E, F) Caspr1 upregulates relative levels of GluA1 mRNA in COS7 cells (E) and hippocampal neurons (F). (E) COS7 cells were transfected with GluA1, alone or together with Caspr1, and RNA isolation was performed 48 h after transfection. (F) Caspr1 was overexpressed in cultured hippocampal neurons at DIV7, and allowed to express until DIV15, when total RNA was isolated. Relative levels of GluA1 mRNA were evaluated by real-time PCR. Results are presented as mean ± S.E.M., when compared to control and normalized to the reference gene GFP (control of transfection). Statistical significance was determined by the non-parametric test Mann-Whitney, ***p<0.001 (N=11) (E), and **p<0.01 (N=4) (F).

Taking into account the architecture and properties of the domains that compose Caspr1, and the evidence implicating the intracellular portion of Caspr1 in the regulation of AMPARs (Santos et al., 2012), we dissected the molecular determinants of Caspr1 underlying its effect on GluA1 total levels. To achieve this, we generated two constructs expressing deletion mutants of Caspr1, lacking either the GNP motif (Caspr1AGNP) or the proline-rich domain (Caspr1∆PRO) present in the intracellular C-tail of wild-type (WT) Caspr1 (Figure 3.2A). We expressed GluA1 in COS7 cells, alone or together with either the full-length WT Caspr1 or the deletion mutants Caspr1ΔPRO or Caspr1ΔGNP, and evaluated relative levels of GluA1 mRNA by qPCR (Figure 3.2B). We observed that, whilst WT Caspr1 or its mutant form lacking the GNP motif (Caspr1∆GNP) significantly upregulate GluA1 mRNA levels (1.69 ± 0.25- and 1.65 \pm 0.44-fold increase respectively, when compared to control; Figure 3.2B), the Caspr1 deletion mutant lacking its proline-rich sequence (Caspr1 Δ PRO) failed to increase GluA1 mRNA levels, which were comparable to mRNA levels in the absence of Caspr1 (Figure 3.2B). These results indicate that the proline-rich sequence located in the intracellular C-tail of Caspr1 is the one responsible for mediating the upregulation of GluA1 transcripts. To test if the same domain in Caspr1 is required for the upregulation of GluA1 protein levels by Caspr1, we expressed GluA1 alone, or together with either WT Caspr1 or the Caspr1ΔPRO deletion mutant, and evaluated GluA1 protein levels by WB analysis (Figure 3.2C). As expected, expression of full-length WT Caspr1 in COS7 cells resulted in a marked increase of 65.7 ± 21.2% on GluA1 total protein levels, when compared to control values. However, when cells were transfected with the deletion mutant Caspr1 Δ PRO, the increase on GluA1 total protein was lost, with GluA1 levels similar to control (96.4 ± 19.0%, Figure 3.2D).



Figure 3.2 – Caspr1 regulates total protein and mRNA levels of the GluA1 subunit of AMPARs through its intracellular proline-rich domain. (A) Diagram of the protein domains present in Caspr1 and in the deletion mutants of Caspr1 used in this study: Caspr1ΔPRO and Caspr1ΔGNP. (B-D) The intracellular proline-rich domain of Caspr1 is required for the regulation of GluA1 mRNA (B) and total protein (C, D) levels. GluA1 was expressed in COS7 cells, alone or together with the full-length WT Caspr1 or with either one of the Caspr1 deletion mutants, as indicated. 48 h after transfection total RNA (B) and total protein (C, D) extracts were obtained. (B) Relative levels of GluA1 mRNA were evaluated by real-time PCR. Results are presented as mean ± S.E.M., when compared to control and normalized to the reference gene GFP (control of transfection). Statistical significance was determined by the non-parametric Kruskal-Wallis Test, followed by the Dunn's Multiple Comparison Test, **p<0.01 and *p<0.05 when compared to control (GluA1), and #p<0.05 when compared to GluA1+Caspr1 (N≥4). (C) Protein levels of GluA1 and Caspr1 were assessed by Western blot. (D) Results are presented as mean ± S.E.M., when compared to control and normalized to the loading control Transferrin. Statistical significance was determined by the non-parametric Kruskal-Wallis Test, followed by the Dunn's Multiple Comparison Test, ***p<0.001 when compared to control (GluA1), and ##p<0.01 when compared to GluA1+Caspr1 (N≥4).

Altogether, this first set of results indicates that Caspr1 regulates total amounts of the GluA1 subunit of AMPARs, and confirms that this occurs as a consequence of GluA1 mRNA regulation. Moreover, the evidence pinpoints a specific requirement for the proline-rich sequence of Caspr1 in mediating its effect on GluA1-containing AMPARs.

Caspr1 modulates the phosphorylation status of the RNA-binding protein ZBP1 through activation of the Src kinase signalling cascade

We demonstrated that total levels of the GluA1 subunit of AMPARs are regulated by the cell-adhesion molecule Caspr1, which increases levels of GluA1 protein as a consequence of a post-transcriptional regulation of GluA1 mRNA. Furthermore, we showed that the prolinerich sequence located in the intracellular C-tail region of Caspr1 is responsible for the observed effects on GluA1 levels. This evidence is rather interesting, as it starts hinting at the possible mechanisms underlying the role of Caspr1 in regulating AMPARs. The proline-rich domain of Caspr1 contains at least one canonical SH3 domain-binding site and is thought to interact with proteins involved in signalling pathways. Indeed, in previous studies Caspr1 was selectively pulled-down bound to the SH3 domain of several signalling molecules, namely PLCy, the p85 subunit of PI3K, and members of the Src family of protein tyrosine kinases, namely Src and Fyn (Peles et al., 1997). It is possible that Caspr1, through its proline-rich region, interacts with these signalling molecules to trigger the activation of biochemical responses that lead to a specific regulation of AMPARs. For instance, the interaction between Caspr1 and the tyrosine kinase Src has already been thoroughly confirmed by co-immunoprecipitation (Peles et al., 1997). One curious detail about Src is that its activation can be mediated through interaction of a binding partner with its SH3 domain, which results in conformational changes in the structure of Src, such that a key tyrosine residue (Y416) is exposed to auto-phosphorylation, ultimately rendering Src active (Dikic et al., 1996). Interestingly, Src has already been shown to be enriched in the PSD (Huang et al., 2001), and several studies implicate Src on multi-level regulation of both glutamate receptors of the NMDA-type and synaptic plasticity [reviewed in (Salter & Kalia, 2004)].

Taking into account the fact that 1) Caspr1 regulates GluA1-containing AMPARs through its intracellular proline-rich sequence, 2) Caspr1, through the same domain, is able to interact with the tyrosine kinase Src, and 3) Src is known to play established roles in synaptic plasticity through regulation of NMDARs, we hypothesized that Caspr1 is able to regulate GluA1 levels through interaction with Src and activation of its downstream signalling cascade. To confirm this, we exogenously expressed Caspr1 in COS7 cells, together with the GluA1 subunit, and

83

evaluated levels of the tyrosine kinase Src phosphorylated at Y416, by western blot analysis (Figure 3.3A). Indeed, expression of Caspr1 in COS7 cells resulted in a significant increase of $37.2 \pm 9.1\%$ on total levels of phosphorylated Src, when compared to control (Figure 3.3B). To confirm that the increase that we measured was a specific result of phosphorylation, we performed a dephosphorylation assay. We incubated lysates obtained from Caspr1-transfected COS7 cells with the protein phosphatase Lambda (λ PP), and evaluated levels of phosphorylated Src by WB (Figure 3.3C). WB analysis of COS7 cells expressing Caspr1 revealed an increase in the labelling of a band of 70 kDa, detected by the anti-phospho Src antibody, which disappeared when samples were subjected to dephosphorylation. As previously mentioned, interactions with the SH3 domain of Src result in its autophosphorylation at Y416, and consequent activation. As such, our results confirm that increased expression of Caspr1 (which interacts with the SH3 domain of Src) in COS7 cells renders the tyrosine kinase Src active, likely triggering a downstream signalling cascade.

Despite rather promising, the results we have obtained so far keep raising fundamental questions. We have shown that Caspr1 is capable of inducing the activation of a major signalling mediator, known to trigger various downstream biochemical responses that control a wide-range of physiological mechanisms. Indeed, Src has already been identified as an ubiquitous regulator of several cellular processes that include cell growth and survival, proliferation, cell communication, shape, differentiation and migration [extensively reviewed in (Huveneers & Danen, 2009; Ingley, 2008; Parsons & Parsons, 2004)]. In the CNS, Src has also been thoroughly implicated in neuronal differentiation and neurite outgrowth, as well as in the regulation of ion channel activity and synaptic transmission (Salter & Kalia, 2004).

One interesting downstream target of the signalling cascade triggered by Src is the oncofetal protein Zipcode-binding protein 1 (ZBP1). ZBP1 is a RNA-binding protein best known for its crucial role in the regulation of β -actin mRNA transport and local translation. ZBP1 is able to induce both translational silencing of β -actin mRNA and its incorporation into ribonucleoproteins for transport, through binding to a conserved zipcode present in the 3'UTR of β -actin transcripts (Oleynikov & Singer, 2003; Ross *et al.*, 1997; Wu *et al.*, 2015). Upon specific stimuli, Src phosphorylates ZBP1 at a key tyrosine residue (Y396) required for its binding to RNA, resulting in the release of β -actin mRNA from ZBP1 and activation of its translation at sites of high actin dynamics (Huttelmaier *et al.*, 2005; Sasaki *et al.*, 2010; Wu *et al.*, 2010; Wu *et al.*, 2011), dendritic outgrowth (Huttelmaier *et al.*, 2005; Sasaki *et al.*, 2005; Sasaki *et al.*, 2011), dendritic

84

morphology and branching (Perycz *et al.*, 2011; Urbanska *et al.*, 2017), to dendritic spine structure and density (Eom *et al.*, 2003; Tiruchinapalli *et al.*, 2003). Furthermore, ZBP1 has also been implicated in the regulation of several other target mRNAs, including the mRNAs for cofilin and β -catenin (Gu *et al.*, 2008; Jonson *et al.*, 2007; Piper *et al.*, 2006). Altogether, it is evident that ZBP1 plays a key role in the control of transcripts with major importance in neuronal development and function, which endows ZBP1 with the potential to functionally regulate other neuronal transcripts.

The evidence reported so far in this chapter indicates that Caspr1 regulates the levels of GluA1 in a manner that depends on its intracellular proline-rich domain. In turn, through the same domain, Caspr1 promotes the activation of the tyrosine kinase Src. Taking into account that ZBP1 is a downstream target of Src, capable of regulating several transcripts, it would be extremely interesting to test if Caspr1 regulates ZBP1 as a downstream effect of the activation of Src. To achieve this, Caspr1 or its deletion mutant for the proline-rich sequence, Caspr1ΔPRO, were exogenously expressed in COS7 cells, together with the GluA1 subunit, and total protein levels of ZBP1 phosphorylated at Y396 (target for Src-dependent phosphorylation) were assessed by WB analysis (Figure 3.3D). We observed that expression of Caspr1 in COS7 cells resulted in a significant 112.5 ± 77.0% increase on total levels of phosphorylated ZBP1, when compared to control (Figure 3.3E). On the other hand, the Caspr1ΔPRO deletion mutant of Caspr1 completely failed to increase the phosphorylation of ZBP1, whose levels were comparable to the control (Figure 3.3E). Given the requirement for the proline-rich domain of Caspr1, these results suggest that Caspr1 regulates the phosphorylation status of ZBP1 downstream of the activation of the Src signalling pathway. Overall, these results confirm that Caspr1 controls the RNA-binding protein ZBP1 downstream of the activation of Src kinase, and suggest a possible role of ZBP1 in regulating GluA1 mRNA.



[Figure 3.3 - subtitle on the next page]

Figure 3.3 – Caspr1 regulates the phosphorylation status of the RNA-binding protein ZBP1, by activating the signalling cascade downstream of the tyrosine kinase Src. (A-E) Caspr1 expression in COS7 cells increases levels of phosphorylated tyrosine kinase Src (A-C) and phosphorylated ZBP1 (D, E). COS7 cells were transfected with GluA1, alone or together with either WT Caspr1 or the deletion mutant Caspr1\DeltaPRO, as indicated, and allowed to express for 48 h, before total protein extraction. (A) Levels of phosphorylated Src, Caspr1 and GluA1 were assessed by WB. (B) Total levels of phosphorylated Src were determined. Results are presented as mean ± S.E.M., when compared to control and normalized to the loading control GAPDH (N=5). Statistical significance was determined by the non-parametric Mann-Whitney Test, **p<0.01. (C) To confirm the specificity of the phospho-Src signal, protein extracts from Caspr1-transfected cells were subjected to a dephosphorylation assay with the lambda protein phosphatase (GluA1 + Caspr1 + λ PP) for 2 h, at 30°C. Levels of phosphorylated Src were then assessed by WB. (D) Levels of phosphorylated ZBP1 were assessed by WB in parallel with GluA1 and Caspr1. (E) Total levels of phosphorylated ZBP1 were determined. Results are presented as mean ± S.E.M., when compared to control and normalized to the loading control GAPDH (N=4). Statistical significance was determined by the non-parametric Kruskal-Wallis Test, followed by the Dunn's Multiple Comparison Test, *p<0.05. (F, G) Overexpression of Caspr1 in hippocampal neurons increases the phosphorylation of ZBP1 in synapses. Cultured hippocampal neurons were transfected at DIV7, as indicated. At DIV15, cells were fixed and immunolabeled against phospho-ZBP1 and PSD95. (F) Representative immunofluorescence images of transfected, GFP-positive neurons stained for phospho-ZBP1 and PSD95. Scale bars represent 5 µm. (G) Phospho-ZBP1 clustering was guantified and co-localized with PSD95 to assess the number of synaptic phospho-ZBP1 puncta. Puncta in the non-synaptic pool were determined by subtracting the synaptic fraction of phospho-ZBP1 from the number of total puncta. Results are presented as mean \pm S.E.M., when compared to control (N≥3, n≥ 30cells). Statistical significance was determined by the non-parametric Mann-Whitney Test, ***p<0.001.

To test whether Caspr1 can regulate ZBP1 in a neuronal system, we transfected lowdensity hippocampal neurons with either GFP alone or together with Caspr1. Cells were then fixed and immunolabeled with antibodies against phosphorylated ZBP1, and the postsynaptic marker PSD95 to visualize excitatory synapses. To specifically evaluate the effect of Caspr1, imaging fields were chosen by the GFP channel for the presence of transfected, GFP-positive neurons (Figure 3.3F). The clustering of phosphorylated ZBP1 was quantified and co-localized with PSD95 to determine the number of phospho-ZBP1 puncta at synapses. We observed that overexpression of Caspr1 in hippocampal neurons resulted in a significant 33.9 \pm 6.9% increase in the number of synaptic puncta of phosphorylated ZBP1, when compared to control (Figure 3.3G). Interestingly, Caspr1 regulates ZBP1 phosphorylation selectively at synapses, since we observed that Caspr1 failed to increase the phosphorylation of the non-synaptic pool of ZBP1 puncta (Figure 3.3G). Indeed, there is evidence showing large ZBP1 granules, carrying β -actin mRNA, localized in dendrites that rapidly translocate to spines in response to synaptic activity (Eom *et al.*, 2003; Tiruchinapalli *et al.*, 2003). Other studies have reported that dendritic granules containing β -actin mRNA, and most likely ZBP1, specifically disassemble following induction of chemical LTP or KCI-induced neuronal depolarization, to subsequently allow the local translation of β -actin (Buxbaum *et al.*, 2014; Park *et al.*, 2014; Whalley, 2014). Because the translational competence of ZBP1 depends on its phosphorylation status, these studies suggest that ZBP1 must undergo phosphorylation nearby synapses in order to restrict the translation of β -actin with such spatial resolution following synaptic activity. It is conceivable that the expression of Caspr1, through activation of the Src signalling pathway, regulates the phosphorylation status of ZBP1 in a similar manner, restricting it specifically to synaptic granules.

Altogether, this set of results starts to uncover the mechanisms underlying the effect of Caspr1 in the regulation of AMPARs, through activation of an important signalling cascade that involves the control over the function of a RNA-binding protein.

ZBP1 binds to GluA1 mRNA and further regulates the surface expression and synaptic content of GluA1-containing AMPARs

The results presented so far show that Caspr1 regulates total levels of GluA1 by modulating GluA1 mRNA. Additionally, we identified a promising signalling pathway, activated by Caspr1, which ultimately controls the phosphorylation status of the RNA-binding protein ZBP1. Correlating these pieces of evidence, we hypothesize that the post-transcriptional effect of Caspr1 on GluA1 mRNA is potentially mediated by ZBP1.

ZBP1 is a RNA-binding protein known to play important roles in the stability, localization and translational control of target mRNAs (Yisraeli, 2005). The protein contains a characteristic arrangement of six canonical RNA-binding domains (RBD), consisting of two RNA recognition motifs (RRMs) followed by four hnRNP K-homology (KH) domains (Ross *et al.*, 1997). Two of these KH domains, KH3 and KH4, recognize and preferentially bind to a 54-nucleotide-long zipcode sequence typically located in the 3'UTR of target mRNAs, and initially identified in the mRNA coding for β -actin (Chao *et al.*, 2010; Kislauskis *et al.*, 1994; Ross *et al.*, 1997). The interaction of ZBP1 with β -actin mRNA is one of the best described and understood examples of mRNA control by RNA-binding proteins. By binding to the zipcode present in the transcript, ZBP1 is able to translationally repress β -actin mRNA and mediate its transport in a dormant state to sites where β -actin synthesis is most required, thus providing an efficient and energysaving mechanism to control the translation of β -actin both temporally and spatially (Huttelmaier *et al.*, 2005; Oleynikov & Singer, 2003; Sasaki *et al.*, 2010; Welshhans & Bassell, 2011). Despite several studies and evolution of methodologies, the identification of mRNA ligands that are targeted by ZBP1 has proven hard to achieve, although some, besides β -actin, have already been determined, including Igf2, tau, c-myc, cofilin, spinophilin and β -catenin [(Atlas *et al.*, 2004; Gu *et al.*, 2008; Jonson *et al.*, 2007; Patel *et al.*, 2012; Piper *et al.*, 2006) and reviewed in (Yisraeli, 2005)]. The important role that ZBP1 seems to play in the control of mRNA localization and translation, particularly of mRNAs that are crucial for neuronal function, raises the possibility that many more important neuronal transcripts might be regulated by ZBP1.



Figure 3.4 – ZBP1 binds to and regulates mRNA levels of the GluA1 subunit of AMPARs in an activity-dependent manner. (A) Sequence alignment between the 3'UTR of GluA1 mRNA and the 54-nucleotide zipcode in β -actin targeted by ZBP1. Homologous nucleotides in both sequences are highlighted in yellow. The bipartite 5' and 3' response elements targeted by ZBP1 KH4 and KH3 domains are underlined in blue and green, respectively, and highlighted in the boxes. (B) ZBP1 was immunoprecipitated from 15DIV cultured hippocampal neurons using a specific antibody against the protein. IP was confirmed by WB analysis of ZBP1 levels when compared to the initial protein sample (input) and a negative IP using non-immune IgGs. (C) ZBP1 binds to GluA1 mRNA in hippocampal neurons. Following RIP of ZBP1 in RNAse-free conditions, total RNAs bound to ZBP1 were isolated and levels of β -actin and GluA1 mRNA were assessed by RT-qPCR. Results are presented as mean ± S.E.M., when mRNA levels obtained from the ZBP1 RIP are compared to the negative RIP with non-immune IgGs (N=4).

Taking into consideration the canonical function of ZBP1, together with our evidence implicating Caspr1 in the control of ZBP1 phosphorylation, as well as in the regulation of GluA1 mRNA, we evaluated if ZBP1 can bind to and regulate GluA1 mRNA. Sequence alignment of the 3'UTR of the GluA1 mRNA and the 54-nucleotide β-actin zipcode revealed 54% identity between them in a particular region of the GluA1 3'UTR (Figure 3.4A), which is quite significant considering that there is a lot of variability amongst the zipcodes present in distinct mRNAs targeted by ZBP1 (Kislauskis et al., 1994). Previous work, however, has shown that the KH4 and KH3 domains of ZBP1 recognize a bipartite RNA sequence, with KH4 binding to a highly conserved element (CGGACT) near the 5' end of the zipcode, and KH3 binding to the 3' element (C/A-CA-C/U) (Patel et al., 2012). These consensus sites are present in the 3'UTR of GluA1, despite one substitution in the 5' response element (Figure 3.4A). Taking this into consideration, we evaluated if ZBP1 indeed binds to GluA1 mRNA. We performed a ribonucleoprotein immunoprecipitation (RIP) protocol with a specific antibody to pull-down ZBP1 from cultured hippocampal neurons, and isolated RNAs bound to the precipitate (Figure 3.4B, C). To confirm the specificity of the IP, a fraction of the precipitate was used for WB analysis, where we identified a specific pulled-down 75 kDa-band corresponding to total ZBP1 (Figure 3.4B). RT-qPCR analysis of the mRNAs isolated from the ZBP1 RIP revealed an enrichment in GluA1 mRNA when compared to the control RIP performed using non-immune IgGs, in levels that did not differ significantly from the typical ZBP1 target, β -actin (Figure 3.4C).

Overall, this result confirms that ZBP1 binds to GluA1 transcripts and pinpoints ZBP1 as a potential novel regulator of GluA1 mRNA. Moreover, this evidence further substantiates our hypothesis of ZBP1 being responsible for the post-transcriptional effect of Caspr1 over GluA1 mRNA. Considering the canonical function attributed to ZBP1, future experiments will be required to fully understand how ZBP1 regulates GluA1 mRNA, and, in particular, ascertain if ZBP1 exerts a translational control over GluA1 that is required for its local synthesis in dendrites and near synaptic sites.



Figure 3.5 – ZBP1 is required to regulate the surface expression and synaptic content of GluA1-containing AMPARs. (A) Representative immunofluorescence images of GFP-positive low-density cultured hippocampal neurons transfected at DIV7 either with a scrambled shRNA construct (control - left), a plasmid encoding GFP and ZBP1-shRNA (middle), or with the ZBP1-shRNA plasmid and a construct encoding the ZBP1 rescue mutant (ZBP1* - right). At DIV15, cells were live-stained with an antibody against an extracellular epitope in the GluA1 N-terminus, fixed, and then stained for the synaptic marker PSD95. Scale bars represent 5 μ m. (B) The intensity, area and number of surface GluA1 total clusters were quantified, and (C) synaptic GluA1 clusters were determined by colocalization with the postsynaptic marker PSD95. Total number of analysed cells was obtained from at least three independent experiments (N≥3; n≥30 cells, and results are presented as mean \pm S.E.M. Statistical significance was determined by the non-parametric Kruskal-Wallis Test, followed by the Dunn's Multiple Comparison Test, *p<0.05, ***p<0.001 and ****p<0.0001 when compared to control, and #p<0.05, ##p<0.01 and ####p<0.0001 when relative to the ZBP1 shRNA condition.

Taking into account the previous results, together with the role that Caspr1 plays in regulating the synaptic content of GluA1-containing AMPARs, and the fact that Caspr1 modulates the function of ZBP1, particularly in synapses, we evaluated if ZBP1 is required to regulate the surface expression of AMPARs. Low-density cultured hippocampal neurons were transfected with a plasmid encoding GFP and expressing a shRNA sequence against ZBP1 (Pervcz et al., 2011), to knock-down its endogenous expression, or with a control scrambled shRNA construct. We then performed quantitative immunofluorescence analysis of the surface expression of GluA1 by live-staining neurons with an antibody against an extracellular epitope in the GluA1 N-terminus. After fixation, neurons were stained for PSD95 as a postsynaptic marker to visualize excitatory synapses. Imaging fields were chosen by the presence of transfected, GFP-positive neurons (Figure 3.5A). We observed that loss of ZBP1 in hippocampal neurons resulted in a significant decrease of approximately 50% in the intensity of surface GluA1 total clusters (56.0 ± 5.3%; Figure 3.5B). The area and number of GluA1 clusters were also markedly reduced following knock-down (KD) of ZBP1. Furthermore, loss of ZBP1 induced a significant decrease in the synaptic content of GluA1 clusters, as determined by colocalization with the postsynaptic marker PSD95 (Figure 3.5C). The intensity, area and number of surface GluA1 synaptic clusters were significantly decreased by over 50% when compared to GluA1 labelling in neurons transfected with a control scrambled shRNA construct.

To exclude the contribution of off-target effects of the ZBP1 shRNA, we performed a rescue experiment by transfecting hippocampal neurons with the ZBP1 shRNA, in parallel with a mutant construct of ZBP1 resistant to the knock-down (ZBP1*, Figure 3.5A - C). Expression of the mutant ZBP1 refractory to the shRNA rescued the KD-mediated decrease of total (Figure 3.5B) and synaptic (Figure 3.5C) GluA1 cluster intensities. The area and number of GluA1 puncta were also rescued to values comparable to the control. These results indicate that the defects in the surface expression of GluA1 clusters observed with the ZBP1 shRNA were specifically caused by the loss of endogenous ZBP1.

We have previously shown that ZBP1, as a RNA-binding protein, binds to GluA1 mRNA. Interestingly, however, the latter set of results suggests that ZBP1 regulation over GluA1 goes beyond a mere control of the transcript, and impacts the surface expression and synaptic content of GluA1-containing AMPARs.

92

Caspr1 expression and ZBP1 function are both regulated during mechanisms of homeostatic synaptic plasticity

The present study led to the identification of novel players in the regulation of AMPARs. We uncovered a role for Caspr1 in regulating total protein levels of the GluA1 subunit of AMPARs, through a possible post-transcriptional effect on GluA1 mRNA. Moreover, we demonstrated that, through its intracellular proline-rich domain, Caspr1 activates a signalling cascade downstream of the tyrosine kinase Src, and regulates the phosphorylation status of the RNA-binding protein ZBP1. Given the physiological importance of AMPARs, one central question that arises is whether Caspr1, and the downstream mechanism triggered by Caspr1, are of relevance in the activity-dependent regulation of AMPARs. Caspr1, as well as both Src and ZBP1, are localized at dendritic spines and at the actual postsynaptic density (Cajigas *et al.*, 2012; Collins *et al.*, 2006; Eom *et al.*, 2003; Huang *et al.*, 2001; Murai *et al.*, 2002; Santos *et al.*, 2012; Tiruchinapalli *et al.*, 2003). Nevertheless, there are very few studies regarding the synaptic function of Caspr1 and ZBP1, whereas Src was already implicated in mechanisms of synaptic plasticity, since LTP induction is impaired upon application of specific Src inhibitors or in animals lacking Src [reviewed in (Salter & Kalia, 2004)].

Taking these pieces of evidence into account, and since Caspr1 is the most upstream effector of the mechanism we have proposed thus far, we asked whether Caspr1 is regulated by neuronal activity. Synaptic scaling is a form of homeostatic plasticity by which neurons elicit changes in their overall synaptic strength to compensate for prolonged alterations in network activity (Turrigiano, 2008). This homeostatic scaling of neuronal activity is typically translated as a change in the accumulation of AMPARs, particularly in the subunit content at excitatory synapses, with many studies reporting a selective regulation of the GluA1 subunit (Aoto et al., 2008; Goel et al., 2006; Goel et al., 2011; Ju et al., 2004; Sutton et al., 2006; Thiagarajan et al., 2005). The molecular mechanisms underlying the scaling of AMPARs in face of chronic changes in activity are still far from understood, but several players have already been implicated, including cell-adhesion molecules, for instance [extensively reviewed in (Chater & Goda, 2014; Fernandes & Carvalho, 2016; Pozo & Goda, 2010; Thalhammer & Cingolani, 2014; Wang et al., 2012)]. Interestingly, the expression or function of many of these players is itself changed by synaptic scaling mechanisms (Schanzenbacher et al., 2016). We evaluated whether endogenous levels of Caspr1 are regulated during homeostatic synaptic scaling. Neuronal activity in cultured hippocampal neurons was blocked for 24 h with 1 µM tetrodotoxin (TTX), a specific blocker of voltage gated Na⁺-channels that inhibits action potential generation, and total protein levels of both GluA1 and Caspr1 were evaluated by WB (Figure 3.6A). As previously described (Ju et al., 2004; Wierenga et al., 2005), chronic blockade of neuronal

activity resulted in a significant increase of 82.3 \pm 25.6% on total levels of the GluA1 subunit of AMPARs (Figure 3.6B). This result indicates that blocking neuronal activity in hippocampal neurons for 24 h with 1µM TTX induces homeostatic mechanisms that scale up GluA1containing AMPARs. Interestingly, this increase in GluA1 total levels following chronic neuronal activity blockade with TTX was paralleled by a significant 38.7 \pm 10.6% increase on total protein levels of endogenous Caspr1, when compared to control (Figure 3.6B).



Figure 3.6 – Homeostatic mechanisms of synaptic scaling regulate the expression of endogenous Caspr1. Cultured rat hippocampal neurons at 14DIV were treated for 24 h with 1µM TTX. (A) Protein extracts were obtained and total protein levels of GluA1 and Caspr1 were assessed by WB. (B) Results are presented as mean \pm S.E.M., when compared to control and normalized to the loading control Tubulin (N=10). Statistical significance was determined by the non-parametric Mann-Whitney Test, ****p<0.0001 and *p<0.05. (C) Total RNA was extracted from cell lysates and relative levels of mRNA for the GluA1, Caspr1 and BDNF genes were evaluated by RT-qPCR. Results are presented as mean \pm S.E.M., when compared to control (N≥5). Statistical significance was determined by the non-parametric Mann-Whitney Test, ****p<0.001 and *p<0.05. (C) Total RNA was extracted from cell lysates and relative levels of mRNA for the GluA1, Caspr1 and BDNF genes were evaluated by RT-qPCR. Results are presented as mean \pm S.E.M., when compared to control (N≥5). Statistical significance was determined by the non-parametric Mann-Whitney Test, ****p<0.01.

These results show that endogenous Caspr1 protein levels can be regulated by paradigms that elicit homeostatic plasticity; however, they fall short on explaining how this is happening. One possibility to answer this question comes from evidence pointing to transcriptional mechanisms as the trigger for global synaptic scaling responses following blockade of action potentials with TTX (Ibata *et al.*, 2008). Taking this into consideration, we evaluated endogenous levels of GluA1, Caspr1 and BDNF mRNAs following a chronic period of TTX-induced neuronal inactivity (Figure 3.6C). We observed that chronically blocking action

potentials in hippocampal neurons results in a marked downregulation in mRNA levels of BDNF, whose release is known to be reduced during homeostatic scaling up (Rutherford *et al.*, 1998). On the contrary, prolonged neuronal inactivity induced by TTX application significantly increased not only GluA1 (2.47 ± 0.79 -fold increase compared to control) but also Caspr1 mRNA levels (1.82 ± 0.51 -fold increase, when compared to control). Overall, these results indicate that the expression of Caspr1, possibly through a transcriptional response, is regulated by mechanisms of homeostatic synaptic scaling, raising the possibility of Caspr1 being required for this type of plasticity.

Taking into account the evidence showing that 1) increased expression of Caspr1 in COS7 cells induces the activation of the signalling pathway downstream of Src. and regulates the phosphorylation status of the RNA-binding protein ZBP1, and that 2) the endogenous expression of Caspr1 is itself upregulated following chronic neuronal inactivity, we hypothesized that the paradigms inducing homeostatic scaling of GluA1 and Caspr1 would also result in activation of the Src signalling pathway and regulation of ZBP1. To confirm this, we evaluated total protein levels of phosphorylated Src and phosphorylated ZBP1 in neurons incubated with 1 µM TTX for 24 h (Figure 3.7A). Indeed, we observed that a prolonged period of inactivity induced by application of TTX in hippocampal neurons resulted in a significant increase of 65.9 ± 17.3% on total levels of phosphorylated Src, when compared to control (Figure 3.7B). Moreover, this blockade of neuronal activity caused a parallel significant increase on the phosphorylation levels of ZBP1 (199.7 ± 36.6%; Figure 3.7B). Furthermore, in agreement to our hypothesis, we observed that the increase in phosphorylation of both Src and ZBP1 following neuronal inactivity parallels the increase on total levels of GluA1 and Caspr1 (Figure 3.7A). These results provide evidence that the signalling pathway downstream of the tyrosine kinase Src is activated endogenously following prolonged inactivity in hippocampal neurons, with increased phosphorylation of the downstream RNA-binding protein ZBP1. Most likely, chronic neuronal inactivity increases the phosphorylation of Src and ZBP1 as a direct consequence of an upregulated expression of endogenous Caspr1 in these conditions. Overall, these results show that paradigms that induce mechanisms of homeostatic synaptic scaling of AMPARs regulate endogenous Caspr1, and further control posttranslational modifications on both Src and ZBP1.



Figure 3.7 – Homeostatic mechanisms of synaptic scaling induce the activation of the signalling cascade downstream of Src, which increases the phosphorylation levels of ZBP1, and consequently reduces its binding to GluA1 mRNA. (A-B) Chronic blockade of activity in hippocampal neurons induces the activation of the signalling pathway downstream of Src and controls phosphorylation levels of ZBP1. Cultured rat hippocampal neurons at 14DIV were treated for 24 h with 1 µM TTX, after which protein extracts were obtained. (A) Total protein levels of phosphorylated Src and phosphorylated ZBP1 were evaluated by WB analysis. (B) Results are presented as mean ± S.E.M., when compared to control and normalized to the loading control Tubulin (N≥5). Statistical significance was determined by the non-parametric Mann-Whitney Test, **p<0.01. (C) Chronic inactivity in hippocampal neurons induces the release of GluA1 mRNA from ZBP1. ZBP1 was immunoprecipitated from 15DIV cultured hippocampal neurons following a TTXinduced 24 h-blockade of neuronal activity. Total RNAs bound to ZBP1 were isolated from the immunoprecipitate and mRNA levels of β -actin and GluA1 were assessed by RT-qPCR. Results are presented as mean ± S.E.M., when compared to control and normalized to the negative RIP with non-immune IgGs (N=4). Statistical significance was determined by the nonparametric Mann-Whitney Test, *p<0.05.

These pieces of evidence are rather interesting as they raise a tantalizing role for ZBP1 in the regulation of homeostatic mechanisms. ZBP1 is modulated by phosphorylation; following Src-dependent phosphorylation in a specific tyrosine residue, ZBP1 undergoes conformational changes that induce the release of bound mRNAs from its grip (Huttelmaier *et al.*, 2005; Sasaki *et al.*, 2010). Previous results in this study revealed that both increased expression of Caspr1 and chronic neuronal inactivity induce an increase in the phosphorylation of ZBP1, possibly

contributing to the release of ZBP1-bound transcripts. Given that ZBP1 binds to GluA1 mRNA in basal conditions, we evaluated their interaction following chronic blockade of neuronal activity (Figure 3.7C). We found that, when activity is chronically blocked in hippocampal neurons, the relative levels of GluA1 mRNA bound to ZBP1 significantly decrease when compared to basal conditions (0.47 \pm 0.11-fold decrease compared to control), similarly to an expected decrease in the levels of β-actin mRNA bound to ZBP1.

Firstly, these results are consistent with the previously described phosphorylationmediated loss of function of ZBP1 (Huttelmaier *et al.*, 2005; Sasaki *et al.*, 2010). Secondly, these results indicate that ZBP1 is able to bind to GluA1 mRNA in basal conditions, possibly repressing its translation. Finally, these pieces of evidence further suggest that homeostatic mechanisms of synaptic plasticity induce an activity-dependent release of GluA1 transcripts from ZBP1, possibly creating an available pool of GluA1 mRNA that can readily undergo translation and contribute to mechanisms underlying the homeostatic scaling of AMPARs. Future experiments should be undertaken in order to determine if ZBP1 exerts a translational control over GluA1 and whether that regulation is required for homeostatic plasticity events. Further along in this chapter we will assess the requirement for ZBP1 in the induction of homeostatic synaptic scaling mechanisms.

Caspr1 is required for the homeostatic synaptic scaling of GluA1containing AMPARs in hippocampal neurons

So far in the present study we reported that Caspr1 increases total protein levels of the GluA1 subunit of AMPARs in hippocampal neurons, possibly through post-transcriptional regulation of GluA1 mRNA. Also, a previous report from our lab determined that Caspr1 interacts with and regulates the synaptic content of AMPARs (Santos *et al.*, 2012). In particular, while overexpression of Caspr1 leads to a synaptic accumulation of GluA1, loss of endogenous Caspr1 significantly decreases the surface synaptic expression of GluA1-containing AMPARs. Furthermore, in the present study, we show that homeostatic mechanisms of synaptic scaling increase endogenous Caspr1, in parallel to GluA1. Thus, it would be of particular importance to understand if Caspr1 is required for homeostatic mechanisms of synaptic plasticity that scale AMPARs.



[Figure 3.8 - subtitle on the next page]

Figure 3.8 – Chronic inactivity in cultured hippocampal neurons induced by 48 h blockade of action potentials, alone or in conjunction with NMDAR inhibition, results in a significant multiplicative scaling of synaptic GluA1-AMPARs. Chronic neuronal inactivity increases the superficial expression of synaptic GluA1-containing AMPARs. Neuronal activity in 13DIV Banker cultured hippocampal neurons was inhibited for 48 h either with 1 µM TTX alone, or together with 100 µM APV. Cells were then live-stained with a specific antibody against an extracellular epitope in GluA1 N-terminus, fixed, and then stained for the synaptic markers PSD95 and vGluT1. (A) Representative immunofluorescence images of cultured hippocampal neurons treated for 48 h with TTX or TTX + APV, and stained for superficial GluA1, PSD95 and vGluT1. Scale bars represent 5 µm. (B) The intensity, area and number of surface GluA1 total clusters were quantified. Results are presented as mean ± S.E.M. Statistical significance was determined by the nonparametric Kruskal-Wallis Test, followed by the Dunn's Multiple Comparison Test, *p<0.05; ***p<0.001, ****p<0.0001 when compared to the control. (C) The intensity, area and number of surface GluA1 clusters that colocalize with synaptic markers (PSD95 + VGluT1) was determined. Total number of analysed cells was obtained from at least two independent experiments (TTX: N=2, n=20 cells; TTX+APV: N≥3, n≥30 cells), and results are presented as mean ± S.E.M. Statistical significance was determined by the nonparametric Kruskal-Wallis Test, followed by the Dunn's Multiple Comparison Test, *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ****p<0.0001 when compared to the control. (D-G) Chronic inactivity scales up the intensity of surface GluA1 synaptic puncta by a multiplicative factor. (D, F) Ranked intensities of synaptic GluA1 clusters from the control condition were plotted against either ranked TTX (D) or TTX + APV (F) intensities and the best-fit linear function was determined. (E, G) Cumulative distributions of the control and TTX (E) or TTX + APV (G) surface GluA1 intensities were plotted. The original TTX (E) or TTX + APV (G) distributions were transformed by their respective best-fit equations and scaled against the control plot (dashed lines). Statistical significance was determined by the Kolmogorov-Smirnov Test, ****p<0.0001

Synaptic scaling is a form of homeostatic plasticity in which neurons adjust their overall synaptic strength, through compensatory changes in the synaptic content of AMPARs, in order to keep network activity within a dynamic physiological range (Fernandes & Carvalho, 2016; Turrigiano, 2008). While many studies resort to electrophysiological measurements of AMPAR-mediated currents to evaluate the scaling in the synaptic content of AMPARs, we used immunocytochemical methods to evaluate the surface expression of synaptic AMPARs following chronic neuronal inactivity. We treated low-density cultured hippocampal neurons for 48 h with 1 µM TTX to block action potential generation, and performed quantitative immunofluorescence analysis of the surface expression of AMPARs by live-staining neurons with an antibody against an extracellular epitope in the GluA1 N-terminus (Figure 3.8A). After fixation, neurons were stained for MAP2 to visualize the dendritic structure (not shown), and for PSD95 (postsynaptic marker) and vGluT1 (presynaptic marker) to visualize excitatory synapses (Figure 3.8A). We observed that chronic inactivity induced by TTX treatment in hippocampal neurons significantly increased the intensity of GluA1 clusters at the synapse, as defined by GluA1 puncta that co-localize with the synaptic markers PSD95 and vGluT1 (167.3

 \pm 23.8%; Figure 3.8C). These results are in agreement with previous studies reporting an increase in the synaptic expression of GluA1 following action potential blockade, both in cortical and hippocampal neurons (Jakawich *et al.*, 2010; Wierenga *et al.*, 2005).

Previous results in this chapter report a homeostatic-dependent regulation of GluA1 mRNA by the RNA-binding protein ZBP1. Considering the overall role of ZBP1 in RNA regulation, it is possible that ZBP1 exerts a temporal and spatial control over the synthesis of GluA1, allowing the translation of its mRNA to occur locally and only when required. Interestingly, recent studies have proposed that synaptic scaling mechanisms can operate locally at single dendritic branches or synapses, in a manner that requires local inhibition of NMDARs in conjunction with action potential blockade, resulting in a selective increase in the dendritic protein synthesis of GluA1 (Aoto et al., 2008; Ju et al., 2004; Sutton et al., 2006). Taking this into account, we decided to evaluate the synaptic content of GluA1-containing AMPARs following chronic neuronal inactivity induced by both action potential blockade together with NMDAR inhibition. For that, we treated cultured hippocampal neurons for 48 h with 1 µM TTX together with 100 µM of a specific NMDAR antagonist, D-(-)-2-Amino-5phosphonopentanoic acid (APV), and performed quantitative immunofluorescence analysis of the surface expression of GluA1, as previously described (Figure 3.8A). Chronic neuronal inactivity induced by TTX + APV treatment in hippocampal neurons resulted in a significant increase in the intensity of total (145.8 \pm 8.1%; Figure 3.8B) and synaptic (197.2 \pm 18.0%; Figure 3.8C) surface GluA1 clusters, when compared to control. The area and number of surface GluA1 puncta also increased significantly. Interestingly, the scaling of GluA1 puncta following chronic inactivity induced by TTX + APV treatment was higher than that induced by blocking action potentials alone (Figure 3.8C).

One of the most defining characteristics of synaptic scaling mechanisms is that they uniformly change synaptic strengths across the entire synapse population of a given neuron through the same multiplicative factor (Turrigiano *et al.*, 1998). This uniform regulation allows the conservation of relative differences in strength among synapses, which is crucial for information storage. To confirm that the previously observed scaling of surface GluA1 clusters following chronic neuronal inactivity, induced by either TTX alone or together with APV, occurred in a multiplicative manner, we plotted the ranked values of intensity of synaptic GluA1 clusters from the control condition against ranked TTX (Figure 3.8D) or TTX + APV (Figure 3.8F) GluA1 intensities and found that the data are well fit by a linear function, with a slope of 1.7 (Figure 3.8D) or 2.1 (Figure 3.8F), respectively. Cumulative histograms of the acquired data showed that the entire distribution of GluA1 cluster intensities shifts uniformly and significantly towards larger values in hippocampal neurons treated either with TTX alone

(Figure 3.8E) or with TTX and APV (Figure 3.8G), when compared to basal conditions. Importantly, when the original TTX (Figure 3.8E) or TTX + APV (Figure 3.8G) data were transformed by the respective multiplicative factors, their scaled distributions of GluA1 cluster intensities were almost completely superimposable over the distribution of data from control neurons. This distribution profile is similar to previous reports of TTX-induced multiplicative upscaling of synaptic AMPAR function in neocortical and hippocampal neurons (Jakawich *et al.*, 2010; Turrigiano *et al.*, 1998; Wierenga *et al.*, 2005). This analysis demonstrates that we can evaluate AMPAR synaptic scaling following chronic neuronal inactivity by quantifying total and synaptic clusters of surface GluA1 by immunofluorescence assays.

Taking these pieces of evidence into account and considering the important role of Caspr1 in the regulation of AMPARs, together with the fact that Caspr1 is itself regulated by homeostatic mechanisms, we evaluated if Caspr1 is required for the homeostatic upscaling of synaptic GluA1-containing AMPARs following chronic neuronal inactivity. We knocked-down the endogenous expression of Caspr1 in low-density cultured hippocampal neurons by transfection with a bicistronic plasmid encoding mCherry and a specific shRNA sequence against Caspr1 (Anderson et al., 2012). We then treated neurons for 48 h with 1 µM TTX together with 100 µM APV, and performed quantitative immunofluorescence analysis of the surface expression of GluA1, as previously described (Figure 3.9A). After fixation, neurons were stained for PSD95 as a postsynaptic marker of excitatory synapses. Imaging fields were chosen by the presence of transfected, mCherry-positive hippocampal neurons (Figure 3.9A). As shown earlier, chronic inactivity induced by blockade of action potentials and NMDAR inhibition resulted in a significant increase on the intensity of total ($146.4 \pm 10.8\%$; Figure 3.9B) or PSD95-colocalized synaptic (156.2 ± 15.7%; Figure 3.9C) surface GluA1 clusters. On the other hand, knocking-down (KD) the endogenous expression of Caspr1 with a specific shRNA prevented the scaling of surface and synaptic GluA1 puncta induced by chronic inactivity (Figure 3.9B, C). To exclude the contribution of off-target effects of the Caspr1 shRNA, we rescued Caspr1 levels by transfecting hippocampal neurons with the Caspr1 shRNA and in parallel with a mutant construct of Caspr1 resistant to the shRNA (Figure 3.9A - C). Indeed, expression of the Caspr1 construct refractory to shRNA significantly rescued the KD-mediated decrease of GluA1 levels, and further led to upscaling of total (127.6 \pm 12.3%; Figure 3.9B) and synaptic (154.9 ± 21.6%; Figure 3.9C) GluA1 cluster intensities following chronic blockade of activity. These results indicate that the defects in the surface expression of GluA1 clusters observed with the shRNA were specifically caused by the loss of endogenous Caspr1. Altogether, this set of results indicates that Caspr1 is required for the homeostatic regulation of synaptic GluA1-containing AMPARs.



Figure 3.9 – Loss of endogenous Caspr1 prevents homeostatic upscaling of synaptic GluA1-containing AMPARs upon chronic inactivity in hippocampal neurons. (A) Representative immunofluorescence images of mCherry-positive low-density cultured hippocampal neurons transfected at DIV7 either with an empty vector construct (control - top), a Caspr1-shRNA plasmid (middle), or with the Caspr1-shRNA plasmid together with a plasmid encoding the Caspr1 rescue mutant (bottom). At DIV13, neurons were treated for 48 h with 1 µM TTX and 100 µM APV to chronically block neuronal activity. Cells were then live-stained with a specific antibody against an extracellular epitope in GluA1 N-terminus, fixed, and then stained for the synaptic marker PSD95. Scale bars represent 5 µm. (B) The intensity of surface GluA1 total clusters was quantified, and (C) synaptic GluA1 clusters were determined by colocalization with the postsynaptic marker PSD95. Total number of analysed cells was obtained from three independent experiments (N=3; n≥30 cells), and results are presented as mean ± S.E.M. Statistical significance was determined by the parametric twoway analysis of variance (ANOVA) Test, followed by the Tukey's Multiple Comparison Test, *p<0.05, **p<0.01 when compared to control, #p<0.05, ##p<0.01 when relative to the shRNA Caspr1 TTX+APV condition, and ns - non significant when the shRNA Caspr1 TTX+APV condition is compared to the control Caspr1 KD.

Caspr1 plays a fundamental role in the regulation of the GluA1 subunit of AMPARs, in basal conditions and during homeostatic scaling mechanisms triggered by prolonged changes in neuronal activity. Since the GluA2 subunit is also fundamental for adequate plasticity mechanisms, and several studies report a regulation of GluA2 during homeostatic synaptic scaling events (Anggono et al., 2011; O'Brien et al., 1998; Wierenga et al., 2005), we evaluated if Caspr1 is required to control the synaptic content of GluA2. To determine this, we knockeddown the expression of Caspr1 in low-density hippocampal neurons as described above, and performed quantitative immunofluorescence analysis of the surface expression of GluA2. Neurons were stained for GluA2 with an antibody against an extracellular epitope in the GluA2 N-terminus, and for PSD95 as a postsynaptic marker to visualize excitatory synapses. Imaging fields were chosen by the presence of transfected, mCherry-positive neurons (Figure 3.10A). We observed that, unlike what happens with GluA1, loss of Caspr1 expression induced by specific shRNA-mediated KD had no effect in regulating surface GluA2 total (Figure 3.10B) or PSD95-colocalized synaptic (Figure 3.10C) cluster intensities. Interestingly, expression of a mutant construct of Caspr1 refractory to its shRNA resulted in a significant increase on the intensity of total (136.5 \pm 10.6%; Figure 3.10B) and synaptic (135.0 \pm 11.0%; Figure 3.10C) surface GluA2 clusters. These results suggest that, besides controlling GluA1, Caspr1 may also play a role in the regulation of the GluA2 subunit of AMPARs, albeit not being required for maintaining basal levels of GluA2.

Altogether, the previous sets of results unravel a critical role for Caspr1 in underlying homeostatic scaling mechanisms that regulate the synaptic content of GluA1-containing AMPARs. Furthermore, evidence indicates that, although Caspr1 might also be involved in the regulation of the GluA2 subunit of AMPARs, there is a functional requirement for Caspr1 to selectively control GluA1 levels.



Figure 3.10 – Caspr1 is not required for maintaining basal levels of surface GluA2-containing AMPARs. (A) Representative immunofluorescence images of mCherry-positive low-density cultured hippocampal neurons transfected at DIV7 either with an empty vector construct (control - left), a plasmid expressing Caspr1-shRNA (middle), or with the Caspr1-shRNA plasmid and a Caspr1 rescue mutant (right). At DIV15, cells were stained for GluA2 with an antibody against an extracellular epitope in GluA2 N-terminus, and for the synaptic marker PSD95. Scale bars represent 5 μ m. (B) The intensity of surface GluA2 total clusters was quantified, and (C) synaptic GluA2 clusters were determined by colocalization with the postsynaptic marker PSD95. Total number of analysed cells was obtained from three independent experiments (N=3, n=30 cells), and results are presented as mean \pm S.E.M. Statistical significance was determined by the non-parametric Kruskal-Wallis Test, followed by the Dunn's Multiple Comparison Test, **p<0.01 when compared to control.

ZBP1 is required for homeostatic synaptic scaling of GluA1containing AMPARs in hippocampal neurons

In the previous section, we demonstrated that in the absence of Caspr1, neurons fail to upscale synaptic AMPARs in face of prolonged neuronal inactivity, thus pinpointing a requirement for Caspr1 in the regulation of homeostatic synaptic plasticity. Moreover, earlier in this study we identified the RNA-binding protein ZBP1 as a potential player involved in the molecular mechanism underlying the effect of Caspr1 on GluA1-containing AMPARs. Specifically, we showed that ZBP1 not only binds to GluA1 mRNA, but also regulates the synaptic content of surface GluA1 clusters. Taking these pieces of evidence into consideration, we evaluated if ZBP1, similarly to Caspr1, is required for homeostatic regulation of synaptic GluA1-containing AMPARs. Low-density cultured hippocampal neurons were transfected with a plasmid encoding a specific shRNA against ZBP1 to knockdown its expression, or with a control scrambled shRNA construct, and then treated for 48 h with 1 µM TTX and 100 µM APV to chronically inhibit neuronal activity. We performed quantitative immunofluorescence analysis for superficial GluA1, as described previously (Figure 3.11A). In control neurons expressing the scrambled shRNA sequence a significant increase on the intensity of total (142.7 ± 7.0%; Figure 3.11B) or PSD95-colocalized synaptic (164.9 ± 11.4%; Figure 3.11C) surface GluA1 clusters was observed following chronic inactivity, induced by both blockade of action potentials and NMDAR inhibition. However, shRNA-induced loss of expression of ZBP1 resulted not only in a decrease on the surface expression of GluA1 in basal conditions, but prevented scaling of surface GluA1 cluster intensities induced by chronic inactivity (Figure 3.11B, C). Expression of a mutant rescue form of ZBP1 refractory to its shRNA recovered surface GluA1 clusters to control levels, although it did not fully recover the scaling effect of chronic inactivity on surface GluA1 puncta (Figure 3.11B, C).

Overall, this result reveals that ZBP1 regulates the basal synaptic content of surface GluA1-containing AMPARs, and is required for homeostatic mechanisms that mediate synaptic scaling of AMPARs in face of prolonged changes in neuronal activity. This evidence is in accordance with previous results obtained in this study showing a modulation of ZBP1 function upon chronic activity blockade. In these conditions, the phosphorylation of ZBP1 is increased and its binding to GluA1 mRNA is decreased, suggesting an activity-dependent release of GluA1 transcripts. Taking these results into consideration, it is conceivable that the control ZBP1 exerts over GluA1 mRNA influences the local availability of novel GluA1-containing AMPARs to be inserted into the synapse following neuronal inactivity. Future experiments should be performed to determine if ZBP1 is able to regulate the translation of GluA1 locally

and ascertain if such a mechanism underlies the role of ZBP1 in mediating the homeostatic scaling of synaptic AMPARs.



[Figure 3.11 - subtitle on the next page]

Figure 3.11 – Loss of endogenous ZBP1 prevents the homeostatic upscaling of surface GluA1-containing AMPARs following chronic inactivity in hippocampal neurons. (A) Representative immunofluorescence images of GFP-positive lowdensity cultured hippocampal neurons transfected at DIV7 either with a scrambled shRNA construct (control - top), a specific shRNA against ZBP1 (middle), or cotransfected with the ZBP1 shRNA sequence and a ZBP1 rescue mutant (bottom). At DIV13, neurons were treated for 48 h with 1 µM TTX and 100 µM APV to chronically block neuronal activity. Cells were then live-stained with a specific antibody against an extracellular epitope in GluA1 N-terminus, fixed and stained for the synaptic marker PSD95. Scale bars represent 5 µm. (B) The intensity of surface GluA1 total clusters was quantified, and (C) synaptic GluA1 clusters were determined by colocalization with the postsynaptic marker PSD95. Total number of analysed cells was obtained from at least three independent experiments (N≥3, n≥30 cells), and results are presented as mean ± S.E.M. Statistical significance was determined by the parametric two-way ANOVA Test, followed by the Tukey's Multiple Comparison Test, **p<0.01 and ****p<0.0001 when compared to control, #p<0.05 and ns - non significant when relative to the control ZBP1 shRNA, and \$\$\$p<0.01 and \$\$\$\$p<0.0001 when compared to the TTX+APV ZBP1 shRNA condition.

The translational competence of ZBP1, modulated by Src-dependent phosphorylation, is required for homeostatic scaling of synaptic GluA1-containing AMPARs

Throughout this study we aimed at deconstructing the mechanisms behind the previously described Caspr1-mediated regulation of the GluA1 subunit of AMPARs (Santos et al., 2012), and we discovered an unexpected role for the RNA-binding protein ZBP1. Firstly, we showed that ZBP1 binds to GluA1 mRNA in basal conditions, while following chronic neuronal inactivity the levels of GluA1 transcripts bound to ZBP1 significantly decrease. This evidence is in accordance with the canonical function attributed to ZBP1 in recognizing and binding to specific zipcode sequences located in the 3'UTR of target mRNAs (Chao et al., 2010; Kislauskis et al., 1994; Ross et al., 1997), allowing the stabilization and transport of the mRNA cargo to distinct locations, while halting its translation. Although we still have to test if ZBP1 exerts a similar post-transcriptional control over GluA1 mRNA, this level of regulation could, in principle, provide an efficient and energy-saving manner to fine-tune GluA1 availability, particularly during periods of high temporal and/or spatial demand, such as during chronic periods of neuronal inactivity. Several studies have also thoroughly described the step of de-repression of translation of ZBP1-bound transcripts, occurring upon Src-dependent phosphorylation at ZBP1 tyrosine 396, which, in turn, conformationally triggers the release of the mRNA cargo from ZBP1 and subsequent translation de-repression (Huttelmaier et al., 2005; Sasaki et al.,

2010; Welshhans & Bassell, 2011). Interestingly, we observed an increase in the phosphorylation of ZBP1 at tyrosine 396 upon chronic blockade of activity, which is consistent with the decrease in levels of ZBP1-bound GluA1 transcripts in these conditions, suggesting an activity-dependent release of GluA1 mRNA from ZBP1 and possible activation of translation following chronic neuronal inactivity. Moreover, we further uncovered a requirement for ZBP1 to regulate the surface expression of GluA1 synaptic clusters, particularly under homeostatic scaling events.

Taken together, our results highlight a fundamental synaptic role for ZBP1, since its potential post-transcriptional control over GluA1 mRNA ultimately influences and is required to regulate the surface expression of GluA1-containing AMPARs in synapses. To further investigate the mechanisms by which ZBP1 regulates GluA1, we evaluated whether the translational competence of ZBP1 affects the surface expression of the receptor subunit. We evaluated surface GluA1 in hippocampal neurons where the expression of endogenous ZBP1 was downregulated as previously described, while overexpressing in parallel either the shRNA-resistant WT ZBP1 or a phosphodead ZBP1.Y396F mutant, which cannot undergo Src-dependent phosphorylation at Y396 and, hence, cannot de-repress bound transcripts (Figure 3.12A).

As described in the previous section, loss of endogenous ZBP1 in hippocampal neurons resulted in a significant decrease in the intensity of total (76.4 \pm 5.1%; Figure 3.12B) and PSD95-colocalized synaptic (68.5 \pm 6.1%; Figure 3.12C) GluA1 surface clusters, when compared to the expression of a control scrambled shRNA construct. The area and number of synaptic GluA1 clusters were also significantly reduced following KD of ZBP1. Furthermore, expression of a WT ZBP1 construct refractory to the shRNA was able to significantly rescue all parameters of the KD-mediated decrease of total (ZBP1*, Figure 3.12B) and synaptic (ZBP1*, Figure 3.12C) GluA1 clusters to values comparable to the control. Nevertheless, and unlike WT ZBP1, expression of the shRNA-resistant phosphodead ZBP1.Y396F mutant did not differ significantly from the ZBP1 KD-induced phenotype and failed to rescue the intensity of synaptic GluA1 surface clusters back to control levels (71.9 \pm 10.3%; ZBP1.Y396F, Figure 3.12C). This result indicates that the Src-mediated phosphorylation of ZBP1 at Y396 and, consequently, the translational competence of ZBP1 are required for the regulation of surface GluA1-containing AMPARs.



Figure 3.12 – Src-dependent phosphorylation of ZBP1 is required to regulate the surface expression and synaptic content of GluA1-containing AMPARs in hippocampal neurons. (A) Representative immunofluorescence images of GFP-positive low-density cultured hippocampal neurons transfected at DIV7 with a scrambled shRNA construct (control), a specific shRNA against ZBP1, or co-transfected with the ZBP1 shRNA sequence and with either a WT ZBP1 rescue mutant (ZBP1*) or a phosphodead ZBP1 rescue mutant unable to undergo Src-dependent phosphorylation (ZBP1.Y396F). At DIV15, cells were live-stained with a specific antibody against an extracellular epitope in the GluA1 N-terminus, fixed, and then stained for the synaptic marker PSD95. Scale bars represent 5 µm. (B) The intensity, area and number of surface GluA1 total clusters were quantified, and (C) synaptic GluA1 clusters were determined by colocalization with the postsynaptic marker PSD95. Total number of analysed cells was obtained from at least three independent experiments (N≥3, n≥ 30 cells, and results are presented as mean ± S.E.M. Statistical significance was determined by the non-parametric Kruskal-Wallis test, followed by the Dunn's Multiple Comparison Test, *p<0.05 and **p<0.01 when compared to control, and #p<0.05, ##p<0.01 and ns - non significant when relative to the ZBP1 shRNA condition.

Prolonged manipulations of neuronal activity homeostatically modulate the function of ZBP1, by increasing its phosphorylation and disrupting its binding to GluA1 mRNA. Moreover, ZBP1 is required for the homeostatic synaptic scaling of GluA1-containing AMPARs. Taking these results into consideration, together with the interesting preceding evidence indicating that the translational competence of ZBP1 is required for the role of ZBP1 in regulating the basal surface expression of GluA1, we tested whether the canonical function of ZBP1 as a translational competent RNA-binding protein is important for its role in the homeostatic regulation of GluA1 synaptic scaling. Low-density cultured hippocampal neurons were transfected as described above, then treated for 48 h with 1 μ M TTX and 100 μ M APV to chronically block action potentials and NMDARs, respectively, and surface GluA1 was analysed (Figure 3.13A).

While control hippocampal neurons expressing a scrambled shRNA suffered a significant 50 to 60% increase on the intensity of their total (Control, Figure 3.13B) and synaptic (Control, Figure 3.13C) GluA1 surface clusters following a prolonged period of neuronal inactivity, KD-induced loss of endogenous ZBP1 significantly decreased the basal surface expression of GluA1, and further prevented the homeostatic scaling of synaptic GluA1 surface levels (shRNA ZBP1, Figure 3.13B, C). Moreover, when we co-expressed the ZBP1-shRNA plasmid with the shRNA-resistant WT ZBP1, the intensity of GluA1 clusters was rescued back to control levels, although the homeostatic scaling of surface GluA1 puncta did not recover fully (ZBP1*, Figure 3.13B, C). On the contrary, overexpression of the loss-of-function ZBP1.Y396F mutant, which cannot be phosphorylated by Src at Y396, not only failed to rescue the ZBP1 KD-induced phenotype back to control levels, but it was also not sufficient to restore homeostatic synaptic upscaling of surface GluA1 clusters upon chronic blockade of activity (ZBP1.Y396F, Figure 3.13B, C).

This last set of results unveils part of the mechanism underlying the effect of ZBP1 in the regulation of GluA1-containing AMPARs. By taking advantage of a loss-of-function mutant of ZBP1, the evidence obtained underscores a fundamental requirement for the translational competence of ZBP1, modulated by Src-dependent phosphorylation, to regulate the surface expression of GluA1 puncta, and further contribute to homeostatic mechanisms underlying synaptic scaling of AMPARs.



Figure 3.13 – The phosphodead mutant form of ZBP1 cannot mediate homeostatic upscaling of surface GluA1-containing AMPARs following chronic inactivity. (A) Representative immunofluorescence images of GFP-positive low-density cultured hippocampal neurons transfected at DIV7 with a scrambled shRNA construct (control - top left), the ZBP1-shRNA construct (top right), or co-transfected with the ZBP1-shRNA construct and either a WT ZBP1 rescue mutant (ZBP1* - bottom left) or a phosphodead ZBP1 rescue mutant unable to undergo Src-dependent phosphorylation (ZBP1.Y396F - bottom left). At DIV13, neurons were treated for 48 h with 1 µM TTX and 100 µM APV to chronically block neuronal activity. Cells were then live-stained with a specific antibody against an extracellular epitope in GluA1 N-terminus, fixed, and then stained for the synaptic marker PSD95. Scale bars represent 5µm. (B) The intensity of surface GluA1 total clusters was quantified, and (C) synaptic GluA1 clusters were determined by colocalization with the postsynaptic marker PSD95. Total number of analysed cells was obtained from at least three independent experiments (N≥3, n≥30 cells), and results are presented as mean ± S.E.M. Statistical significance was determined by the parametric two-way ANOVA Test, followed by the Tukey's Multiple Comparison Test, **p<0.01 and ****p<0.0001 when compared to control; #p<0.05 and ns - non significant when relative to the control ZBP1 shRNA; ###p<0.001 and ####p<0.0001 when relative to the TTX+APV shRNA ZBP1 condition; \$\$p<0.01 when compared to the TTX+APV shRNA ZBP1+ZBP1* condition; and ns - non significant when the shRNA ZBP1 + ZBP1.Y396F TTX+APV condition was compared to its control.

Discussion

Synaptic plasticity mechanisms, of either Hebbian or homeostatic type, highly depend on changes in the synaptic content of AMPARs to modulate activity-dependent alterations in synaptic strength. The trafficking and localization of AMPARs into synapses, in turn, is dynamically regulated by multiple mechanisms ranging from post-transcriptional and posttranslational modifications of AMPAR subunits, to specific interacting partners (Anggono & Huganir, 2012; Jiang *et al.*, 2006; Santos *et al.*, 2009). These mechanisms control the trafficking and insertion/removal of receptors to synapses, and the stabilization and anchoring of AMPARs to the synaptic membrane.

A recent study from our laboratory identified the cell-adhesion molecule Caspr1 as a novel regulator of AMPAR subunits, capable of regulating their synaptic content (Santos *et al.*, 2012). Overexpression of Caspr1 in hippocampal neurons increases the trafficking of GluA1 to synapses, whereas loss of this protein leads to a significant decrease in the synaptic accumulation of GluA1-containing AMPARs. However, the mechanisms underlying the effect of Caspr1 and whether the Caspr1-mediated regulation of AMPARs might be linked to synaptic plasticity events was not known.

Regulation of GluA1-containing AMPARs by Caspr1

In the present chapter, we uncover yet additional roles for Caspr1 in the regulation of AMPARs, and identify possible mechanisms underlying them. We demonstrate that overexpression of Caspr1 in either heterologous cells or hippocampal neurons leads to an increase on the total protein amount of the GluA1 subunit (Figure 3.1A - D), without affecting its protein stability. We show that Caspr1 increases GluA1 protein as a consequence of a transcription-independent upregulation of GluA1 mRNA (Figure 3.1E, F), suggesting a novel post-transcriptional mechanism underlying the role of Caspr1. This is rather interesting considering that some synaptic plasticity events also depend on post-transcriptional and translational regulatory mechanisms to control AMPAR protein expression, particularly when localized to dendrites or close to synaptic sites (Sutton & Schuman, 2006). Most of the post-transcriptional mechanisms controlling a particular mRNA, at the level of either its stability, turnover, localization or translation, are typically mediated by regulatory elements present in the 3'UTR of mRNAs (Chatterjee & Pal, 2009). Indeed, Caspr1 fails to increase GluA1 mRNA in heterologous cells, if expressed together with a mutant form of GluA1 lacking its 3'UTR (data not shown). This evidence suggests that Caspr1 requires the presence of the 3'UTR of GluA1

mRNA to exert its effect, raising the possibility of Caspr1 *trans*-acting on some regulatory *cis*element located in that region of the GluA1 transcript.

In order to understand the exact molecular mechanisms underlying the effect of Caspr1, we took into consideration the diverse structure of Caspr1, which might account for its multifunction regulatory profile on AMPARs. The intracellular region of Caspr1 accounts for its effects on GluA1 surface levels, since this region alone is sufficient to rescue synaptic levels of GluA1 following knock-down of Caspr1 (Santos et al., 2012). The intracellular region of Caspr1 is composed of domains typically involved in protein-protein interactions (Figure 3.2A). It contains a juxtamembrane short peptide with a conserved GNP motif which interacts with proteins encompassing FERM domains, such as the cytoskeleton adaptor 4.1 protein (Denisenko-Nehrbass et al., 2003b). Additionally, it contains a C-tail portion rich in proline residues with multiple binding sites that selectively interact with SH3 domains of several signalling molecules, including members of the Src family of tyrosine kinases, such as Src and Fyn, as well as PLCy and the p85 subunit of the PI3K pathway (Peles et al., 1997). To understand the mechanisms downstream of Caspr1 and discern the importance of these two intracellular domains, we generated two deletion mutant constructs of Caspr1 lacking either the GNP motif or the proline sequence (Figure 3.2A). We observed that, while deletion of the GNP motif does not affect the role of Caspr1 (Figure 3.2B), the proline-rich sequence domain of Caspr1 is required for the upregulation of both GluA1 mRNA (Figure 3.2B) and protein (Figure 3.2C, D).

Taking into account the structure of the proline-rich domain together with its specific requirement for the role of Caspr1, we reasoned that the effect of Caspr1 on AMPARs could occur through the triggering of an intracellular signalling cascade. Indeed, we found that Caspr1 increases the phosphorylation of the tyrosine kinase Src, rendering it active (Figure 3.3A - C). Moreover, through its proline-rich domain, Caspr1 increased the phosphorylation of ZBP1, a target downstream of the Src kinase, both in a cell line (Figure 3.3D, E) and in synaptic sites of hippocampal neurons (Figure 3.3F, G). ZBP1 is a RNA-binding protein best known for binding to specific zipcodes in the 3'UTR of target mRNAs to regulate their stability, localization and translation (Huttelmaier *et al.*, 2005; Kislauskis *et al.*, 1994; Ross *et al.*, 1997), and its function is regulated by Src-dependent phosphorylation. This evidence pointing to a role for Caspr1 in triggering a signalling cascade that ultimately controls the function of an important RNA-binding protein such as ZBP1, fits adequately with the upregulatory effect of Caspr1 on GluA1 mRNA and its dependence on the 3'UTR of GluA1, and highlights a possible regulation of GluA1 transcripts by ZBP1. Accordingly, we identified the presence of a conserved zipcode for the binding of ZBP1 in the 3'UTR sequence of rat GluA1 (Figure 3.4A), and demonstrated,

through an immunoprecipitation protocol of ribonucleoproteins, that ZBP1 interacts with GluA1 mRNA (Figure 3.4B, C). Considering the role of ZBP1 in regulating other transcripts, for instance the mRNA for β -actin, we propose that ZBP1 binds to GluA1 mRNA to repress its translation and possibly contribute to localize GluA1 transcripts to sites where GluA1 synthesis is most required. This level of regulation would be of crucial importance, particularly in the vicinity of synaptic sites, where local translation of GluA1 mRNA has already been shown to occur, with fundamental outcomes for synaptic plasticity events (Cajigas *et al.*, 2012; Grooms *et al.*, 2006; Ju *et al.*, 2004; Kacharmina *et al.*, 2000; Maghsoodi *et al.*, 2008). Future experiments should be performed to further understand if ZBP1 plays a role in the regulation of dendritically / synaptically localized GluA1 transcripts, and their translation.

Altogether, this novel post-transcriptional regulation of the total amount of GluA1, mediated by Caspr1 and ZBP1, does not disagree with previous results obtained in our lab. On the contrary, this evidence raises the interesting possibility of Caspr1 playing distinctive multiple roles that complement each other, and that underlie its effect in the synaptic content of GluA1-containing AMPARs, as shown in (Santos et al., 2012). On one hand, we have pinpointed a crucial and specific requirement for the intracellular proline-rich domain of Caspr1 in controlling GluA1 post-transcriptionally by modulating ZBP1 function. This mechanism could be a means to regulate the availability of local pools of GluA1 mRNA in close range to where its synthesis is most required, and allow a prompt replenishment of novel AMPARs. On the other hand, although this post-transcriptional effect is clearly independent of the other intracellular GNP motif of Caspr1 (Figure 3.2B), we should not disregard a possible contribution of this juxtamembrane domain of Caspr1 in regulating the trafficking and synaptic insertion of GluA1-containing AMPARs. This intracellular GNP motif is capable of interacting with proteins encompassing FERM domains, such as the cytoskeleton adaptor 4.1N protein (Denisenko-Nehrbass et al., 2003b). The 4.1N protein is known to bind to the C-tail of the GluA1 subunit to regulate its surface expression, being required for the maintenance of LTP mechanisms (Lin et al., 2009; Shen et al., 2000). Further studies using the deletion mutants of Caspr1 intracellular domains can be undertaken to fully comprehend the contribution of either the GNP motif or the proline-rich sequence in the regulation of AMPARs.

Requirement of Caspr1 and ZBP1 for homeostatic synaptic scaling of GluA1-containing AMPARs

Given the importance that AMPARs play in the mechanisms that underlie several forms of plasticity, we investigated whether Caspr1, and its downstream mechanism, is regulated by changes in neuronal activity. We observed that a prolonged period of neuronal inactivity induced by TTX in hippocampal neurons results in a significant upregulation of the levels of endogenous Caspr1 (Figure 3.6A - C). Moreover, this chronic manipulation of neuronal activity induces activation of the Src signalling pathway, increasing the phosphorylation levels of both Src and ZBP1 (Figure 3.7A, B). These results suggest that Caspr1, and the downstream mechanism it triggers, might be involved in the homeostatic regulation of AMPARs. It is possible that, following chronic changes in neuronal activity, the expression of endogenous Caspr1 is potentiated leading to the activation of the Src / ZBP1-mediated signalling mechanism that regulates GluA1 levels, thus contributing to the synaptic scaling of AMPARs and expression of homeostatic plasticity events. In agreement with this idea is the evidence showing a 50% decrease in the levels of GluA1 mRNA bound to ZBP1 following prolonged neuronal inactivity (Figure 3.7C). This result is in accordance with the described regulatory function of ZBP1, which binds to target transcripts in an active non-phosphorylated state, halting their translation. Following Src-mediated phosphorylation at Y396, ZBP1 becomes inactive and releases mRNAs from its grip, allowing activation of their translation (Huttelmaier et al., 2005; Sasaki et al., 2010; Welshhans & Bassell, 2011). Taking into account the fact that chronic inactivity is associated with the phosphorylation of ZBP1, likely as a consequence of increased Caspr1 expression, we hypothesize that the interaction between ZBP1 and GluA1 mRNA depends on activity; prolonged periods of low activity induce a release of GluA1 mRNA from ZBP1 to create a local pool of AMPAR transcripts readily available to undergo translation. Interestingly, previous studies have already reported an activity-dependent regulation of ZBP1, with increased movement of ZBP1 granules into dendrites and spines to transport β-actin mRNA in response to synaptic activity (Tiruchinapalli et al., 2003).

Loss of ZBP1 expression results in a significant decrease in the surface expression and synaptic content of GluA1-containing AMPARs, a phenotype that is rescued following overexpression of WT ZBP1 (Figure 3.5). To better understand this role of ZBP1, we used a loss-of-function mutagenesis approach to impair the canonical function of ZBP1 as a RNA-binding protein. By overexpressing a phosphodead ZBP1.Y396F mutant of ZBP1, which cannot undergo Src-dependent phosphorylation at Y396, and consequently fails to de-repress bound transcripts, we determined that the translational competence of ZBP1 is necessary to regulate the overall cell surface and synaptic content of the GluA1 subunit (ZBP1.Y396F,

Figure 3.12). These results raise the exciting possibility of ZBP1 functioning as a "distributor and supplier" of GluA1 transcripts, serving local pools of newly synthesised AMPARs that can rapidly replenish their synaptic content.

Because both the expression of Caspr1 and ZBP1 function, shown to be required to regulate basal levels of GluA1, are homeostatically regulated by paradigms that induce prolonged periods of neuronal inactivity, we hypothesized that both proteins play an important part in AMPAR synaptic scaling. Resorting to an imaging approach, we observed that both the surface expression and synaptic content of GluA1 clusters are scaled in a multiplicative manner following prolonged neuronal inactivity, induced by parallel blockade of action potentials and NMDARs with TTX and APV, respectively (Figure 3.8). However, specific loss of the endogenous expression of either Caspr1 or ZBP1 completely prevents the scaling of total and synaptic GluA1 surface puncta (Figure 3.9; 3.11), suggesting that both proteins are fundamental for the homeostatic regulation of synaptic AMPARs. We also determined that the translational competence of ZBP1 is further implicated in its capacity to homeostatically regulate GluA1, since restoring the expression of ZBP1 with the phosphodead loss-of-function mutant fails to re-establish the multiplicative scaling of surface and synaptic GluA1-containing AMPARs following chronic neuronal inactivity (ZBP1.Y396F, Figure 3.13). Taking this into account, together with the fact that prolonged absence of activity increases the Src-dependent phosphorylation of ZBP1 at Y396 (Figure 3.7A, B), and consequently induces a release of GluA1 mRNA from ZBP1 (Figure 3.7C), our results strongly suggest that homeostatic scaling of AMPARs requires activity-dependent ZBP1-mediated translation of GluA1. Additional studies should still be performed to better understand if the translational competence of ZBP1 is required to mediate the local dendritic synthesis of GluA1.

Indeed, our results gain further relevance in light of previous reports showing the translation of GluA1 occurring locally in dendrites and near synaptic sites upon activity and how this is crucial for plasticity events, including homeostatic synaptic scaling [(Aoto *et al.*, 2008; Grooms *et al.*, 2006; Ju *et al.*, 2004; Kacharmina *et al.*, 2000; Maghsoodi *et al.*, 2008; Poon & Chen, 2008; Poon *et al.*, 2006; Soden & Chen, 2010; Sutton *et al.*, 2006; Sutton *et al.*, 2004), and reviewed in (Buffington *et al.*, 2014; Swanger & Bassell, 2011; Wang *et al.*, 2010a)]. Some of the players known to be involved in this activity-dependent local regulation of GluA1 are retinoic acid and FMRP. RA induces homeostatic scaling of AMPARs by selectively increasing the local dendritic synthesis of GluA1, through signalling via the RA receptor RARα, which binds to and represses GluA1 mRNA translation in basal conditions (Aoto *et al.*, 2008; Maghsoodi *et al.*, 2008; Poon & Chen, 2008). Moreover, both inactivity- and RA-induced scaling of AMPARs further require the Fragile X-associated FMRP, which promotes the
stabilization and translation of GluA1 mRNA and its subsequent membrane insertion (Guo et al., 2015; Muddashetty et al., 2007; Soden & Chen, 2010). In this case, it has been further suggested that FMRP might work in concert with RARα to adequately target GluA1 mRNA, and other relevant synaptic transcripts such as PSD95 and CaMKII, to undergo translation in RA-response sites near synapses that have been "tagged" by previous activity (Henry, 2011; Soden & Chen, 2010), in what is defined as the synaptic tagging hypothesis (Frey & Morris, 1997; Redondo & Morris, 2011). Curiously, ZBP1 is thought to be a major component of large dendritic mRNA silencing foci, transitional assemblies of repressed mRNAs and associated proteins, which selectively disassemble in response to neuronal activity to putatively unmask repressed transcripts and release them for translation in specifically "tagged" active synapses [reviewed in (Buffington et al., 2014; Doyle & Kiebler, 2011; Graber et al., 2013; Krichevsky & Kosik, 2001; Pimentel & Boccaccio, 2014; Thomas et al., 2014)]. Supporting this hypothesis, and taking advantage of single-molecule in situ hybridization approaches and transgenic animals to visualize mRNA in vivo, it was shown that β-actin mRNA is present in dendritic granules that are specifically unmasked following induction of chemical LTP or KCI-induced neuronal depolarization, and subsequently translated locally (Buxbaum et al., 2014; Park et al., 2014; Whalley, 2014).

In this chapter we demonstrate that 1) increased expression of Caspr1, which regulates GluA1 levels, induces a selective accumulation of phosphorylated ZBP1 clusters to synapses, 2) prolonged absence of neuronal activity results in increased phosphorylation of ZBP1, possibly downstream of Caspr1, and 3) ZBP1 phosphorylation, which modulates its translational competence, is required for homeostatic scaling of synaptic GluA1. Overall, these results fit with the hypothesis of ZBP1, activated downstream of Caspr1, being able to selectively restrict GluA1 translation to stimulated synapses undergoing prolonged activity deprivation. Taking this into consideration, it would be of the utmost importance to fully understand if ZBP1 is able to regulate the local availability of GluA1 mRNA in dendrites and synaptic sites and its subsequent translation in face of synaptic activity.

Current working model

Altogether, here we provide compelling evidence to suggest that the RNA-binding protein ZBP1 plays a role in underlying the mechanism responsible for the effect of Caspr1 in the regulation of GluA1-containing AMPARs. Furthermore, we demonstrate that Caspr1 and ZBP1 play in concert to regulate synaptic AMPARs in face of prolonged absence of neuronal activity, both being required for the expression of homeostatic plasticity events.



[Figure 3.14 - subtitle on the next page]

Figure 3.14 – Proposed model of regulation of GluA1-containing AMPARs by Caspr1 and ZBP1, in basal conditions (A) or in face of chronic absence of neuronal activity (B). (A) In baseline conditions, Caspr1 interacts with GluA1 and regulates its insertion and trafficking into synapses (1). ZBP1 binds to the 3'UTR of GluA1 mRNA to repress its translation (2), and incorporates it into RNP granules that translocate to dendritic sites (3), creating a local storage of dormant GluA1 transcripts. (B) When neuronal activity is chronically deprived, by blockade of action potentials and synaptic inhibition of NMDARs, the expression of endogenous Caspr1 increases (4) and Caspr1 induces the phosphorylation and activation of the tyrosine kinase Src (5). Src phosphorylates ZBP1 at Y396, which induces the de-repression and release of GluA1 mRNA from ZBP1 (6). This will allow the creation of a local pool of GluA1 mRNA readily available to undergo translation and form novel AMPARs (7), which can then be inserted and trafficked into synapses (8). In turn, Caspr1 might also facilitate and increase the trafficking of already-expressed surface AMPARs into the synaptic membrane (9). Altogether, the proposed mechanism underlies homeostatic synaptic scaling of GluA1-containing AMPARs to balance the absence of neuronal activity.

Taking into consideration the results presented in this chapter, together with previous evidence obtained in our lab and the current knowledge in the literature, we propose a model in which Caspr1, in basal conditions of activity, is able to interact with AMPAR subunits and regulate their surface expression and trafficking along the cell membrane (Figure 3.14A - 1). In addition, ZBP1 binds to the zipcode located in the 3'UTR of GluA1 mRNA, presumably temporarily halting its translation (Figure 3.14A - 2). Moreover, it is possible that ZBP1 allows the incorporation of GluA1 transcripts into ribonucleoprotein complexes that transport the mRNA in a dormant state into specific dendritic sites, creating a local mRNA silencing *foci* that transitionally stores GluA1 mRNA molecules (Figure 3.14A - 3).

Opposing basal conditions, when neurons face prolonged changes in their activity (chronic inactivity), there is a homeostatic compensation in the expression of Caspr1, which increases significantly (Figure 3.14B - 4). Because Caspr1 is able to interact with the tyrosine kinase Src, its increased expression will induce the phosphorylation and resulting activation of Src (Figure 3.14B - 5). In turn, the signalling pathway downstream of Src will then target ZBP1 for phosphorylation at Y396, which conformationally changes ZBP1 so that it de-represses and releases GluA1 mRNA from its grip (Figure 3.14B - 6). This unmasking of GluA1 mRNA will allow the creation of a local pool of GluA1 readily available to undergo translation and synthesis of novel GluA1-containing AMPARs (Figure 3.14B - 7), which can then be inserted and trafficked into deprived synapses (Figure 3.14B - 8). In parallel, it is possible that, because its expression is upregulated following chronic inactivity, Caspr1, by itself, further contributes to increase the insertion and trafficking of AMPARs to synapses (Figure 3.14B - 9). Altogether, the proposed mechanism will allow the homeostatic synaptic scaling of cell surface GluA1-containing AMPARs to counteract the effects of activity deprivation.

Physiological relevance of the proposed mechanism and potential implication in neurological disorders

We uncovered an interplay between the cell-adhesion molecule Caspr1 and the RNAbinding protein ZBP1 that is required to regulate the synaptic content of AMPARs in hippocampal neurons, both in basal conditions and upon prolonged neuronal inactivity. When Caspr1 is abrogated, or its underlying mechanism impaired, a failure of homeostatic scaling mechanisms occurs, revealing a requirement for both Caspr1 and ZBP1 in the regulation of homeostatic synaptic plasticity.

Because homeostatic synaptic plasticity keeps the activity of neuronal networks inbalance, the integrity of its underlying molecular mechanisms is crucial for maintenance of proper brain function. Alas, emerging evidence confirms that in some neurological and neuropsychiatric disorders homeostatic plasticity might be compromised, thus contributing to the pathophysiology of the disease [reviewed in (Ramocki & Zoghbi, 2008; Wondolowski & Dickman, 2013)]. Aberrations in homeostatic plasticity mechanisms have been implicated in neurodegenerative disorders such as Alzheimer's disease [(Kim et al., 2015; Pratt et al., 2011) and reviewed in (Jang & Chung, 2016)] and Huntington's disease (Rocher et al., 2016), in epilepsy (Houweling et al., 2005) and schizophrenia (Dickman & Davis, 2009), and most prominently in intellectual disability and autism spectrum disorders (ASDs) [extensively reviewed in (Huguet et al., 2013; Mullins et al., 2016; Toro et al., 2010)], such as Rett's (Blackman et al., 2012; Noutel et al., 2011; Qiu et al., 2012) and Fragile X syndromes (Soden & Chen, 2010). A link between homeostatic plasticity and ASDs, in particular, was first hypothesized following the realization that many of the molecular players known to be involved in synaptic homeostatic mechanisms have already been implicated as ASD-related susceptibility genes. Accordingly, emerging evidence from animal models with mutated/ablated ASD-related susceptibility genes show a failure of homeostatic processes and general neuronal homeostasis, with animals presenting behavioural phenotypes that recapitulate ASD-like symptoms (Bourgeron, 2015; Mullins et al., 2016; Wondolowski & Dickman, 2013).

Recent mutations in the CASPR1-encoding gene *CNTNAP1* have been found in children with congenital hypomyelinating disorders (Hengel *et al.*, 2017; Lakhani *et al.*, 2017; Laquerriere *et al.*, 2014), however, thus far, evidence implicating Caspr1 or ZBP1 in neuropsychiatric disorders is scarce. The results presented in this chapter place Caspr1 and ZBP1 in the map of potential regulators of neuronal homeostasis in the human brain, and ultimately of proper brain function. Hence, it is not unlikely that either Caspr1 or ZBP1 could

be targets for dysfunction in the context of disease. Interestingly, a recent meta-analysis of transcriptomic profiling studies across several neuropsychiatric disorders, reveals that gene expression of *CNTNAP1* is significantly downregulated in psychiatric disorders such as ASD, SCZ, bipolar disorder and depression (Gandal *et al.*, 2018), giving a first prospect of the potential relevance of Caspr1 in brain function.

Caspr2, another member of the family of Contactin-associated proteins, is a susceptibility gene in autism, schizophrenia and epilepsy [(Alarcon et al., 2008; Friedman et al., 2008; Penagarikano et al., 2011) and reviewed in (Poot, 2015)]. Interestingly, animal models lacking the CNTNAP2 gene encoding Caspr2, besides displaying autistic-like behavioural phenotypes, also present reduced neuronal synchrony in the neocortex and altered balance of synaptic excitation and inhibition (E/I balance) (Hoffman et al., 2016; Penagarikano et al., 2011), which is reminiscent of aberrant neuronal homeostasis. Accordingly, in the next chapter we provide exciting new insights into the synaptic functions of Caspr2 and its requirement for the regulation of homeostatic synaptic scaling and experience-dependent homeostatic plasticity, which might account for the aberrations in the E/I balance of Caspr2 KO animals, and the ASD-core neuropsychiatric symptoms displayed by patients with CNTNAP2 mutations. Because Caspr1 shares such a high degree of homology with Caspr2, and both seem to be implicated in the dynamic activity-dependent regulation of AMPARs, particularly in the context of homeostatic plasticity (for evidence on the role of Caspr2, please check the next chapters), it is conceivable that mutations in Caspr1, or aberrations in the Caspr1-dependent mechanism proposed here, might contribute to the pathophysiology of ASDs and other neuropsychiatric disorders.

Additionally, the mechanism presented in this chapter gains further emphasis in light of recent findings that ASDs frequently originate from aberrant local protein translation, such as in the case of Fragile X Syndrome, Rett's Syndrome and Tuberous Sclerosis Complex [extensively reviewed in (Kelleher & Bear, 2008; Mullins *et al.*, 2016)]. Indeed, the evidence we provide in the present study hint at a novel post-transcriptional mechanism mediated by the RNA-binding protein ZBP1 that can potentially be required to regulate the local translation of GluA1-containing AMPARs, which provides an efficient and energy-saving manner to fine-tune the local availability of synaptic AMPARs. If we take into consideration the requirement for local protein synthesis of AMPARs in the mechanisms that underlie homeostatic synaptic plasticity, together with the causal link between aberrant protein translation and ASDs, it becomes clear that a dysregulation of local translational processes, such as the one we propose here, might converge onto the disruption of neuronal homeostasis, and ultimately to the pathophysiology of ASDs.

Conclusions

The evidence presented in this chapter starts to shed light on the molecular mechanisms underlying the role of the cell-adhesion molecule Caspr1 in the dynamic regulation of synaptic AMPARs. Our findings uncover a novel interplay between Caspr1 and the RNA-binding protein ZBP1 that is crucial for the post-transcriptional regulation of the GluA1 subunit of AMPARs, and for the expression of synaptic scaling mechanisms. Further experiments are still required to understand if the mechanism conducted by Caspr1 and ZBP1 might be of relevance to fine-tune the local availability of new AMPARs near synaptic sites, particularly in the context of homeostatic synaptic plasticity. Importantly, our findings underscore the promising significance of both Caspr1 and ZBP1 in the regulation of neuronal homeostasis in the healthy brain, and raise the flag for potential targets for disruption in the context of neuropsychiatric disorders.

Chapter IV Results & Discussion

Homeostatic and experience-dependent regulation of AMPA receptors by Caspr2

Part of the results in this chapter are included in the following manuscript in submission:

Dominique Fernandes, Sandra Santos, Ester Coutinho, Jessica L. Whitt, Tiago Rondão, M. Isabel Leite, Camilla Buckley, Hey-Kyoung Lee & Ana Luísa Carvalho (2018). Disrupted AMPA receptor function upon genetic- or antibody-mediated loss of autism-associated CASPR2. In submission

Summary

Throughout the past decade, mutations in the *CNTNAP2* gene have been recurrently implicated in neuropsychiatric disorders such as autism, schizophrenia and intellectual disability. Nevertheless, despite under intense research, the full-spectrum of cellular and molecular functions played by CASPR2 remains elusive. Importantly, it is still unclear how perturbations in CASPR2 function become pathogenic and drive the severe cognitive and psychiatric symptoms presented by patients.

Herein, we find that Caspr2 is expressed in cortical excitatory synapses, and identify Caspr2 as a novel AMPAR-interacting protein capable of regulating the trafficking of AMPARs to synapses. Moreover, we demonstrate that loss of Caspr2 impairs AMPA receptor function and *in vivo* excitatory synaptic transmission in the cortex, and reveal a requirement for Caspr2 in the regulation of homeostatic and visually-driven experience-dependent synaptic plasticity. Overall, our findings suggest that disruption of these mechanisms may underlie the pathogenesis of CASPR2-related disorders.

Introduction

The human brain is distinctively unique due to its remarkable ability for complex language, higher cognition, emotion regulation and executive control of behaviour; fundamentally the hallmark features of what makes us humans and not just high-order mammals. Yet, these are precisely the brain functions impaired in a plethora of distinctive neurodevelopmental and neuropsychiatric disorders that afflict a large percentage of the population worldwide, with significant impact on global disease burden (Trautmann et al., 2016). Psychiatric disorders such as schizophrenia (SCZ), intellectual disability (ID) and autism-spectrum disorders (ASD), although clinically distinct, are often associated to manifestations of cognitive dysfunction, abnormal thoughts, and social and behavioural defects. Despite a complex aetiology that remains largely unknown to date, these disorders share particular defective features in brain structure, wiring and function that suggest a similar neurodevelopmental origin for their pathogenesis (de Lacy & King, 2013; Network & Pathway Analysis Subgroup of Psychiatric Genomics, 2015; Schubert et al., 2015). Accordingly, recent genetic association studies have demonstrated that, in addition to often being of multigenic origin, distinct neuropsychiatric disorders can share the same susceptibility risk genes (O'Donovan & Owen, 2016; Vissers et al., 2016).

One of the identified risk genes that has received considerable attention throughout the last decade, precisely because it has been implicated in a plethora of neuropsychiatric disorders, is the CNTNAP2 gene [extensively reviewed in (Burbach & van der Zwaag, 2009; Penagarikano & Geschwind, 2012; Poot, 2015; Poot, 2017; Rodenas-Cuadrado et al., 2014)]. In recent years, several linkage, association, gene expression analysis and imaging data studies have been able to identify a significant number of both rare and common variant mutations in the CNTNAP2 gene that have been repeatedly implicated in the pathogenesis of ASD (Alarcon et al., 2008; Arking et al., 2008; Bakkaloglu et al., 2008; O'Roak et al., 2011; Poot et al., 2010), SCZ and bipolar disorder (Friedman et al., 2008; O'Dushlaine et al., 2011; Wang et al., 2010b), ID and language impairment (Mikhail et al., 2011; Petrin et al., 2010; Sehested et al., 2010; Smogavec et al., 2016; Vernes et al., 2008; Zweier et al., 2009), epilepsy and cortical dysplasia focal epilepsy (CFDE) syndrome (Friedman et al., 2008; Mefford et al., 2010; Smogavec et al., 2016; Strauss et al., 2006), Tourette syndrome (Belloso et al., 2007; Verkerk et al., 2003), among other disorders. Although with a complex phenotypic variability, patients carrying CNTNAP2 mutations present a similar set of core features that include seizures, language impairments, intellectual disability and varying autistic-core behaviours [reviewed in (Penagarikano & Geschwind, 2012; Poot, 2017; Rodenas-Cuadrado et al., 2014)].

Importantly, *Cntnap2* knockout (KO) mice develop epileptic and autism-related behavioural phenotypes that parallel patients' symptoms (Penagarikano *et al.*, 2011), thus emphasizing the relevance of the *CNTNAP2* gene in brain function. In accordance, recent human MRI studies revealed dramatic losses in frontal-lobe grey matter volume and alterations in functional connectivity in patients carrying *CNTNAP2* variations (Scott-Van Zeeland *et al.*, 2010; Tan *et al.*, 2010).

The CNTNAP2 gene, located at the chromosomal region 7q35, encodes for Contactinassociated protein-like 2 (CASPR2), a neurexin-like cell-adhesion molecule first identified in the peripheral nervous system (PNS). Here, CASPR2 functions as a membrane scaffold for the clustering of Shaker-like K⁺ channels (VGKC) in the juxtaparanodal domain region of the nodes of Ranvier, which facilitates the saltatory component of action potential propagation in myelinated nerves [(Poliak et al., 1999; Poliak et al., 2003), and reviewed in (Rasband & Peles, 2015; Simons & Trajkovic, 2006)]. Despite this fundamental role of CASPR2, it is clear that the pleiotropy of psychiatric symptoms presented by patients with CNTNAP2 variations cannot be fully explained by a disruption of myelination processes (which occur only postnatally) or PNS dysfunction. Accordingly, CASPR2 is also highly expressed in the brain (Gordon et al., 2016; Poliak et al., 1999), early on during development into adulthood, in particular in the cerebral cortex (where there is an abundance of unmyelinated neurons) and hippocampus, thus hinting at additional crucial roles for CASPR2 in the CNS that still remain largely elusive and debatable. Loss of Caspr2 in mice, which present a striking ASD-like behavioural phenotype, results in striking neuropathological defects that include loss of inhibitory GABAergic interneurons and altered balance of excitation/inhibition (E/I balance), asynchronous neuronal firing, impaired neuronal migration, and reduced local and long-range prefrontal functional connectivity (Liska et al., 2017; Penagarikano et al., 2011). These latter phenotypes are in agreement with earlier brain histopathological and fMRI studies performed in patients with CNTNAP2 mutations (Scott-Van Zeeland et al., 2010; Strauss et al., 2006). More recently, a few studies have provided valuable insights into a potential synaptic function mediated by CASPR2. One study reports that shRNA-mediated loss of Caspr2 in cortical neurons results in impaired dendritic arborisation, abnormal spine development and a reduced number of excitatory and inhibitory synapses, with consequent perturbations in basal synaptic transmission (Anderson et al., 2012). In another study, Cntnap2 KO-cultured cortical neurons were shown to display reduced spine density and altered spine morphology, with additional cytoplasmic aggregates of AMPARs, suggestive of altered glutamatergic function (Varea et al., 2015).

Interestingly, synaptic abnormalities and glutamatergic dysfunction have been consistently pinpointed as common underlying pathologies in several psychiatric disorders, including ASD, ID and SCZ (Penzes et al., 2011; Volk et al., 2015). Indeed, a vast number of the susceptibility risk genes identified so far in genetic association studies encode for proteins in the glutamate receptor complex, including not only glutamate receptors, but also synaptic scaffolds, synaptic signalling complexes as well as other synaptic cell-adhesion molecules [thoroughly reviewed in (Pescosolido et al., 2012; Volk et al., 2015)]. Glutamatergic synapses mediate most of the fast excitatory neurotransmission in the brain, and experience-based changes in their strength and efficacy account for diverse forms of synaptic plasticity, the cellular correlates of higher cognitive functions, including learning and memory. Importantly, emerging findings link defects in synaptic plasticity phenomena to the pathogenesis of distinct psychiatric disorders (Ramocki & Zoghbi, 2008; Volk et al., 2015; Wondolowski & Dickman, 2013). Indeed, increasing evidence suggest that a failure in neuronal synaptic homeostasis, in particular, may result in neurological outcomes that overlap with several neuropsychiatric symptoms distinctive of ASD, ID or SCZ (Mullins et al., 2016; Ramocki & Zoghbi, 2008; Toro et al., 2010), and some of the strongest candidate risk genes implicated so far in such cognitive disorders are actual important molecular players involved in the regulation of homeostatic plasticity mechanisms (Fernandes & Carvalho, 2016; Volk et al., 2015; Wondolowski & Dickman, 2013). Homeostatic plasticity mechanisms are typically triggered by neurons in response to destabilizing activity changes, and through compensatory and bidirectional changes in the postsynaptic accumulation of AMPARs, they allow experience-based synaptic adaptations to occur while maintaining neuronal networks in-balance for proper brain function [extensively reviewed in (Fernandes & Carvalho, 2016; Turrigiano, 2008; Vitureira & Goda, 2013)]. Overall, it is clear that the molecular underpinnings of neuropsychiatric disorders such as ASD, ID or SCZ are still far from being completely understood. However, it is evident that glutamatergic synapse function and homeostatic plasticity processes are fundamental for proper brain function and cognition, and, if disrupted, can contribute to the pathogenesis of cognitive disorders.

Given the relevance CASPR2 has been assuming as a fundamental regulator of brain function, and its implication in several distinct neuropsychiatric disorders, it becomes imperative to fully comprehend the full-spectrum of molecular functions played by CASPR2, and how they can sustain such pleiotropic phenotypes if disrupted in the context of disease. In line with the recent synaptic functions described for CASPR2, in this chapter we address the hypothesis that CASPR2 regulates glutamatergic function and synaptic plasticity phenomena. Herein, we demonstrate that Caspr2 is not only present in axonal compartments, but it is also

expressed in dendrites, and enriched in postsynaptic densities of glutamatergic synapses. Moreover, we show that Caspr2 interacts with the GluA1 subunit of AMPARs and regulates the trafficking and synaptic content of cell surface GluA1-containing AMPARs. Furthermore, we demonstrate that this role of Caspr2 is physiologically relevant for the regulation of alutamatergic function in vivo, since silencing Caspr2 expression in the mouse primary visual cortex (V1) decreases the amplitude of AMPAR-mediated miniature excitatory postsynaptic currents (mEPSCs). Interestingly, our findings reveal that the expression of Caspr2 is regulated by neuronal activity, in particular by sensory experience, since endogenous levels of Caspr2 are increased in the visual cortex of mice subjected to paradigms of visual deprivation. Finally, we uncover a requirement of Caspr2 for the regulation of homeostatic synaptic plasticity, since loss of Caspr2 hinders the triggering of homeostatic mechanisms that scale AMPAR expression and function following prolonged activity inhibition in vitro and visual deprivation in vivo. Importantly, our findings indicate that Caspr2 is required for visually-driven experience-dependent homeostatic plasticity in vivo, and ultimately for sensory integration of visual information, further emphasizing the physiological relevance of Caspr2 in the regulation of neuronal homeostasis and brain function. Altogether, our findings explore and uncover an important molecular function for Caspr2 in the regulation of synaptic AMPARs, glutamatergic function and experience-dependent homeostatic synaptic plasticity. Importantly, this study underpins a potential role for glutamatergic synapse dysfunction and impaired neuronal homeostasis in the pathogenesis of CASPR2-associated disorders, and helps to clarify some of the diverse cognitive symptoms presented by patients.

Results

Caspr2 localizes to excitatory synapses along dendrites, and it is present in isolated postsynaptic density fractions

Caspr2 has been thoroughly studied in peripheral axonal microdomains, where it is required for the clustering of Shaker-like K⁺ channels in the juxtaparanodal region of the nodes of Ranvier, and for axonal excitability (Poliak et al., 1999; Poliak et al., 2003). Just recently, Caspr2 was additionally implicated in the regulation of dendritic arborization, and in the development of synapses and spines (Anderson et al., 2012; Varea et al., 2015). These novel functions attributed to Caspr2 suggest that its expression should not be limited to axonal compartments. Hence, in order to evaluate the neuronal and synaptic distribution of Caspr2, we immunolabelled low-density cultured rat cortical neurons with an antibody specific for Caspr2 and found an extensive punctuated distribution of Caspr2 along dendrites (Figure 4.1A). Neurons were also immunolabelled for the postsynaptic scaffolding protein PSD95 and for the presynaptic vesicular glutamate transporter vGluT1 to identify potentially functional glutamatergic synapses (Figure 4.1A), and to assess the presence of Caspr2 at or nearby these excitatory synapses. By determining the signal overlap of Caspr2 with synaptic clusters positive for both PSD95 and vGluT1, we found that 45.5 ± 3.6% of all cortical excitatory synaptic clusters contain Caspr2 (Figure 4.1B). Additionally, we observed a similar distribution of Caspr2 in approximately 60% of excitatory synapses in hippocampal neurons [Supplementary (Suppl.) Figure 4.S1]. If we consider that up until recently Caspr2 was not even studied outside axonal microdomains, these are rather impressive numbers that hint at potentially relevant roles played by Caspr2 at excitatory synapses.

In agreement with our results, some studies had previously reported the presence of Caspr2 clusters in dendritic spines (Varea *et al.*, 2015), as well as an enrichment in the synaptic plasma membrane (Bakkaloglu *et al.*, 2008; Chen *et al.*, 2015). Interestingly, the presence or enrichment of Caspr2 at the postsynaptic density (PSD), the functional specialization of the synapse, still remains controversial, with some studies suggesting that Caspr2 is merely perisynaptic and absent from the PSD (Chen *et al.*, 2015). Taking into consideration the functional relevance of proteins localized at the PSD, and how that localization often impacts their role in the regulation of synaptic plasticity mechanisms and synaptic signalling cascades, it is fundamental to confirm whether Caspr2 is indeed present at the PSD. To achieve this, we performed subcellular fractionation to isolate purified postsynaptic density fractions from the mouse whole brain (Figure 4.1C, D). Western blot analysis comparing the different subcellular fractions (BI - brain lysate; Pm - plasma membrane; PSD - postsynaptic density) revealed an

enrichment of PSD95 from the BI and Pm fractions to the PSD, whilst showing an absence of the presynaptic vesicular marker Synaptophysin in the PSD fraction (Figure 4.1C), indicating that we have successfully isolated purified PSD fractions. Importantly, we detected a 150 kDa band corresponding to the molecular weight of Caspr2 in all subcellular fractions (Figure 4.1C), and particularly enriched in the PSD (258.0 ± 133.8% when compared to the BI fraction -Figure 4.1D), thus confirming the presence of Caspr2 in the postsynaptic density. This first set of results confirms that Caspr2 is expressed along dendritic neuronal compartments, where it localizes in great extent to sites at or nearby excitatory synapses. Moreover, these findings further refute previous evidence suggesting that Caspr2 is located only perisynaptically, and reveal the presence and enrichment of Caspr2 at the postsynaptic density. Although Caspr2 has been gaining considerable relevance as a novel regulator of synapses, its underlying mechanisms are still completely unknown. Hence, this privileged localization of Caspr2 at the PSD might give important clues about the potential roles it plays at the synapse, be it, for instance, as a canonical synaptic cell-adhesion molecule that bridges and stabilizes the synapse, or as a scaffolding protein that helps anchoring other molecules to the PSD, among other functions.



[Figure 4.1 - subtitle on the next page]

Figure 4.1 – Caspr2 is expressed along dendrites in cortical neurons, where it localizes to excitatory synapses, and it is present in isolated postsynaptic density fractions. (A, B) Caspr2 is localized at excitatory synapses along dendrites of cortical neurons. 13 DIV Banker cultured cortical neurons were fixed and stained against Caspr2, the postsynaptic marker PSD95 and the presynaptic marker VGluT1. (A) Representative immunofluorescence image of a cortical neuron showing significant colocalization between Caspr2 clusters and synaptic puncta. Blue square inset of a dendrite zoomed in on right panels. Scale bars = 5 μm . (B) Quantification of the number of glutamatergic synapses per dendritic length, identified as clusters with positive signal for both synaptic markers PSD95 and vGluT1 (PSD95+/vGluT1+), that contain Caspr2 (PSD95+/vGluT1+/Caspr2+). Total number of analysed cells was obtained from at least three independent experiments. (N \geq 3, n \geq 30cells). Results are presented as mean ± S.E.M. (C, D) Caspr2 is present in isolated postsynaptic density fractions. Plasma membrane (Pm) and postsynaptic density fractions (PSD) were obtained by subcellular fractionation of mouse whole brain lysates (BI). (C) The presence of PSD95, Synaptophysin and Caspr2 in the different fractions was determined by western blot (WB) analysis. (D) The enrichment of Caspr2 levels in the Pm and PSD fractions was quantified when compared to the Bl. Results were obtained from four independent experiments and are presented as mean ± S.E.M. (N=4).

Caspr2 interacts with the GluA1 subunit of AMPARs, and it is required to regulate surface GluA1-AMPARs in cortical synapses

Glutamate receptors of the AMPA-type are responsible for the fast component of excitatory synaptic transmission in the brain, and changes in the number or function of AMPARs at the synapse result in long-lasting modifications in synaptic strength and efficacy, which underlie synaptic plasticity events. Understandably, highly complex mechanisms are involved in the dynamic regulation of AMPARs, and numerous molecular players have already emerged as critical for AMPAR trafficking mechanisms, and for the expression of several forms of synaptic plasticity. Notably, we have previously identified Caspr1, a homologous family member of Caspr2, as an important regulator of AMPAR trafficking to synapses (Santos et al., 2012). Taking into consideration the functional and structural homology between Caspr1 and Caspr2 (Einheber et al., 1997; Peles et al., 1997; Poliak et al., 1999; Poliak et al., 2003), and the strategic localization of Caspr2 at synapses, we decided to explore whether Caspr2 might also play a role in the regulation of synaptic AMPARs. To achieve this, we started by evaluating whether the dendritic and synaptic distribution of Caspr2 clusters might parallel that of surface GluA1-containing AMPARs (Figure 4.2A, B). To assess the surface expression of GluA1containing AMPARs, low-density cultured cortical neurons at 13 DIV were live-stained with an antibody against an extracellular epitope in the GluA1 N-terminus. After fixation, neurons were further stained for Caspr2, and for PSD95 to visualize excitatory synapses. We observed that Caspr2 and GluA1 have a very similar punctuated distribution pattern along dendrites that partially overlaps (Figure 4.2A), and a quantitative analysis of the number of puncta per

dendritic length revealed that $23.0 \pm 1.8\%$ of all surface GluA1 clusters also contain Caspr2 (Figure 4.2B). A similar co-localization was also observed in hippocampal neurons (Suppl. Figure 4.S2).

This level of co-localization between GluA1 and Caspr2 clusters indicates a high degree of proximity between the two proteins, which is suggestive of a potential interaction between GluA1 and Caspr2. In order to confirm this hypothesis, we performed an immunoprecipitation assay with a specific antibody to pull-down Caspr2 from either mouse cortex (Figure 4.2C) or rat cerebellum lysates (Figure 4.2D), where Caspr2 is abundantly expressed (Poliak *et al.*, 1999). By WB analysis we confirmed that Caspr2 was successfully precipitated, and most importantly, we identified a 100 kDa-band corresponding to GluA1 that was co-precipitated with Caspr2, and that was absent when the immunoprecipitation was performed using non-immune immunoglobulins (IgGs) (Figure 4.2C, D). This result confirms that Caspr2 interacts with the GluA1 subunit of AMPARs, and it parallels previous evidence from the lab first identifying Caspr1 as an interactor of AMPAR subunits, including GluA1 (Santos *et al.*, 2012). This data hints at a potential shared role of Caspr1 and Caspr2 in AMPAR regulation.



Figure 4.2 – Caspr2 interacts with the GluA1 subunit of AMPARs. (A, B) GluA1 and Caspr2 present a very similar dendritic distribution that substantially overlaps. 13 DIV low-density cultured cortical neurons were live-stained with an antibody against an extracellular epitope in the GluA1 N-terminus, fixed, and then stained for Caspr2 and the synaptic marker PSD95. (A) Representative immunofluorescence images showing the dendritic and synaptic distribution of GluA1 and Caspr2, with substantial cluster co-localization. *Scale bars* = 5 μm . (B) Quantification of the number of surface GluA1 clusters (GluA1⁺) per dendritic length that are also positive for Caspr2 (GluA1⁺/Caspr2⁺). Total number of analysed cells was obtained from at least three independent experiments. Results are presented as means ± S.E.M. (N≥3, n≥ 30cells) (C, D) Caspr2 interacts with the GluA1 subunit of AMPARs. Caspr2 was immunoprecipitated from mouse cortex (C) or rat cerebellum (D) lysates using a specific antibody against the protein. Caspr2 and GluA1 levels were assessed by WB analysis. Immunoprecipitation (IP) of Caspr2, and co-IP of GluA1, were confirmed when compared to the initial protein sample (input) and a negative IP using non-immune IgGs (IP-).

Taking into account that 1) there is a high degree of structural and functional homology between Caspr1 and Caspr2, 2) both Caspr1 and Caspr2 are novel interactors of the GluA1 subunit of AMPARs, and 3) Caspr1 regulates the synaptic content of surface GluA1-containing AMPARs, we hypothesize that Caspr2 must be playing a similar role in the regulation of AMPAR trafficking. To investigate this, we transfected low-density cultured cortical neurons either with a control empty vector or with a bicistronic plasmid encoding mCherry and a specific shRNA sequence against Caspr2, previously validated to knock-down its endogenous expression (Anderson et al., 2012). We then performed quantitative immunofluorescence analysis of the surface expression of GluA1-containing AMPARs and of the postsynaptic marker PSD95, as described above. Imaging fields were chosen by the presence of transfected, mCherry-positive cortical neurons (Figure 4.3A). We observed that shRNAmediated loss of endogenous Caspr2 in cortical neurons resulted in a significant decrease of 18.8 ± 5.2% in the intensity of cell surface GluA1 total clusters, when compared to cells transfected with the control empty vector (Figure 4.3B - left). Furthermore, loss of Caspr2 also induced a significant decrease of 45.9 ± 5.6% in the fluorescence intensity of GluA1 clusters at the synapse, as determined by cluster co-localization with the postsynaptic marker PSD95 (Figure 4.3B - right). To exclude the contribution of off-target effects of the Caspr2 shRNA, neurons were co-transfected with the shRNA in parallel with a mutant construct of Caspr2 resistant to the shRNA (Anderson et al., 2012). Expression of this refractory mutant rescued the KD-mediated decrease of total and synaptic GluA1 cluster intensities (Figure 4.3A, B), indicating that the defects in surface expression of GluA1 observed with the Caspr2 shRNA were specifically caused by the loss of endogenous Caspr2. Loss of Caspr2 in hippocampal neurons resulted in a similar disruption in the synaptic content of cell surface GluA1-containing AMPARs (Suppl. Figure 4.S3).

Although we have not yet tested for a potential interaction of Caspr2 with other AMPAR subunits other than GluA1, we have previously observed that Caspr1 does bind to other subunits including GluA2 and GluA4 (Santos *et al.*, 2012). AMPARs are composed of two out of four possible homologous subunits, from GluA1 to GluA4, that combine in heteromers to form functional ion channels with different properties, depending on the subunits present. In mature synapses, AMPARs are predominantly composed of GluA1/2 or GluA2/3 heteromers, and the GluA2 subunit is considered by many to be fundamental for the mechanisms that underlie several forms of synaptic plasticity. Curiously, we observed that shRNA-mediated loss of Caspr2 both in cortical and hippocampal neurons did not affect the cell surface and synaptic distribution of AMPARs containing the GluA2 subunit (Suppl. Figure 4.S4), although expression of the shRNA-resistant mutant construct of Caspr2 increased cell surface GluA2-AMPARs at the synapse (Suppl. Figure 4.S4D). These results suggest that, besides controlling

GluA1, Caspr2 may also play a role in the regulation of the GluA2 subunit of AMPARs, albeit not being required for maintaining its basal levels.



Figure 4.3 – Caspr2 is required to regulate the synaptic content of cell surface AMPARs. (A) Representative immunofluorescence images of mCherry-positive low-density cultured cortical neurons transfected at DIV 7 with a control empty vector or a plasmid encoding the Caspr2 shRNA, or co-transfected with the Caspr2 shRNA and a shRNA-resistant Caspr2 rescue mutant. At DIV 13, cells were live-stained against an extracellular epitope of GluA1, fixed, and then stained for the synaptic marker PSD95. *Scale bars* = 5 μ m. (B) The fluorescence intensity of total and PSD95-colocalized synaptic clusters of surface GluA1 was analysed from mCherry-expressing transfected neurons. Total number of analysed cells was obtained from at least three independent experiments. (N≥3, n≥ 30cells). Results are presented as means \pm S.E.M and the statistical significance was determined by the non-parametric Kruskal-Wallis test, followed by Dunn's Multiple Comparison post-hoc test, *p<0.05, **p<0.01 compared to control, and #p<0.05, ##p<0.01 relative to Caspr2 shRNA.

Overall, these pieces of evidence indicate that Caspr2, similarly to Caspr1, interacts with AMPARs, at least with the GluA1 subunit, and regulates their trafficking to the cell surface and into synapses, indicating that Caspr2 is important for the regulation of glutamatergic function. These findings are rather interesting and consistent with previous evidence showing the presence of cytoplasmic aggregates of AMPARs in *Cntnap2* KO cortical neurons (Varea *et al.*, 2015). It is possible that Caspr2 interacts with GluA1 early on during the secretory pathway to then promote the trafficking of AMPARs to the cell surface and into the synapse. In the absence of Caspr2 (or Caspr2 dysfunction in consequence of gene variations), these mechanisms of AMPAR trafficking might be compromised, hence giving origin to cytoplasmic aggregates of the receptors, and the consequent decrease in the cell surface expression and synaptic content of GluA1-containing AMPARs.

Caspr2 is required for *in vivo* regulation of AMPAR function in the mouse visual cortex

So far in the present chapter, we were able to demonstrate that the autism-related Caspr2, known to be enriched in axonal compartments, is localized in excitatory synapses along cortical dendrites, and present in purified postsynaptic density fractions. This pivotal localization at the synapse is suggestive of a fundamental synaptic role of Caspr2, and consistent with findings that implicate Caspr2 in spine development and maintenance, and dendritic arborisation (Anderson *et al.*, 2012; Gdalyahu *et al.*, 2015; Varea *et al.*, 2015). Additionally, we revealed that Caspr2 interacts with the GluA1 subunit of AMPARs and is necessary to regulate the surface expression of AMPARs and their trafficking into the synapse, thus confirming previous evidence suggestive of a role for Caspr2 in the control of glutamatergic function (Varea *et al.*, 2015). Taking into consideration the physiological importance of AMPARs and of the mechanisms that regulate their availability at the synapse, this novel function attributed to Caspr2 assumes particular relevance.

This potential Caspr2 role gains further significance in light of robust findings consistently pinpointing synaptic abnormalities and glutamatergic dysfunction as common underlying pathologies in several psychiatric disorders, including ASD, ID and SCZ (Bourgeron, 2015; Penzes *et al.*, 2011; Verpelli & Sala, 2012; Volk *et al.*, 2015). Indeed, a vast number of susceptibility risk genes associated to these disorders encode for proteins in the glutamate receptor complex, including not only glutamate receptors but also synaptic scaffolds, synaptic signalling complexes as well as other synaptic cell-adhesion molecules [thoroughly reviewed in (Pescosolido *et al.*, 2012; Volk *et al.*, 2015)]. Our data linking Caspr2 to the synapse and to

AMPAR regulation, together with evidence recurrently implicating the CASPR2-encoding *CNTNAP2* gene in several of the above psychiatric disorders (Penagarikano & Geschwind, 2012; Poot, 2017; Rodenas-Cuadrado *et al.*, 2014), flag *CNTNAP2* as one potential additional gene in this susceptibility hub of the glutamatergic synapse prone to dysfunction. Nevertheless, despite intense investigations, the pathogenic mechanisms ensuing from perturbations in Caspr2 function are still unknown.



[Figure 4.4 - subtitle on the next page]

Figure 4.4 – In vivo loss of Caspr2 in the mouse primary visual cortex (V1) significantly decreases the amplitude of AMPAR-mediated mEPSCs of layer 2/3 pyramidal neurons. (A) Lentivirus encoding either an empty-vector or the shRNA against Caspr2 were generated, and injected into layer2/3 of the V1 of normal reared P21-P28 C57BL/6J mice. Five weeks post-injection, AMPAR-mediated mEPSCs were recorded from mCherry-expressing infected V1-L2/3 pyramidal neurons. (B) Representative image of mCherry-expressing L2/3 pyramidal neurons in V1 acute slices from mice infected either with empty vector- or shRNA Caspr2-expressing lentivirus. (C - E) Comparison of representative mEPSC traces (C), average mEPSC traces (D) and average mEPSC amplitudes (E) recorded from V1-L2/3 pyramidal cells of either control mice (black, n=13 cells), empty vector-infected (grey, n=9 cells) or shRNA Caspr2-infected mice (blue, n=12 cells). In (E), results are presented as mean ± S.E.M. and statistical significance was determined by one-way ANOVA test followed by Fisher's protected least significant difference (PLSD) post hoc test, *p<0.05; ns - non-significant. (F) Cumulative histograms showing that only the distribution of mEPSC amplitudes of shRNA Caspr2-infected mice (blue), but not of empty vector (grey), is significantly smaller than that of control littermates (black). Statistical significance was determined by the Kolmogorov-Smirnov Test, ****p<0.0001.

Clearly, our findings of a novel role for Caspr2 in the regulation of AMPAR trafficking warrant further exploration to determine whether such mechanism might be relevant for physiological glutamatergic function. Hence, we decided to investigate if Caspr2 is necessary for AMPAR function in vivo. To achieve this, we generated recombinant lentivirus encoding either the control empty vector, or the shRNA against Caspr2, and co-expressing mCherry from the bicistronic lentiviral vector used previously, and injected them into layer2/3 of the primary visual cortex (V1) of C57BL/6J mice to knockdown Caspr2 expression (Figure 4.4A). Infected pyramidal neurons in V1-layer2/3 of injected animals were identified by the pyramidshaped soma with the apical dendrite pointing to the pia, and expression of mCherry fluorescence (Figure 4.4B). To determine changes in basal synaptic transmission, and assess if Caspr2 is required for basal AMPAR function, we measured AMPAR-mediated miniature excitatory postsynaptic currents (mEPSCs - Figure 4.4C). We observed that the average trace (Figure 4.4D - grey trace) and the average amplitude (Figure 4.4E - grey bar: 12.76 ± 0.65 pA) of mEPSCs recorded from animals injected with the empty vector virus remained unaltered when compared to mEPSCs recorded from non-infected control mice (in Figure 4.4E - black: 12.55 ± 0.52 pA). A cumulative histogram of mEPSC amplitudes further confirms that the distribution of mEPSC amplitudes of empty vector-infected mice does not differ significantly from control amplitudes (Figure 4.4F – grey trace).

On the other hand, there is a marked decrease in the amplitude of average trace of mEPSCs recorded from animals injected with the Caspr2 shRNA (Figure 4.4D - blue), and the average amplitude of mEPSCs is significantly smaller when compared to that of both control and empty vector-mice (Figure 4.4E - blue: 11.03 ± 0.46 pA). Moreover, the cumulative

distribution of mEPSC amplitudes of the Caspr2 shRNA-mice is significantly shifted towards smaller values than control or empty-vector amplitudes (Figure 4.4F - blue trace). No changes in average frequency or current kinetics of mEPSCs were observed between genotypes (Supplementary Table S1). These observations indicate that *in vivo* loss of Caspr2 impairs basal AMPAR-mediated synaptic transmission in the mouse visual cortex, revealing that Caspr2 is necessary for the regulation of glutamatergic function *in vivo*.

Caspr2 is regulated by neuronal activity and its loss prevents the homeostatic synaptic scaling of GluA1-AMPARs in cortical neurons

Rapid changes in AMPAR trafficking and function at the synapse occur in response to different patterns of neuronal activity, and are fundamental for the expression of various forms of synaptic plasticity (Anggono & Huganir, 2012; Shepherd & Huganir, 2007). In the present chapter, we were able to uncover a novel synaptic role for Caspr2 in the regulation of AMPAR trafficking to the cell surface and synapses, and, most importantly, we found Caspr2 to be physiologically relevant for the regulation of AMPAR function *in vivo* in the mouse visual cortex. Taking into consideration the significance of our findings, it is imperative to fully uncover the molecular mechanisms orchestrated by Caspr2 to control AMPAR trafficking, and determine whether such mechanisms may be activity-dependent and impinge on the regulation of synaptic plasticity events.

Interestingly, in the previous chapter we discovered that Caspr1, the homologous family member of Caspr2, is necessary for the regulation of hippocampal synaptic AMPARs in the context of homeostatic synaptic plasticity (please refer to Chapter III). This form of synaptic plasticity is able to maintain neuronal networks in-balance when in face of potentially destabilizing changes in activity that can compromise neuronal function (Fernandes & Carvalho, 2016; Turrigiano, 2008). Molecularly, the homeostatic adjustment of synaptic strengths can be achieved through bi-directional compensatory changes in the accumulation of AMPARs at the synapse, in a process commonly known as synaptic scaling. Although the mechanisms underlying homeostatic synaptic scaling are still far from understood, several molecular players involved in this process have already been identified, including Caspr1 (Fernandes & Carvalho, 2016). Most importantly, emerging findings now suggest that impaired neuronal synaptic homeostasis might be an underlying pathology in several cognitive disorders (Mullins *et al.*, 2016; Ramocki & Zoghbi, 2008; Volk *et al.*, 2015; Wondolowski & Dickman, 2013). Taking into consideration 1) the implication of the CASPR2-encoding *CNTNAP2* gene in neuropsychiatric disorders (Penagarikano & Geschwind, 2012; Poot, 2017; Rodenas-

Cuadrado *et al.*, 2014), together with 2) the newly-found role of Caspr2 in the regulation of AMPAR trafficking and function, and 3) our previous findings pinpointing the homologous Caspr1 as a molecular mediator of synaptic scaling, we hypothesized that Caspr2 plays a similar fundamental role in the regulation of neuronal homeostasis.

To explore this hypothesis, we first evaluated if the expression of endogenous Caspr2 is itself regulated by neuronal activity. Cultured cortical neurons were treated for 48 h with either the voltage-gated Na⁺-channel blocker tetrodotoxin (TTX, 1 µM) to inhibit action potential firing, or TTX together with D-(-)-2-amino-5-phosphonopentanoic acid (APV, 100 µM) for additional blockade of NMDAR function, and total protein levels of both the GluA1 subunit of AMPARs and Caspr2 were evaluated by WB analysis (Figure 4.5A). As previously described (Ju et al., 2004; Wierenga et al., 2005), we observed that inhibition of neuronal activity with TTX or TTX+APV resulted in a marked increase of 73.7 ± 28.0% or 97.8 ± 14.4%, respectively, on total protein levels of GluA1 (Figure 4.5B), indicating that 48 h of activity blockade in cortical neurons are sufficient to induce homeostatic mechanisms that scale up GluA1-containing AMPARs. Importantly, we observed that the increase of GluA1 levels following activity inhibition with TTX and TTX+APV was paralleled by a clear upregulation of 53.0 ± 22.4% and $38.3 \pm 7.1\%$, respectively, on total protein levels of endogenous Caspr2 (Figure 4.5B), demonstrating that the endogenous expression of Caspr2 can be regulated by neuronal activity. Interestingly, we found a similar effect in the expression of Caspr1 following activity inhibition in hippocampal neurons (see Chapter III).

We further evaluated the effect of prolonged inhibition of neuronal activity in surface GluA1-containing AMPARs and Caspr2 using an immunocytochemistry approach. We treated low-density cultured cortical neurons for 48 h with 1 μ M TTX together with 100 μ M APV for a parallel blockade of action potentials and NMDAR function, and performed quantitative immunofluorescence analysis of the surface expression of AMPARs by live-staining neurons with an antibody against an extracellular epitope in the GluA1 N-terminus (Figure 4.5C). After fixation, neurons were stained for MAP2 to visualize the dendritic structure (not shown), and for PSD95 (postsynaptic marker) and vGluT1 (presynaptic marker) to identify excitatory synapses (Figure 4.5C). We observed that prolonged inactivity induced by TTX+APV treatment of cortical neurons significantly increased the fluorescence intensity of both total (132.4 ± 4.9%) and synaptic (as defined by cluster colocalization with synaptic markers PSD95 and vGluT1 – 124.5 ± 9.3%) cell surface GluA1 clusters (Figure 4.5D). A cumulative histogram plot of cell surface GluA1 cluster intensities revealed that the entire distribution of TTX+APV-GluA1 intensities shifts uniformly and significantly towards larger values when compared to control (Figure 4.5E). Importantly, when transformed by a scaling factor, the scaled TTX+APV

distribution (Figure 4.5E – dashed trace) was completely superimposed with the control cumulative distribution, indicating that the observed scaling of cell surface GluA1 clusters following activity inhibition occurs in a multiplicative manner, which is a defining characteristic of synaptic scaling mechanisms that allows the conservation of the relative differences in strength across the entire synapse population of a given neuron (Turrigiano *et al.*, 1998).



[Figure 4.5 - subtitle on the next page]

Figure 4.5 – The endogenous expression of Caspr2 is regulated by neuronal activity. (A-B) Chronic blockade of activity in cortical neurons increases total protein levels of GluA1 and Caspr2. Cultured rat cortical neurons at 13 DIV were treated for 48 h either with 1 µM TTX alone, or together with 100 µM APV, to inhibit neuronal activity, after which protein extracts were obtained. (A) Total protein levels of GluA1 and Caspr2 were evaluated by WB analysis. (B) Results are presented as mean ± S.E.M., when compared to control and normalized to the loading control Tubulin. Statistical significance was determined by the nonparametric Kruskal-Wallis test, followed by the Dunn's post-hoc test, *p<0.05 (N=4). (C - E) Prolonged neuronal inactivity increases the superficial expression of synaptic GluA1containing AMPARs in a multiplicative manner. Neuronal activity in 11 DIV low-density cultured cortical neurons was inhibited for 48 h either with 1 µM TTX together with 100 µM APV. Cells were then live-stained with a specific antibody against an extracellular epitope in GluA1 Nterminus, fixed, and then stained for the synaptic markers PSD95 and VGluT1. (C) Representative immunofluorescence images of cultured cortical neurons treated for 48 h with TTX + APV, and stained for superficial GluA1, PSD95 and VGluT1. Scale bars = 5µm. (D) The fluorescence intensity of total and synaptic (colocalized with PSD95 and vGlut1) clusters of surface GluA1 was quantified. Total number of analysed cells was obtained from at least three independent experiments. (N \geq 3, n \geq 30 cells). Results are presented as mean \pm S.E.M. and statistical significance was determined by the non-parametric Mann-Whitney Test, *p<0.05, ****p<0.0001 compared to control. (E) Cumulative distribution of surface GluA1 cluster intensities is significantly shifted towards larger values following TTX+APV treatment (blue solid line). The scaled TTX+APV distribution (blue dashed line) superimposes with the control cumulative distribution, showing that prolonged neuronal inactivity upscaled GluA1 cluster intensities in a multiplicative manner. Statistical significance was determined by the Kolmogorov-Smirnov Test, ****p<0.0001 compared to control. (F - H) Prolonged neuronal inactivity increases total and synaptic clusters of Caspr2. Neuronal activity in cortical neurons was inhibited as described above, and cells were stained against surface GluA1, Caspr2 and the synaptic marker PSD95. (F) Representative immunofluorescence images of cultured cortical neurons treated for 48 h with TTX + APV, and stained for superficial GluA1, Caspr2 and PSD95. Scale bars = 5µm. (G, H) The fluorescence intensity of total and PSD95colocalized synaptic clusters of Caspr2 (G), and the intensity and number of surface GluA1 clusters that colocalize with Caspr2 (H) were quantified. Total number of analysed cells was obtained from at least three independent experiments. (N≥3, n≥30 cells). Results are presented as mean ± S.E.M. and statistical significance was determined by the non-parametric Mann-Whitney Test, ***p<0.001, ****p<0.0001 compared to control.

These observations are in agreement with previous findings reporting a multiplicative scaling in the synaptic expression of GluA1-containing AMPARs following activity blockade in cortical neurons (Wierenga *et al.*, 2005). Using an identical approach as described above, we observed that TTX+APV treatment of cortical neurons further induced a marked increase in the fluorescence intensity of both total (140.3 ± 10.5%) and PSD95-colocalized synaptic (127.6 ± 15.0%) clusters of Caspr2 (Figure 4.5F, G), which complements our WB data showing an upregulation of Caspr2 total protein levels. Moreover, we found that the fluorescence intensity and number of cell surface GluA1 clusters that co-localize with Caspr2 were significantly upscaled (152.5 ± 11.5% and 194.5 ± 17.4%, respectively) following prolonged inhibition of neuronal activity with TTX+APV (Figure 4.5H), which might be suggestive of a stronger

interaction between Caspr2 and GluA1 in such conditions. Prolonged inhibition of neuronal activity in hippocampal neurons elicited a similar homeostatic synaptic upscaling of Caspr2 endogenous expression (Figure 4.S5B), as well as an increase in the co-localization between GluA1 and Caspr2 clusters (Figure 4.S5C).

Overall, this set of results indicates that the endogenous expression of Caspr2 is regulated by neuronal activity, in particular by paradigms of activity inhibition that elicit the parallel scaling of surface AMPARs at the synapse. Importantly, these findings concur with recent evidence revealing an activity-dependent regulation of the expression or function of some of the already-identified molecular players underlying synaptic scaling mechanisms (Fernandes & Carvalho, 2016). Taking these pieces of evidence into account, together with the relevant role of Caspr2 in the regulation of AMPAR trafficking and function, it is possible that Caspr2 is required for the mechanisms underlying the synaptic scaling of surface GluA1containing AMPARs. To investigate this, we transfected low-density cultured cortical neurons either with a control empty vector or with the bicistronic plasmid encoding mCherry and the shRNA sequence against Caspr2 to knock-down its endogenous expression, as described previously. We then treated neurons for 48 h with 1 µM TTX together with 100 µM APV, and live-stained them for cell surface GluA1-AMPARs, as described above. After fixation, neurons were stained for PSD95 as a postsynaptic marker of excitatory synapses, and imaging fields were chosen by the presence of transfected, mCherry-positive cortical neurons (Figure 4.6A). As shown earlier, we observed that TTX+APV-induced prolonged inhibition of neuronal activity in control cortical neurons resulted in a significant increase in the fluorescence intensity of both total (173.1 \pm 10.1%; Figure 4.6B) and PSD95-colocalized synaptic (201.3 \pm 17.3%; Figure 4.6C) cell surface GluA1 clusters. On the other hand, neurons expressing the shRNA to knockdown Caspr2 expression not only presented a marked decrease in the fluorescence intensity of GluA1 cell surface clusters in basal conditions, as shown previously in this chapter (please refer to Figure 4.3), but completely failed to trigger the homeostatic scaling of GluA1 following activity inhibition with TTX+APV (Figure 4.6B, C). Importantly, expression of a shRNA-resistant mutant form of Caspr2 in cortical neurons not only rescued the KD-mediated decrease of GluA1 surface levels, but it fully restored the scaling of both total ($160.6 \pm 14.4\%$; Figure 4.6B) and synaptic (194.6 ± 28.7%; Figure 4.6C) cell surface GluA1 clusters following activity blockade with TTX+APV. These results indicate that the defects in the surface expression of GluA1 observed with the Caspr2-shRNA were specifically caused by the loss of endogenous Caspr2, and reveal that Caspr2 is required for the synaptic scaling of cell surface GluA1containing AMPARs in cortical neurons.

Altogether, these results uncover an activity-dependent control of Caspr2 expression, and most likely of its function, and reveal that the role played by Caspr2 in the regulation of AMPAR trafficking is fundamental for the expression of homeostatic synaptic plasticity, thus pinpointing Caspr2 as a novel molecular regulator of synaptic scaling. Given that in the previous chapter we uncovered an identical role for Caspr1 in the regulation of homeostatic synaptic scaling in the hippocampus, our findings attribute a novel set of unsuspected central functions to the family of CASPR proteins, and elevate it to a status of relevance in the context of neuronal synaptic homeostasis. Remarkably, however, there seems to be some regionspecificity for the requirement of either Caspr1 or Caspr2 to underlie such scaling processes. Indeed, unlike what was observed in cortical neurons (Figure 4.6), synaptic scaling of cell surface AMPARs following prolonged activity inhibition was intact in hippocampal neurons lacking Caspr2 (Figure 4.S6), indicating that Caspr2 is required for homeostatic plasticity in the cortex, but not in the hippocampus. Instead, Caspr1 is the alternative required CASPR protein for homeostasis in the hippocampus. Confirming this duality of region-specific roles played by both CASPR proteins, we found no changes in the basal synaptic content of cell surface AMPARs (Figure 4.S7) nor in basal AMPAR-mediated currents (Figure 4.S8) in the absence of Caspr1 in cortical cultures or in the mouse visual cortex, respectively, suggesting that Caspr1, unlike Caspr2, is not required for the regulation of cortical glutamatergic function.

This dichotomy, despite being rather interesting, raises several questions. Firstly, both Caspr1 and Caspr2 are similarly expressed in the hippocampus and cortex (Peles et al., 1997; Poliak et al., 1999), which makes it unlikely that differences in region-specificity result from variations in protein expression. Secondly, Caspr1 and Caspr2 share a significantly high degree of homology, both in their structure and function (Peles et al., 1997; Poliak et al., 1999), which might indicate that they play fairly similar roles. Indeed, this is confirmed by the findings uncovered in the present study, together with observations previously collected in our laboratory (Santos et al., 2012): both Caspr1 and Caspr2 are novel interactors of the GluA1 subunit of AMPARs, and are necessary for the regulation of cell surface AMPAR trafficking to the synapse and for the expression of homeostatic synaptic plasticity mechanisms. Interestingly, in the previous chapter we were able to dissect the molecular mechanism orchestrated by Caspr1, and identified the RNA-binding protein ZBP1 as the potential downstream mediator of Caspr1 in the regulation of AMPARs (please refer to Chapter III). Nevertheless, a similar mechanism is not likely to underlie Caspr2 function, since it is dependent on an intracellular proline-rich domain that is exclusive to Caspr1 structure, and absent from Caspr2. Hence, it is critical to further explore the role of Caspr2 in an attempt to dissect its underlying molecular mechanism. Such knowledge would be important to understand how Caspr1- or Caspr2-mediated mechanisms of AMPAR regulation differ from one another, and how those differences can influence their relevance on activity-dependent processes either in the hippocampus or the cortex. Interestingly, although the mechanisms of AMPAR regulation and synaptic plasticity are thought to be common and fairly conserved across brain regions, important differences have already been found between the hippocampus and neocortex, for instance, which account for specific functional requirements of each region [reviewed in (Lee & Kirkwood, 2011)].



[Figure 4.6 - subtitle on the next page]

Figure 4.6 – Loss of endogenous Caspr2 prevents homeostatic upscaling of synaptic GluA1-containing AMPARs upon prolonged inactivity in cortical neurons. (A) Representative immunofluorescence images of mCherry-positive low-density cultured cortical neurons transfected at DIV 7 with a control empty vector (control - top) or a plasmid encoding the Caspr2 shRNA (middle), or co-transfected with the Caspr2 shRNA and a shRNA-resistant Caspr2 rescue mutant (bottom). At DIV 11, neuronal activity was blocked for 48 h with 1 µM TTX and 100 µM APV. Cells were then live-stained with an antibody against an extracellular epitope in GluA1 N-terminus, fixed, and then stained for the synaptic marker PSD95. Scale bars = $5\mu m$. (B, C) The fluorescence intensity of total (B) and PSD95colocalized synaptic (C) clusters of surface GluA1 was analysed from mCherry-expressing transfected neurons. Total number of analysed cells was obtained from at least three independent experiments (N \geq 3, n \geq 30 cells). Results are presented as mean \pm S.E.M., and statistical significance was determined by the parametric two-way ANOVA Test, followed by Tukey's Multiple Comparison Test, ****p<0.0001 compared to control, ns relative to control Caspr2-shRNA, ####p<0.0001 compared to TTX+APV Caspr2-shRNA, \$p<0.05, \$\$p<0.01 relative to control Caspr2-shRNA+rescue.

Caspr2 is regulated by visual experience and it is required for visually-driven experience-dependent homeostatic plasticity

Up until now in the present chapter, we were able to uncover a novel synaptic role for the autism-related Caspr2 in the regulation of AMPAR trafficking to the cell surface and synaptic sites, and revealed a requirement of Caspr2 for the triggering of mechanisms of homeostatic synaptic scaling following prolonged inhibition of neuronal activity. Importantly, we observed an impairment of AMPAR-mediated basal synaptic transmission in the visual cortex of mice lacking Caspr2, revealing that Caspr2 is necessary for the regulation of cortical glutamatergic function *in vivo*.

Taking this into consideration, we asked whether Caspr2 function *in vivo* might impinge on mechanisms of experience-dependent homeostatic plasticity that are fundamental for sensory processing (Whitt *et al.*, 2014). Such mechanisms have been widely characterized in the mouse visual cortex, since it is amenable to manipulations of neuronal activity *in vivo* through varied paradigms of sensory deprivation and, thus, an excellence model to investigate experience-driven homeostatic changes (Whitt *et al.*, 2014). It has been shown that just two days of visual deprivation (in the form of dark exposure - DE) causes a homeostatic increase of AMPAR-mediated mEPSCs in pyramidal neurons of layer 2/3 of the mouse primary visual cortex (V1-layer 2/3) that is accompanied by a specific upregulation in protein levels of the GluA1 subunit of AMPARs (Goel *et al.*, 2006; Goel *et al.*, 2011), suggesting that a prolonged absence of visually-driven activity scales up excitatory synapses in layer 2/3 of the V1. Since we previously observed an increase in GluA1 and Caspr2 protein levels following prolonged inhibition of activity elicited by TTX+APV treatment of cultured cortical neurons (see Figure 4.5), we decided to evaluate if the endogenous expression of Caspr2 can also be regulated by visual experience in vivo. To investigate this, mice within the critical period for visual plasticity (Desai et al., 2002; Whitt et al., 2014) were visually deprived for two days, in the form of dark exposure (DE), after which primary visual cortices (V1) were collected for WB analysis (Figure 4.7A). As previously demonstrated (Goel et al., 2006; Goel et al., 2011), we observed a significant upregulation of total protein levels of GluA1 in the V1 of DE mice, when compared to normal reared (NR) littermates (Figure 4.7B, C). Additionally, DE induced a parallel significant increase in total protein levels of Caspr2 when compared to NR (Figure 4.7B, D), thus confirming that the expression of Caspr2 in the visual cortex is regulated by visual experience. This observation agrees with previous studies reporting visual experience-induced variations in the expression of several other known molecular players involved in mechanisms underlying synaptic scaling in vivo [reviewed in (Fernandes & Carvalho, 2016)]. Curiously, a recent study found that in vivo Caspr2 protein levels in mice change during the wake/sleep cycle, which is thought to be associated to homeostatic plasticity processes and fundamental for memory consolidation and learning (Diering et al., 2017).

Given that Caspr2 is required for the regulation of basal AMPAR-mediated synaptic transmission in vivo in the visual cortex, and that its expression is altered in response to experience-dependent changes in neuronal activity, we asked whether Caspr2 might be required for visually-driven experience-dependent homeostatic plasticity in the visual cortex. To investigate this, C57BL/6J mice were injected into the V1 with recombinant lentivirus for the expression of the Caspr2 shRNA or the control empty vector, as described previously, and then visually deprived through dark exposure for two days (Figure 4.8A). Infected pyramidal neurons in V1-layer 2/3 of injected animals were identified by their structure and expression of mCherry fluorescence from the bicistronic lentiviral plasmid, as mentioned earlier (see Figure 4.4B), and AMPAR-mediated mEPSCs were recorded (Figure 4.8B). As expected, we observed that DE resulted in a marked increase of average traces [control - Figure 4.8C (NR - black, DE - green); empty vector - Figure 4.8F (NR - black, DE - pink)] and average amplitudes (control - Figure 4.8D [NR (black) = 12.55 ± 0.52 pA; DE (green) = 15.09 ± 1.01 pA]; empty vector - Figure 4.8G [NR (black) = 12.76 ± 0.74 pA; DE (pink) = 14.12 ± 4.64 pA]) of mEPSCs recorded from both non-infected control or empty vector-infected mice, when compared to their respective NR littermates. Additionally, the cumulative distribution of mEPSC amplitudes of both control (Figure 4.8E: NR - black; DE - green) and empty vector-infected (Figure 4.8H: NR - black; DE - pink) animals following DE was significantly shifted towards larger values than the respective NR distribution. Average frequency and current kinetics of mEPSCs remained unaltered following DE of both control and empty vector-infected mice (Suppl. Table S1).







[Figure 4.8 - subtitle on the next page]

Figure 4.8 – In vivo loss of Caspr2 in the mouse primary visual cortex (V1) prevents experience-dependent homeostatic upscaling of AMPAR-mediated mEPSCs following paradigms of visual deprivation. (A) Lentivirus encoding either an empty-vector or the shRNA against Caspr2 were generated, and injected into layer2/3 of the V1 of normal reared P21-P28 WT C57BL/6J mice. Five weeks post-injection, mice were subjected to paradigms of visual deprivation, by being placed in a dark room for two days. AMPAR-mediated mEPSCs were then recorded from mCherry-expressing infected V1-L2/3 pyramidal neurons. (B) Representative mEPSC traces recorded from non-infected controls, or empty vector- or shRNA Caspr2-infected mice that were either normal reared (NR - left) or subjected to visual deprivation (DE - right). (C - E) Average mEPSC traces (C), average mEPSC amplitudes (D), and cumulative distribution of mEPSC amplitudes (E) recorded from V1-L2/3 pyramidal cells of either NR (black) or DE (green) control mice (NR, n=13 cells; DE, n=8 cells). (F - H) Average mEPSC traces (F), average mEPSC amplitudes (G), and cumulative distribution of mEPSC amplitudes (H) recorded from NR (black) or DE (pink) empty vector-infected mice (NR, n=9 cells; DE, n=12 cells). (I - K) Average mEPSC traces (I), average mEPSC amplitudes (J), and cumulative distribution of mEPSC amplitudes (K) recorded from NR (black) or DE (blue) shRNA Caspr2-infected mice (NR, n=12 cells; DE, n=9 cells). In (D), (G) and (J), results are presented as mean ± S.E.M. and statistical significance was determined by the non-parametric Mann-Whitney test, *p<0.05, ns - nonsignificant compared to NR. In (E), (H) and (K), statistical significance was determined by the Kolmogorov-Smirnov Test, ****p<0.0001.

As observed earlier, the average trace (Figure 4.8I: NR - black) and average amplitude (Figure 4.8J) of mEPSCs recorded from Caspr2 shRNA-infected mice was strikingly smaller than control non-infected or empty vector-infected mice. Importantly, dark exposure of Caspr2 shRNA-infected mice completely failed to upscale the average mEPSC trace (Figure 4.8I: DE - blue) and average mEPSC amplitudes (Figure 4.8J [NR (black) = 11.03 ± 0.45 pA; DE (blue) = 10.28 ± 0.55 pA]), and the cumulative distribution of DE amplitudes instead showed a small but statistically significant shift towards smaller values than that of NR Caspr2-shRNA (Figure 4.8K), suggesting a downscaling effect. This result is rather interesting as it indicates that animals lacking Caspr2, instead of counterbalancing the lack of visual experience, undergo further depotentiation after visual deprivation, thus confirming a complete failure in negativefeedback homeostatic processes in these animals. Taking into account these observations, it would be important to evaluate whether Caspr2 might also be required for homeostatic downscaling mechanisms, which act to balance-out firing rates during re-exposure to light following dark exposure, for instance (Whitt et al., 2014). Homeostatic scaling-down processes have also been shown to occur during cross-modal plasticity of sensory modalities [(Goel et al., 2006), and reviewed in (Lee & Whitt, 2015)], and during sleep [(de Vivo et al., 2017; Diering et al., 2017) and reviewed in (Cirelli, 2017; Tononi & Cirelli, 2014)], although their underlying mechanisms remain largely unknown. The recent discovery of varying protein levels of Caspr2 during the wake/sleep cycle in mice (Diering et al., 2017) suggests that Caspr2 might be

relevant during sleep/wake physiology, and substantiates the importance of evaluating the role of Caspr2 in the regulation of homeostatic downscaling mechanisms.

Overall, this set of findings indicate that *in vivo* levels of Caspr2 in the mouse visual cortex can be regulated by visual experience, and that loss of Caspr2 in this region hinders the scaling of AMPAR function elicited by prolonged visual deprivation, suggesting that Caspr2 is essential for visually-driven experience-dependent homeostatic plasticity.

Discussion

Throughout the past decade, investigations of the *CNTNAP2* gene and its encoded protein CASPR2 have grown exponentially, on account of numerous reports implicating them in several neuropsychiatric disorders, including ASD, SCZ and ID [reviewed in (Penagarikano & Geschwind, 2012; Poot, 2015; Poot, 2017)]. Despite this, the full-spectrum of cellular and molecular functions played by CASPR2 remains unclear. Furthermore, it still remains to be answered how different sequence variations in the *CNTNAP2* gene disrupt CASPR2 function to the point of pathogenesis, and how that correlates to patient symptomatology.

In a previous study carried in our laboratory (Santos *et al.*, 2012), and followed up in the previous chapter, we were able to identify Caspr1, an homologous family member of Caspr2, as a novel interactor of AMPARs that regulates their trafficking to the synapse and is required for the expression of mechanisms underlying homeostatic synaptic plasticity. Interestingly, synaptic abnormalities, impaired glutamatergic signalling and disrupted homeostatic processes have been implicated in the pathogenesis of neuropsychiatric disorders. In line with recent synaptic functions described for Caspr2, in this chapter we addressed the hypothesis that Caspr2 regulates glutamatergic function and neuronal synaptic homeostasis, and ultimately uncovered an exciting requirement of Caspr2 to regulate sensory-driven experience-dependent homeostatic plasticity processes *in vivo*. We herein propose that these mechanisms can be disrupted in consequence of CASPR2 dysfunction in the context of disease, and thus contribute to disease pathogenesis.
Synaptic role of Caspr2 in the regulation of AMPAR trafficking and *in vivo* AMPAR-mediated synaptic transmission

In the present study we evaluated the subcellular distribution of Caspr2 and found that it is present in approximately half of all excitatory synapses in rat cortical neurons (Figure 4.1A, B), and enriched in PSD fractions from the mouse brain (Figure 4.1C, D). These findings are in agreement with reports indicating that Caspr2 is present in dendritic spines (Varea *et al.*, 2015) and enriched in the synaptic plasma membrane (Bakkaloglu *et al.*, 2008), and refute previous evidence suggesting that Caspr2 is merely perisynaptic and absent from the PSD (Chen *et al.*, 2015). Taking into consideration the functional relevance of proteins localized at the PSD, and how that localization often impacts their role in the regulation of Caspr2 gives out important clues about the potential roles it plays at the synapse. Being a cell-adhesion molecule, Caspr2 might act as a canonical synaptic CAM that bridges and stabilizes the synapse; alternatively, given its modular structure of domains involved in protein-protein interactions (Poliak *et al.*, 1999), Caspr2 can act as a scaffolding protein that helps anchoring other molecules to the PSD, namely other synaptic scaffolds, synaptic signalling molecules or proteins belonging to the glutamate receptor complex.

Indeed, in the present study we were able to establish a critical physiological role for Caspr2 in the regulation of glutamatergic function at excitatory synapses. When silencing Caspr2 expression, we observed a decrease in the cell surface expression of AMPARs in vitro at cortical synapses (Figure 4.3), and in the amplitude of AMPAR-mediated mEPSCs in vivo in the mouse visual cortex (Figure 4.4). Previous studies report defects in the dendritic arborisation and spine development of Cntnap2 KO cortical neurons (Anderson et al., 2012; Gdalyahu et al., 2015). However, in our system we didn't observe any changes in synapse number (data not shown) nor a decrease in the frequency of mEPSCs (Suppl. Table S1), indicating that our effects are purely postsynaptic. Furthermore, our observations are accordant with the presence of large cytoplasmic aggregates of AMPARs found in Cntnap2 KO cortical neurons (Varea et al., 2015), and, together, suggest an impairment in AMPAR trafficking and AMPAR-mediated synaptic transmission upon Caspr2 loss of function. The dynamic regulation of AMPAR trafficking and localization to synapses is a fundamental mechanism for the expression of multiples forms of synaptic plasticity, and it is known to be modulated by several mechanisms ranging from post-transcriptional and post-translational modifications of AMPAR subunits, to specific interacting partners (Anggono & Huganir, 2012; Jiang et al., 2006; Santos et al., 2009). In particular, several auxiliary AMPAR-interacting intracellular scaffolds (PSD95, SAP97 and other MAGUKs, PICK1, GRIP1, protein 4.1N, etc.)

and transmembrane proteins (Stargazin and other TARPs, cornichons, CKAMPs, SynDIG1, etc.) are able to control not only the targeting and insertion (or removal) of AMPARs to the cell membrane, but also their membrane lateral diffusion to the synapse and anchoring to the PSD (Jackson & Nicoll, 2011; Shepherd & Huganir, 2007). Importantly, although the mechanisms whereby Caspr2 regulates AMPAR trafficking are still unclear, in this study we found that Caspr2 immunoprecipitates the GluA1 subunit of AMPARs from cerebellum and cortical lysates (Figure 4.2C, D), and thus identify Caspr2 as a novel AMPAR-interacting protein.

Interestingly, we have previously identified Caspr1, the homologous family member of Caspr2, as a novel interactor of AMPARs capable of regulating their trafficking and synaptic content (Santos et al., 2012), indicating that both CASPR proteins play similar roles in AMPAR regulation. Accordingly, Caspr1 and Caspr2 share a significant degree of homology, and their overall molecular architecture is very similar (Peles et al., 1997; Poliak et al., 1999). Both proteins are single-pass transmembrane molecules with a long extracellular region of different domains that mediate cell adhesion roles and extracellular matrix interactions. Additionally, Caspr1 and Caspr2 encompass a short cytoplasmic tail with regulatory domains typically involved in protein-protein interactions that could be accountable for the binding with AMPARs. Indeed, we were able to demonstrate that Caspr1 interacts with AMPARs through its intracellular C-tail (Santos et al., 2012), although it remains undetermined through which domain, and whether the interaction occurs directly or through other binding partners. Importantly, however, we were able to dissect the molecular determinants behind Caspr1 function and identified the RNA-binding protein ZBP1 as the potential downstream mediator of Caspr1 in AMPAR regulation, through a post-transcriptional mechanism probably dependent on a C-tail proline-rich domain that is exclusive to Caspr1 structure (please refer to Chapter III); thus, it is unlikely that this mechanism also underlies Caspr2 function.

We haven't yet determined whether Caspr2 interacts with GluA1-AMPARs through its Ctail, but this small intracellular portion of Caspr2, whilst not containing the Caspr1-exclusive proline-rich domain (Peles *et al.*, 1997), encompasses a common GNP motif for the binding of FERM domain-containing proteins, and an additional type-II PDZ binding domain (Poliak *et al.*, 1999), both involved in important protein-protein interactions. Recent biochemical and proteomic studies have partially uncovered the interactome of Caspr2, identifying several novel interactors that bind to its intracellular tail, including the cytoskeleton adaptor 4.1N protein (Denisenko-Nehrbass *et al.*, 2003b), subunits of the Kv1 family of K⁺-channels (Horresh *et al.*, 2008), G protein-coupled receptor 37 [(GPR37), (Tanabe *et al.*, 2015)], members of the ADAM (Disintegrin and metalloproteinase domain-containing protein) family of proteins, in particular ADAM22 in complex with the secreted LGI1 (Leucine-rich glioma-inactivated 1) protein (Chen

154

et al., 2015), as well as PSD95, SAP97, CASK and other PSD-MAGUKs (Chen *et al.*, 2015; Horresh *et al.*, 2008; Poliak *et al.*, 1999). It is quite impressive that the majority of these intracellular Caspr2 interactors typically locate at the synapse, which argues in favour of Caspr2 playing a pivotal synaptic function. Importantly, most of these Caspr2 interactors have already established functions in the regulation of AMPAR trafficking [(Fukata *et al.*, 2006; Shen *et al.*, 2000) and reviewed in (Henley & Wilkinson, 2016; Shepherd & Huganir, 2007)], playing fundamental roles in virtually all steps of the AMPAR secretory pathway, all the way from their biogenesis in the ER to their insertion in the synaptic membrane and anchoring at the PSD.

Further investigation to fully understand the synaptic function of Caspr2 in AMPAR regulation will be crucial, but taking into consideration the evidence available so far, and the Caspr2 interactome, we can start to speculate in which step of AMPAR trafficking Caspr2 intervenes. Given the intracellular interaction of Caspr2 to PSD-MAGUKs, and its extracellular binding to partners such as Contactin-1 and Contactin-2 (Poliak et al., 2003; Rubio-Marrero et al., 2016), typically involved in cell-adhesion complexes, one first tantalizing hypothesis is that Caspr2 could serve as a bridge between the pre- and postsynaptic sides of the synapse, promoting the anchoring and stabilization of AMPARs in postsynaptic nanodomains that align with presynaptic sites of glutamate release in functional trans-synaptic molecular nanocolumns. Such modular organization of the synapse, which has just recently been demonstrated experimentally (MacGillavry et al., 2013; Nair et al., 2013; Tang et al., 2016), enables a higher resolution of spatio-temporal control of synaptic strength, and hence, a more efficient transmission of information [thoroughly reviewed in (Biederer et al., 2017)]. Although the mechanisms underlying this specialized alignment of the synapse are still unclear, several other CAMs, including Neuroligins and members of the LRRTM family, have been proposed to be important organizers of these trans-synaptic nanocolumns (Biederer et al., 2017), hence, a potential similar role could be played by Caspr2. An alternative hypothesis it that Caspr2 interacts with GluA1 early on during the secretory pathway to then promote the intracellular trafficking of AMPARs and their insertion to the cell surface and into the synapse. In the absence of Caspr2 (or Caspr2 dysfunction in consequence of gene variations), these mechanisms of AMPAR trafficking might be compromised, hence giving origin to cytoplasmic aggregates of the receptors [as observed in (Varea et al., 2015)], and the consequent decrease in their cell surface expression and synaptic content.

Interestingly, defects in AMPAR trafficking consequent to disruptions in Caspr2 function could, in principle, be explained by some of the identified sequence variations in the *CNTNAP2* gene [thoroughly reviewed in (Penagarikano & Geschwind, 2012; Poot, 2017)]. For instance, a rare frame-shift homozygous mutation of *CNTNAP2* (3709delG - single-base G deletion at

nucleotide 3709 in exon 22), found in individuals from an Old Order Amish family that presented cortical dysplasia and focal epilepsy, ASD-core behaviours with language regression, and mental retardation (Strauss et al., 2006), is predicted to result in a premature stop codon that produces a truncated form of the CASPR2 protein that lacks its transmembrane and cytoplasmic domains, resulting in a loss of function of the protein and shedding to the extracellular space (Falivelli et al., 2012; Strauss et al., 2006). These observations suggest that the intracellular region of CASPR2 must be a relevant molecular determinant underlying CASPR2-mediated functions in the brain, and fit adequately with our earlier hypothesis of a CASPR2 C-tail-mediated interaction to mediate AMPAR trafficking and anchoring in the synapse. One other rare nonsynonymous CNTNAP2 mutation found in monozygotic twins affected with autism [CASPR2 - D1129H, exon 21; (Bakkaloglu et al., 2008)], was shown to cause a local misfolding of the protein that is largely retained in the ER and Golgi apparatus, with consequent severe trafficking abnormalities of CASPR2 to the cell membrane (Falivelli et al., 2012). In accordance to what we hypothesized above, if CASPR2 interacts with GluA1 early on during the AMPAR secretory pathway, then this deleterious mutation in CNTNAP2 could disrupt AMPAR trafficking to the cell membrane, thus contributing to the formation of the cytoplasmic aggregates of AMPARs.

Unfortunately, these hypothesis are all still speculative, as little information is yet available regarding the molecular and cellular defects resulting from these and several other CNTNAP2 mutations [for a comprehensive review on all sequence variations found in the CNTNAP2 gene, please see (Penagarikano & Geschwind, 2012; Poot, 2017)]. Evidently, it is of the utmost importance to clarify the molecular determinants of the interaction of Caspr2 with AMPARs, in order to fully uncover potential regulatory mechanisms orchestrated by Caspr2, and comprehend how they can be affected by deleterious mutations in the CNTNAP2 gene. Furthermore, future experiments will be required to fully explore the role of Caspr2 in the regulation of AMPAR trafficking. Taking advantage of super-resolution microscopy techniques and single-particle tracking methods, further imaging experiments should be undertaken to determine whether Caspr2 regulates the intracellular trafficking of AMPARs to the cell membrane, or the dynamics of their lateral diffusion at the cell surface; as well as evaluate the potential of Caspr2 to function as an organizer of the modular nanodomain alignment of AMPARs at the synapse. Furthermore, coupling these experiments to a molecular replacement strategy with mutant forms of Caspr2 that mimic the genetic variations found in patients will provide invaluable knowledge on the mechanisms that underlie the pathogenesis of CNTNAP2-related neuropsychiatric disorders.

Requirement of Caspr2 in the regulation of homeostatic synaptic scaling and *in vivo* experience-dependent homeostatic plasticity

Synaptic plasticity mechanisms, of either Hebbian or homeostatic type, highly depend on rapid changes in the synaptic content of AMPARs to modulate activity-dependent alterations in synaptic strength. Interestingly, the molecular players underlying such AMPAR trafficking mechanisms are often themselves activity-regulated (Fernandes & Carvalho, 2016; Shepherd & Huganir, 2007). Taking into account the new role we attribute to Caspr2 in the regulation of basal AMPAR trafficking, we assessed whether Caspr2 could be regulated by neuronal activity. Indeed, we observed a marked upregulation in the expression of Caspr2, including at the synapse, following prolonged inhibition of neuronal activity in cortical neurons in vitro (Figure 4.5A, B - F, G). Of relevance, we observed a significant increase of Caspr2 levels in the primary visual cortex of mice that were visually deprived for two days (Figure 4.7), indicating that the expression of Caspr2 is regulated in vivo by sensory experience. This result is rather interesting as it suits well with the enriched expression of Caspr2 in all primary sensory cortical areas and in other brain regions involved in sensory signal processing (Gordon et al., 2016). Moreover, Cntnap2-null mice were shown to have impaired responses to olfactory sensory stimuli and anomalies in auditory processing (Gordon et al., 2016; Truong et al., 2015), which, together with our evidence, suggest that Caspr2 may be necessary for the integration of sensory information in response to sensory experience.

In agreement, further experiments in this study revealed that loss of Caspr2, induced by shRNA-mediated knockdown, prevents the homeostatic synaptic scaling of surface AMPARs following prolonged inhibition of neuronal activity *in vitro* (Figure 4.6), indicating that Caspr2 is required for the regulation of homeostatic synaptic plasticity. To our knowledge, this is the first conclusive evidence to establish a relevant role for Caspr2 in the modulation of synaptic plasticity phenomena, in particular of neuronal synaptic homeostasis. These findings are rather important as they contribute to increase the knowledge on the mechanisms underlying homeostatic plasticity, which remain poorly characterized to date. Our laboratory has contributed significantly to this field, identifying both the TARP Stargazin (Louros *et al.*, 2014) and Caspr1 (please refer to Chapter III), as well as its downstream target ZBP1, as novel molecular players underlying the expression of synaptic scaling mechanisms.

Given the requirement of Caspr2 to regulate AMPAR function *in vivo*, we took advantage of the amenability of the visual cortex for *in vivo* manipulations of neuronal activity (Whitt *et al.*, 2014) and further explored whether the role of Caspr2 in regulating homeostatic synaptic scaling was relevant *in vivo*. Accordingly, we observed that *in vivo* loss of Caspr2 in the primary

visual cortex hinders the scaling of AMPAR-mediated currents following prolonged visual deprivation (Figure 4.8), thus revealing a critical requirement of Caspr2 for the regulation of visually-driven experience-dependent plasticity. These findings confirm our earlier hypothesis that Caspr2 is necessary for the integration of sensory information in response to experience. Indeed, homeostatic plasticity mechanisms in vivo are thought to be of particular importance during periods of heightened plasticity, such as occurring not only during development, but also during sensory processing or adaptation to sensory environment changes, when synaptic contacts and neuronal circuits are massively remodelled (Fernandes & Carvalho, 2016; Turrigiano, 2008; Whitt et al., 2014). Homeostatic scaling processes were also shown to occur during cross-modal plasticity of sensory modalities [(Goel et al., 2006; Petrus et al., 2014), and reviewed in (Lee & Whitt, 2015)], a process elicited to compensate for the loss of function of an affected modality in either deaf or blind people, for instance. Furthermore, a relevant role for homeostatic plasticity has just been recently established in the regulation of sleep/wake physiology (de Vivo et al., 2017; Diering et al., 2017; Hengen et al., 2016), considered to be fundamental for memory consolidation and learning [reviewed in (Cirelli, 2017; Tononi & Cirelli, 2014)]. Curiously, Caspr2 protein levels in the mouse brain were shown to vary during the wake/sleep cycle (Diering et al., 2017), suggesting that Caspr2 might be relevant for the expression of homeostatic scaling mechanisms that regulate the sleep/wake physiology.

Most important, it has been proposed that a failure in neuronal synaptic homeostasis may result in neurological outcomes that overlap with symptoms of several neurological and neuropsychiatric disorders [reviewed in (Nelson & Valakh, 2015; Ramocki & Zoghbi, 2008; Wondolowski & Dickman, 2013)], suggesting that compromised homeostatic processes could contribute to disease pathophysiology. Consistent with this hypothesis is the observation that some of the strongest candidate risk genes implicated so far in such cognitive disorders are actual important molecular players involved in the mechanisms that regulate homeostatic plasticity, such as Stargazin, MeCP2, FMRP, SynGAP1, etc. [reviewed extensively in (Fernandes & Carvalho, 2016; Mullins et al., 2016; Volk et al., 2015; Wondolowski & Dickman, 2013)]. Accordingly, emerging evidence from disease animal models with mutated/ablated susceptibility genes show alterations in homeostatic signalling, with striking E/I imbalances and loss of general neuronal homeostasis, with animals presenting behavioural phenotypes that recapitulate disease symptoms [reviewed in (Huguet et al., 2013; Mullins et al., 2016; Wondolowski & Dickman, 2013)]. Interestingly, animal models lacking the Cntnap2 gene, besides displaying autistic-like behavioural phenotypes, also present reduced neuronal synchrony in the neocortex and altered E/I balance (Hoffman et al., 2016; Penagarikano et al., 2011), which is reminiscent of aberrant neuronal homeostasis. Accordingly, a recent report revealed a striking amelioration of abnormal behavioural phenotypes of *Cntnap2* KO mice following optogenetic manipulation of E/I balance (Selimbeyoglu *et al.*, 2017).

A role for disrupted homeostatic plasticity underlying disease pathogenesis is further supported by evidence of a wide percentage of neuropsychiatric patients presenting abnormal behavioural responses to sensory stimulation [reviewed in (LeBlanc & Fagiolini, 2011; Marco et al., 2011)]. Reports from autistic patients indicate the occurrence of both hyper- and hyposensitivities at multiple domains, as well as a disruption in the integration and processing of information across primary sensory modalities. Indeed, it is believed that autistic-like behavioural defects in communication and socialization skills might originate from abnormalities in auditory, visual and somatosensory processing, since higher cognitive processes require a parallel integration of information from these primary sensory areas [reviewed in (LeBlanc & Fagiolini, 2011; Marco et al., 2011)]. Our findings showing that animals lacking Caspr2 in their primary visual cortex cannot elicit homeostatic scaling mechanisms in response to visual experience, together with the studies revealing abnormal responses to olfactory sensory stimuli and anomalies in auditory processing of Cntnap2 KO mice (Gordon et al., 2016; Truong et al., 2015), may suggest that the integration and processing of information in primary sensory areas is modulated by Caspr2-dependent homeostatic processes. Importantly, we can speculate that deleterious CNTNAP2 mutations that disrupt this CASPR2 function could, in principle, impair the processing of sensory information and its integration into higher cognitive functions, which would, in turn, translate to abnormal output behaviours such as defective communication and social skills, hallmarks of autistic-core phenotypes. Overall, we herein propose that a failure in CASPR2-dependent mechanisms of neuronal synaptic homeostasis may underlie the pathogenesis of CNTNAP2/CASPR2associated neuropsychiatric disorders by driving hallmark defects in E/I balance and sensory integration and processing.

How do the proposed mechanisms integrate with other known CASPR2 functions?

In the present study we uncover an exciting and unanticipated novel function of Caspr2 in the regulation of glutamatergic function and homeostatic and experience-dependent synaptic plasticity, and propose that a disruption of such mechanisms might underlie the pathogenesis of *CNTNAP2*-associated neuropsychiatric disorders. Whilst our findings provide a plausible molecular underpinning that can, by itself, explain most of the psychiatric and cognitive phenotypes presented by patients, they must be integrated with other already

described functions of CASPR2, in order to get a full picture of the overall role of CASPR2 in the regulation of brain function.

CASPR2 was first identified as a membrane scaffold required for the clustering of Shaker-like K⁺ channels along the nodes of Ranvier of peripheral and, most recently, central myelinated neurons (Poliak et al., 1999; Poliak et al., 2003; Scott et al., 2017), in a process thought to be important for the regulation of myelination and axonal excitability. However, experimental evidence on this matter have been controversial, with some studies finding no gross alterations in myelination despite K⁺ channel disorganization (Liska et al., 2017; Poliak et al., 2003), whilst others report defects in nodal formation and myelin ensheathing, as well as abnormal action potential conductance in Cntnap2 KO mice (Scott et al., 2017). One other overarching phenotype reported in Cntnap2 KO animal models is a loss of GABAergic interneurons and impaired GABAergic inhibition (Bridi et al., 2017; Hoffman et al., 2016; Jurgensen & Castillo, 2015; Penagarikano et al., 2011; Vogt et al., 2017). Nevertheless, once again, these findings are not unanimous between studies, including our own. Indeed, several studies either find no changes in GABAergic neurotransmission (Scott et al., 2017), report converse alterations in glutamatergic and excitatory function [our own study, and (Gdalyahu et al., 2015; Varea et al., 2015)], or even uncover parallel disruption of both inhibitory and excitatory neurotransmission (Anderson et al., 2012), indicating that alterations in either excitation or inhibition upon loss of CASPR2 may not be mutually exclusive, and reflecting a most likely potential bidirectional effect in E/I balance. Finally, several other studies uncovered abnormalities in dendritic arborization and spine development and maintenance, as well as a decrease in synapse number (Anderson et al., 2012; Gdalyahu et al., 2015; Varea et al., 2015). These observations, together with the reported changes in the migration of excitatory projection neurons and cortical layer patterning (Penagarikano et al., 2011) can help explain the reduced local and long-range prefrontal functional connectivity observed both in Cntnap2 KO mice and in patients with CNTNAP2 variations (Liska et al., 2017; Scott-Van Zeeland et al., 2010).

Although the integration of all phenotypes subsequent to the loss of Caspr2 might suggest a multilevel regulatory role of Caspr2 in brain function, it is possible that some of the observed effects are secondary to others. Indeed, most studies performed so far to uncover CASPR2 functions should take into account possible masking/confounding effects that can arise from the use of a full KO model that presents such a wide-ranging spectrum of severe phenotypes. The advantage of using a transient model of genetic deletion such as shRNA-mediated knockdown is that any defects consequent to the loss of Caspr2 are occurring in a cell-autonomous manner, thus allowing us to pinpoint specific Caspr2-dependent molecular

160

mechanisms more easily. Finally, it is likely that divergent or dissimilar reports between studies can be explained by differences in the age of the animals or the brain region under study. Indeed, in our experiments we came across one clear example of this: although loss of Caspr2 decreases the trafficking of surface AMPARs in both hippocampal and cortical neurons (Figure 4.3 vs. Figure 4.S3), Caspr2 is only required for the regulation of homeostatic synaptic scaling in the cortex (Figure 4.6 vs. Figure 4.S6), whilst in the hippocampus these mechanisms depend on Caspr1 (see Chapter III).

How far have we come in understanding the pathogenesis of *CNTNAP2*-related neuropsychiatric disorders?

Mutations in the *CNTNAP2* gene have been recurrently associated to an impressive number of distinct neuropsychiatric disorders, with patients presenting a wide variability in phenotypes, even within the same disease spectrum [reviewed in (Penagarikano & Geschwind, 2012; Poot, 2017; Rodenas-Cuadrado *et al.*, 2014)]. Indeed, several of the identified sequence variations associated to either ASD, ID or SCZ, among others, are scattered throughout the entire *CNTNAP2* gene, such that no specific gene domain can be correlated to a single disorder. These observations agree with the idea that different mutations in the same gene may cause distinct molecular, cellular and functional phenotypes, an effect that was just recently observed for ASD- and SCZ-related mutations in the *SHANK3* gene (Zhou *et al.*, 2016), and for SCZ- and ID-associated mutations in the Stargazin-encoding *CACNG2* gene (unpublished data from our laboratory by Caldeira, G. *et al.*).

The only molecular studies to date that evaluate the deleterious effect of specific *CNTNAP*2 mutations exclusively explore effects in CASPR2 itself: one rare frame-shift homozygous mutation (3709delG) originates a non-functional truncated form of CASPR2 that is secreted to the extracellular space (Falivelli *et al.*, 2012; Strauss *et al.*, 2006); one other nonsynonymous mutation (D1129H) produces a misfolded protein that is largely retained in the ER (Bakkaloglu *et al.*, 2008; Falivelli *et al.*, 2012); whilst another homozygous deletion introduces a premature stop codon that elicits nonsense-mediated mRNA decay, thus producing no protein at all (Rodenas-Cuadrado *et al.*, 2016; Watson *et al.*, 2014). Alas, no information is yet available regarding the cellular or functional outcomes arising from any particular *CNTNAP2* mutation.

Given the modular structure of CASPR2, it is likely that different mutations, independently of the disease spectrum, will give rise to specific cellular and functional phenotypes, depending on which protein domains of CASPR2 are affected. If holding true, such specific phenotypic clusters from unrelated mutations would be indicative of a common pathophysiology of psychiatric disorders. Now that several putative functions have been described for CASPR2, it is of the utmost importance that additional molecular studies are performed to explore the cellular and functional phenotypes of specific *CNTNAP2* mutations, evaluate how they differ from one another, and assess how they contribute to disease pathogenesis and correlate with patient symptomatology.

Conclusions

In this chapter, we identify the autism-related Caspr2 as a novel interactor of AMPARs that regulates their trafficking and function at the synapse, and reveal a specific requirement of Caspr2 for the expression of mechanisms underlying homeostatic synaptic plasticity. Importantly, our observations uncover an exciting and unsuspected physiological role for Caspr2 in the regulation of cortical glutamatergic function and sensory-driven experience-dependent plasticity *in vivo*. Future experiments will be required to uncover the downstream mechanisms underlying the proposed function of Caspr2, and to explore if glutamatergic function and neuronal synaptic homeostasis can be disrupted by specific *CNTNAP2* mutations. Overall, our findings underscore potential targets for dysfunction in disease, and propose that they contribute to the pathogenesis and underlie the cognitive and psychiatric symptoms of *CNTNAP2*-related psychiatric disorders.

Supplementary Figures



Figure 4.S1 – Caspr2 is expressed along dendrites in hippocampal neurons, where it localizes to excitatory synapses. (A, B) 15 DIV Banker cultured hippocampal neurons were fixed and stained against Caspr2, the postsynaptic marker PSD95 and the presynaptic marker vGluT1. (A) Representative immunofluorescence image of a hippocampal neuron showing significant co-localization between Caspr2 clusters and synaptic puncta. Blue square inset of a dendrite zoomed in on right panels. *Scale bars* = 5 μ m. (B) Quantification of the number of glutamatergic synapses per dendritic length, identified as clusters with double positive signal for both synaptic markers PSD95 and vGluT1 (PSD95⁺/vGluT1⁺), that contain Caspr2 (PSD95⁺/vGluT1⁺/Caspr2⁺). Total number of analysed cells was obtained from three independent experiments. Results are presented as means ± S.E.M. (N=3, n=30 cells).



Figure 4.S2 – The dendritic distribution pattern of Caspr2 substantially overlaps with the GluA1 subunit of AMPARs. (A, B) 15 DIV low-density cultured hippocampal neurons were live-stained with an antibody against an extracellular epitope in the GluA1 N-terminus, fixed, and then stained for Caspr2 and the synaptic marker PSD95. (A) Representative immunofluorescence images showing the dendritic and synaptic distribution of GluA1 and Caspr2, with substantial cluster co-localization. *Scale bars = 5 \mu m*. (B) Quantification of the number of surface GluA1 clusters (GluA1⁺) per dendritic length that are also positive for Caspr2 (GluA1⁺/Caspr2⁺). Total number of analysed cells was obtained from three independent experiments. Results are presented as means ± S.E.M. (N=3; n=30 cells).



Figure 4.S3 – Caspr2 is required to regulate the synaptic content of cell surface AMPARs in hippocampal neurons. (A) Representative immunofluorescence images of mCherry-positive low-density cultured hippocampal neurons transfected at DIV 7 with a control empty vector or a plasmid encoding the Caspr2 shRNA, or co-transfected with the Caspr2 shRNA and a shRNA-resistant Caspr2 rescue mutant. At DIV 15, cells were live-stained against an extracellular epitope of GluA1, fixed, and then stained for the synaptic marker PSD95. Scale bars = 5 μ m. (B) The fluorescence intensity of total and PSD95-colocalized synaptic clusters of surface GluA1 was analysed from mCherry-expressing transfected neurons. Total number of analysed cells was obtained from at least three independent experiments. (N≥3, n≥ 30cells). Results are presented as means \pm S.E.M and the statistical significance was determined by the non-parametric Kruskal-Wallis test, followed by Dunn's Multiple Comparison post-hoc test, **p<0.01, ****p<0.0001 compared to control, and ####p<0.0001 relative to Caspr2-shRNA.



Figure 4.S4 – Caspr2 is not required for maintaining basal levels of surface GluA2-containing AMPARs. Loss of Caspr2 expression in either cortical (A, B) or hippocampal neurons (C, D) has no effect in the expression of surface GluA2-containing AMPARs. (A, C) Representative immunofluorescence images of mCherry-positive low-density cultured cortical (A) and hippocampal (C) neurons transfected at DIV 7 with a control empty vector or a plasmid encoding the Caspr2 shRNA, or co-transfected with the Caspr2 shRNA and a shRNA-resistant Caspr2 rescue mutant. At DIV 13/15, cells were stained against an extracellular epitope of GluA2 and for the synaptic marker PSD95. Scale bars = 5 μ m. (B, D) The fluorescence intensity of total and PSD95-colocalized synaptic clusters of surface GluA2 was analysed from mCherry-expressing transfected cortical (B) and hippocampal (D) neurons. Results are presented as means \pm S.E.M. [In (B), N=2, n≥ 15cells; in (D), N=3, n≥ 30cells].



Figure 4.S5 – The endogenous expression of Caspr2 in hippocampal neurons is regulated by neuronal activity. (A-C) Prolonged neuronal inactivity in hippocampal neurons increases total and synaptic clusters of Caspr2. Neuronal activity in 13 DIV low-density cultured hippocampal neurons was inhibited for 48 h either with 1 μ M TTX together with 100 μ M APV. Cells were then live-stained with a specific antibody against an extracellular epitope in GluA1 N-terminus, fixed, and then stained for Caspr2 and the synaptic marker PSD95. (A) Representative immunofluorescence images of cultured hippocampal neurons treated for 48 h with TTX + APV, and stained for superficial GluA1, Caspr2 and PSD95. *Scale bars* = $5\mu m$. (B, C) The fluorescence intensity of total and PSD95-colocalized synaptic clusters of Caspr2 (B), and the intensity and number of surface GluA1 clusters that colocalize with Caspr2 (C) were quantified. Total number of analysed cells was obtained from three independent experiments. (N≥3, n≥30 cells). Results are presented as mean ± S.E.M. and statistical significance was determined by the non-parametric Mann-Whitney Test, **p<0.01, ****P<0.001, ****p<0.001 compared to control.



Figure 4.S6 – Caspr2 is not necessary for homeostatic upscaling of synaptic GluA1-containing AMPARs in hippocampal neurons. (A) Representative immunofluorescence images of mCherry-positive low-density cultured hippocampal neurons transfected at DIV 7 with a control empty vector (control) or a plasmid encoding the Caspr2 shRNA, or co-transfected with the Caspr2 shRNA and a shRNA-resistant Caspr2 rescue mutant. At DIV 13, neuronal activity was blocked for 48 h with 1 µM TTX and 100 µM APV. Cells were then live-stained with an antibody against an extracellular epitope in GluA1 Nterminus, fixed, and then stained for the synaptic marker PSD95. Scale bars = $5\mu m$. (B, C) The fluorescence intensity of total (B) and PSD95-colocalized synaptic (C) clusters of surface GluA1 was analysed from mCherry-expressing transfected neurons. Total number of analysed cells was obtained from at least three independent experiments (N≥3, n≥30 cells). Results are presented as mean ± S.E.M., and statistical significance was determined by the parametric two-way ANOVA Test, followed by Tukey's Multiple Comparison Test, **p<0.01 compared to control, ##p<0.01, ###p<0.001 relative to control Caspr2-shRNA.



Figure 4.S7 – Caspr1 does not regulate the synaptic content of cell surface **GluA1-containing** AMPARs in cortical neurons. (A) Representative immunofluorescence images of mCherry-positive low-density cultured cortical neurons transfected at DIV 7 with a control empty vector or a plasmid encoding the Caspr1 shRNA, or co-transfected with the Caspr1 shRNA and a shRNA-resistant Caspr1 rescue mutant. At DIV 13, cells were live-stained against an extracellular epitope of GluA1, fixed, and then stained for the synaptic marker PSD95. Scale bars = 5 μm . (B) The fluorescence intensity of total and PSD95-colocalized synaptic clusters of surface GluA1 was analysed from mCherryexpressing transfected neurons. Total number of analysed cells was obtained from at least three independent experiments. (N≥3, n≥ 30cells). Results are presented as mean ± S.E.M and statistical significance was determined by the non-parametric Kruskal-Wallis test, followed by Dunn's Multiple Comparison test.



Figure 4.S8 – Caspr1 is not required for *in vivo* regulation of AMPAR function in the mouse primary visual cortex (V1). Lentivirus encoding either an empty-vector or the shRNA against Caspr1 were generated, and injected into layer2/3 of the V1 of normal reared P21-P28 C57BL/6J mice. Five weeks post-injection, AMPAR-mediated mEPSCs were recorded from mCherry-expressing infected V1-L2/3 pyramidal neurons. (A - C) Comparison of representative mEPSC traces (A), average mEPSC traces (B) and average mEPSC amplitudes (C) recorded from V1-L2/3 pyramidal cells of either control mice (black, n=13 cells), empty vector-infected (grey, n=9 cells) or shRNA Caspr1-infected mice (pink, n=9 cells). In (C), results are presented as mean ± S.E.M. and statistical significance was determined by one-way ANOVA test followed by Fisher's protected least significant difference (PLSD) post hoc test.

Supplementary Tables

 Table S1 – Comparison of mEPSCs and neuronal parameters across experimental groups of lentiviral-infected mice subject to visual paradigms.

Experiment Group	Paradigm	Amplitude (pA)	Frequency (Hz)	Rise time (ms)	Decay (т, ms)	RMS Noise	Series R (MΩ)	Input R (MΩ)
Non-	NR	12.6±0.52	5.5±0.54	1.22±0.05	3.49±0.16	1.9±0.02	16.5±0.8	252.2±14.3
infected	DE	15.1±1.02*	5.6±0.94	1.18±0.06	3.55±0.20	1.8±0.05	15.8±0.7	223.6±21.6
Empty	NR	12.8±0.65	8.1±0.62	1.10±0.08	3.07±0.17	1.9±0.04	16.5±1.3	241.3±14.0
vector	DE	14.1±1.63	4.4±0.48	1.28±0.09	3.75±0.26	1.8±0.04	19.8±1.2	424.5±49.8
ShRNA	NR	11.0±0.46*#	7.0±0.72	1.35±0.04	3.99±0.29	1.8±0.05	21.0±1.6	334.4±36.4
Caspr2	DE	10.3±0.55	5.5±0.64	1.21±0.05	3.71±0.22	1.8±0.06	19.4±1.4	353.6±47.4

Results are presented as mean \pm S.E.M. of each measured parameter from neurons. (*R*: resistance). When comparing NR conditions across different genotypes, statistical significance was determined by one-way ANOVA test, followed by Fisher's PLSD post-hoc test: *p<0.05 relative to control NR, and #p<0.05 relative to empty-vector NR. For comparison of NR vs. DE within genotypes statistical significance was determined by Mann-Whitney test, *p<0.05 compared to WT

Chapter V Results & Discussion

Disrupted AMPA receptor function upon autoantibody-mediated loss of Caspr2

Part of the results in this chapter are included in the following manuscript in submission:

Dominique Fernandes, Sandra Santos, Ester Coutinho, Jessica L. Whitt, Tiago Rondão, M. Isabel Leite, Camilla Buckley, Hey-Kyoung Lee & Ana Luísa Carvalho (2018). Disrupted AMPA receptor function upon genetic- or antibody-mediated loss of autism-associated CASPR2. In submission

Summary

Autoimmune synaptic encephalitides are recently described neurological rare diseases thought to develop in consequence of aberrant autoantibody production against surface neuronal proteins, including CASPR2. Autoantibodies against CASPR2 (CASPR2-Abs) were first identified in the serum and cerebrospinal fluid of patients featuring diverse clinical presentations, including Morvan's syndrome, limbic encephalitis, memory and cognitive impairments and psychosis. However, definitive evidence for a pathogenic role of CASPR2-Abs remains elusive, and the mechanisms underlying disease symptoms are still uncharacterized.

Herein, we set out to explore the pathogenic mechanisms elicited by CASPR2-Abs, by using human immunoglobulins (IgGs) purified from the plasma of a patient with CASPR2 encephalitis. We found that patient IgGs significantly decrease the synaptic content of endogenous Caspr2 and cell surface AMPARs in cortical neurons, suggesting that CASPR2-Abs exert pathogenesis by disrupting the role we previously described for Caspr2 in the regulation of AMPAR trafficking. Moreover, we discovered that patient IgGs hamper Caspr2 function *in vivo* and perturb basal glutamatergic synaptic transmission in the visual cortex of mice. Additionally, patient IgGs prevent the triggering of long-term potentiation, whilst sparing homeostatic synaptic scaling mechanisms. Finally, we reveal that patient IgGs bound to the neuronal surface can undergo time-dependent internalization, thus underpinning a likely mechanism of pathogenesis elicited by CASPR2-Abs. Altogether, our findings pinpoint the glutamatergic system as a likely target for pathogenesis ensuing from an antibody-mediated disruption of CASPR2 function, and elucidate the mechanisms driving the cognitive and psychiatric symptoms presented by patients.

Introduction

For a long time, the brain was thought to be an immunologically privileged organ, mostly owing to the blood-brain barrier (BBB) and its capacity to limit the access of antibodies, immune mediators and immune cells from the systemic circulation into the brain. The discovery, around 10 years ago, of autoantibodies against cell surface neuronal proteins in immunotherapy-responsive patients manifesting with severe, but reversible, neurological and neuropsychiatric symptoms, drove a new paradigm shift in the establishment and understanding of CNS autoimmunity [reviewed in (Coutinho *et al.*, 2014; Crisp *et al.*, 2016; Dalmau, 2016; Jain & Balice-Gordon, 2016)]. This seminal finding boosted a massive expansion in the clinical diagnosis of many new patients or of patients previously misdiagnosed with some kind of idiopathic neurological syndrome or psychosis, and in the development of better therapies that significantly improved the outcome of patients, otherwise at life risk [reviewed in (Chefdeville *et al.*, 2016; Coutinho *et al.*, 2016; Lancaster & Dalmau, 2012)].

Throughout the past decade, several surface antigenic epitopes have been identified to be targeted for autoantibody-binding in a disorder now generally termed autoimmune synaptic encephalitis, given the significant proportion of targeted neuronal receptors and synaptic proteins, including glutamate receptors of both NMDA- (Dalmau *et al.*, 2008; Dalmau *et al.*, 2007) and AMPA-type (Lai *et al.*, 2009), GABAergic (Lancaster *et al.*, 2010; Petit-Pedrol *et al.*, 2014), glycinergic (Hutchinson *et al.*, 2008) and metabotropic receptors (Lancaster *et al.*, 2014), including the leucine-rich glioma-inactivated 1 protein [LGI1; (Irani *et al.*, 2010; Lai *et al.*, 2010)] and Contactin-associated protein 2 [CASPR2; (Irani *et al.*, 2010; Lancaster *et al.*, 2011a)], among others [extensively reviewed in (Chefdeville *et al.*, 2016; Coutinho *et al.*, 2014; Crisp *et al.*, 2016; Dalmau, 2016)].

Autoantibodies against the synaptic cell-adhesion molecule CASPR2 (CASPR2-Abs) were first identified in the serum and cerebrospinal fluid of patients with autoimmune encephalitis less than a decade ago [(Irani *et al.*, 2010; Lancaster *et al.*, 2011a), and reviewed in (Bastiaansen *et al.*, 2017; Pruss & Lennox, 2016; van Sonderen *et al.*, 2017)], and have since been associated with the development of a very diverse clinical spectrum of neurological syndromes that can include neuromyotonia, Morvan's syndrome and limbic encephalitis [reviewed in (Bastiaansen *et al.*, 2017; Binks *et al.*, 2017; Pruss & Lennox, 2016; van Sonderen *et al.*, 2016; van Sonderen *et al.*, 2017; Binks *et al.*, 2017; Pruss & Lennox, 2016; van Sonderen *et al.*, 2017)]. These syndromes frequently overlap, presenting with peripheral disturbances including peripheral nerve hyperexcitability and neuropathic pain, but also central nervous system dysfunctions such as sleep alterations, seizures, memory impairment, cognitive deficits

and psychosis (Bien *et al.*, 2017; Irani *et al.*, 2010; Irani *et al.*, 2012; Joubert *et al.*, 2016; Klein *et al.*, 2013; Lancaster *et al.*, 2011a; Somers *et al.*, 2011; Sunwoo *et al.*, 2015; van Sonderen *et al.*, 2016). In most reported cases of CASPR2-Ab encephalitis, there is a favourable response to timely immunotherapy, with robust patient improvement. Nevertheless, the risk for relapse is particularly high and most patients require continuous immunosuppression throughout life, with some retaining permanent cognitive sequelae [reviewed in (Bastiaansen *et al.*, 2017; Binks *et al.*, 2017; Pruss & Lennox, 2016; van Sonderen *et al.*, 2017)]. Interestingly, the severity of symptoms in CASPR2-Ab encephalitis, particularly those of psychiatric nature, is associated with higher CASPR2-Ab titres in the patient serum and CSF, whereas symptom recovery following immunotherapy correlates with decreasing circulating titres [reviewed in (Bastiaansen *et al.*, 2017; Pruss & Lennox, 2016; van Sonderen *et al.*, 2017)], which is suggestive of a potential direct pathogenic effect of CASPR2-Abs.

Indeed, the cell surface localization of synaptic antigens such as CASPR2 can, in principle, allow autoantibodies to directly modulate the structure and function of the target antigen, hinting at a direct antibody-mediated pathogenic effect. In agreement, several studies have recently emerged reporting synaptic and cellular disruptive mechanisms induced by NMDAR- (Hughes *et al.*, 2010; Mikasova *et al.*, 2012; Moscato *et al.*, 2014; Zhang *et al.*, 2012), AMPAR- (Gleichman *et al.*, 2014; Lai *et al.*, 2009; Peng *et al.*, 2015) and LGI1-Abs (Ohkawa *et al.*, 2013), that closely mimic pharmacological or genetic disruption models of the corresponding antigens [reviewed in (Chefdeville *et al.*, 2016; Crisp *et al.*, 2016; Dalmau, 2016; Masdeu *et al.*, 2016)]. Furthermore, definite proof of antibody pathogenicity has just been established for NMDAR-Abs: mice subjected to an antibody passive transfer protocol with chronic ventricular infusion of patients' CSF samples develop a transient phenotype recapitulating patients' symptoms that is gradually resolved once infusion is stopped (Planaguma *et al.*, 2015).

To date, very few studies have explored potential disruptive cellular mechanisms induced by CASPR2-Abs, and their pathogenicity hasn't been fully established yet. Curiously, the cognitive and psychiatric symptoms of CASPR2-Ab encephalitis patients substantially overlap with those of neuropsychiatric patients carrying mutations in the CASPR2-encoding gene *CNTNAP2* [reviewed in (Penagarikano & Geschwind, 2012; Poot, 2017; Rodenas-Cuadrado *et al.*, 2014)], and with behavioural phenotypes presented by *Cntnap2* KO animal models (Hoffman *et al.*, 2016; Penagarikano *et al.*, 2011), which further argues in favour of the pathogenicity of CASPR2-Abs. Importantly, circulating CASPR2-Abs were recently detected during pregnancy in mothers of children with autism-spectrum disorders (Brimberg *et al.*, 2016) or intellectual disability (Coutinho *et al.*, 2017a), and recent studies reveal that offspring mice

178

exposed *in utero* to CASPR2-Abs develop behavioural abnormalities that relate to neuropsychiatric phenotypes (Brimberg *et al.*, 2016; Coutinho *et al.*, 2017b), thus hinting that gestational transfer of maternal CASPR2-Abs to the foetus could be pathogenic and likely contribute to the development of neuropsychiatric disorders in the progeny.

Taking into consideration the expanding clinical spectrum of anti-CASPR2 autoimmune encephalitis, and the lack of definite proof of a direct CASPR2-Ab-induced pathogenesis underlying the disease and patients' symptoms, we believe it is of the utmost importance to explore potential synaptic, cellular and functional phenotypes triggered by CASPR2-Abs. In the previous chapter of this study (Please refer to Chapter IV – Homeostatic and experiencedependent regulation of AMPA receptors by Caspr2), we uncovered a novel synaptic role for Caspr2 in the regulation of AMPAR trafficking to synapses, as well as a physiological function in the control of excitatory synaptic transmission in the mouse primary visual cortex. Furthermore, we revealed an unanticipated requirement of this Caspr2 function in the regulation of synaptic scaling mechanisms underlying experience-dependent homeostatic synaptic plasticity. In line with these findings, in the present chapter we address the hypothesis that CASPR2-Abs perturb this novel synaptic role of CASPR2 and consequently impair AMPAR trafficking and function, and disrupt synaptic plasticity phenomena. Herein, we demonstrate that human immunoglobulins (IgGs) purified from serum samples of a patient with CASPR2-Ab encephalitis specifically recognize and bind to Caspr2, altering its dendritic and synaptic distribution in rat cortical neurons. Additionally, we observe a parallel decrease in the synaptic content of cell surface GluA1-containing AMPARs in cortical neurons incubated with patient IgGs, confirming our hypothesis that CASPR2-Abs may exert their pathogenicity by impeding the function of Caspr2 in the regulation of AMPAR synaptic trafficking. Furthermore, we reveal a significant perturbation in cortical excitatory synaptic transmission induced by CASPR2-Abs, since *in vivo* incubation of patient IgGs in the mouse primary visual cortex (V1) decreases the amplitude of AMPAR-mediated miniature excitatory postsynaptic currents (mEPSCs). Although mechanisms of homeostatic synaptic scaling remain intact, we further demonstrate that patient IgGs impair the trafficking and synaptic insertion of AMPARs induced by a chemical protocol of long-term potentiation (cLTP), suggesting a failure in activitydependent changes of synaptic strength that are necessary for learning and memory processes. Finally, preliminary evidence indicate that CASPR2-Abs bound to cortical neurons are internalized from the cell surface, hinting at a likely preferential mechanism of pathogenesis in CASPR2-Ab encephalitis.

Overall, our findings uncover striking defects in AMPAR trafficking and function occurring subsequently to an autoantibody-mediated disruption of Caspr2 function, suggesting that dysregulation of glutamatergic synaptic transmission is a likely mechanism underlying the pathogenesis of CASPR2-Ab encephalitis. Importantly, these observations help clarify some of the severe cognitive and psychiatric symptoms presented by patients and may enable the development of more specific and efficient therapies for this type of encephalitis.

Results

CASPR2 autoantibodies purified from a patient with autoimmune encephalitis specifically recognize and bind to Caspr2, altering its synaptic distribution

Autoantibodies targeting surface epitopes of CASPR2 (CASPR2-Abs) have just recently been found in patients with autoimmune synaptic encephalitis that present with severe neurological and neuropsychiatric symptoms. However, to date, it is unclear whether CASPR2-Abs play a direct role in disease pathogenesis and the mechanisms underlying patients' symptoms still remain elusive. In collaboration with the John Radcliffe Hospital at Oxford University, we collected serum samples from a male patient with anti-CASPR2 autoimmune encephalitis presenting with severe cognitive symptoms (for details of the patient and his clinical history, please refer to Chapter II - Material and Methods) in order to explore the mechanisms underlying the pathogenesis of CASPR2 autoantibodies. Antibodies in the patient serum, at a titration of 1:6400 as determined by a live cell-based assay as previously described in (Coutinho et al., 2017b), were shown to bind strongly to the surface of rat hippocampal neurons after 1 h incubation (Supplementary Figure 5.S1A). To test for specificity of binding to CASPR2, patient serum was first pre-absorbed in either untransfected HEK293 cells (Suppl. Figure 5.S1B) or in cells transfected with human CASPR2 (Suppl. Figure 5.S1C), and then reincubated in hippocampal cultures. We observed that staining of hippocampal neurons was lost after pre-absorption of serum in CASPR2-transfected cells (Suppl. Figure 5.S1C). Human immunoglobulins (IgGs) were then purified from samples through an ammonium sulphate precipitation method, as previously described in (Coutinho et al., 2017b), and their specificity of binding to CASPR2 was again confirmed (Figure 5.1A). Cultured hippocampal neurons from either WT or Cntnap2 KO mice were incubated for 1 h with human IgGs purified from the patient serum (patient plgG), fixed and then immunolabeled with an appropriate anti-human secondary antibody to detect human IgGs. After permeabilization, neurons were further stained against the neuronal marker MAP2 (Figure 5.1A). We observed that whilst patient plgGs bind strongly to the surface of WT hippocampal neurons, they fail to do so on Cntnap2 KO neurons, indicating that the human IgGs present in the patient plasma specifically recognize and bind to Caspr2. Moreover, this finding indicates that it is unlikely that the patient serum contains antibodies against other target antigens, otherwise patient IgGs would still bind the surface of neurons lacking Caspr2.



Figure 5.1 – CASPR2 autoantibodies specifically recognize and bind to Caspr2, altering its synaptic content. (A) CASPR2 autoantibodies fail to bind to Cntnap2 KO hippocampal neurons. 14 - 18 DIV WT or Cntnap2 KO mouse hippocampal neurons were incubated for 1 h with human immunoglobulins (IgGs) purified from the plasma of a patient with anti-CASPR2 encephalitis (Patient plgGs). Neurons were then fixed and immunolabelled against human IgGs and the neuronal/dendritic marker MAP2. Patient pIgGs bind strongly to the surface of WT, but not of Cntnap2 KO neurons. Images kindly provided by Ester Coutinho (Oxford University, UK). (B, C) CASPR2 autoantibodies significantly decrease the synaptic expression of Caspr2 in WT rat cortical neurons. 13 DIV low-density cultured cortical neurons were incubated for 7 h with 200 ng/mL of human IgGs purified from the plasma of either the patient, or of a sex- and age-matched healthy subject (Healthy plgG). Cells were then fixed and stained for Caspr2 and the synaptic marker PSD95. (B) Representative fluorescence images of cultured cortical neurons incubated for 7 h with either healthy or patient-purified human IgGs, and stained for Caspr2 and PSD95. Scale bars = 5µm. (C) The fluorescence intensity of total and synaptic (co-localized with PSD95) clusters of Caspr2 was quantified. Total number of analysed cells was obtained from three independent experiments. (N=3, n≥30 cells). Results are presented as mean ± S.E.M. and statistical significance was determined by the non-parametric Kruskal-Wallis test, followed by Dunn's Multiple Comparison post-hoc test, **p<0.01 compared to control, #p<0.05 relative to healthy plgG.

Given the specificity of the human IgGs purified from the patient serum to bind Caspr2, we asked whether these CASPR2-Abs may have a direct modulatory effect on the structure and function of their target antigen. To investigate this, we started by evaluating the effect of CASPR2-Abs in the dendritic and synaptic distribution of Caspr2. For that, low-density cultured rat cortical neurons were incubated for 7 h with 200 pg/mL of plgGs purified from either the patient, or from an age- and sex-matched healthy control subject, and then immunolabeled with an antibody specific for Caspr2, and for the postsynaptic scaffolding protein PSD95 to identify glutamatergic synapses (Figure 5.1B, C). Firstly, we observed that only the patient plgGs, but not lgGs purified from the healthy control, are able to bind to dendritic compartments of cortical neurons (Supplementary Figure 5.S2), which once again argues for the specificity of binding of CASPR2-Abs. Quantitative immunofluorescence analysis revealed that, whilst incubation of neurons with healthy plgGs did not affect the distribution and expression of Caspr2 when compared to non-incubated control cells, incubation with patient plgGs resulted in a marked decrease of 25.4 ± 6.1% in the fluorescence intensity of total dendritic clusters of Caspr2 (Figure 5.1C - left). Moreover, the fluorescence intensity of Caspr2 clusters located at the synapse, as determined by cluster co-localization with the postsynaptic marker PSD95, was also significantly decreased by 54.5 ± 7.2% upon incubation with patient plgGs (Figure 5.1C - right).

Overall, these results demonstrate that autoantibodies in the serum of a patient with autoimmune encephalitis specifically recognize and bind to Caspr2, resulting in a significant disruption of the dendritic distribution of Caspr2, as well as of its synaptic content. To our knowledge, this is the first study reporting a CASPR2-Ab-mediated perturbation in the levels of endogenous Caspr2, thus indicating that CASPR2-Abs, similarly to NMDAR- (Hughes *et al.*, 2010; Mikasova *et al.*, 2012; Moscato *et al.*, 2014; Zhang *et al.*, 2012), AMPAR- (Gleichman *et al.*, 2014; Lai *et al.*, 2009; Peng *et al.*, 2015) and LGI1-Abs (Ohkawa *et al.*, 2013), can directly modulate the expression/distribution of their target antigen, and most likely its function, hinting at a direct antibody-mediated pathogenic effect of CASPR2-Abs underlying the patient's symptoms.

CASPR2 autoantibodies disrupt cortical synaptic AMPAR trafficking and glutamatergic synaptic transmission in the mouse visual cortex

Patients with anti-CASPR2 autoimmune encephalitis typically present with a very diverse clinical spectrum of neurological syndromes that can include neuromyotonia, Morvan's Syndrome and limbic encephalitis. Patients often manifest a clinical condition that overlaps the different syndromes, presenting with autonomic disturbances, peripheral nerve hyperexcitability and neuropathic pain, but also sleep alterations and insomnia, seizures, confusion, memory impairment, cognitive deficits and psychosis, reflecting a complex dysfunction of both the peripheral and central nervous systems underlying disease pathophysiology [reviewed in (Bastiaansen et al., 2017; Binks et al., 2017; Pruss & Lennox, 2016; van Sonderen et al., 2017)]. Such dysregulation can be correlated with the complex spectrum of cellular and molecular functions recently attributed to CASPR2. Initial reports following the identification of CASPR2 pinpointed a fundamental role of the protein in the regulation of voltage-gated K⁺-channel clustering in axonal microdomains of peripheral myelinated neurons and, thus, in the modulation of action potential propagation and axonal excitability. This sole role of CASPR2 could easily sustain the peripheral nature of patients' symptoms, but falls short on clarifying the pathogenesis for such a striking CNS dysfunction. The development of Cntnap2 KO animal models, which present aberrant behavioural phenotypes that remarkably recapitulate the symptoms of CNTNAP2-related neuropsychiatric patients, enabled a better understanding of the role of CASPR2 in the regulation of brain function. Accordingly, numerous studies from recent years report hallmark defects in neuronal migration, dysregulated balance of excitation and inhibition, altered dendritic complexity, as well as synapse abnormalities [extensively reviewed in (Penagarikano & Geschwind, 2012; Poot, 2017; Rodenas-Cuadrado et al., 2014)].

Furthermore, in the previous chapter of this study (please refer to Chapter IV), we uncovered an additional unsuspected role for Caspr2 in the regulation of glutamate AMPAR trafficking and function. Indeed, we found that loss of Caspr2 decreases the synaptic content of cell surface AMPARs, and disrupts glutamatergic synaptic transmission *in vivo*. Moreover, we revealed an activity-dependent requirement of Caspr2 to regulate homeostatic mechanisms of synaptic scaling underlying the expression of sensory-driven experience-dependent synaptic plasticity in the mouse visual cortex. Importantly, the dynamic regulation of AMPAR trafficking and function at the synapse is necessary for the expression of different forms of synaptic plasticity (Anggono & Huganir, 2012; Shepherd & Huganir, 2007), considered the cellular correlates of higher cognitive processes, including learning and memory, and a failure in such mechanisms has already been proposed to underlie the pathogenesis of several

neuropsychiatric disorders in which CASPR2 has been implicated (Volk *et al.*, 2015). Thus, given the vast cognitive and psychiatric symptoms also presented by patients with anti-CASPR2 encephalitis, a plausible antibody-mediated mechanism of disease pathogenesis could be the dysregulation of AMPAR function and glutamatergic synaptic transmission.

Taking all this into consideration, we decided to evaluate whether the CASPR2-Abmediated disruption of Caspr2, described in the previous set of results, might perturb its function in the regulation of AMPAR trafficking. To investigate this, low-density cultured cortical neurons were incubated for 7 h with either healthy or patient plgGs, as described above. To assess the surface expression of GluA1-containing AMPARs, neurons were fixed and immunolabelled with an antibody against an extracellular epitope in the GluA1 N-terminus. Following permeabilization, neurons were further stained for Caspr2, and for PSD95 to visualize excitatory synapses (Figure 5.2A). We observed that incubation of patient plgGs in cortical neurons resulted in a significant decrease of $28.7 \pm 5.4\%$ in the fluorescence intensity of total clusters of cell surface GluA1-containing AMPARs (Figure 5.2B - left), when compared to either control neurons or cells incubated with healthy plgGs. Moreover, patient plgGs also significantly decreased the fluorescence intensity of PSD95-colocalized synaptic clusters of cell surface GluA1 (60.3 ± 7.1%; Figure 5.2B - right). The decreases in GluA1 cluster intensities that we observe with the patient plgGs are strikingly similar to those resulting from a shRNAmediated loss of Caspr2 expression (please refer to Figure 4.3 in Chapter IV), which suggests that CASPR2-Abs perturb the trafficking and synaptic content of AMPARs in consequence of a severe disruption of Caspr2 function. In agreement, we also found that patient plgGs significantly decrease the fluorescence intensity of synaptic GluA1 clusters that overlap with Caspr2 (45.4 ± 7.2%; Figure 5.2C), hinting at the possibility that CASPR2-Abs may disrupt the interaction between Caspr2 and GluA1, which we found in the previous chapter (please refer to Figure 4.2 in Chapter IV). Importantly, we found no changes in either the fluorescence intensity, area or number of PSD95 clusters upon incubation with patient plgGs (Supplementary Figure 5.S3), indicating that CASPR2-Abs have no effect in synapse development/maintenance, and ruling out the possibility that the observed defects in AMPAR synaptic content are secondary to synapse loss.



Figure 5.2 – CASPR2 autoantibodies decrease the trafficking and synaptic content of cell surface AMPARs. (A - C) 13 DIV low-density cultured cortical neurons were incubated for 7 h with 200 pg/mL of human IgGs purified from the plasma of either the CASPR2-encephalitis patient or a healthy subject. Cells were then fixed and immunolabeled with an antibody against an extracellular epitope in the GluA1 N-terminus for staining of surface GluA1-containing AMPARs. After permeabilization, cells were additionally stained for Caspr2 and the synaptic marker PSD95. (A) Representative immunofluorescence images of cultured cortical neurons incubated for 7 h with either healthy or patient-purified human IgGs, and stained for superficial GluA1, Caspr2 and PSD95. Scale bars = $5\mu m$. (B, C) The fluorescence intensity of total and PSD95-colocalized synaptic clusters of surface GluA1 (B) and of synaptic GluA1 cluster co-localized with Caspr2 puncta (C) was quantified. Total number of analysed cells was obtained from three independent experiments. (N=3, n≥ 30 cells). Results are presented as means \pm S.E.M and the statistical significance was determined by the non-parametric Kruskal-Wallis test, followed by Dunn's Multiple Comparison post-hoc test, *p<0.05, **p<0.01 compared to control, #p<0.05, ##p<0.01 relative to healthy pIgGs.

Taking into consideration that some patients with anti-CASPR2 autoimmune encephalitis can develop a partial atrophy of the hippocampus (Bien et al., 2017; Joubert et al., 2016; Kortvelyessy et al., 2015), a core brain region for memory and learning processes, we evaluated whether CASPR2-Abs also disrupt Caspr2 and impair AMPAR trafficking in this region, but found no gross differences in the fluorescence intensity of either Caspr2 or cell surface AMPAR clusters when cultured hippocampal neurons were incubated for 7 h with patient plgGs (Supplementary Figure 5.S4). Curiously, this finding agrees with the regionspecific modulatory effect of Caspr2 we observed in the previous chapter. Indeed, although loss of Caspr2 in the hippocampus decreases the basal trafficking of cell surface AMPARs to the synapse, similarly to what occurs in cortical neurons, the activity-dependent requirement of Caspr2 for the regulation of homeostatic synaptic scaling mechanisms is restricted to the cortex (please refer to supplementary data in Chapter IV). Surprisingly, when hippocampal neurons were incubated for either 2 or 21 h with a higher concentration of patient plgGs (50 µg/mL), the fluorescence intensity of surface GluA1 clusters increased significantly (Supplementary Figure 5.S5). This result, although contradictory to what we have reported so far, may suggest that increasing titres of CASPR2-Abs could elicit alternative pathogenic mechanisms to the ones triggered with lower concentrations, which would also help explain the wide phenotypic variability presented by patients with differing autoantibody titres. This hypothesis indicates that future studies to explore the pathogenicity of CASPR2-Abs should be performed with varying concentrations of autoantibodies to better understand their underlying mechanisms. Most importantly, they warrant a more thorough characterization of each patient individually in order to establish a potential correlation between antibody titres and specific phenotypic clusters and, thus, enable a more specific and efficient approach of treatment.

Our observations of a deleterious effect of CASPR2-Abs in the novel synaptic function that we have previously proposed for Caspr2 start to shed light on the potential pathogenic mechanisms triggered by CASPR2-Abs that can elicit the disease pathophysiology and underlie patients' symptoms. Clearly, the altered synaptic distribution of Caspr2 and subsequent disruption of AMPAR trafficking mechanisms triggered by the CASPR2-Abs warrant further exploration to determine whether such a potentially pathogenic mechanism might be relevant for physiological glutamatergic function. Hence, to investigate if the disruptive effect of CASPR2-Abs in the regulation of AMPAR trafficking is relevant for AMPAR function *in vivo*, we injected 200 µg of either healthy or patient IgGs into layer 2/3 of the primary visual cortex (V1) of C57BL/6J mice (Figure 5.3A). To determine changes in basal glutamatergic synaptic transmission, and assess if CASPR2-Abs perturb basal AMPAR function, we measured AMPAR-mediated miniature excitatory postsynaptic currents of V1-

layer2/3 pyramidal neurons (mEPSCs - Figure 5.3A, B). We observed that the average trace (Figure 5.3C - blue trace) and the average amplitude (Figure 5.3D - blue bar: 14.87 ± 0.81 pA) of mEPSCs recorded from mice injected with healthy IgGs remained unaltered when compared to mEPSCs recorded from non-injected control mice (Figure 5.3D - black bar: 14.27 ± 0.84 pA). A cumulative histogram of mEPSC amplitudes further confirms that the distribution of mEPSC amplitudes of mice injected with healthy IgGs does not differ significantly from control amplitudes (Figure 5.3E - blue trace).



[Figure 5.3 - subtitle on the next page]
Figure 5.3 – *In vivo* incubation of CASPR2 autoantibodies in the mouse visual cortex significantly decreases the amplitude of AMPAR-mediated mEPSCs of layer 2/3 pyramidal neurons. (A) 200ng of either healthy- or patient-purified human IgGs were injected into layer2/3 of the primary visual cortex (V1-L2/3) of normal reared P21-P28 C57BL/6J mice. 7 h post-injection, AMPAR-mediated mEPSCs were recorded from V1-L2/3 pyramidal neurons. (B - D) Comparison of representative traces (B), average traces (C) and average amplitudes (D) of mEPSCs recorded from V1-L2/3 pyramidal cells of control non-injected mice (black, n=7 cells), or of mice injected with either healthy (blue, n=10 cells) or patient pIgGs (yellow, n=9 cells). In (D), results are presented as mean \pm S.E.M. and statistical significance was determined by one-way ANOVA test followed by Fisher's protected least significant difference (PLSD) post hoc test, **p<0.01 when compared to control, ###p<0.001 relative to healthy pIgGs. (E) Cumulative histograms showing that only the distribution of mEPSC amplitudes recorded from mice injected with patient pIgGs (yellow), but not with healthy pIgGs (blue), is significantly smaller than that of control littermates (black). Statistical significance was determined by the Kolmogorov-Smirnov Test, ****p<0.0001.

Conversely, there is a marked decrease in the amplitude of average trace of mEPSCs recorded from mice injected with the patient pIgGs (Figure 5.3C - yellow), and the average amplitude of mEPSCs is significantly smaller when compared to that of both control non-injected littermates and mice injected with healthy pIgGs (Figure 5.3D - yellow: 10.82 ± 0.52 pA). Moreover, the cumulative distribution of mEPSC amplitudes recorded from the mice injected with the patient IgGs is significantly shifted towards smaller values than that of control or healthy pIgGs-amplitudes (Figure 5.3E - yellow trace). No changes in mEPSC average frequency or current kinetics were observed between treatment groups (Suppl. Table S1).

Altogether, these findings reveal that CASPR2-Abs not only impair the localization of Caspr2 to excitatory synapses, but also have an impact in the regulation of AMPAR trafficking that perturbs AMPAR-mediated synaptic transmission *in vivo*. Importantly, these findings start to uncover the pathogenic mechanisms of CASPR2-Abs and propose a disruption of glutamatergic synaptic transmission as a potential molecular underpinning for the psychiatric and cognitive symptoms presented by autoimmune encephalitis patients.

CASPR2 autoantibodies prevent chemical LTP-, but not homeostatic synaptic scaling-induced AMPAR trafficking and synaptic insertion

Rapid changes in the postsynaptic accumulation and function of AMPARs occur in response to different patterns of neuronal activity, resulting in long-lasting modifications in synaptic strength and efficacy. Hence, the dynamic regulation of AMPAR trafficking to the synapse has emerged as a critical mechanisms for the expression of multiple forms of synaptic plasticity in different areas of the brain (Anggono & Huganir, 2012; Fernandes & Carvalho,

2016; Shepherd & Huganir, 2007). In the previous chapter (please refer to Chapter IV), we were able to uncover a novel role for Caspr2 in the regulation of AMPAR trafficking to the cell surface and synapses that is physiologically relevant for proper glutamatergic synaptic transmission *in vivo* in the mouse visual cortex. Importantly, we found this Caspr2 function to be fundamental for the regulation of neuronal synaptic homeostasis *in vivo*. Indeed, we observed that loss of Caspr2 impairs the homeostatic synaptic scaling of AMPARs following prolonged blockade of neuronal activity *in vitro*, and hinders the triggering of sensory-driven experience-dependent homeostatic plasticity in the visual cortex following prolonged visual deprivation in mice (please refer to Figures 4.6 & 4.8 in Chapter IV).

Homeostatic synaptic scaling, molecularly expressed as a set core of mechanisms that bi-directionally control the postsynaptic accumulation of AMPARs, is a compensatory modality of plasticity that prevents potentially destabilizing changes in synaptic strength to occur, while maintaining a well fine-tuned balance of the overall activity of neuronal networks [reviewed in (Fernandes & Carvalho, 2016; Turrigiano, 2008)]. Normal cognition and behaviour are thought to depend on such type of modulatory mechanisms, which have been shown to occur in compensation for periods of heightened plasticity such as occurring during development, learning-related processes, processing and integration of sensory inputs and adaptation to sensory environment changes, sleep, or even as a coping restorative process in cases of cross-modal plasticity of sensory modalities or in disease-states (Fernandes & Carvalho, 2016; Turrigiano, 2008; Whitt et al., 2014). Understandably, emerging findings suggest that a failure in neuronal synaptic homeostasis might be an underlying pathology in several cognitive and psychiatric disorders [reviewed in (Mullins et al., 2016; Ramocki & Zoghbi, 2008; Volk et al., 2015; Wondolowski & Dickman, 2013)]. Interestingly, patients with anti-CASPR2 encephalitis have been shown to develop insomnia and sleep disturbances, vision loss, as well as altered perceptual processing and sensory hallucinations (visual and auditory), which suggest potential defects in sensory integration and processing (Bastiaansen et al., 2017; Binks et al., 2017; Pruss & Lennox, 2016; van Sonderen et al., 2017).

Taking into consideration 1) the cognitive and psychiatric nature of some of the symptoms presented by patients with CASPR2-Ab encephalitis, together with 2) the disruption of Caspr2-dependent mechanisms underlying AMPAR trafficking and function mediated by a potential pathogenic effect of CASPR2-Abs, and 3) our previous findings pinpointing Caspr2 as a novel molecular player fundamental for the expression of homeostatic mechanisms of synaptic scaling, we hypothesized that the pathogenic effects elicited by CASPR2-Abs on Caspr2 function are likely to perturb the normal triggering of homeostatic plasticity mechanisms

and, thus propose a failure in neuronal homeostasis as a potential pathophysiology of CASPR2 autoimmune encephalitis.

To investigate whether CASPR2-Abs disrupt the homeostatic synaptic scaling of AMPARs, we induced a prolonged inhibition of neuronal activity in low-density cultured cortical neurons for 48 h with 1 µM TTX together with 100 µM APV, which block action potential generation and NMDAR function, respectively. In parallel, neurons were incubated with 200 ng/mL of either healthy- or patient-purified IgGs. After fixation, neurons were immunolabelled for surface GluA1-containing AMPARs as described above, and then stained for the postsynaptic marker PSD95 and the presynaptic marker vGluT1 for identification of potentially functional glutamatergic synapses (Figure 5.4A). Similarly to what we observed earlier, we found that incubation of cortical neurons with patient plgGs for 48 h resulted in a significant decrease of 49.1 ± 5.0% in the fluorescence intensity of PSD95- and vGluT1-colocalized synaptic clusters of cell surface GluA1 (Figure 5.4C), when compared to both control or healthy plgG-incubated cells. Moreover, as expected, both control cells or cells incubated with healthy plgGs were able to scale up the fluorescence intensity of both total (Figure 5.4B; control TTX+APV: 133.7 \pm 5.8%; healthy plgGs TTX+APV: 142.9 \pm 9.0%) and synaptic (Figure 5.4C; control TTX+APV: 117.8 ± 15.5%; healthy plqGs TTX+APV: 146.0 ± 21.4%) clusters of cell surface GluA1 following prolonged activity inhibition with TTX+APV. Surprisingly, we observed that TTX+APV treatment of cortical neurons incubated with the patient plgGs also significantly increased the fluorescence intensity of both total (126.6 ± 7.1%; Figure 5.4B) and synaptic $(107.7 \pm 11.3\%)$; Figure 5.4C) cell surface GluA1 clusters, when compared to the respective basal patient plgG-incubation condition. These results are quite unexpected, since we had previously seen that 1) the role of Caspr2 in the regulation of AMPAR trafficking is required for the mechanisms underlying homeostatic synaptic scaling (please refer to Chapter IV), and 2) CASPR2-Abs disrupt Caspr2 and consequently impair AMPAR trafficking and function; thus, we expected that CASPR2-Abs would abrogate the synaptic scaling of cell surface GluA1 following activity inhibition. On the contrary, these findings indicate that CASPR2-Abs do not disrupt the role of Caspr2 in regulating homeostatic synaptic scaling, and that these mechanisms remain intact with CASPR2-Abs. Importantly, they rule out the potential contribution of failed neuronal homeostatic processes for disease pathogenesis.

In spite of these results, CASPR2-Abs do significantly affect the basal trafficking and synaptic content of cell surface AMPARs. One would assume that such a striking dysregulation in AMPAR trafficking would impinge on the synaptic delivery and incorporation mechanisms of these receptors in response to different patterns of neuronal activity. Given the relevance of activity-dependent mechanisms of AMPAR regulation for different forms of synaptic plasticity,

we cannot disregard a potential for CASPR2-Abs to perturb forms of plasticity, such as Hebbian plasticity, other than homeostatic synaptic scaling. Unlike homeostatic plasticity mechanisms, which are of negative-feedback nature, Hebbian plasticity is a positive-feedback process that typically functions in an input-specific manner, is rapidly induced and associative as it requires correlated firing of the pre- and postsynaptic neurons. Because these hallmark features facilitate the reinforcement of precise synaptic connections, which is fundamental for information storage in the brain, Hebbian mechanisms are thought to be the cellular correlates of learning and memory [reviewed in (Huganir & Nicoll, 2013; Luscher & Malenka, 2012; Malenka & Bear, 2004)].



[Figure 5.4 - subtitle on the next page]

Figure 5.4 – Homeostatic mechanisms of AMPAR synaptic scaling are unaffected by CASPR2 autoantibodies. 11 DIV low-density cultured cortical neurons were incubated with 200 pg/mL of either healthy- or patient-purified human plgGs for 48 h, whilst their neuronal activity was inhibited with 1 μ M TTX together with 100 μ M APV. At 13 DIV, cells were fixed and immunolabeled with a specific antibody against an extracellular epitope in GluA1 N-terminus, permeabilized and then stained for the synaptic markers PSD95 and VGluT1. (A) Representative immunofluorescence images of both control and TTX+APV-treated cortical neurons incubated for 48 h with either healthy or patient-purified human lgGs, and stained for superficial GluA1, PSD95 and vGluT1. Scale bars = $5\mu m$. (B, C) The fluorescence intensity of total (B) and synaptic (C – colocalized with PSD95 and vGluT1) clusters of surface GluA1 was quantified. Total number of analysed cells was obtained from at least three independent experiments (N≥3, n≥30 cells). Results are presented as mean ± S.E.M., and statistical significance was determined by the parametric two-way ANOVA Test, followed by Tukey's Multiple Comparison Test, *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001, ****p<0.0001.

The classical Hebbian paradigm for activity-dependent synaptic delivery of AMPARs is NMDAR-dependent long-term potentiation (LTP). Although Hebbian LTP and synaptic upscaling are thought to operate under different computational rules (for e.g., NMDAR-LTP requires NMDAR activation and subsequent Ca²⁺-dependent triggering of several kinases to phosphorylate AMPARs and promote their synaptic incorporation [reviewed in (Huganir & Nicoll, 2013; Luscher & Malenka, 2012; Malenka & Bear, 2004)], whereas homeostatic mechanisms can operate under NMDAR inhibition and induce transcriptional and translational programmes to regulate AMPAR scaling [reviewed in (Fernandes & Carvalho, 2016; Turrigiano, 2008; Vitureira & Goda, 2013)]), mounting evidence suggests that homeostatic and Hebbian forms of plasticity are likely to share particular molecular mechanisms and converge to regulate common effectors at the synapse. Accordingly, several of the molecular players identified so far in the regulation of homeostatic plasticity mechanisms have previously been implicated in the regulation of Hebbian forms of synaptic plasticity (Fernandes & Carvalho, 2016; Vitureira & Goda, 2013).

Taking all this into account, together with the striking effect of CASPR2-Abs in the trafficking and synaptic content of cell surface AMPARs, we hypothesized that CASPR2-Abs might perturb the synaptic incorporation of AMPARs triggered by NMDAR-dependent LTP. To directly test this, we used a neuronal culture model of LTP (chemical LTP, cLTP), in which pharmacological activation of NMDARs promotes an increase in the surface expression of GluA1-containing AMPARs (Diering *et al.*, 2016; Hussain *et al.*, 2014; Lu *et al.*, 2001; Passafaro *et al.*, 2001; Ribeiro *et al.*, 2014). In a preliminary experiment, low-density cultured cortical neurons were incubated for 7 h with either healthy- or patient plgGs, followed by cLTP induction (Diering *et al.*, 2016; Hussain *et al.*, 2014). Surface GluA1-containing AMPARs were immunolabelled as described above, and the postsynaptic marker PSD95 and the presynaptic

marker vGluT1 were also stained for identification of potentially functional glutamatergic synapses (Figure 5.5A). Consistent with previous studies, we observed that cLTP induction caused a marked increase in the fluorescence intensity of both total (136.4 \pm 12.4%; Figure 5.5B) and synaptic clusters (162.9 \pm 46.3%; Figure 5.5C) of cell surface GluA1. Similarly to control cells, cLTP induction in neurons incubated with healthy plgGs also induced the incorporation of cell surface GluA1 clusters (total: 125.5 \pm 5.0% - Figure 5.5B; synaptic: 180.4 \pm 19.0% - Figure 5.5C). On the other hand, in neurons incubated with the patient plgGs, in which the fluorescence intensity of cell surface GluA1 clusters was already markedly decreased in basal conditions, cLTP induction completely failed to increase both total (50.9 \pm 9.3%; Figure 5.5B) and synaptic (40.7 \pm 9.4%; Figure 5.5C) GluA1 clusters.

These preliminary findings indicate that the previously observed CASPR2-Ab-mediated disruption of AMPAR trafficking perturbs their activity-dependent recruitment and synaptic incorporation upon cLTP induction, which suggests that LTP phenomena may be impaired in patients with CASPR2-Abs and contribute for disease pathogenesis, explaining the memory complaints and cognitive deficits presented by patients. Furthermore, these observations hint at the possibility that Caspr2 plays a fundamental role in general activity-dependent mechanisms of AMPAR regulation that facilitate the expression of different forms of synaptic plasticity. Because these results are very preliminary, future experiments need to be done to confirm them. Nevertheless, if holding true, these findings warrant a more thorough characterization of the molecular mechanisms underlying the function of Caspr2 in response to different patterns of activity. Such characterization would provide a better understanding into how Caspr2 might function as a common synaptic effector to integrate divergent experience-dependent changes in activity, and would provide valuable insights regarding this dynamic interplay between different forms of plasticity.



Figure 5.5 – CASPR2 autoantibodies disrupt cLTP-mediated trafficking and synaptic incorporation of cell surface AMPARs. 13 DIV low-density cultured cortical neurons were incubated for 7 h with 200 pg/mL of either healthy- or patient human pIgGs. A cLTP protocol was then induced as follows: cells were pre-incubated for 15 min in extracellular solution (ECS) containing Mg²⁺, followed by cLTP induction with 200 μ M glycine for 5 min in the absence of Mg²⁺. Neurons were then recovered at 37°C for 20 min (without glycine) to allow AMPAR incorporation. Cells were fixed and immunolabeled with a specific antibody against an extracellular epitope in GluA1 N-terminus, permeabilized and then stained for the synaptic markers PSD95 and vGluT1. (A) Representative immunofluorescence images of both control and cLTP cortical neurons incubated for 7 h with either healthy or patient-purified human IgGs, and stained for superficial GluA1, PSD95 and vGluT1. Scale bars = 5 μ m. (B, C) The fluorescence intensity of total (B) and synaptic (C - colocalized with PSD95 and vGluT1) clusters of surface GluA1 was quantified. Total number of analysed cells was obtained from a single independent experiment (N=1, n=10 cells). Results are presented as mean \pm S.E.M.

Patient-purified human immunoglobulins at the cell surface undergo time-dependent internalization.

So far in this chapter we have been able to demonstrate that CASPR2-Abs present in the plasma of a patient with autoimmune encephalitis bind to the cell surface of cortical neurons to alter the synaptic distribution of Caspr2 and perturb its function in the regulation of AMPARs. Indeed, we observed that incubation of cortical neurons with human IgGs from the patient disrupts the trafficking and synaptic content of cell surface GluA1-containing AMPARs and perturbs the regulation of glutamatergic synaptic transmission in vivo in the mouse visual cortex. Importantly, the CASPR2-Ab-mediated perturbation of AMPAR trafficking and function that we reveal here is strikingly similar to the findings observed upon shRNA-mediated loss of Caspr2 expression, presented in the previous chapter. This parallelism confirms that the pathogenic effect of CASPR2-Abs is most likely mediated by a loss of function of Caspr2. Interestingly, we observed that, whilst homeostatic synaptic scaling mechanisms (shown to be regulated by Caspr2 in previous chapter) remain intact in the presence of CASPR2-Abs, preliminary evidence shows alterations in the synaptic incorporation of AMPARs following cLTP induction, giving a first hint that mechanisms of LTP might be perturbed in the presence of CASPR2-Abs. Overall, our findings provide seminal understanding of the potential mechanism of pathogenesis induced by CASPR2-Abs, and identify the glutamatergic system as a likely target for disease pathophysiology. Nevertheless, our findings still fall short on explaining how the pathogenic mechanism is triggered and how CASPR2-Abs manage to disrupt Caspr2 and its underlying functions.

One important consideration to take into account regarding the potential mechanism of pathogenesis of autoantibodies is their IgG subtyping. Immunoglobulins typically occur in four subclasses, IgG1 to IgG4, being IgG1 the most predominant and IgG4 the rarest. Importantly, their mode of action differs significantly [reviewed in (Vidarsson *et al.*, 2014)]. Antibodies of the classical IgG1 subtype can fix the complement and crosslink their target antigens, promoting their internalization [reviewed in (Crisp *et al.*, 2016; Jain & Balice-Gordon, 2016; Leypoldt *et al.*, 2015; Vidarsson *et al.*, 2014)]. Such mechanism of pathogenesis has already been proposed for NMDAR- (Hughes *et al.*, 2010; Moscato *et al.*, 2014) and AMPAR- (Lai *et al.*, 2009; Peng *et al.*, 2015) autoantibodies as they are predominantly of the IgG1 subclass. On the other hand, IgG4 antibodies cannot activate complement, and do not bind Fc receptors on effector cells, indicating that they most likely mediate a monovalent disruption of the target antigen function, rather than promoting its internalization [reviewed in (Bastiaansen *et al.*, 2017; Vidarsson *et al.*, 2016; van Sonderen *et al.*, 2017; Vidarsson *et al.*, 2014)]. The pathogenesis

of LGI1 autoantibodies, which are predominantly IgG4, has recently been proposed to occur in such manner (Ohkawa *et al.*, 2013).

In several recent case series of patients with CASPR2-encephalitis a subtyping analysis of IgG subclasses was performed, revealing that in a vast majority of patients, antibodies were of both IgG1 and IgG4 subclasses, with a higher preponderance of the latter (Bien *et al.*, 2017; Joubert *et al.*, 2016; van Sonderen *et al.*, 2016). In order to characterize the IgG subclasses of the CASPR2-Abs used in this study, we also subtyped the patient plasma and found a similar IgG specificity as described in other studies, although with a predominance of the IgG1 subclass (subtyping: IgG1≥IgG4>IgG2; Supplementary Figure 5.S6). Unlike the other types of encephalitis, such as the NMDAR- and LG11-encephalitis, in which the characterization of the antibody IgGs is very well defined with a predominant subclass, this finding of a mixed contribution of CASPR2-Ab IgG subclasses with completely alternate modes of action, hampers the identification of a precise pathogenic mechanism triggered by CASPR2-Abs.

Despite this, the disruption of the synaptic distribution of Caspr2 induced by CASPR2-Abs, together with the perturbed trafficking and decreased synaptic content of cell surface AMPARs is suggestive of a potential internalization of Caspr2 and AMPARs upon CASPR2-Ab-binding, likely mediated by IgG1 antibodies. To explore this hypothesis, we performed a preliminary experiment to assess whether CASPR2-Abs can be themselves internalized over time. Low-density cultured cortical neurons were incubated during 1 or 7 h with either healthy or patient plgGs, fixed and then immunolabelled with an excess concentration of an anti-human fluorophore-conjugated secondary antibody to stain human IgGs bound to the cell surface. After permeabilization, cells were immunolabelled with a second anti-human fluorophoreconjugated secondary antibody to stain potentially internalized human IgGs, and further stained against MAP2 to visualize dendritic processes (Figure 5.6A). Firstly, we found human IgG clusters at the cell surface of neurons incubated with the patient plgGs (1h: $228.0 \pm 28.1\%$; 7h: 203.7 \pm 23.5%), which were absent in control cells or healthy IgG-incubated neurons (1h: 120.1 ± 19.7%; 7h: 118.3 ± 14.0%), confirming once again that only the patient IgGs bind to antigen epitopes expressed at the cell surface (Figure 5.6B). Moreover, in neurons incubated with the patient pIgGs, we observed a slight decrease in the fluorescence intensity of IgG clusters after a 7 h incubation (203.7 ± 23.5%), when compared to a shorter time-point (228.0 ± 28.1%), which might suggest a time-dependent internalization of CASPR2-Abs at the cell surface (Figure 5.6B).



Figure 5.6 – CASPR2 autoantibodies bound to the cell surface undergo timedependent internalization. 13 DIV low-density cultured cortical neurons were incubated with 200 ng/mL of either healthy- or patient plgGs for the duration of 1 or 7 h. Cells were fixed and immunolabelled with an excess concentration of anti-human fluorophore-tagged secondary antibody (red) to stain human IgGs bound to the cell surface. After permeabilization, neurons were again immunolabelled with a regular concentration of a second anti-human fluorophore-tagged (green) secondary antibody to evaluate if human IgGs underwent internalization. Cells were further stained against MAP2 for visualization of dendritic compartments. (A) Representative immunofluorescence images of neurons incubated for either 1 or 7 h with either healthy or patient-purified human IgGs, and stained for surface (red) or internalized (green) human IgGs, and for MAP2. Scale bars = 5µm. (B, C) The fluorescence intensity of extracellular/surface (B) and intracellular/internalized (C) clusters of human IgGs was quantified. Total number of analysed cells was obtained from three independent experiment (N=3, n≥30 cells). Results are presented as mean ± S.E.M., and statistical significance was determined by the non-parametric Kruskal-Wallis test, followed by Dunn's Multiple Comparison post-hoc test, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001 compared to control, #p<0.05, ##p<0.01 relative to healthy pIgGs.

Quantitative immunofluorescence analysis of intracellular human IgG clusters again revealed a significant increase in the fluorescence intensity of intracellular human IgG clusters in neurons incubated with the patient pIgGs (1h: 189.5 \pm 20.4%; 7h: 190.8 \pm 25.0%), when compared to control cells or neurons incubated with healthy IgGs (1h: 104.6 \pm 12.3%; 7h: 103.7 \pm 14.7%), confirming our hypothesis that CASPR2-Abs at the cell surface can be internalized (Figure 5.6C). When comparing different time-points of incubation with patient pIgGs, it is not clear whether CASPR2-Abs undergo a time-dependent internalization since the fluorescence intensity of intracellular patient IgG clusters at 7 h incubation does not increase significantly from 1 h-incubation (Figure 5.6C). Nevertheless, this is a preliminary finding and further experiments, with a time-point series of shorter and longer periods of incubation with the patient pIgGs, should be performed to clarify the possibility of a time-dependent internalization of CASPR2-Abs.

Overall, these results indicate that CASPR2-Abs bound to the cell surface can be internalized, which, together with our previous findings revealing an interaction between Caspr2 and the GluA1 AMPAR subunit, suggest that CASPR2-IgG1-Abs possibly crosslink Caspr2 and induce the internalization of Caspr2/AMPAR synaptic complexes, thus explaining their decreased synaptic content. However, because we characterized CASPR2-Abs to be of a mixed predominance of both IgG1 and IgG4 subclasses, we cannot disregard the possibility of a CASPR2-IgG4-Ab-mediated monovalent disruption of the interaction of Caspr2 with AMPARs. Importantly, this set of results starts hinting at the potential mode of pathogenesis mediated by CASPR2-Abs that underlies the disruption of CASPR2-Ab IgG subtyping is fundamental for a full understanding of the mechanisms mediated by CASPR2-Abs, and how they can contribute for disease pathogenesis.

Discussion

In recent years, autoantibodies against CASPR2 have been identified in patients with autoimmune encephalitis that present with severe neurological syndromes, including neuromyotonia, Morvan's Syndrome and limbic encephalitis. Patients often manifest a clinical condition that overlaps the different syndromes, presenting with autonomic disturbances, peripheral nerve hyperexcitability and neuropathic pain, but also gross sleep disturbances, memory impairment and cognitive deficits and severe psychosis, thus reflecting a complex dysfunction of both the peripheral and central nervous systems underlying disease pathophysiology. However, despite intense clinical research, with an expanding number of case series being reported, definite proof for a pathogenic role of CASPR2-Abs is still missing, and the mechanisms underlying the patients' symptoms remain elusive.

In the previous chapter we uncovered an unsuspected and physiologically relevant role for Caspr2 in the regulation of AMPAR trafficking to synapses, and for proper glutamatergic synaptic transmission *in vivo*. Furthermore, we revealed a fundamental requirement for Caspr2 in the regulation of homeostatic synaptic scaling mechanisms that are relevant *in vivo* for visually-driven experience-dependent synaptic plasticity. In line with the clinical symptoms presented by patients, in this chapter we hypothesized that CASPR2 autoantibodies mediate disease pathogenesis by disrupting this novel role of Caspr2 in AMPAR regulation. Using serum and purified IgG samples from a patient with anti-CASPR2 encephalitis, we investigated the cellular, synaptic and functional effects of the patient CASPR2-Abs and found a decrease of Caspr2 and surface AMPAR levels in cortical synapses, ultimately leading to a remarkable perturbation of glutamatergic synaptic transmission *in vivo*. We herein propose the glutamatergic system as a likely target for pathogenesis ensuing from an antibody-mediated disruption of CASPR2 function, and correlate these findings with the cognitive and psychiatric nature of the symptoms presented by patients.

Disrupted AMPAR function and glutamatergic synaptic transmission upon autoantibody-mediated loss of CASPR2 function.

In collaboration with the John Radcliffe Hospital at the Oxford University, we had access to serum and purified IgGs from a patient with anti-CASPR2 autoimmune encephalitis. Initial experiments demonstrated that human IgGs present in the patient plasma bound strongly to the surface of cultured neurons (Figure 5.1; Suppl. Figure 5.S1, S2). We then confirmed that these IgGs specifically targeted Caspr2, but no other antigens: patient serum previously pre-absorbed in HEK cells expressing human CASPR2 did not bind to the surface of cultured

neurons (Suppl.Figure 5.S1), and human IgGs purified from the patient plasma failed to stain Cntnap2 KO neurons (Figure 5.1A). With this in mind, we then investigated whether patient IgGs had any effect on their target antigen, and found a significant decrease in synaptic clusters of Caspr2 (Figure 5.1B). This finding is in agreement with evidence from other autoimmune encephalitides, in which specific autoantibodies have been shown to perturb, in some extent, their own synaptic target antigens: NMDAR-, AMPAR-, GABAR- and GlyR-Abs have all been shown to decrease the synaptic expression of their respective receptors, which, in some cases, are inclusively targeted for lysosomal-dependent degradation [reviewed in (Chefdeville et al., 2016; Crisp et al., 2016; Jain & Balice-Gordon, 2016)]. Although other studies have been performed to explore the cellular and molecular effects of CASPR2-Abs (Coutinho et al., 2017b; Olsen et al., 2015; Patterson et al., 2017; Pinatel et al., 2015), to our knowledge, this is the first report of a direct effect of CASPR2-Abs on endogenous Caspr2 levels. Importantly, these observations suggest a potential disruption of Caspr2 function upon antibody-binding. Accordingly, in the previous chapter we found a pivotal localization of Caspr2 at the PSD of excitatory synapses, where it fulfils a fundamental role in the regulation of AMPAR function and glutamatergic synaptic transmission. The de-localization of Caspr2 from the synapse upon CASPR2-Ab binding suggests that this synaptic role of Caspr2 is most likely disrupted.

Indeed, we found that CASPR2-Abs significantly decrease the cell surface expression of AMPARs in cortical synapses (Figure 5.2), and the amplitude of AMPAR-mediated mEPSCs when incubated in vivo in the mouse visual cortex (Figure 5.3), indicating a relevant pathophysiological impact of CASPR2-Abs in AMPAR trafficking and glutamatergic function in vivo. Importantly, these findings remarkably parallel what we observed in the previous chapter upon shRNA-mediated loss of Caspr2 endogenous expression, thus confirming that the effect of CASPR2-Abs in AMPAR trafficking and glutamatergic transmission is secondary to a CASPR2-Ab-mediated loss of Caspr2 function. Besides the obvious examples of NMDAR- and AMPAR-Abs that directly target their respective receptors and significantly decrease their synaptic expression and mediated currents (Hughes et al., 2010; Peng et al., 2015), antibodies against the VGKC complex-associated LGI1 protein were also reported to induce a secondary effect in the trafficking and synaptic expression of AMPARs (Ohkawa et al., 2013). Interestingly, LGI1-Abs were shown to alter the interaction of LGI1 with ADAM22 and ADAM23 proteins (Ohkawa et al., 2013), consequently disrupting a LGI1/ADAM trans-synaptic complex that is required for the synaptic stabilization of AMPARs and proper synaptic transmission (Fukata et al., 2006; Fukata et al., 2010). Curiously, a recent proteome study identified ADAM22 as a novel Caspr2 binding partner (Chen et al., 2015), and both proteins are known to regulate the clustering of VGKCs (Poliak et al., 1999; Poliak et al., 2003; Schulte et al., 2006;

Seagar *et al.*, 2017). Probably not coincidental, LGI1- and CASPR2-Abs were first identified, and are often reported together in several encephalitis patients previously diagnosed with anti-VGKC autoimmune encephalitis [reviewed in (Bastiaansen *et al.*, 2017; Binks *et al.*, 2017; van Sonderen *et al.*, 2017)]. Clearly, one cannot disregard the remarkable parallelism between LGI1 and Caspr2 molecular mechanisms, nor the consequent effects resulting from an antibody-mediated disruption of their function, which suggests that the mechanisms of pathogenesis triggered by each type of autoantibody should be similar, which warrants further investigation.

Overall, our findings provide definite proof for a dysregulation of AMPARs and glutamatergic synaptic transmission underlying the pathogenic mechanisms triggered by a CASPR2-Ab-mediated disruption of Caspr2 function. Nevertheless, we cannot disregard the possibility of CASPR2-Abs also impairing other known functions of Caspr2. Like in other types of autoimmune encephalitis, the full-spectrum of synaptic and functional phenotypes induced by CASPR2-Abs seem to closely mimic those induced by genetic disruption of Caspr2, including by disease-related mutations in the human CNTNAP2 gene [reviewed in (Penagarikano & Geschwind, 2012; Poot, 2017)]. Indeed, recent studies have shown that CASPR2-Abs can promote defects in cortical thickness and layer patterning, loss of GABAergic interneurons and inhibitory synapses, as well as abnormal dendritic complexity and spine density (Brimberg et al., 2016; Coutinho et al., 2017b; Pinatel et al., 2015). Interestingly, one of the studies reports a decrease in the density of GluA1-AMPAR clusters and in the number of glutamatergic synapses, although this is most likely due to an antibody-mediated complement-induced activation of microglia that results in synaptic pruning (Coutinho et al., 2017b). In our experiments, incubation with patient IgGs for 7 h (or 48 h – data not shown) either in vitro or in vivo did not induce any observable changes in PSD95 clusters (Suppl. Figure 5.S4), or a decrease in the frequency of AMPAR-mediated mEPSCs (Suppl. Table), indicating that the number of excitatory synapses remained intact. Importantly, the studies referred above use chronic maternal-to-foetal antibody transfer models to evaluate effects of CASPR2-Abs in the progeny that most likely are occurring during development. Given the acute nature and late-onset age of CASPR2 autoimmune encephalitis, it is unlikely that developmental functions of CASPR2 contribute significantly to disease pathogenesis.

CASPR2-Ab-mediated perturbation of synaptic plasticity events

In the previous chapter we discovered that Caspr2 not only regulates the basal trafficking of AMPARs, but that it is necessary for activity-dependent mechanisms of AMPAR regulation in the context of homeostatic synaptic plasticity. Furthermore, we found this unsuspected role of Caspr2 to be relevant *in vivo* and fundamental for the expression of visually-driven experience-dependent synaptic plasticity (please refer to Chapter IV). Importantly, this form of plasticity is crucial for maintaining the balance of a wide-range of brain processes required for an adequate brain function [reviewed in (Fernandes & Carvalho, 2016; Turrigiano, 2008; Whitt *et al.*, 2014)]. Understandably, emerging evidence now suggests that compromised neuronal synaptic homeostasis, resulting most likely from altered molecular players required for the regulation of its underlying mechanisms, can contribute to the pathophysiology of several cognitive and neuropsychiatric disorders, including ASD, ID and SCZ in which CASPR2 has already been thoroughly implicated [reviewed in (Nelson & Valakh, 2015; Ramocki & Zoghbi, 2008; Wondolowski & Dickman, 2013)].

In line with the cognitive and psychiatric symptoms typically presented by patients with CASPR2 autoimmune encephalitis, including sleep disturbances, altered sensory perception and visual and auditory hallucinations, processes in which homeostatic plasticity has been implicated, we decided to investigate whether CASPR2-Abs would impinge on the role Caspr2 plays on this form of plasticity. Surprisingly, we observed no changes in the synaptic scaling of cell surface AMPARs following prolonged inhibition of neuronal activity in cortical neurons incubated with the patient plgGs (Figure 5.4), indicating that homeostatic plasticity mechanisms remain intact in the presence of CASPR2-Abs. Curiously, a couple of studies exploring the synaptic and cellular effects of NMDAR- and AMPAR-Abs suggest that homeostatic synaptic plasticity can be triggered as a secondary mechanism to cope with the decrease in NMDAR- or AMPAR surface expression and synaptic currents. NMDAR- and AMPAR-Abs induce an exacerbated compensatory decrease in inhibitory currents and inhibitory synapse number, as well as an upregulation of the intrinsic neuronal excitability, which, altogether can contribute to the pathophysiology of the disease and explain seizure-like episodes in these encephalitis patients (Moscato et al., 2014; Peng et al., 2015). However, given our findings showing that CASPR2-Abs at the neuronal cell surface are internalized after just 1 h of incubation, potentially in a time-dependent manner, it is likely that after 48 h (timescale used in the experiments to evaluate synaptic scaling) of incubation, most IgGs have been internalized and cells have managed to re-establish the cell surface trafficking of Caspr2 and AMPARs, thus allowing the expression of synaptic scaling mechanisms.

Conversely, preliminary experiments showed that CASPR2-Abs prevent the increase of cell surface AMPARs upon induction of a chemical LTP protocol (Figure 5.5), indicating that CASPR2-Abs perturb the trafficking and synaptic incorporation of AMPARs induced by NMDAR-dependent LTP instead. Due to their associative nature that reinforces precise synaptic connections, Hebbian forms of synaptic plasticity such as LTP are considered to be the cellular correlates of learning and memory processes. Hence, compromised mechanisms of LTP would help explain the severe memory complaints and cognitive impairments presented by patients with CASPR2 autoantibodies. In agreement, a couple of recent studies have elegantly demonstrated that LTP mechanisms are severely impaired in consequence of NMDAR autoantibody-mediated pathogenic disruption of the surface diffusion and synaptic retention of GluN2A- and GluN2B-NMDAR subunits (Dupuis *et al.*, 2014; Mikasova *et al.*, 2012).

Although preliminary, our findings of a potential parallel role for Caspr2 in the regulation of LTP are not unexpected. In agreement, several of the molecular players required for the regulation of homeostatic synaptic scaling had previously been implicated in Hebbian forms of plasticity, including Stargazin, PICK1 and GRIP1, type I mGluRs, BDNF and Arc, among others [reviewed in (Fernandes & Carvalho, 2016; Vitureira & Goda, 2013)]. Our findings simply further argue in favour of the elegant interplay between Hebbian and homeostatic plasticity in sharing common mechanisms that elicit common synaptic effects in response to completely opposing patterns of neuronal activity. Future experiments will have to be done to confirm the preliminary observation of a pathogenic effect of CASPR2-Abs in LTP induction, but also to establish that this effect occurs from a direct disruption of a Caspr2-mediated regulation of LTP, which we have not evaluated so far. If holding true, though, it will be interesting to understand in the future how (and when) Caspr2 can be recruited to elicit one type of plasticity or the other. Furthermore, if Caspr2 is confirmed to be required for both modalities of synaptic plasticity, it will be important to understand why CASPR2-Abs perturb LTP but not synaptic scaling. One likely possibility is that loss of function of Caspr2 has a more deleterious effect in LTP mechanisms than loss of expression of the protein itself (which we still have to test), and most likely, homeostatic synaptic scaling mechanisms can more easily cope with an altered function of the protein, thus only being disrupted in the absence of Caspr2.

What are the underlying mechanisms behind the pathogenic effect of CASPR2-autoantibodies in CASPR2 and AMPAR function?

Although we have been able to pinpoint the pathogenic effects of CASPR2-Abs to a disruption of Caspr2 function and consequent perturbation of AMPAR trafficking, basal glutamatergic synaptic transmission and synaptic plasticity phenomena, the pathogenic mechanisms underlying these effects of CASPR2-Abs still remain elusive. One important consideration regarding the potential mechanism of pathogenesis of autoantibodies is their IgG subtyping, which can occur in four subclasses, from the most common IgG1 to the rarest IgG4, and mediate their effects through significantly different modes of action [reviewed in (Vidarsson *et al.*, 2014)]. In several recent case series of patients with CASPR2-encephalitis a subtyping analysis of IgG subclasses was performed, revealing that in a vast majority of patients, antibodies were of both IgG1 and IgG4 subclasses, with a predominance of IgG4 (Bien *et al.*, 2017; Joubert *et al.*, 2016; van Sonderen *et al.*, 2016). Subtyping analysis of the CASPR2-Abs used in this study revealed a similar mixed contribution of both IgG1 and IgG4, although with a slight predominance of the IgG1 subclass (Suppl. Figure 5.S6).

Antibodies of the classical IgG1 subtype can activate the complement and, because they bind their target antigens in a divalent manner, they can crosslink them and promote their internalization. Such mechanism of pathogenesis has already been proposed for most autoantibodies identified in different encephalitides, since their IgGs are predominantly of the IgG1 subclass [reviewed in (Crisp et al., 2016; Jain & Balice-Gordon, 2016; Leypoldt et al., 2015; Vidarsson et al., 2014)], and experimentally confirmed for NMDAR-Abs in a very elegant experiment: whilst intact patient NMDAR-Abs induce a significant decrease in the surface expression of NMDARs, the enzymatic digestion of the patient IgG Fc domains to generate Fab fragments (which bind in monovalent manner) blocks NMDAR crosslinking and subsequent internalization (Hughes et al., 2010). Although IgG1 antibodies have been frequently found in serum samples of CASPR2-Ab encephalitis patients, no study has yet explored whether they are relevant for disease pathogenesis. Since we observed a significant decrease in the synaptic distribution of Caspr2 and surface AMPARs induced by CASPR2-Abs, and a predominance of the IgG1 subclass, we hypothesized that their pathogenic mechanism could be similar to that of NMDAR-Abs. Accordingly, in a preliminary experiment we found that CASPR2-Abs bound to the surface of cortical neurons undergo internalization (Figure 5.6). Moreover, human IgG clusters at the cell surface seem to decrease over the time of incubation, which hints that CASPR2-Abs undergo internalization in a time-dependent manner. Further experiments, with a time-point series of shorter and longer periods of incubation with the patient plgGs, should be performed to clarify this possibility. Differing time-

dependent dynamics of internalization have been proposed for both NMDAR- and AMPAR-Abs and their respective target receptors. Whilst surface NMDARs undergo continuous timedependent internalization throughout a period of 48 h (Moscato et al., 2014), AMPAR-Abs reach a fast peak of internalization at 4 h and then undergo lysosomal-mediated degradation (Peng et al., 2015). Importantly, our findings suggest that the potential mechanism of CASPR2-Abs for induction of pathogenesis is through crosslinking and internalization of Caspr2. Taking into consideration the interaction between Caspr2 and the GluA1 AMPAR subunit, it is likely that surface AMPARs are also internalized from the synapse in complex with Caspr2, thus explaining their decreased synaptic levels. Curiously, when incubating hippocampal neurons with a higher concentration of patient IgGs, we observed a striking contradictory effect in the synaptic accumulation of cell surface AMPARs, which increased significantly just after 2 h of incubation (Suppl. Figure 5.S5). It is possible that higher IgG concentrations induce a bulk of crosslinked Caspr2/AMPAR synaptic complexes that simply hinder the surface dynamics and constitutive endocytic pathways of AMPARs, resulting in a massive synaptic accumulation. Future experiments using varying titres of CASPR2-antibodies should be undertaken to tackle this question.

CASPR2-Abs, including the ones used in this study, are also of the IgG4 subclass, which functions in a completely different mode of action than that of IgG1 subtype. IgG4 antibodies are heterobispecific due to a constant exchange of Fab arms, indicating that they do not bind Fc receptors on effector cells, and most likely mediate a monovalent disruption of the target antigen function, rather than promoting its internalization [reviewed in (Bastiaansen *et al.*, 2017; Crisp *et al.*, 2016; van Sonderen *et al.*, 2017; Vidarsson *et al.*, 2014)]. Interestingly, a recent study has reported that CASPR2-Abs, predominantly of the IgG4 subclass, perturb the interaction of Caspr2 with its extracellular binding partner Contactin-2 (Patterson *et al.*, 2017). Taking this into consideration, it is possible that CASPR2-Abs disrupt the interaction of Caspr2 with AMPARs, which could promote a destabilization of AMPARs at the synapse and consequent internalization. The pathogenesis of LGI1 autoantibodies, which are almost exclusively of the IgG4 type, has recently been proposed to occur in such manner: LGI1-IgG4-Abs directly disrupt the interaction between LGI1 and ADAM22 (curiously, ADAM22 also interacts with Caspr2), which is required for the stabilization of AMPARs at the synapse, and significantly decrease the synaptic expression of surface AMPARs (Ohkawa *et al.*, 2013).

Another aspect that most likely will influence the pathogenic mechanisms triggered by CASPR2-Abs is the modular multi-domain extracellular structure of CASPR2. CASPR2 is a single-pass transmembrane protein whose overall extracellular structure resembles that of neurexins: it contains a signal peptide domain right next to the N-terminal, a discoidin I

homology domain, several laminin G neurexin-like motifs, two epidermal growth factor-like repeats and a fibrinogen-like region (Poliak *et al.*, 1999). Importantly, a couple of studies have recently reported that serum from different patients recognize different epitope domains of Caspr2, although most patient IgGs, particularly of the IgG4 subtype, seem to require the discoidin I and the first Laminin G domains of Caspr2 for recognition and binding (Olsen *et al.*, 2015; Pinatel *et al.*, 2015). Interestingly, a homozygous (exon 2-9 deletion) mutation in the *CNTNAP2* gene, recurrently implicated in patients presenting with severe ID, epilepsy, language impairments and autistic features, originates a truncated form of Caspr2 that retains its membrane-anchoring structure but lacks 2 N-terminal Laminin G and the discoidin I domains (Zweier *et al.*, 2009). Overall, given the modular structure of Caspr2 with multiple domains involved in different functions, it is likely that antibody-mediated targeting of different epitopes will result in varying outcomes for Caspr2 function, and consequently for disease pathogenesis.

Other types of encephalitis, such as the NMDAR- and LGI1-encephalitis, have a very well-defined characterization of antibody IgG subclasses and target antigen epitopes, which renders the identification of precise pathogenic mechanisms relatively easy. That is definitely not the case for CASPR2-Abs: they present a mixed contribution of IgG subclasses with alternate modes of action; patient sera can target different antigen epitopes; and varying Ab titres elicit opposite pathogenic effects. These findings hamper the identification of a precise pathogenic mechanism triggered by CASPR2-Abs, but do explain the wide phenotypic variability presented by patients. Most importantly, they warrant a more thorough characterization of each patient individually. The establishment of a potential correlation between antibody titres, IgG subclasses and antigen targets with specific phenotypic clusters would enable the development of more specific and efficient approaches of treatment.

How do the proposed pathogenic mechanisms correlate with the pathophysiology of CASPR2 autoimmune encephalitis, and of other *CNTNAP2*-related neuropsychiatric disorders?

Patients with CASPR2 autoantibodies typically present a clinical phenotype that overlaps the pathophysiology of different neurological syndromes that include neuromyotonia, Morvan's Syndrome and limbic encephalitis. The overarching symptoms manifest a complex dysfunction of the peripheral and central nervous systems and can include autonomic disturbances, peripheral nerve hyperexcitability, neuropathic pain, gross sleep disturbances, severe memory complaints, cognitive deficits and severe psychosis, often with hallucinations. In the present study, we found that CASPR2-Abs alter the synaptic distribution of Caspr2, induce aberrations in AMPAR trafficking and function and impair synaptic plasticity phenomena. Certainly, other CASPR2 functions, namely its role in VGKC clustering, contribute to the pathophysiology of peripheral symptoms presented by patients. However, the synaptic, cellular and functional phenotypes we found in consequence of CASPR2-Ab-binding to Caspr2 are likely to underlie disease pathogenesis, and sustain the central symptoms of memory complaints, cognitive deficits and psychotic features presented by patients.

Importantly, identification of Caspr2-dependent mechanisms impaired in consequence of CASPR2-Abs may also provide invaluable insights into the understanding of the pathogenic effects resulting from variations in the CNTNAP2 gene that have been recurrently implicated in several neuropsychiatric disorders such as ASD, ID and SCZ. Indeed, the psychiatric symptoms of CASPR2-Ab encephalitis patients substantially overlap with those of neuropsychiatric patients carrying CNTNAP2 mutations [reviewed in (Penagarikano & Geschwind, 2012; Poot, 2017; Rodenas-Cuadrado et al., 2014)], and with behavioural phenotypes presented by Cntnap2 KO animal models (Hoffman et al., 2016; Penagarikano et al., 2011). Interestingly, recent maternal-to-foetal CASPR2-antibody transfer models reveal that offspring mice exposed in utero to CASPR2-Abs develop synaptic, cellular and behavioural abnormalities that relate to CNTNAP2-associated neuropsychiatric phenotypes, thus not only confirming the pathogenicity of CASPR2-Abs, but also hinting that gestational transfer of maternal CASPR2-Abs to the foetus could likely contribute to the development of neuropsychiatric disorders in the progeny. In agreement, circulating CASPR2-Abs were recently detected during pregnancy in mothers of children with autism-spectrum disorders (Brimberg et al., 2016) or intellectual disability (Coutinho et al., 2017a). The identification of the molecular underpinnings of CASPR2-Ab-mediated pathogenesis might additionally foster better diagnosis and the development of more efficient therapy approaches in cases of idiopathic psychosis, first-episode schizophrenia, postpartum illness or even Creutzfeldt-Jakob Disease, to which CASPR2-Abs (and others) have been associated, although without indication of pathogenesis [reviewed in (Coutinho et al., 2014; Pruss & Lennox, 2016)].

Conclusions

In this chapter, we aimed at studying the potential synaptic, cellular and functional pathogenic phenotypes induced by CASPR2-Abs commonly found in psychiatric patients with autoimmune synaptic encephalitis. We discovered that CASPR2-Abs trigger a direct pathogenic mechanism that disrupts the synaptic function we previously found for CASPR2 in the regulation of AMPARs. CASPR2-Abs significantly altered the synaptic content of Caspr2 and cell surface AMPARs, indicating severe aberrations in AMPAR trafficking that ultimately

compromise proper glutamatergic synaptic transmission and synaptic plasticity phenomena. Importantly, our findings underscore the glutamatergic system as a potential target for dysfunction mediated by CASPR2-Abs, and propose that it contributes to the pathophysiology of CASPR2-Ab encephalitis, likely underlying the severe cognitive and psychiatric symptoms presented by patients. Furthermore, understanding the pathogenic mechanisms triggered by CASPR2-Abs will provide better knowledge on the full spectrum of cellular and molecular functions played by CASPR2, and how they can be perturbed by mutations in the *CNTNAP2* gene, implicated in genic neuropsychiatric disorders such as ASD, ID, and SCZ.

Supplementary Figures



Figure 5.S1 – CASPR2 autoantibodies are present in the plasma of a patient with autoimmune synaptic encephalitis. (A - C) Representative immunofluorescence images of 14-18 DIV hippocampal neurons incubated for 1 h with the plasma of a patient with anti-CASPR2 encephalitis and stained for surface human immunoglobulins (IgGs; green) and the neuronal marker MAP2 (red). (A) Staining of hippocampal neurons incubated for 1 h with normal serum of a patient with CASPR2-encephalitis shows that human IgGs in the patient plasma bind strongly to the surface of neurons. (B, C) To confirm the specificity of patient IgGs for CASPR2, and test for the presence of autoantibodies against other neuronal protein targets, patient plasma was pre-absorbed either in (B) untransfected HEK293 cells, or (C) HEK293 cells expressing human CASPR2, collected and re-incubated for 1 h in 14-18 DIV hippocampal neurons. Images in this panel were kindly provided by Ester Coutinho (Oxford University, UK).



Figure 5.S2 – CASPR2 autoantibodies bind to the surface of neuronal dendritic compartments. Representative immunofluorescence images of 13 DIV low-density cultured cortical neurons incubated for 7 h with 200 pg/mL of human IgGs purified from either a sexand aged-matched healthy control (healthy pIgG) or from a patient with anti-CASPR2 autoimmune encephalitis (patient pIgG), and immunolabeled for surface human IgGs and for the dendritic neuronal marker MAP2. Staining for human IgGs bound to the surface of cortical neurons is only visible with patient pIgGs. *Scale bars = 5 \mu m.*



Figure 5.S3 – CASPR2 autoantibodies do not affect the development or maintenance of excitatory synapses. (A, B) 13 DIV low-density cultured cortical neurons were incubated for 7 h with 200 pg/mL of human IgGs purified from the plasma of either the CASPR2-encephalitis patient or a healthy subject. Cells were then fixed and stained for the postsynaptic marker PSD95 and the dendritic neuronal marker MAP2. (A) Representative immunofluorescence images of cultured cortical neurons incubated for 7 h with either healthy or patient-purified human IgGs, and stained for PSD95 and MAP2. Scale bars = $5\mu m$. (B) The fluorescence intensity, area and number of PSD95 clusters was quantified. Total number of analysed cells was obtained from three independent experiments. (N=3, n≥ 30cells).



Figure 5.S4 – CASPR2 autoantibodies have no effects in the dendritic and synaptic distribution of Caspr2 nor do they alter the trafficking and synaptic content of cell surface AMPARs. (A - C) 15 DIV low-density cultured hippocampal neurons were incubated for 7 h with 200 pg/mL of human IgGs purified from the plasma of either the CASPR2-encephalitis patient or a healthy subject. Cells were then fixed and immunolabeled with an antibody against an extracellular epitope in the GluA1 N-terminus for staining of surface GluA1-containing AMPARs. After permeabilization, cells were stained for Caspr2 and the synaptic marker PSD95. (A) Representative immunofluorescence images of hippocampal neurons incubated for 7 h with either healthy or patient-purified human IgGs, and stained for superficial GluA1, Caspr2 and PSD95. Scale bars = $5\mu m$. (B, C) The fluorescence intensity of total and PSD95-colocalized synaptic clusters of both Caspr2 (B) and cell surface GluA1 (C) was quantified. Total number of analysed cells was obtained from at least three independent experiments. (N \geq 3, n \geq 30cells). Results are presented as means ± S.E.M.



Figure 5.S5 – Higher concentration of CASPR2 autoantibodies significantly increases the trafficking and synaptic content of cell surface AMPARs. (A) 14-15 DIV low-density cultured hippocampal neurons were incubated for either 2 or 21 h with 50 μ g/mL of human IgGs purified from the plasma of either the CASPR2-encephalitis patient or a healthy subject. Cells were then fixed and immunolabeled with an antibody against an extracellular epitope in the GluA1 N-terminus for staining of surface GluA1-containing AMPARs. After permeabilization, cells were stained for the postsynaptic marker PSD95 and the presynaptic marker vGluT1 for identification of excitatory synapses. (B, C) The fluorescence intensity of total (B) and synaptic (C) clusters (co-localized with both PSD95 and vGluT1) of cell surface GluA1 was quantified. Total number of analysed cells was obtained from at least two independent experiments. (2 h: N≥3, n≥ 30cells; 21 h: N=2, n≥ 20cells). Results are presented as means \pm S.E.M. and the statistical significance was determined by the non-parametric Kruskal-Wallis test, followed by Dunn's Multiple Comparison post-hoc test, **p<0.01, ****p<0.0001 compared to control, #p<0.05, ###p<0.001 relative to healthy plgGs.



Figure 5.S6 – Subtyping of CASPR2 autoantibody IgG subclasses present in the plasma of a patient with CASPR2 autoimmune encephalitis. Representative immunofluorescence images of CASPR2-EGFP-transfected HEK293 cells incubated for 1 h with the patient plasma. Cells were then fixed and immunolabelled with a non-tagged mouse anti-human IgG antibody specific for each IgG subclass, followed by an appropriate antimouse fluorophore-conjugated secondary antibody. End-point CBA titrations for each subclass is given in the lower left corner of each panel. Images in this panel were kindly provided by Ester Coutinho (Oxford University, UK).

Supplementary Tables

Table 5.S1 - Comparison of mEPSCs and neuronal parameters across experimental groups of mice injected with purified human IgGs from healthy subjects or patients with CASPR2 encephalitis.

Experimental Group	Amplitude (pA)	Frequency (Hz)	Rise time (ms)	Decay (т, ms)	RMS Noise	Series R (MΩ)	Input R (MΩ)
WT	14.3±0.84	7.0±1.16	1.27±0.04	3.50±0.18	1.8±0.05	20.5±0.9	225.4±13.7
Healthy plgGs	14.9±0.83	5.2±1.26	1.14±0.04	3.28±0.16	1.9±0.05	17.0±1.1	308.4±47.8
Patient plgGs	10.8±0.52*/##	8.1±1.30	1.29±0.07	3.69±0.42	1.8±0.07	18.9±0.9	402.8±62.3

Results are presented as mean \pm S.E.M. of each measured parameter from neurons. (*R*: resistance). Statistical significance determined by Kruskal-Wallis test, followed by Dunn's post-hoc test: *p<0.05 relative to WT, ##p<0.01 compared to healthy IgGs.

Chapter VI Concluding remarks & Future Perspectives

Concluding remarks

The human brain is distinctively unique due to its remarkable ability for complex language, higher cognition, emotion regulation and executive control of behaviour. The glutamatergic system is a major workhorse underlying most of these processes, hence it undergoes constant regulation in order to maintain the brain working properly. Perhaps conflicting with the definition of the word "maintain", the hallmark feature of a brain working properly is plasticity. Indeed, the brain is ever-changing, either during development and refinement of the neuronal circuitry, or in response to different sensory inputs or pathological insults. Evidently, the brain does not change without restrains; instead it is capable of *keeping its cool* and adapt, preventing disruption of certain brain processes. Strongly contributing to this is homeostatic synaptic plasticity, which is capable of maintaining neuronal activity within dynamic, yet stable boundaries that keep neuronal networks in-balance, even in face of constant changes of activity. Hence, homeostatic synaptic plasticity seems to be inherently crucial for the maintenance of proper brain function, and ultimately behaviour and cognition.

Certainly, it comes as no surprise that emerging evidence implicate glutamatergic synaptic abnormalities and failure in homeostatic synaptic plasticity mechanisms in the pathogenesis of several cognitive and neuropsychiatric disorders, including ASD, SCZ and ID. Unfortunately, the molecular mechanisms underlying homeostatic synaptic plasticity are still far from being completely understood, and evidence on which and how such mechanisms become compromised in the context of disease is still scarce.

In the present study we set out to explore the role of Contactin-associated proteins 1 and 2 in the regulation of glutamate AMPARs, the synaptic effectors of long-lasting changes in synaptic efficacy and strength that underlie the expression of various modalities of synaptic plasticity, including homeostatic synaptic scaling. Together with previous results from our laboratory (Santos *et al.*, 2012), we herein identify Caspr1 and Caspr2 as novel AMPAR-interacting proteins capable of regulating activity-dependent mechanisms of AMPAR trafficking and glutamatergic synaptic transmission, and uncover an unsuspected requirement of these proteins to trigger homeostatic and sensory-driven experience-dependent synaptic plasticity processes, otherwise compromised in their absence (Figure 6.1 and 6.2). The recent implication of these proteins in neurological and neuropsychiatric disorders opens the path for understanding how neuronal synaptic homeostasis can falter in the context of disease, and identify the pathogenic underpinnings that drive the cognitive and psychiatric symptoms presented by patients.

Heads or tails - are Caspr1 and Caspr2 two sides of the same coin?

At first sight, the similarity of functions mediated by Caspr1 and Caspr2 is quite striking, suggesting that they play redundant roles in AMPAR regulation and synaptic plasticity. However, although their effects converge to the same end-point, they seem to trigger distinct mechanisms to achieve so. This divergence is quite remarkable if we consider the significant degree of structural and functional homology shared between them (Peles *et al.*, 1997; Poliak *et al.*, 1999). Such difference most likely stems from two key intracellular domains exclusive to either Caspr1 or Caspr2 C-tails.

Caspr1 encompasses a proline-rich region, absent from Caspr2, that binds to SH3 domains (Peles et al., 1997), and which we found to be important for the role played by Caspr1 in AMPAR regulation. Through this domain, Caspr1 activates a Src-dependent signalling pathway that regulates the translational capacity of the RNA-binding protein ZBP1, which we found to bind to the mRNA of the GluA1 subunit of AMPARs. It is possible that ZBP1, downstream of a Caspr1-dependent pathway, mediates an activity-dependent posttranscriptional mechanism that fine-tunes the availability of a synaptic pool of GluA1 mRNA readily available to undergo translation on demand upon prolonged inhibition of neuronal activity. Such mechanism could easily sustain the expression of homeostatic synaptic plasticity, which has been shown to depend on local GluA1 protein synthesis. Because Caspr2 lacks this proline-rich motif, it is unlikely that it participates at such a posttranscriptional level of AMPAR regulation.

Whilst lacking the proline-rich region, Caspr2 contains a PDZ-binding domain (Poliak *et al.*, 1999) through which it interacts with several known regulators of AMPAR trafficking, including PSD95 and SAP97 (Chen *et al.*, 2015). Additionally, Caspr2 contains a common FERM motif that binds the cytoskeleton adaptor 4.1N protein (Denisenko-Nehrbass *et al.*, 2003b), which also has a recognised role in AMPAR trafficking. Although we haven't yet established the relevance of any Caspr2 molecular determinant on its function, it is possible that these two domains play a concerted action. The binding of Caspr2, through these domains, to SAP97, 4.1N protein and PSD95, which act on different steps of AMPAR trafficking [reviewed in (Anggono & Huganir, 2012; Shepherd & Huganir, 2007)], suggests that Caspr2 could, in principle, orchestrate a modular and step-wise pathway to traffic AMPARs all the way from their synthesis at the ER and Golgi apparatus, through binding to SAP97; to their exocytic insertion in the cell membrane and surface lateral diffusion, through binding to PSD95.

These observations argue in favour of Caspr1 and Caspr2 mediating complementary, instead of redundant functions in the regulation of AMPARs. Further contributing to this hypothesis is the region-specificity of the effects elicited by either Caspr1 or Caspr2. Although they control the basal synaptic expression of AMPARs regardless of brain region (particularly Caspr2), the activity-dependence of their mechanisms is restricted to a specific region, with Caspr1 being required in the hippocampus, whilst Caspr2 in necessary in the cortex. Because the expression of both proteins does not differ significantly across these brain regions, it is likely that differences in region-specificity stem instead from varying expression of a downstream effector of one of the proteins.

CASPR1 and CASPR2 dysfunction underlying the pathogenesis of neurological and neuropsychiatric disorders

Throughout the past decade, several mutations in the *CNTNAP2* gene have been recurrently implicated in the pathogenesis of various neurological and psychiatric disorders, including ASD, SCZ and bipolar disorder, ID and language impairment, as well as epilepsy and syndromic forms of epilepsy, among others [reviewed in (Penagarikano & Geschwind, 2012; Poot, 2017)]. Overarching phenotypes of patients carrying *CNTNAP2* mutations include seizures, language impairments, intellectual disability and varying autistic-core behavioural and social defects. Furthermore, autoantibodies targeting CASPR2 have also been recently found in association with autoimmune synaptic encephalitis. Patients develop neurological syndromes that can include neuromyotonia, Morvan's Syndrome and limbic encephalitis, manifesting a clinical condition that overlaps a complex dysfunction of both peripheral and central nervous systems. Importantly, symptoms of cognitive / psychiatric nature presented by these patients substantially overlap with those of genic neuropsychiatric disorders, suggesting a common mechanism of pathogenesis ensuing from both genetic- and antibody-mediated disruptions of CASPR2 function.

Therapeutic approaches used to date to treat autistic or schizophrenic patients often only ameliorate or dampen a reduced scope of the behavioural phenotypes, and elicit severe secondary effects. Moreover, most immunotherapies used to treat CASPR2 autoimmune encephalitis are unspecific, and although there is usually a good clinical outcome, most patients require sustained immunosuppression, with several retaining permanent cognitive sequelae. Understanding how genetic- and antibody-mediated perturbations in CASPR2 function underlie the pathogenesis of distinct disorders may enable the development of more efficient and targeted therapies. Potential therapeutic approaches worthy of note are oxytocin and oestrogen, which have been shown to revert the behavioural phenotypes of *Cntnap2* KO animal models (Hoffman *et al.*, 2016; Penagarikano *et al.*, 2015). Interestingly, oestrogen is known to regulate oxytocin (McCarthy, 1995), and oestrogen-mediated effects in glutamatergic signalling have been reported (Smith *et al.*, 2009). Concurring with the potential therapeutic effect of oestrogen is the clear gender bias in patients with CASPR2-related disorders: *CNTNAP2* mutation-related phenotypes are more frequent in males, and there is an extremely marked preponderance of males (around 90%) in CASPR2 encephalitis (Binks *et al.*, 2017; van Sonderen *et al.*, 2017), suggesting a sex-linked susceptibility to perturbations in CASPR2 function and hinting at the potential protective effect of oestrogen in females.

Although association of CASPR1 with disease is not vast, mutations in the CASPR1encoding gene *CNTNAP1* have been recently implicated in the pathogenesis of congenital forms of hypomyelinating disorders and neuropathy (Hengel *et al.*, 2017; Lakhani *et al.*, 2017; Laquerriere *et al.*, 2014; Mehta *et al.*, 2017; Nizon *et al.*, 2016; Vallat *et al.*, 2016), and autoantibodies targeting CASPR1 were just found in association with inflammatory neuropathy (Doppler *et al.*, 2016). The implication of CASPR1 in the pathogenesis of these disorders indicates a potential dysregulation of its known function in paranodes of peripheral nerves, suggesting that a contribution of the role of CASPR1 in AMPAR regulation is unlikely to occur is such cases. Interestingly, a recent meta-analysis study of the transcriptomic profiling across several neuropsychiatric disorders indicates that *CNTNAP1* gene expression is downregulated in ASD, SCZ and bipolar disorder (Gandal *et al.*, 2018), thus giving a first hint that the role of CASPR1 in AMPAR regulation and homeostatic synaptic plasticity could be implicated in the pathogenesis of neuropsychiatric disorders, alongside CASPR2.

Interestingly, several other CASPR proteins and members of the CONTACTIN family, to which CASPR1 and CASPR2 typically bind, have been recurrently found to both harbour gene mutations implicated in genic neuropsychiatric disorders (Cottrell *et al.*, 2011; Fernandez *et al.*, 2008; Fromer *et al.*, 2016; Glessner *et al.*, 2009; Hirata *et al.*, 2016; Hu *et al.*, 2015; Karayannis *et al.*, 2014; Kashevarova *et al.*, 2014; Mercati *et al.*, 2016; Okita *et al.*, 2017; Pagnamenta *et al.*, 2010; Shangguan *et al.*, 2017; Stogmann *et al.*, 2013; Zhao *et al.*, 2013), and be targeted by autoantibodies in autoimmune pathologies (Boronat *et al.*, 2012; Derfuss *et al.*, 2009; Manso *et al.*, 2016), thus making this CASPR/CONTACTIN system an interesting susceptibility hub for dysfunction in neurological and psychiatric disorders.



Figure 6.1 – Graphical representation of the molecular and synaptic functions mediated by Caspr1 and its underlying ZBP1-dependent mechanism. In a previous study from the laboratory we identified Caspr1 as a novel AMPAR-interacting protein necessary for the regulation of AMPAR synaptic expression and AMPAR-mediated currents. In the present study we uncovered a ZBP1-dependent posttranscriptional mechanism underlying the function of Caspr1 in AMPAR regulation, and further uncovered a requirement of this Caspr1/ZBP1 pathway for the expression of homeostatic synaptic scaling mechanisms, specifically in the hippocampus.



Figure 6.2 – Graphical representation of the molecular and synaptic functions mediated by Caspr2 and the pathogenic effects of CASPR2 autoantibodies. Herein, we identified Caspr2 as a novel AMPAR-interacting protein necessary for the regulation of AMPAR synaptic expression and AMPAR-mediated currents *in vivo*. Moreover, we uncovered a requirement of Caspr2 for the regulation of homeostatic synaptic scaling, and for the expression of visually-driven experience-dependent plasticity in the visual cortex. Furthermore, we explored the pathogenic effects of CASPR2 autoantibodies in Caspr2 functions and revealed that CASPR2-Abs perturb the synaptic expression of AMPARs and impair excitatory synaptic transmission in the visual cortex. Finally, we found that, whilst synaptic scaling mechanisms remain intact, CASPR2-Abs hinder NMDAR-dependent LTP.

Future perspectives

In this study we managed to unveil and characterize novel important functions mediated by the cell-adhesion molecules Caspr1 and Caspr2 in the regulation of AMPARs and synaptic plasticity phenomena. Nonetheless, our findings raise fundamental questions regarding the implication of these proteins, and their underlying mechanisms, in the regulation of fundamental physiological brain processes. Importantly, they warrant further investigation to explore how disease-related perturbations in the proposed function of Caspr1 and Caspr2 can contribute to disease pathogenesis.

Role of Caspr1 and ZBP1 in the regulation of activity-dependent local protein synthesis of AMPARs at dendrites and nearby synapses

In chapter III we uncovered an unanticipated posttranscriptional mechanism mediated by the RNA-binding protein ZBP1 underlying the role of Caspr1 in the regulation of AMPAR trafficking. We found that ZBP1 binds to GluA1 mRNA in basal conditions, in a process that likely hampers GluA1 translation. However, upon prolonged inhibition of neuronal activity, which promotes a Src-dependent de-activating phosphorylation of ZBP1, GluA1 mRNA molecules are substantially released from ZBP1. ZBP1 is well-recognized for providing an efficient and energy-saving mechanism to temporally and spatially control the local translation of β -actin mRNA in sites where actin dynamics is most required (Huttelmaier *et al.*, 2005; Oleynikov & Singer, 2003; Sasaki et al., 2010; Welshhans & Bassell, 2011). Additionally, studies have already reported the presence of dendritic ZBP1/β-actin RNA granules nearby synapses that undergo disassembly with subsequent local translation of β -actin upon neuronal activity (Buxbaum et al., 2014; Park et al., 2014; Whalley, 2014). These findings prompted us to hypothesize that ZBP1 mediates an activity-dependent role to fine-tune the availability of a synaptic pool of GluA1 mRNA readily available to undergo translation on demand upon prolonged inhibition of neuronal activity. Performing live-imaging assays using translation reporters or single-RNA molecule tracking methods would allow us to visualize GluA1 local protein synthesis occurring at dendrites and nearby synapses. Combining this strategy with KD-mediated loss of expression of both ZBP1 and Caspr1, or with a loss-of-function molecular replacement approach, would allow us to fully understand whether ZBP1, downstream of Caspr1, is necessary to regulate local protein synthesis of GluA1.

The expression of homeostatic synaptic plasticity has been shown to depend on local protein synthesis of GluA1-AMPARs, in a mechanism mediated by retinoic acid (Aoto *et al.*, 2008; Ju *et al.*, 2004; Maghsoodi *et al.*, 2008; Poon & Chen, 2008; Sutton *et al.*, 2006). Given that loss of ZBP1 expression, or blockade of its Src-dependent phosphorylation, alters the synaptic content of surface AMPARs and hinders homeostatic synaptic plasticity, it is likely that these synaptic scaling mechanisms require a ZBP1-dependent GluA1 translation to replenish surface AMPARs at the synapse. Performing the study proposed above in conditions of prolonged activity blockade, or upon stimulation with retinoic acid, would allow us to elucidate this hypothesis.

Pathogenic effect of disease-related *CNTNAP2* mutations in the regulation of AMPARs mediated by CASPR2

In chapter IV, we found that Caspr2 is present at excitatory cortical synapses and identified Caspr2 as a novel AMPAR-interacting protein capable of regulating the synaptic content of surface AMPARs. Furthermore, we provide compelling evidence indicating that this Caspr2 function is relevant for the regulation of basal glutamatergic synaptic transmission, and to elicit homeostatic synaptic scaling mechanisms that are required for the expression of sensory experience-dependent synaptic plasticity in vivo. Despite these unsuspected findings, the molecular mechanisms underlying the role of Caspr2 remain uncharacterized. Given the known C-tail-mediated interaction of Caspr2 with important regulators of AMPAR trafficking. namely SAP97, 4.1N protein and PSD95 (Chen et al., 2015; Denisenko-Nehrbass et al., 2003b), we hypothesize that Caspr2 also binds to GluA1 through this region to mediate its role in AMPAR trafficking. Future molecular replacement experiments, using Caspr2 deletion mutants (whole C-tail or either one of the FERM or PDZ-binding domains), will be important to elucidate the molecular determinants of Caspr2 underlying its function. Assessing how different mutants impinge either on the intracellular trafficking of AMPARs, or in their surface diffusion and retention/anchoring at the PSD, as well as in the expression of synaptic plasticity events will elucidate the molecular mechanism behind Caspr2.

Undoubtedly, studies using Cntnap2 KO animal models have provided invaluable insights into the cellular and molecular functions of Caspr2, and shed light on the potential effects of Caspr2 disruption in the context of disease. However, save few exceptions, most CNTNAP2 mutations identified to date result in potentially deleterious forms of the protein, instead of an absence of it. Molecular studies evaluating specific CNTNAP2 mutations have exclusively explored the mutational effect on Caspr2 itself. We believe that one major milestone still to be achieved in the field is thus understanding how specific potentially deleterious CNTNAP2 mutations perturb the synaptic and cellular functions of CASPR2. By performing in vitro molecular replacement experiments with specific disease-related CNTNAP2 mutations, we will be able to investigate their deleterious effects and determine how they disrupt CASPR2 function. Exploring the pathogenic effect of different mutations on AMPAR intracellular trafficking and surface dynamics, synaptic plasticity mechanisms, as well as on dendritic complexity and spine density and dynamics will elucidate specific-disease mechanisms of pathogenesis and help explain the phenotypic variability of patients carrying CNTNAP2 mutations. Finally, it will be of the utmost importance to generate a knockin mouse model with the most relevant disease-related CNTNAP2 mutation and assess its biochemical, electrophysiological and behavioural phenotypes. This will provide seminal insights on the
synaptic, cellular and circuitry functions of Caspr2 hampered *in vivo* by a disease-related mutation and serve as a corollary to understand disease pathogenesis in human patients.

Causal link for pathogenesis mediated by CASPR2 autoantibodies - insights from an *in vivo* mouse model of passive antibody transfer

In chapter V we aimed at exploring the pathogenic mechanisms of CASPR2 autoantibodies. We revealed that CASPR2-Abs perturb the synaptic content of endogenous Caspr2 and of surface AMPARs, ultimately impairing glutamatergic synaptic transmission in vivo and synaptic plasticity phenomena. In a preliminary experiment, we found that CASPR2-Abs bound to the surface of neurons potentially undergo time-dependent internalization themselves, which suggests they can exert their pathogenesis through internalization of Caspr2/AMPAR synaptic complexes from the cell surface. CASPR2-Abs are of the IgG1 but also of the rare IgG4 subtype, which do not activate the complement and are thus, thought to mediate a more direct disruption of their target antigens, instead of internalizing them. Indeed, CASPR2-IgG4-Abs were shown to perturb the interaction of Caspr2 with its extracellular binding partner Contactin-2 (Patterson et al., 2017). Future experiments should be performed to evaluate whether CASPR2-Abs promote a time-dependent internalization of both Caspr2 and surface AMPARs from the synapse, or if they disrupt the interaction of Caspr2 with GluA1, thus promoting a destabilization of AMPARs at the synapse and an increase of their surface lateral diffusion. These experiments will shed light on the synaptic and cellular phenotypes elicited by CASPR2-Abs and underpin their exact mechanism of action to disrupt Caspr2 function.

Despite symptom severity, most patients undergo substantial recovery following immunotherapy, and a good clinical outcome typically correlates with a decrease in circulating CASPR2-Ab titres in the patient serum, which suggests a direct antibody-mediated pathogenesis underlying disease. To date, only a couple of studies tried to establish a causal link of CASPR2-Abs to disease pathogenesis: they report that mice exposed *in utero* to CASPR2-Abs, in a mouse model of chronic maternal-to-foetal antibody transfer, develop synaptic, cellular and behavioural abnormalities that relate to *CNTNAP2*-associated neuropsychiatric phenotypes (Brimberg *et al.*, 2016; Coutinho *et al.*, 2017b), thus confirming the pathogenicity of CASPR2-Abs. However, because these studies refer to pathogenic effects of CASPR2-Abs in the progeny that most likely occur during development, they fall short on serving as a corollary for autoimmune encephalitis patients. The development of a mouse model of passive antibody transfer through continuous cerebroventricular infusion of patient

CSF or IgGs to replicate the CNS symptoms associated with the disease will allow the formal assertion of a direct association of CASPR2-Abs to pathology. Behavioural, electrophysiological, morphological and synaptic characterization of the mouse model will provide not only a causal link for CASPR2-Abs in disease pathogenesis, but help elucidate the cognitive and psychiatric symptoms presented by patients. A similar approach was recently used to develop a mouse model of anti-NMDAR encephalitis and establish the pathogenicity of anti-NMDAR antibodies (Planaguma *et al.*, 2015).

Chapter VII References

References

- Adesnik, H., Nicoll, R. A. & England, P. M. (2005). Photoinactivation of native AMPA receptors reveals their real-time trafficking. *Neuron.* **48**(6): 977-985.
- Alarcon, M., Abrahams, B. S., Stone, J. L., Duvall, J. A., Perederiy, J. V., Bomar, J. M., Sebat, J., Wigler, M., Martin, C. L., Ledbetter, D. H., Nelson, S. F., Cantor, R. M. & Geschwind, D. H. (2008). Linkage, association, and gene-expression analyses identify CNTNAP2 as an autism-susceptibility gene. *Am J Hum Genet.* 82(1): 150-159.
- Anderson, G. R., Galfin, T., Xu, W., Aoto, J., Malenka, R. C. & Sudhof, T. C. (2012). Candidate autism gene screen identifies critical role for cell-adhesion molecule CASPR2 in dendritic arborization and spine development. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A.* **109**(44): 18120-18125.
- Andreassi, C. & Riccio, A. (2009). To localize or not to localize: mRNA fate is in 3'UTR ends. *Trends Cell Biol.* **19**(9): 465-474.
- Anggono, V., Clem, R. L. & Huganir, R. L. (2011). PICK1 loss of function occludes homeostatic synaptic scaling. J Neurosci. 31(6): 2188-2196.
- Anggono, V. & Huganir, R. L. (2012). Regulation of AMPA receptor trafficking and synaptic plasticity. *Curr Opin Neurobiol.* **22**(3): 461-469.
- Aoto, J., Martinelli, D. C., Malenka, R. C., Tabuchi, K. & Sudhof, T. C. (2013). Presynaptic neurexin-3 alternative splicing trans-synaptically controls postsynaptic AMPA receptor trafficking. *Cell.* **154**(1): 75-88.
- Aoto, J., Nam, C. I., Poon, M. M., Ting, P. & Chen, L. (2008). Synaptic signaling by all-trans retinoic acid in homeostatic synaptic plasticity. *Neuron.* **60**(2): 308-320.
- Arking, D. E., Cutler, D. J., Brune, C. W., Teslovich, T. M., West, K., Ikeda, M., Rea, A., Guy, M., Lin, S., Cook, E. H. & Chakravarti, A. (2008). A common genetic variant in the neurexin superfamily member CNTNAP2 increases familial risk of autism. *Am J Hum Genet.* 82(1): 160-164.
- Asaki, C., Usuda, N., Nakazawa, A., Kametani, K. & Suzuki, T. (2003). Localization of translational components at the ultramicroscopic level at postsynaptic sites of the rat brain. *Brain Res.* 972(1-2): 168-176.
- Atlas, R., Behar, L., Elliott, E. & Ginzburg, I. (2004). The insulin-like growth factor mRNA binding-protein IMP-1 and the Ras-regulatory protein G3BP associate with tau mRNA and HuD protein in differentiated P19 neuronal cells. *J Neurochem.* **89**(3): 613-626.
- Bakkaloglu, B., O'Roak, B. J., Louvi, A., Gupta, A. R., Abelson, J. F., Morgan, T. M., Chawarska, K., Klin, A., Ercan-Sencicek, A. G., Stillman, A. A., Tanriover, G., Abrahams, B. S., Duvall, J. A., Robbins, E. M., Geschwind, D. H., Biederer, T., Gunel, M., Lifton, R. P. & State, M. W. (2008). Molecular cytogenetic analysis and resequencing of contactin associated protein-like 2 in autism spectrum disorders. *Am J Hum Genet.* 82(1): 165-173.
- Banker, G. & Goslin, K. (1998). Culturing nerve cells. Cambridge, Mass. MIT Press. 2nd.
- Barnes, S. J., Franzoni, E., Jacobsen, R. I., Erdelyi, F., Szabo, G., Clopath, C., Keller, G. B. & Keck, T. (2017). Deprivation-Induced Homeostatic Spine Scaling In Vivo Is Localized to Dendritic Branches that Have Undergone Recent Spine Loss. *Neuron.* 96(4): 871-882 e875.
- Bastiaansen, A. E. M., van Sonderen, A. & Titulaer, M. J. (2017). Autoimmune encephalitis with antileucine-rich glioma-inactivated 1 or anti-contactin-associated protein-like 2 antibodies (formerly called voltage-gated potassium channel-complex antibodies). *Curr Opin Neurol.* **30**(3): 302-309.
- Bats, C., Groc, L. & Choquet, D. (2007). The interaction between Stargazin and PSD-95 regulates AMPA receptor surface trafficking. *Neuron.* **53**(5): 719-734.
- Bear, M. F. & Malenka, R. C. (1994). Synaptic plasticity: LTP and LTD. *Curr Opin Neurobiol.* **4**(3): 389-399.
- Beattie, E. C., Carroll, R. C., Yu, X., Morishita, W., Yasuda, H., von Zastrow, M. & Malenka, R. C. (2000). Regulation of AMPA receptor endocytosis by a signaling mechanism shared with LTD. *Nat Neurosci.* 3(12): 1291-1300.

- Beique, J. C., Na, Y., Kuhl, D., Worley, P. F. & Huganir, R. L. (2011). Arc-dependent synapse-specific homeostatic plasticity. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A.* **108**(2): 816-821.
- Bellone, C. & Nicoll, R. A. (2007). Rapid bidirectional switching of synaptic NMDA receptors. *Neuron.* **55**(5): 779-785.
- Belloso, J. M., Bache, I., Guitart, M., Caballin, M. R., Halgren, C., Kirchhoff, M., Ropers, H. H., Tommerup, N. & Tumer, Z. (2007). Disruption of the CNTNAP2 gene in a t(7;15) translocation family without symptoms of Gilles de la Tourette syndrome. *Eur J Hum Genet.* **15**(6): 711-713.
- Betancur, C., Sakurai, T. & Buxbaum, J. D. (2009). The emerging role of synaptic cell-adhesion pathways in the pathogenesis of autism spectrum disorders. *Trends Neurosci.* **32**(7): 402-412.
- Bhat, M. A., Rios, J. C., Lu, Y., Garcia-Fresco, G. P., Ching, W., St Martin, M., Li, J., Einheber, S., Chesler, M., Rosenbluth, J., Salzer, J. L. & Bellen, H. J. (2001). Axon-glia interactions and the domain organization of myelinated axons requires neurexin IV/Caspr/Paranodin. *Neuron.* **30**(2): 369-383.
- Biederer, T., Kaeser, P. S. & Blanpied, T. A. (2017). Transcellular Nanoalignment of Synaptic Function. *Neuron.* **96**(3): 680-696.
- Bien, C. G., Mirzadjanova, Z., Baumgartner, C., Onugoren, M. D., Grunwald, T., Holtkamp, M., Isenmann, S., Kermer, P., Melzer, N., Naumann, M., Riepe, M., Schabitz, W. R., von Oertzen, T. J., von Podewils, F., Rauschka, H. & May, T. W. (2017). Anti-contactin-associated protein-2 encephalitis: relevance of antibody titres, presentation and outcome. *Eur J Neurol.* 24(1): 175-186.
- Binks, S. N. M., Klein, C. J., Waters, P., Pittock, S. J. & Irani, S. R. (2017). LGI1, CASPR2 and related antibodies: a molecular evolution of the phenotypes. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry*.
- Blackman, M. P., Djukic, B., Nelson, S. B. & Turrigiano, G. G. (2012). A critical and cell-autonomous role for MeCP2 in synaptic scaling up. *J Neurosci.* **32**(39): 13529-13536.
- Blanpied, T. A., Scott, D. B. & Ehlers, M. D. (2002). Dynamics and regulation of clathrin coats at specialized endocytic zones of dendrites and spines. *Neuron.* **36**(3): 435-449.
- Bliss, T. V. & Lomo, T. (1973). Long-lasting potentiation of synaptic transmission in the dentate area of the anaesthetized rabbit following stimulation of the perforant path. *J Physiol.* **232**(2): 331-356.
- Boehm, J., Kang, M. G., Johnson, R. C., Esteban, J., Huganir, R. L. & Malinow, R. (2006). Synaptic incorporation of AMPA receptors during LTP is controlled by a PKC phosphorylation site on GluR1. *Neuron.* 51(2): 213-225.
- Bonnon, C., Goutebroze, L., Denisenko-Nehrbass, N., Girault, J. A. & Faivre-Sarrailh, C. (2003). The paranodal complex of F3/contactin and caspr/paranodin traffics to the cell surface via a non-conventional pathway. *J Biol Chem.* **278**(48): 48339-48347.
- Borgdorff, A. J. & Choquet, D. (2002). Regulation of AMPA receptor lateral movements. *Nature.* **417**(6889): 649-653.
- Boronat, A., Sepulveda, M., Llufriu, S., Sabater, L., Blanco, Y., Gabilondo, I., Sola, N., Villoslada, P., Dalmau, J., Graus, F. & Saiz, A. (2012). Analysis of antibodies to surface epitopes of contactin-2 in multiple sclerosis. *J Neuroimmunol.* **244**(1-2): 103-106.
- Bourgeron, T. (2015). From the genetic architecture to synaptic plasticity in autism spectrum disorder. *Nat Rev Neurosci.* **16**(9): 551-563.
- Bozdagi, O., Shan, W., Tanaka, H., Benson, D. L. & Huntley, G. W. (2000). Increasing numbers of synaptic puncta during late-phase LTP: N-cadherin is synthesized, recruited to synaptic sites, and required for potentiation. *Neuron.* **28**(1): 245-259.
- Bozdagi, O., Wang, X. B., Nikitczuk, J. S., Anderson, T. R., Bloss, E. B., Radice, G. L., Zhou, Q., Benson, D. L. & Huntley, G. W. (2010). Persistence of coordinated long-term potentiation and dendritic spine enlargement at mature hippocampal CA1 synapses requires N-cadherin. *J Neurosci.* **30**(30): 9984-9989.
- Bramham, C. R. & Wells, D. G. (2007). Dendritic mRNA: transport, translation and function. *Nat Rev Neurosci.* **8**(10): 776-789.
- Branco, T., Staras, K., Darcy, K. J. & Goda, Y. (2008). Local dendritic activity sets release probability at hippocampal synapses. *Neuron.* **59**(3): 475-485.

- Bredt, D. S. & Nicoll, R. A. (2003). AMPA receptor trafficking at excitatory synapses. *Neuron.* **40**(2): 361-379.
- Bridi, M. S., Park, S. M. & Huang, S. (2017). Developmental Disruption of GABAAR-Meditated Inhibition in Cntnap2 KO Mice. *eNeuro.* **4**(5).
- Brimberg, L., Mader, S., Jeganathan, V., Berlin, R., Coleman, T. R., Gregersen, P. K., Huerta, P. T., Volpe, B. T. & Diamond, B. (2016). Caspr2-reactive antibody cloned from a mother of an ASD child mediates an ASD-like phenotype in mice. *Mol Psychiatry*. **21**(12): 1663-1671.
- Buffington, S. A., Huang, W. & Costa-Mattioli, M. (2014). Translational control in synaptic plasticity and cognitive dysfunction. *Annu Rev Neurosci.* **37**: 17-38.
- Bukalo, O. & Dityatev, A. (2012). Synaptic cell adhesion molecules. Adv Exp Med Biol. 970: 97-128.
- Burbach, J. P. & van der Zwaag, B. (2009). Contact in the genetics of autism and schizophrenia. *Trends Neurosci.* **32**(2): 69-72.
- Burrone, J., O'Byrne, M. & Murthy, V. N. (2002). Multiple forms of synaptic plasticity triggered by selective suppression of activity in individual neurons. *Nature*. **420**(6914): 414-418.
- Buxbaum, A. R., Haimovich, G. & Singer, R. H. (2015a). In the right place at the right time: visualizing and understanding mRNA localization. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol.* **16**(2): 95-109.
- Buxbaum, A. R., Wu, B. & Singer, R. H. (2014). Single beta-actin mRNA detection in neurons reveals a mechanism for regulating its translatability. *Science*. **343**(6169): 419-422.
- Buxbaum, A. R., Yoon, Y. J., Singer, R. H. & Park, H. Y. (2015b). Single-molecule insights into mRNA dynamics in neurons. *Trends Cell Biol.* **25**(8): 468-475.
- Cajigas, I. J., Tushev, G., Will, T. J., tom Dieck, S., Fuerst, N. & Schuman, E. M. (2012). The local transcriptome in the synaptic neuropil revealed by deep sequencing and high-resolution imaging. *Neuron.* **74**(3): 453-466.
- Caroni, P., Donato, F. & Muller, D. (2012). Structural plasticity upon learning: regulation and functions. *Nat Rev Neurosci.* **13**(7): 478-490.
- Carroll, R. C., Beattie, E. C., Xia, H., Luscher, C., Altschuler, Y., Nicoll, R. A., Malenka, R. C. & von Zastrow, M. (1999). Dynamin-dependent endocytosis of ionotropic glutamate receptors. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A.* **96**(24): 14112-14117.
- Carvalho, A. L., Duarte, C. B. & Carvalho, A. P. (2000). Regulation of AMPA receptors by phosphorylation. *Neurochem Res.* **25**(9-10): 1245-1255.
- Chan, C. S., Weeber, E. J., Kurup, S., Sweatt, J. D. & Davis, R. L. (2003). Integrin requirement for hippocampal synaptic plasticity and spatial memory. *J Neurosci.* **23**(18): 7107-7116.
- Chan, C. S., Weeber, E. J., Zong, L., Fuchs, E., Sweatt, J. D. & Davis, R. L. (2006). Beta 1-integrins are required for hippocampal AMPA receptor-dependent synaptic transmission, synaptic plasticity, and working memory. *J Neurosci.* **26**(1): 223-232.
- Chanda, S., Aoto, J., Lee, S. J., Wernig, M. & Sudhof, T. C. (2015). Pathogenic mechanism of an autismassociated neuroligin mutation involves altered AMPA-receptor trafficking. *Mol Psychiatry*.
- Chao, J. A., Patskovsky, Y., Patel, V., Levy, M., Almo, S. C. & Singer, R. H. (2010). ZBP1 recognition of beta-actin zipcode induces RNA looping. *Genes Dev.* 24(2): 148-158.
- Chater, T. E. & Goda, Y. (2014). The role of AMPA receptors in postsynaptic mechanisms of synaptic plasticity. *Front Cell Neurosci.* **8**: 401.
- Chatterjee, S. & Pal, J. K. (2009). Role of 5'- and 3'-untranslated regions of mRNAs in human diseases. *Biol Cell.* **101**(5): 251-262.
- Chavis, P. & Westbrook, G. (2001). Integrins mediate functional pre- and postsynaptic maturation at a hippocampal synapse. *Nature*. **411**(6835): 317-321.
- Chefdeville, A., Honnorat, J., Hampe, C. S. & Desestret, V. (2016). Neuronal central nervous system syndromes probably mediated by autoantibodies. *Eur J Neurosci.* **43**(12): 1535-1552.
- Chen, N., Koopmans, F., Gordon, A., Paliukhovich, I., Klaassen, R. V., van der Schors, R. C., Peles, E., Verhage, M., Smit, A. B. & Li, K. W. (2015). Interaction proteomics of canonical Caspr2 (CNTNAP2) reveals the presence of two Caspr2 isoforms with overlapping interactomes. *Biochim Biophys Acta*. **1854**(7): 827-833.

- Cheng, J., Dong, J., Cui, Y., Wang, L., Wu, B. & Zhang, C. (2012). Interacting partners of AMPA-type glutamate receptors. *J Mol Neurosci.* **48**(2): 441-447.
- Chung, H. J., Steinberg, J. P., Huganir, R. L. & Linden, D. J. (2003). Requirement of AMPA receptor GluR2 phosphorylation for cerebellar long-term depression. *Science*. **300**(5626): 1751-1755.
- Chung, H. J., Xia, J., Scannevin, R. H., Zhang, X. & Huganir, R. L. (2000). Phosphorylation of the AMPA receptor subunit GluR2 differentially regulates its interaction with PDZ domain-containing proteins. *J Neurosci.* **20**(19): 7258-7267.
- Cifuentes-Diaz, C., Chareyre, F., Garcia, M., Devaux, J., Carnaud, M., Levasseur, G., Niwa-Kawakita, M., Harroch, S., Girault, J. A., Giovannini, M. & Goutebroze, L. (2011). Protein 4.1B contributes to the organization of peripheral myelinated axons. *PLoS One.* 6(9): e25043.
- Cingolani, L. A. & Goda, Y. (2008). Differential involvement of beta3 integrin in pre- and postsynaptic forms of adaptation to chronic activity deprivation. *Neuron Glia Biol.* **4**(3): 179-187.
- Cingolani, L. A., Thalhammer, A., Yu, L. M., Catalano, M., Ramos, T., Colicos, M. A. & Goda, Y. (2008). Activity-dependent regulation of synaptic AMPA receptor composition and abundance by beta3 integrins. *Neuron.* **58**(5): 749-762.
- Cirelli, C. (2017). Sleep, synaptic homeostasis and neuronal firing rates. *Curr Opin Neurobiol.* **44**: 72-79.
- Cohen, J. E., Lee, P. R., Chen, S., Li, W. & Fields, R. D. (2011). MicroRNA regulation of homeostatic synaptic plasticity. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A.* **108**(28): 11650-11655.
- Coleman, S. K., Cai, C., Mottershead, D. G., Haapalahti, J. P. & Keinanen, K. (2003). Surface expression of GluR-D AMPA receptor is dependent on an interaction between its C-terminal domain and a 4.1 protein. *J Neurosci.* **23**(3): 798-806.
- Colledge, M., Dean, R. A., Scott, G. K., Langeberg, L. K., Huganir, R. L. & Scott, J. D. (2000). Targeting of PKA to glutamate receptors through a MAGUK-AKAP complex. *Neuron.* **27**(1): 107-119.
- Collingridge, G. L., Isaac, J. T. & Wang, Y. T. (2004). Receptor trafficking and synaptic plasticity. *Nat Rev Neurosci.* **5**(12): 952-962.
- Collins, M. O., Husi, H., Yu, L., Brandon, J. M., Anderson, C. N., Blackstock, W. P., Choudhary, J. S. & Grant, S. G. (2006). Molecular characterization and comparison of the components and multiprotein complexes in the postsynaptic proteome. *J Neurochem.* **97 Suppl 1**: 16-23.
- Contractor, A., Mulle, C. & Swanson, G. T. (2011). Kainate receptors coming of age: milestones of two decades of research. *Trends Neurosci.* **34**(3): 154-163.
- Cook, D., Nuro, E., Jones, E. V., Altimimi, H. F., Farmer, W. T., Gandin, V., Hanna, E., Zong, R., Barbon, A., Nelson, D. L., Topisirovic, I., Rochford, J., Stellwagen, D., Beique, J. C. & Murai, K. K. (2014).
 FXR1P limits long-term memory, long-lasting synaptic potentiation, and de novo GluA2 translation. *Cell Rep.* 9(4): 1402-1416.
- Corlew, R., Brasier, D. J., Feldman, D. E. & Philpot, B. D. (2008). Presynaptic NMDA receptors: newly appreciated roles in cortical synaptic function and plasticity. *Neuroscientist.* **14**(6): 609-625.
- Cottrell, C. E., Bir, N., Varga, E., Alvarez, C. E., Bouyain, S., Zernzach, R., Thrush, D. L., Evans, J., Trimarchi, M., Butter, E. M., Cunningham, D., Gastier-Foster, J. M., McBride, K. L. & Herman, G. E. (2011). Contactin 4 as an autism susceptibility locus. *Autism Res.* **4**(3): 189-199.
- Coutinho, E., Harrison, P. & Vincent, A. (2014). Do neuronal autoantibodies cause psychosis? A neuroimmunological perspective. *Biol Psychiatry*. **75**(4): 269-275.
- Coutinho, E., Jacobson, L., Pedersen, M. G., Benros, M. E., Norgaard-Pedersen, B., Mortensen, P. B., Harrison, P. J. & Vincent, A. (2017a). CASPR2 autoantibodies are raised during pregnancy in mothers of children with mental retardation and disorders of psychological development but not autism. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry*. 88(9): 718-721.
- Coutinho, E., Menassa, D. A., Jacobson, L., West, S. J., Domingos, J., Moloney, T. C., Lang, B., Harrison, P. J., Bennett, D. L. H., Bannerman, D. & Vincent, A. (2017b). Persistent microglial activation and synaptic loss with behavioral abnormalities in mouse offspring exposed to CASPR2antibodies in utero. *Acta Neuropathol.* **134**(4): 567-583.
- Crisp, S. J., Kullmann, D. M. & Vincent, A. (2016). Autoimmune synaptopathies. *Nat Rev Neurosci.* **17**(2): 103-117.

- Czaplinski, K. (2014). Understanding mRNA trafficking: are we there yet? *Semin Cell Dev Biol.* **32**: 63-70.
- Dalmau, J. (2016). NMDA receptor encephalitis and other antibody-mediated disorders of the synapse: The 2016 Cotzias Lecture. *Neurology.* **87**(23): 2471-2482.
- Dalmau, J., Gleichman, A. J., Hughes, E. G., Rossi, J. E., Peng, X., Lai, M., Dessain, S. K., Rosenfeld, M. R., Balice-Gordon, R. & Lynch, D. R. (2008). Anti-NMDA-receptor encephalitis: case series and analysis of the effects of antibodies. *Lancet Neurol.* 7(12): 1091-1098.
- Dalmau, J., Tuzun, E., Wu, H. Y., Masjuan, J., Rossi, J. E., Voloschin, A., Baehring, J. M., Shimazaki, H., Koide, R., King, D., Mason, W., Sansing, L. H., Dichter, M. A., Rosenfeld, M. R. & Lynch, D. R. (2007). Paraneoplastic anti-N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor encephalitis associated with ovarian teratoma. *Ann Neurol.* 61(1): 25-36.
- Dalva, M. B., McClelland, A. C. & Kayser, M. S. (2007). Cell adhesion molecules: signalling functions at the synapse. *Nat Rev Neurosci.* 8(3): 206-220.
- de Lacy, N. & King, B. H. (2013). Revisiting the relationship between autism and schizophrenia: toward an integrated neurobiology. *Annu Rev Clin Psychol.* **9**: 555-587.
- de Vivo, L., Bellesi, M., Marshall, W., Bushong, E. A., Ellisman, M. H., Tononi, G. & Cirelli, C. (2017). Ultrastructural evidence for synaptic scaling across the wake/sleep cycle. *Science*. **355**(6324): 507-510.
- de Wit, J., Sylwestrak, E., O'Sullivan, M. L., Otto, S., Tiglio, K., Savas, J. N., Yates, J. R., 3rd, Comoletti, D., Taylor, P. & Ghosh, A. (2009). LRRTM2 interacts with Neurexin1 and regulates excitatory synapse formation. *Neuron.* 64(6): 799-806.
- Delgado, J. Y., Coba, M., Anderson, C. N., Thompson, K. R., Gray, E. E., Heusner, C. L., Martin, K. C., Grant, S. G. & O'Dell, T. J. (2007). NMDA receptor activation dephosphorylates AMPA receptor glutamate receptor 1 subunits at threonine 840. *J Neurosci.* 27(48): 13210-13221.
- Denisenko-Nehrbass, N., Goutebroze, L., Galvez, T., Bonnon, C., Stankoff, B., Ezan, P., Giovannini, M., Faivre-Sarrailh, C. & Girault, J. A. (2003a). Association of Caspr/paranodin with tumour suppressor schwannomin/merlin and beta1 integrin in the central nervous system. *J Neurochem.* 84(2): 209-221.
- Denisenko-Nehrbass, N., Oguievetskaia, K., Goutebroze, L., Galvez, T., Yamakawa, H., Ohara, O., Carnaud, M. & Girault, J. A. (2003b). Protein 4.1B associates with both Caspr/paranodin and Caspr2 at paranodes and juxtaparanodes of myelinated fibres. *Eur J Neurosci.* **17**(2): 411-416.
- Derfuss, T., Parikh, K., Velhin, S., Braun, M., Mathey, E., Krumbholz, M., Kumpfel, T., Moldenhauer, A., Rader, C., Sonderegger, P., Pollmann, W., Tiefenthaller, C., Bauer, J., Lassmann, H., Wekerle, H., Karagogeos, D., Hohlfeld, R., Linington, C. & Meinl, E. (2009). Contactin-2/TAG-1-directed autoimmunity is identified in multiple sclerosis patients and mediates gray matter pathology in animals. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. **106**(20): 8302-8307.
- Derkach, V. A., Oh, M. C., Guire, E. S. & Soderling, T. R. (2007). Regulatory mechanisms of AMPA receptors in synaptic plasticity. *Nat Rev Neurosci.* **8**(2): 101-113.
- Desai, N. S., Cudmore, R. H., Nelson, S. B. & Turrigiano, G. G. (2002). Critical periods for experiencedependent synaptic scaling in visual cortex. *Nat Neurosci.* 5(8): 783-789.
- Dev, K. K., Nishimune, A., Henley, J. M. & Nakanishi, S. (1999). The protein kinase C alpha binding protein PICK1 interacts with short but not long form alternative splice variants of AMPA receptor subunits. *Neuropharmacology.* 38(5): 635-644.
- Dickman, D. K. & Davis, G. W. (2009). The schizophrenia susceptibility gene dysbindin controls synaptic homeostasis. *Science*. **326**(5956): 1127-1130.
- Diering, G. H., Gustina, A. S. & Huganir, R. L. (2014). PKA-GluA1 coupling via AKAP5 controls AMPA receptor phosphorylation and cell-surface targeting during bidirectional homeostatic plasticity. *Neuron.* **84**(4): 790-805.
- Diering, G. H., Heo, S., Hussain, N. K., Liu, B. & Huganir, R. L. (2016). Extensive phosphorylation of AMPA receptors in neurons. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A.* **113**(33): E4920-4927.

- Diering, G. H., Nirujogi, R. S., Roth, R. H., Worley, P. F., Pandey, A. & Huganir, R. L. (2017). Homer1a drives homeostatic scaling-down of excitatory synapses during sleep. *Science*. 355(6324): 511-515.
- Dikic, I., Tokiwa, G., Lev, S., Courtneidge, S. A. & Schlessinger, J. (1996). A role for Pyk2 and Src in linking G-protein-coupled receptors with MAP kinase activation. *Nature*. **383**(6600): 547-550.
- Dingledine, R., Borges, K., Bowie, D. & Traynelis, S. F. (1999). The glutamate receptor ion channels. *Pharmacol Rev.* **51**(1): 7-61.
- Dong, H., O'Brien, R. J., Fung, E. T., Lanahan, A. A., Worley, P. F. & Huganir, R. L. (1997). GRIP: a synaptic PDZ domain-containing protein that interacts with AMPA receptors. *Nature.* 386(6622): 279-284.
- Doppler, K., Appeltshauser, L., Villmann, C., Martin, C., Peles, E., Kramer, H. H., Haarmann, A., Buttmann, M. & Sommer, C. (2016). Auto-antibodies to contactin-associated protein 1 (Caspr) in two patients with painful inflammatory neuropathy. *Brain.* **139**(Pt 10): 2617-2630.
- Doyle, M. & Kiebler, M. A. (2011). Mechanisms of dendritic mRNA transport and its role in synaptic tagging. *EMBO J.* **30**(17): 3540-3552.
- Dupuis, J. P., Ladepeche, L., Seth, H., Bard, L., Varela, J., Mikasova, L., Bouchet, D., Rogemond, V., Honnorat, J., Hanse, E. & Groc, L. (2014). Surface dynamics of GluN2B-NMDA receptors controls plasticity of maturing glutamate synapses. *EMBO J.* **33**(8): 842-861.
- Ehlers, M. D. (2000). Reinsertion or degradation of AMPA receptors determined by activity-dependent endocytic sorting. *Neuron.* 28(2): 511-525.
- Einheber, S., Schnapp, L. M., Salzer, J. L., Cappiello, Z. B. & Milner, T. A. (1996). Regional and ultrastructural distribution of the alpha 8 integrin subunit in developing and adult rat brain suggests a role in synaptic function. *J Comp Neurol.* **370**(1): 105-134.
- Einheber, S., Zanazzi, G., Ching, W., Scherer, S., Milner, T. A., Peles, E. & Salzer, J. L. (1997). The axonal membrane protein Caspr, a homologue of neurexin IV, is a component of the septate-like paranodal junctions that assemble during myelination. *J Cell Biol.* **139**(6): 1495-1506.
- Eom, T., Antar, L. N., Singer, R. H. & Bassell, G. J. (2003). Localization of a beta-actin messenger ribonucleoprotein complex with zipcode-binding protein modulates the density of dendritic filopodia and filopodial synapses. *J Neurosci.* **23**(32): 10433-10444.
- Esteban, J. A. (2003). AMPA receptor trafficking: a road map for synaptic plasticity. *Mol Interv.* **3**(7): 375-385.
- Esteban, J. A., Shi, S. H., Wilson, C., Nuriya, M., Huganir, R. L. & Malinow, R. (2003). PKA phosphorylation of AMPA receptor subunits controls synaptic trafficking underlying plasticity. *Nat Neurosci.* **6**(2): 136-143.
- Etherton, M. R., Tabuchi, K., Sharma, M., Ko, J. & Sudhof, T. C. (2011). An autism-associated point mutation in the neuroligin cytoplasmic tail selectively impairs AMPA receptor-mediated synaptic transmission in hippocampus. *EMBO J.* **30**(14): 2908-2919.
- Faivre-Sarrailh, C. & Devaux, J. J. (2013). Neuro-glial interactions at the nodes of Ranvier: implication in health and diseases. *Front Cell Neurosci.* **7**: 196.
- Falivelli, G., De Jaco, A., Favaloro, F. L., Kim, H., Wilson, J., Dubi, N., Ellisman, M. H., Abrahams, B. S., Taylor, P. & Comoletti, D. (2012). Inherited genetic variants in autism-related CNTNAP2 show perturbed trafficking and ATF6 activation. *Hum Mol Genet.* 21(21): 4761-4773.
- Fannon, A. M. & Colman, D. R. (1996). A model for central synaptic junctional complex formation based on the differential adhesive specificities of the cadherins. *Neuron.* **17**(3): 423-434.
- Fernandes, D. & Carvalho, A. L. (2016). Mechanisms of homeostatic plasticity in the excitatory synapse. *J Neurochem.* **139**(6): 973-996.
- Fernandez, T., Morgan, T., Davis, N., Klin, A., Morris, A., Farhi, A., Lifton, R. P. & State, M. W. (2008). Disruption of Contactin 4 (CNTN4) results in developmental delay and other features of 3p deletion syndrome. Am J Hum Genet. 82(6): 1385.
- Ferraguti, F. & Shigemoto, R. (2006). Metabotropic glutamate receptors. *Cell Tissue Res.* **326**(2): 483-504.

- Fiore, R., Rajman, M., Schwale, C., Bicker, S., Antoniou, A., Bruehl, C., Draguhn, A. & Schratt, G. (2014). MiR-134-dependent regulation of Pumilio-2 is necessary for homeostatic synaptic depression. *EMBO J.* **33**(19): 2231-2246.
- Frey, U. & Morris, R. G. (1997). Synaptic tagging and long-term potentiation. *Nature*. **385**(6616): 533-536.
- Friedman, J. I., Vrijenhoek, T., Markx, S., Janssen, I. M., van der Vliet, W. A., Faas, B. H., Knoers, N. V., Cahn, W., Kahn, R. S., Edelmann, L., Davis, K. L., Silverman, J. M., Brunner, H. G., van Kessel, A. G., Wijmenga, C., Ophoff, R. A. & Veltman, J. A. (2008). CNTNAP2 gene dosage variation is associated with schizophrenia and epilepsy. *Mol Psychiatry.* 13(3): 261-266.
- Fromer, M., Roussos, P., Sieberts, S. K., Johnson, J. S., Kavanagh, D. H., Perumal, T. M., Ruderfer, D. M., Oh, E. C., Topol, A., Shah, H. R., Klei, L. L., Kramer, R., Pinto, D., Gumus, Z. H., Cicek, A. E., Dang, K. K., Browne, A., Lu, C., Xie, L., Readhead, B., Stahl, E. A., Xiao, J., Parvizi, M., Hamamsy, T., Fullard, J. F., Wang, Y. C., Mahajan, M. C., Derry, J. M., Dudley, J. T., Hemby, S. E., Logsdon, B. A., Talbot, K., Raj, T., Bennett, D. A., De Jager, P. L., Zhu, J., Zhang, B., Sullivan, P. F., Chess, A., Purcell, S. M., Shinobu, L. A., Mangravite, L. M., Toyoshiba, H., Gur, R. E., Hahn, C. G., Lewis, D. A., Haroutunian, V., Peters, M. A., Lipska, B. K., Buxbaum, J. D., Schadt, E. E., Hirai, K., Roeder, K., Brennand, K. J., Katsanis, N., Domenici, E., Devlin, B. & Sklar, P. (2016). Gene expression elucidates functional impact of polygenic risk for schizophrenia. *Nat Neurosci.* 19(11): 1442-1453.
- Fukata, Y., Adesnik, H., Iwanaga, T., Bredt, D. S., Nicoll, R. A. & Fukata, M. (2006). Epilepsy-related ligand/receptor complex LGI1 and ADAM22 regulate synaptic transmission. *Science*. **313**(5794): 1792-1795.
- Fukata, Y., Lovero, K. L., Iwanaga, T., Watanabe, A., Yokoi, N., Tabuchi, K., Shigemoto, R., Nicoll, R.
 A. & Fukata, M. (2010). Disruption of LGI1-linked synaptic complex causes abnormal synaptic transmission and epilepsy. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A.* **107**(8): 3799-3804.
- Gainey, M. A., Hurvitz-Wolff, J. R., Lambo, M. E. & Turrigiano, G. G. (2009). Synaptic scaling requires the GluR2 subunit of the AMPA receptor. *J Neurosci.* **29**(20): 6479-6489.
- Gainey, M. A., Tatavarty, V., Nahmani, M., Lin, H. & Turrigiano, G. G. (2015). Activity-dependent synaptic GRIP1 accumulation drives synaptic scaling up in response to action potential blockade. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A.* **112**(27): E3590-3599.
- Gandal, M. J., Haney, J. R., Parikshak, N., Leppa, V., Ramaswami, G., Hartl, C., Schork, A. J., Appadurai, V., Buil, A., Werge, T. M., Liu, C., White, K. P., Consortium, C., Consortium, P., Group, i.-B. W., Horvath, S. & Geschwind, D. H. (2018). Shared molecular neuropathology across major psychiatric disorders parallels polygenic overlap. *Science*. **359**: 693–697
- Gao, M., Sossa, K., Song, L., Errington, L., Cummings, L., Hwang, H., Kuhl, D., Worley, P. & Lee, H. K. (2010). A specific requirement of Arc/Arg3.1 for visual experience-induced homeostatic synaptic plasticity in mouse primary visual cortex. *J Neurosci.* **30**(21): 7168-7178.
- Gdalyahu, A., Lazaro, M., Penagarikano, O., Golshani, P., Trachtenberg, J. T. & Geschwind, D. H. (2015). The Autism Related Protein Contactin-Associated Protein-Like 2 (CNTNAP2) Stabilizes New Spines: An In Vivo Mouse Study. *PLoS One.* **10**(5): e0125633.
- Geiger, J. R., Melcher, T., Koh, D. S., Sakmann, B., Seeburg, P. H., Jonas, P. & Monyer, H. (1995). Relative abundance of subunit mRNAs determines gating and Ca2+ permeability of AMPA receptors in principal neurons and interneurons in rat CNS. *Neuron.* **15**(1): 193-204.
- Gleichman, A. J., Panzer, J. A., Baumann, B. H., Dalmau, J. & Lynch, D. R. (2014). Antigenic and mechanistic characterization of anti-AMPA receptor encephalitis. *Ann Clin Transl Neurol.* 1(3): 180-189.
- Glessner, J. T., Wang, K., Cai, G., Korvatska, O., Kim, C. E., Wood, S., Zhang, H., Estes, A., Brune, C. W., Bradfield, J. P., Imielinski, M., Frackelton, E. C., Reichert, J., Crawford, E. L., Munson, J., Sleiman, P. M., Chiavacci, R., Annaiah, K., Thomas, K., Hou, C., Glaberson, W., Flory, J., Otieno, F., Garris, M., Soorya, L., Klei, L., Piven, J., Meyer, K. J., Anagnostou, E., Sakurai, T., Game, R. M., Rudd, D. S., Zurawiecki, D., McDougle, C. J., Davis, L. K., Miller, J., Posey, D. J., Michaels, S., Kolevzon, A., Silverman, J. M., Bernier, R., Levy, S. E., Schultz, R. T., Dawson, G., Owley, T., McMahon, W. M., Wassink, T. H., Sweeney, J. A., Nurnberger, J. I., Coon, H., Sutcliffe, J. S.,

Minshew, N. J., Grant, S. F., Bucan, M., Cook, E. H., Buxbaum, J. D., Devlin, B., Schellenberg, G. D. & Hakonarson, H. (2009). Autism genome-wide copy number variation reveals ubiquitin and neuronal genes. *Nature.* **459**(7246): 569-573.

- Goddard, C. A., Butts, D. A. & Shatz, C. J. (2007). Regulation of CNS synapses by neuronal MHC class I. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A.* **104**(16): 6828-6833.
- Goel, A., Jiang, B., Xu, L. W., Song, L., Kirkwood, A. & Lee, H. K. (2006). Cross-modal regulation of synaptic AMPA receptors in primary sensory cortices by visual experience. *Nat Neurosci.* 9(8): 1001-1003.
- Goel, A. & Lee, H. K. (2007). Persistence of experience-induced homeostatic synaptic plasticity through adulthood in superficial layers of mouse visual cortex. *J Neurosci.* **27**(25): 6692-6700.
- Goel, A., Xu, L. W., Snyder, K. P., Song, L., Goenaga-Vazquez, Y., Megill, A., Takamiya, K., Huganir, R. L. & Lee, H. K. (2011). Phosphorylation of AMPA receptors is required for sensory deprivationinduced homeostatic synaptic plasticity. *PLoS One.* 6(3): e18264.
- Gomes, A. R., Correia, S. S., Carvalho, A. L. & Duarte, C. B. (2003). Regulation of AMPA receptor activity, synaptic targeting and recycling: role in synaptic plasticity. *Neurochem Res.* 28(10): 1459-1473.
- Gordon, A., Salomon, D., Barak, N., Pen, Y., Tsoory, M., Kimchi, T. & Peles, E. (2016). Expression of Cntnap2 (Caspr2) in multiple levels of sensory systems. *Mol Cell Neurosci.* **70**: 42-53.
- Graber, T. E., Hebert-Seropian, S., Khoutorsky, A., David, A., Yewdell, J. W., Lacaille, J. C. & Sossin, W. S. (2013). Reactivation of stalled polyribosomes in synaptic plasticity. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. **110**(40): 16205-16210.
- Greger, I. H. & Esteban, J. A. (2007). AMPA receptor biogenesis and trafficking. *Curr Opin Neurobiol.* **17**(3): 289-297.
- Greger, I. H., Khatri, L., Kong, X. & Ziff, E. B. (2003). AMPA receptor tetramerization is mediated by Q/R editing. *Neuron.* **40**(4): 763-774.
- Greger, I. H., Khatri, L. & Ziff, E. B. (2002). RNA editing at arg607 controls AMPA receptor exit from the endoplasmic reticulum. *Neuron*. **34**(5): 759-772.
- Greger, I. H., Ziff, E. B. & Penn, A. C. (2007). Molecular determinants of AMPA receptor subunit assembly. *Trends Neurosci.* **30**(8): 407-416.
- Groc, L. & Choquet, D. (2006). AMPA and NMDA glutamate receptor trafficking: multiple roads for reaching and leaving the synapse. *Cell Tissue Res.* **326**(2): 423-438.
- Groc, L., Heine, M., Cognet, L., Brickley, K., Stephenson, F. A., Lounis, B. & Choquet, D. (2004). Differential activity-dependent regulation of the lateral mobilities of AMPA and NMDA receptors. *Nat Neurosci.* **7**(7): 695-696.
- Grooms, S. Y., Noh, K. M., Regis, R., Bassell, G. J., Bryan, M. K., Carroll, R. C. & Zukin, R. S. (2006). Activity bidirectionally regulates AMPA receptor mRNA abundance in dendrites of hippocampal neurons. *J Neurosci.* 26(32): 8339-8351.
- Groth, R. D., Lindskog, M., Thiagarajan, T. C., Li, L. & Tsien, R. W. (2011). Beta Ca2+/CaM-dependent kinase type II triggers upregulation of GluA1 to coordinate adaptation to synaptic inactivity in hippocampal neurons. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A.* **108**(2): 828-833.
- Gu, W., Wells, A. L., Pan, F. & Singer, R. H. (2008). Feedback regulation between zipcode binding protein 1 and beta-catenin mRNAs in breast cancer cells. *Mol Cell Biol.* **28**(16): 4963-4974.
- Guo, W., Polich, E. D., Su, J., Gao, Y., Christopher, D. M., Allan, A. M., Wang, M., Wang, F., Wang, G. & Zhao, X. (2015). Fragile X Proteins FMRP and FXR2P Control Synaptic GluA1 Expression and Neuronal Maturation via Distinct Mechanisms. *Cell Rep.* **11**(10): 1651-1666.
- Hanley, J. G. (2010). Endosomal sorting of AMPA receptors in hippocampal neurons. *Biochem Soc Trans.* **38**(2): 460-465.
- Harris, K. M. & Weinberg, R. J. (2012). Ultrastructure of synapses in the mammalian brain. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol.* **4**(5).
- Hayashi, Y., Shi, S. H., Esteban, J. A., Piccini, A., Poncer, J. C. & Malinow, R. (2000). Driving AMPA receptors into synapses by LTP and CaMKII: requirement for GluR1 and PDZ domain interaction. *Science*. **287**(5461): 2262-2267.

Hebb, D. O. (1949). The organization of behavior; a neuropsychological theory. New York,. Wiley.

- Heine, M., Groc, L., Frischknecht, R., Beique, J. C., Lounis, B., Rumbaugh, G., Huganir, R. L., Cognet, L. & Choquet, D. (2008a). Surface mobility of postsynaptic AMPARs tunes synaptic transmission. *Science.* 320(5873): 201-205.
- Heine, M., Thoumine, O., Mondin, M., Tessier, B., Giannone, G. & Choquet, D. (2008b). Activityindependent and subunit-specific recruitment of functional AMPA receptors at neurexin/neuroligin contacts. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A.* **105**(52): 20947-20952.
- Hengel, H., Magee, A., Mahanjah, M., Vallat, J. M., Ouvrier, R., Abu-Rashid, M., Mahamid, J., Schule, R., Schulze, M., Krageloh-Mann, I., Bauer, P., Zuchner, S., Sharkia, R. & Schols, L. (2017). CNTNAP1 mutations cause CNS hypomyelination and neuropathy with or without arthrogryposis. *Neurol Genet.* **3**(2): e144.
- Hengen, K. B., Torrado Pacheco, A., McGregor, J. N., Van Hooser, S. D. & Turrigiano, G. G. (2016). Neuronal Firing Rate Homeostasis Is Inhibited by Sleep and Promoted by Wake. *Cell.* 165(1): 180-191.
- Henley, J. M. (2003). Proteins interactions implicated in AMPA receptor trafficking: a clear destination and an improving route map. *Neurosci Res.* **45**(3): 243-254.
- Henley, J. M., Barker, E. A. & Glebov, O. O. (2011). Routes, destinations and delays: recent advances in AMPA receptor trafficking. *Trends Neurosci.* **34**(5): 258-268.
- Henley, J. M. & Wilkinson, K. A. (2016). Synaptic AMPA receptor composition in development, plasticity and disease. *Nat Rev Neurosci.* **17**(6): 337-350.
- Henry, F. E. (2011). A fragile balance at synapses: new evidence supporting a role for FMRP in homeostatic plasticity. *J Neurosci.* **31**(18): 6617-6619.
- Herring, B. E., Shi, Y., Suh, Y. H., Zheng, C. Y., Blankenship, S. M., Roche, K. W. & Nicoll, R. A. (2013). Cornichon proteins determine the subunit composition of synaptic AMPA receptors. *Neuron.* **77**(6): 1083-1096.
- Hirano, S. & Takeichi, M. (2012). Cadherins in brain morphogenesis and wiring. *Physiol Rev.* **92**(2): 597-634.
- Hirata, H., Takahashi, A., Shimoda, Y. & Koide, T. (2016). Caspr3-Deficient Mice Exhibit Low Motor Learning during the Early Phase of the Accelerated Rotarod Task. *PLoS One.* **11**(1): e0147887.
- Hoffman, E. J., Turner, K. J., Fernandez, J. M., Cifuentes, D., Ghosh, M., Ijaz, S., Jain, R. A., Kubo, F.,
 Bill, B. R., Baier, H., Granato, M., Barresi, M. J., Wilson, S. W., Rihel, J., State, M. W. & Giraldez,
 A. J. (2016). Estrogens Suppress a Behavioral Phenotype in Zebrafish Mutants of the Autism Risk
 Gene, CNTNAP2. *Neuron*. 89(4): 725-733.
- Hollmann, M. & Heinemann, S. (1994). Cloned glutamate receptors. Annu Rev Neurosci. 17: 31-108.
- Hollmann, M., O'Shea-Greenfield, A., Rogers, S. W. & Heinemann, S. (1989). Cloning by functional expression of a member of the glutamate receptor family. *Nature*. **342**(6250): 643-648.
- Holt, C. E. & Schuman, E. M. (2013). The central dogma decentralized: new perspectives on RNA function and local translation in neurons. *Neuron.* **80**(3): 648-657.
- Horresh, I., Bar, V., Kissil, J. L. & Peles, E. (2010). Organization of myelinated axons by Caspr and Caspr2 requires the cytoskeletal adapter protein 4.1B. *J Neurosci.* **30**(7): 2480-2489.
- Horresh, I., Poliak, S., Grant, S., Bredt, D., Rasband, M. N. & Peles, E. (2008). Multiple molecular interactions determine the clustering of Caspr2 and Kv1 channels in myelinated axons. *J Neurosci.* 28(52): 14213-14222.
- Hou, Q., Zhang, D., Jarzylo, L., Huganir, R. L. & Man, H. Y. (2008). Homeostatic regulation of AMPA receptor expression at single hippocampal synapses. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A.* **105**(2): 775-780.
- Houweling, A. R., Bazhenov, M., Timofeev, I., Steriade, M. & Sejnowski, T. J. (2005). Homeostatic synaptic plasticity can explain post-traumatic epileptogenesis in chronically isolated neocortex. *Cereb Cortex.* **15**(6): 834-845.
- Hu, J., Liao, J., Sathanoori, M., Kochmar, S., Sebastian, J., Yatsenko, S. A. & Surti, U. (2015). CNTN6 copy number variations in 14 patients: a possible candidate gene for neurodevelopmental and neuropsychiatric disorders. *J Neurodev Disord.* 7(1): 26.

- Huang, Y., Lu, W., Ali, D. W., Pelkey, K. A., Pitcher, G. M., Lu, Y. M., Aoto, H., Roder, J. C., Sasaki, T., Salter, M. W. & MacDonald, J. F. (2001). CAKbeta/Pyk2 kinase is a signaling link for induction of long-term potentiation in CA1 hippocampus. *Neuron*. 29(2): 485-496.
- Huang, Y. S., Kan, M. C., Lin, C. L. & Richter, J. D. (2006a). CPEB3 and CPEB4 in neurons: analysis of RNA-binding specificity and translational control of AMPA receptor GluR2 mRNA. *EMBO J.* 25(20): 4865-4876.
- Huang, Z., Shimazu, K., Woo, N. H., Zang, K., Muller, U., Lu, B. & Reichardt, L. F. (2006b). Distinct roles of the beta 1-class integrins at the developing and the mature hippocampal excitatory synapse. J Neurosci. 26(43): 11208-11219.
- Huganir, R. L. & Nicoll, R. A. (2013). AMPARs and synaptic plasticity: the last 25 years. *Neuron.* **80**(3): 704-717.
- Hughes, E. G., Peng, X., Gleichman, A. J., Lai, M., Zhou, L., Tsou, R., Parsons, T. D., Lynch, D. R., Dalmau, J. & Balice-Gordon, R. J. (2010). Cellular and synaptic mechanisms of anti-NMDA receptor encephalitis. *J Neurosci.* **30**(17): 5866-5875.
- Huguet, G., Ey, E. & Bourgeron, T. (2013). The genetic landscapes of autism spectrum disorders. *Annu Rev Genomics Hum Genet.* **14**: 191-213.
- Hussain, N. K., Diering, G. H., Sole, J., Anggono, V. & Huganir, R. L. (2014). Sorting Nexin 27 regulates basal and activity-dependent trafficking of AMPARs. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A.* **111**(32): 11840-11845.
- Hutchinson, M., Waters, P., McHugh, J., Gorman, G., O'Riordan, S., Connolly, S., Hager, H., Yu, P., Becker, C. M. & Vincent, A. (2008). Progressive encephalomyelitis, rigidity, and myoclonus: a novel glycine receptor antibody. *Neurology*. **71**(16): 1291-1292.
- Huttelmaier, S., Zenklusen, D., Lederer, M., Dictenberg, J., Lorenz, M., Meng, X., Bassell, G. J., Condeelis, J. & Singer, R. H. (2005). Spatial regulation of beta-actin translation by Src-dependent phosphorylation of ZBP1. *Nature*. **438**(7067): 512-515.
- Huveneers, S. & Danen, E. H. (2009). Adhesion signaling crosstalk between integrins, Src and Rho. J *Cell Sci.* **122**(Pt 8): 1059-1069.
- Ibata, K., Sun, Q. & Turrigiano, G. G. (2008). Rapid synaptic scaling induced by changes in postsynaptic firing. *Neuron.* **57**(6): 819-826.
- Ingley, E. (2008). Src family kinases: regulation of their activities, levels and identification of new pathways. *Biochim Biophys Acta.* **1784**(1): 56-65.
- Irani, S. R., Alexander, S., Waters, P., Kleopa, K. A., Pettingill, P., Zuliani, L., Peles, E., Buckley, C., Lang, B. & Vincent, A. (2010). Antibodies to Kv1 potassium channel-complex proteins leucine-rich, glioma inactivated 1 protein and contactin-associated protein-2 in limbic encephalitis, Morvan's syndrome and acquired neuromyotonia. *Brain.* **133**(9): 2734-2748.
- Irani, S. R., Pettingill, P., Kleopa, K. A., Schiza, N., Waters, P., Mazia, C., Zuliani, L., Watanabe, O., Lang, B., Buckley, C. & Vincent, A. (2012). Morvan syndrome: clinical and serological observations in 29 cases. *Ann Neurol.* **72**(2): 241-255.
- Jackson, A. C. & Nicoll, R. A. (2011). The expanding social network of ionotropic glutamate receptors: TARPs and other transmembrane auxiliary subunits. *Neuron.* **70**(2): 178-199.
- Jacobi, E. & von Engelhardt, J. (2017). Diversity in AMPA receptor complexes in the brain. *Curr Opin Neurobiol.* **45**: 32-38.
- Jain, A. & Balice-Gordon, R. (2016). Cellular, synaptic, and circuit effects of antibodies in autoimmune CNS synaptopathies. *Handb Clin Neurol.* **133**: 77-93.
- Jakawich, S. K., Neely, R. M., Djakovic, S. N., Patrick, G. N. & Sutton, M. A. (2010). An essential postsynaptic role for the ubiquitin proteasome system in slow homeostatic synaptic plasticity in cultured hippocampal neurons. *Neuroscience*. **171**(4): 1016-1031.
- Jane, D. E., Lodge, D. & Collingridge, G. L. (2009). Kainate receptors: pharmacology, function and therapeutic potential. *Neuropharmacology*. **56**(1): 90-113.
- Jang, S. S. & Chung, H. J. (2016). Emerging Link between Alzheimer's Disease and Homeostatic Synaptic Plasticity. *Neural Plast.* **2016**: 7969272.

- Jiang, J., Suppiramaniam, V. & Wooten, M. W. (2006). Posttranslational modifications and receptorassociated proteins in AMPA receptor trafficking and synaptic plasticity. *Neurosignals*. **15**(5): 266-282.
- Jiang, M., Deng, L. & Chen, G. (2004). High Ca(2+)-phosphate transfection efficiency enables single neuron gene analysis. *Gene Ther.* **11**(17): 1303-1311.
- Jonson, L., Vikesaa, J., Krogh, A., Nielsen, L. K., Hansen, T., Borup, R., Johnsen, A. H., Christiansen, J. & Nielsen, F. C. (2007). Molecular composition of IMP1 ribonucleoprotein granules. *Mol Cell Proteomics.* 6(5): 798-811.
- Joubert, B., Saint-Martin, M., Noraz, N., Picard, G., Rogemond, V., Ducray, F., Desestret, V., Psimaras, D., Delattre, J. Y., Antoine, J. C. & Honnorat, J. (2016). Characterization of a Subtype of Autoimmune Encephalitis With Anti-Contactin-Associated Protein-like 2 Antibodies in the Cerebrospinal Fluid, Prominent Limbic Symptoms, and Seizures. JAMA Neurol. 73(9): 1115-1124.
- Ju, W., Morishita, W., Tsui, J., Gaietta, G., Deerinck, T. J., Adams, S. R., Garner, C. C., Tsien, R. Y., Ellisman, M. H. & Malenka, R. C. (2004). Activity-dependent regulation of dendritic synthesis and trafficking of AMPA receptors. *Nat Neurosci.* 7(3): 244-253.
- Jurgensen, S. & Castillo, P. E. (2015). Selective Dysregulation of Hippocampal Inhibition in the Mouse Lacking Autism Candidate Gene CNTNAP2. *J Neurosci.* **35**(43): 14681-14687.
- Kacharmina, J. E., Job, C., Crino, P. & Eberwine, J. (2000). Stimulation of glutamate receptor protein synthesis and membrane insertion within isolated neuronal dendrites. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 97(21): 11545-11550.
- Kalashnikova, E., Lorca, R. A., Kaur, I., Barisone, G. A., Li, B., Ishimaru, T., Trimmer, J. S., Mohapatra, D. P. & Diaz, E. (2010). SynDIG1: an activity-regulated, AMPA- receptor-interacting transmembrane protein that regulates excitatory synapse development. *Neuron.* 65(1): 80-93.
- Kaneko, M., Stellwagen, D., Malenka, R. C. & Stryker, M. P. (2008). Tumor necrosis factor-alpha mediates one component of competitive, experience-dependent plasticity in developing visual cortex. *Neuron.* 58(5): 673-680.
- Kao, D. I., Aldridge, G. M., Weiler, I. J. & Greenough, W. T. (2010). Altered mRNA transport, docking, and protein translation in neurons lacking fragile X mental retardation protein. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* U S A. 107(35): 15601-15606.
- Karayannis, T., Au, E., Patel, J. C., Kruglikov, I., Markx, S., Delorme, R., Heron, D., Salomon, D., Glessner, J., Restituito, S., Gordon, A., Rodriguez-Murillo, L., Roy, N. C., Gogos, J. A., Rudy, B., Rice, M. E., Karayiorgou, M., Hakonarson, H., Keren, B., Huguet, G., Bourgeron, T., Hoeffer, C., Tsien, R. W., Peles, E. & Fishell, G. (2014). Cntnap4 differentially contributes to GABAergic and dopaminergic synaptic transmission. *Nature.* 511(7508): 236-240.
- Kashevarova, A. A., Nazarenko, L. P., Schultz-Pedersen, S., Skryabin, N. A., Salyukova, O. A., Chechetkina, N. N., Tolmacheva, E. N., Rudko, A. A., Magini, P., Graziano, C., Romeo, G., Joss, S., Tumer, Z. & Lebedev, I. N. (2014). Single gene microdeletions and microduplication of 3p26.3 in three unrelated families: CNTN6 as a new candidate gene for intellectual disability. *Mol Cytogenet.* 7(1): 97.
- Kauer, J. A., Malenka, R. C. & Nicoll, R. A. (1988). NMDA application potentiates synaptic transmission in the hippocampus. *Nature.* 334(6179): 250-252.
- Keinanen, K., Wisden, W., Sommer, B., Werner, P., Herb, A., Verdoorn, T. A., Sakmann, B. & Seeburg, P. H. (1990). A family of AMPA-selective glutamate receptors. *Science*. **249**(4968): 556-560.
- Kelleher, R. J., 3rd & Bear, M. F. (2008). The autistic neuron: troubled translation? *Cell.* **135**(3): 401-406.
- Kennedy, M. J., Davison, I. G., Robinson, C. G. & Ehlers, M. D. (2010). Syntaxin-4 defines a domain for activity-dependent exocytosis in dendritic spines. *Cell.* **141**(3): 524-535.
- Kessels, H. W. & Malinow, R. (2009). Synaptic AMPA receptor plasticity and behavior. *Neuron.* **61**(3): 340-350.
- Kew, J. N. & Kemp, J. A. (2005). Ionotropic and metabotropic glutamate receptor structure and pharmacology. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)*. **179**(1): 4-29.

- Kim, S., Violette, C. J. & Ziff, E. B. (2015). Reduction of increased calcineurin activity rescues impaired homeostatic synaptic plasticity in presenilin 1 M146V mutant. *Neurobiol Aging.* 36(12): 3239-3246.
- Kislauskis, E. H., Zhu, X. & Singer, R. H. (1994). Sequences responsible for intracellular localization of beta-actin messenger RNA also affect cell phenotype. *J Cell Biol.* **127**(2): 441-451.
- Klein, C. J., Lennon, V. A., Aston, P. A., McKeon, A., O'Toole, O., Quek, A. & Pittock, S. J. (2013). Insights from LGI1 and CASPR2 potassium channel complex autoantibody subtyping. *JAMA Neurol.* **70**(2): 229-234.
- Ko, J., Fuccillo, M. V., Malenka, R. C. & Sudhof, T. C. (2009). LRRTM2 functions as a neurexin ligand in promoting excitatory synapse formation. *Neuron.* **64**(6): 791-798.
- Kohda, K., Wang, Y. & Yuzaki, M. (2000). Mutation of a glutamate receptor motif reveals its role in gating and delta2 receptor channel properties. *Nat Neurosci.* **3**(4): 315-322.
- Kortvelyessy, P., Bauer, J., Stoppel, C. M., Bruck, W., Gerth, I., Vielhaber, S., Wiedemann, F. R., Heinze, H. J., Bartels, C. & Bien, C. G. (2015). Complement-associated neuronal loss in a patient with CASPR2 antibody-associated encephalitis. *Neurol Neuroimmunol Neuroinflamm.* 2(2): e75.
- Krichevsky, A. M. & Kosik, K. S. (2001). Neuronal RNA granules: a link between RNA localization and stimulation-dependent translation. *Neuron.* **32**(4): 683-696.
- Krueger, D. D., Tuffy, L. P., Papadopoulos, T. & Brose, N. (2012). The role of neurexins and neuroligins in the formation, maturation, and function of vertebrate synapses. *Curr Opin Neurobiol.* 22(3): 412-422.
- Lai, M., Hughes, E. G., Peng, X., Zhou, L., Gleichman, A. J., Shu, H., Mata, S., Kremens, D., Vitaliani, R., Geschwind, M. D., Bataller, L., Kalb, R. G., Davis, R., Graus, F., Lynch, D. R., Balice-Gordon, R. & Dalmau, J. (2009). AMPA receptor antibodies in limbic encephalitis alter synaptic receptor location. *Ann Neurol.* 65(4): 424-434.
- Lai, M., Huijbers, M. G., Lancaster, E., Graus, F., Bataller, L., Balice-Gordon, R., Cowell, J. K. & Dalmau, J. (2010). Investigation of LGI1 as the antigen in limbic encephalitis previously attributed to potassium channels: a case series. *Lancet Neurol.* 9(8): 776-785.
- Lakhani, S., Doan, R., Almureikhi, M., Partlow, J. N., Al Saffar, M., Elsaid, M. F., Alaaraj, N., James Barkovich, A., Walsh, C. A. & Ben-Omran, T. (2017). Identification of a novel CNTNAP1 mutation causing arthrogryposis multiplex congenita with cerebral and cerebellar atrophy. *Eur J Med Genet.* **60**(5): 245-249.
- Lancaster, E. & Dalmau, J. (2012). Neuronal autoantigens--pathogenesis, associated disorders and antibody testing. *Nat Rev Neurol.* **8**(7): 380-390.
- Lancaster, E., Huijbers, M. G., Bar, V., Boronat, A., Wong, A., Martinez-Hernandez, E., Wilson, C., Jacobs, D., Lai, M., Walker, R. W., Graus, F., Bataller, L., Illa, I., Markx, S., Strauss, K. A., Peles, E., Scherer, S. S. & Dalmau, J. (2011a). Investigations of caspr2, an autoantigen of encephalitis and neuromyotonia. *Ann Neurol.* **69**(2): 303-311.
- Lancaster, E., Lai, M., Peng, X., Hughes, E., Constantinescu, R., Raizer, J., Friedman, D., Skeen, M. B., Grisold, W., Kimura, A., Ohta, K., Iizuka, T., Guzman, M., Graus, F., Moss, S. J., Balice-Gordon, R. & Dalmau, J. (2010). Antibodies to the GABA(B) receptor in limbic encephalitis with seizures: case series and characterisation of the antigen. *Lancet Neurol.* 9(1): 67-76.
- Lancaster, E., Martinez-Hernandez, E., Titulaer, M. J., Boulos, M., Weaver, S., Antoine, J. C., Liebers, E., Kornblum, C., Bien, C. G., Honnorat, J., Wong, S., Xu, J., Contractor, A., Balice-Gordon, R. & Dalmau, J. (2011b). Antibodies to metabotropic glutamate receptor 5 in the Ophelia syndrome. *Neurology*. **77**(18): 1698-1701.
- Laquerriere, A., Maluenda, J., Camus, A., Fontenas, L., Dieterich, K., Nolent, F., Zhou, J., Monnier, N., Latour, P., Gentil, D., Heron, D., Desguerres, I., Landrieu, P., Beneteau, C., Delaporte, B., Bellesme, C., Baumann, C., Capri, Y., Goldenberg, A., Lyonnet, S., Bonneau, D., Estournet, B., Quijano-Roy, S., Francannet, C., Odent, S., Saint-Frison, M. H., Sigaudy, S., Figarella-Branger, D., Gelot, A., Mussini, J. M., Lacroix, C., Drouin-Garraud, V., Malinge, M. C., Attie-Bitach, T., Bessieres, B., Bonniere, M., Encha-Razavi, F., Beaufrere, A. M., Khung-Savatovsky, S., Perez, M. J., Vasiljevic, A., Mercier, S., Roume, J., Trestard, L., Saugier-Veber, P., Cordier, M. P., Layet, V., Legendre, M., Vigouroux-Castera, A., Lunardi, J., Bayes, M., Jouk, P. S., Rigonnot, L., Granier, M.,

Sternberg, D., Warszawski, J., Gut, I., Gonzales, M., Tawk, M. & Melki, J. (2014). Mutations in CNTNAP1 and ADCY6 are responsible for severe arthrogryposis multiplex congenita with axoglial defects. *Hum Mol Genet.* **23**(9): 2279-2289.

LeBlanc, J. J. & Fagiolini, M. (2011). Autism: a "critical period" disorder? Neural Plast. 2011: 921680.

Lee, H. K. (2006). Synaptic plasticity and phosphorylation. *Pharmacol Ther.* **112**(3): 810-832.

- Lee, H. K. (2012). Ca-permeable AMPA receptors in homeostatic synaptic plasticity. *Front Mol Neurosci.* **5**: 17.
- Lee, H. K., Kameyama, K., Huganir, R. L. & Bear, M. F. (1998). NMDA induces long-term synaptic depression and dephosphorylation of the GluR1 subunit of AMPA receptors in hippocampus. *Neuron.* **21**(5): 1151-1162.
- Lee, H. K. & Kirkwood, A. (2011). AMPA receptor regulation during synaptic plasticity in hippocampus and neocortex. *Semin Cell Dev Biol.* **22**(5): 514-520.
- Lee, H. K., Takamiya, K., Han, J. S., Man, H., Kim, C. H., Rumbaugh, G., Yu, S., Ding, L., He, C., Petralia, R. S., Wenthold, R. J., Gallagher, M. & Huganir, R. L. (2003). Phosphorylation of the AMPA receptor GluR1 subunit is required for synaptic plasticity and retention of spatial memory. *Cell.* **112**(5): 631-643.
- Lee, H. K., Takamiya, K., He, K., Song, L. & Huganir, R. L. (2010). Specific roles of AMPA receptor subunit GluR1 (GluA1) phosphorylation sites in regulating synaptic plasticity in the CA1 region of hippocampus. *J Neurophysiol.* **103**(1): 479-489.
- Lee, H. K., Takamiya, K., Kameyama, K., He, K., Yu, S., Rossetti, L., Wilen, D. & Huganir, R. L. (2007). Identification and characterization of a novel phosphorylation site on the GluR1 subunit of AMPA receptors. *Mol Cell Neurosci.* **36**(1): 86-94.
- Lee, H. K. & Whitt, J. L. (2015). Cross-modal synaptic plasticity in adult primary sensory cortices. *Curr Opin Neurobiol.* **35**: 119-126.
- Leonard, A. S., Davare, M. A., Horne, M. C., Garner, C. C. & Hell, J. W. (1998). SAP97 is associated with the alpha-amino-3-hydroxy-5-methylisoxazole-4-propionic acid receptor GluR1 subunit. *J Biol Chem.* **273**(31): 19518-19524.
- Lerma, J. (2006). Kainate receptor physiology. Curr Opin Pharmacol. 6(1): 89-97.
- Letellier, M., Elramah, S., Mondin, M., Soula, A., Penn, A., Choquet, D., Landry, M., Thoumine, O. & Favereaux, A. (2014). miR-92a regulates expression of synaptic GluA1-containing AMPA receptors during homeostatic scaling. *Nat Neurosci.* **17**(8): 1040-1042.
- Leypoldt, F., Armangue, T. & Dalmau, J. (2015). Autoimmune encephalopathies. *Ann N Y Acad Sci.* **1338**: 94-114.
- Lin, D. T. & Huganir, R. L. (2007). PICK1 and phosphorylation of the glutamate receptor 2 (GluR2) AMPA receptor subunit regulates GluR2 recycling after NMDA receptor-induced internalization. *J Neurosci.* **27**(50): 13903-13908.
- Lin, D. T., Makino, Y., Sharma, K., Hayashi, T., Neve, R., Takamiya, K. & Huganir, R. L. (2009). Regulation of AMPA receptor extrasynaptic insertion by 4.1N, phosphorylation and palmitoylation. *Nat Neurosci.* **12**(7): 879-887.
- Linhoff, M. W., Lauren, J., Cassidy, R. M., Dobie, F. A., Takahashi, H., Nygaard, H. B., Airaksinen, M. S., Strittmatter, S. M. & Craig, A. M. (2009). An unbiased expression screen for synaptogenic proteins identifies the LRRTM protein family as synaptic organizers. *Neuron.* **61**(5): 734-749.
- Lionnet, T., Czaplinski, K., Darzacq, X., Shav-Tal, Y., Wells, A. L., Chao, J. A., Park, H. Y., de Turris, V., Lopez-Jones, M. & Singer, R. H. (2011). A transgenic mouse for in vivo detection of endogenous labeled mRNA. *Nat Methods.* 8(2): 165-170.
- Liska, A., Bertero, A., Gomolka, R., Sabbioni, M., Galbusera, A., Barsotti, N., Panzeri, S., Scattoni, M. L., Pasqualetti, M. & Gozzi, A. (2017). Homozygous Loss of Autism-Risk Gene CNTNAP2 Results in Reduced Local and Long-Range Prefrontal Functional Connectivity. *Cereb Cortex.* 1-13.
- Lisman, J., Yasuda, R. & Raghavachari, S. (2012). Mechanisms of CaMKII action in long-term potentiation. *Nat Rev Neurosci.* **13**(3): 169-182.
- Liu, S. Q. & Cull-Candy, S. G. (2000). Synaptic activity at calcium-permeable AMPA receptors induces a switch in receptor subtype. *Nature*. **405**(6785): 454-458.

- Lomeli, H., Sprengel, R., Laurie, D. J., Kohr, G., Herb, A., Seeburg, P. H. & Wisden, W. (1993). The rat delta-1 and delta-2 subunits extend the excitatory amino acid receptor family. *FEBS Lett.* **315**(3): 318-322.
- Louros, S. R., Hooks, B. M., Litvina, L., Carvalho, A. L. & Chen, C. (2014). A role for stargazin in experience-dependent plasticity. *Cell Rep.* **7**(5): 1614-1625.
- Lu, B., Wang, K. H. & Nose, A. (2009a). Molecular mechanisms underlying neural circuit formation. *Curr Opin Neurobiol.* **19**(2): 162-167.
- Lu, J., Helton, T. D., Blanpied, T. A., Racz, B., Newpher, T. M., Weinberg, R. J. & Ehlers, M. D. (2007). Postsynaptic positioning of endocytic zones and AMPA receptor cycling by physical coupling of dynamin-3 to Homer. *Neuron.* 55(6): 874-889.
- Lu, W., Man, H., Ju, W., Trimble, W. S., MacDonald, J. F. & Wang, Y. T. (2001). Activation of synaptic NMDA receptors induces membrane insertion of new AMPA receptors and LTP in cultured hippocampal neurons. *Neuron.* 29(1): 243-254.
- Lu, W. & Roche, K. W. (2012). Posttranslational regulation of AMPA receptor trafficking and function. *Curr Opin Neurobiol.* **22**(3): 470-479.
- Lu, W., Shi, Y., Jackson, A. C., Bjorgan, K., During, M. J., Sprengel, R., Seeburg, P. H. & Nicoll, R. A. (2009b). Subunit composition of synaptic AMPA receptors revealed by a single-cell genetic approach. *Neuron.* **62**(2): 254-268.
- Luscher, C. & Malenka, R. C. (2012). NMDA receptor-dependent long-term potentiation and long-term depression (LTP/LTD). *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol.* **4**(6).
- MacGillavry, H. D., Song, Y., Raghavachari, S. & Blanpied, T. A. (2013). Nanoscale scaffolding domains within the postsynaptic density concentrate synaptic AMPA receptors. *Neuron*. **78**(4): 615-622.
- Mack, V., Burnashev, N., Kaiser, K. M., Rozov, A., Jensen, V., Hvalby, O., Seeburg, P. H., Sakmann, B. & Sprengel, R. (2001). Conditional restoration of hippocampal synaptic potentiation in Glur-A-deficient mice. *Science*. 292(5526): 2501-2504.
- Madden, D. R. (2002). The structure and function of glutamate receptor ion channels. *Nat Rev Neurosci.* **3**(2): 91-101.
- Maghsoodi, B., Poon, M. M., Nam, C. I., Aoto, J., Ting, P. & Chen, L. (2008). Retinoic acid regulates RARalpha-mediated control of translation in dendritic RNA granules during homeostatic synaptic plasticity. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A.* **105**(41): 16015-16020.
- Makino, H. & Malinow, R. (2009). AMPA receptor incorporation into synapses during LTP: the role of lateral movement and exocytosis. *Neuron.* **64**(3): 381-390.
- Malenka, R. C. & Bear, M. F. (2004). LTP and LTD: an embarrassment of riches. Neuron. 44(1): 5-21.
- Malenka, R. C. & Nicoll, R. A. (1999). Long-term potentiation--a decade of progress? *Science*. **285**(5435): 1870-1874.
- Malinow, R., Mainen, Z. F. & Hayashi, Y. (2000). LTP mechanisms: from silence to four-lane traffic. *Curr Opin Neurobiol.* **10**(3): 352-357.
- Mameli, M., Balland, B., Lujan, R. & Luscher, C. (2007). Rapid synthesis and synaptic insertion of GluR2 for mGluR-LTD in the ventral tegmental area. *Science.* **317**(5837): 530-533.
- Mammen, A. L., Kameyama, K., Roche, K. W. & Huganir, R. L. (1997). Phosphorylation of the alphaamino-3-hydroxy-5-methylisoxazole4-propionic acid receptor GluR1 subunit by calcium/calmodulin-dependent kinase II. *J Biol Chem.* **272**(51): 32528-32533.
- Man, H. Y., Lin, J. W., Ju, W. H., Ahmadian, G., Liu, L., Becker, L. E., Sheng, M. & Wang, Y. T. (2000). Regulation of AMPA receptor-mediated synaptic transmission by clathrin-dependent receptor internalization. *Neuron.* 25(3): 649-662.
- Man, H. Y., Sekine-Aizawa, Y. & Huganir, R. L. (2007). Regulation of {alpha}-amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid receptor trafficking through PKA phosphorylation of the Glu receptor 1 subunit. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A.* **104**(9): 3579-3584.
- Manso, C., Querol, L., Mekaouche, M., Illa, I. & Devaux, J. J. (2016). Contactin-1 IgG4 antibodies cause paranode dismantling and conduction defects. *Brain.* **139**(Pt 6): 1700-1712.

- Mansour, M., Nagarajan, N., Nehring, R. B., Clements, J. D. & Rosenmund, C. (2001). Heteromeric AMPA receptors assemble with a preferred subunit stoichiometry and spatial arrangement. *Neuron.* 32(5): 841-853.
- Marco, E. J., Hinkley, L. B., Hill, S. S. & Nagarajan, S. S. (2011). Sensory processing in autism: a review of neurophysiologic findings. *Pediatr Res.* **69**(5 Pt 2): 48R-54R.
- Marignier, R., Chenevier, F., Rogemond, V., Sillevis Smitt, P., Renoux, C., Cavillon, G., Androdias, G., Vukusic, S., Graus, F., Honnorat, J. & Confavreux, C. (2010). Metabotropic glutamate receptor type 1 autoantibody-associated cerebellitis: a primary autoimmune disease? *Arch Neurol.* 67(5): 627-630.
- Masdeu, J. C., Dalmau, J. & Berman, K. F. (2016). NMDA Receptor Internalization by Autoantibodies: A Reversible Mechanism Underlying Psychosis? *Trends Neurosci.*
- Matsuda, S., Mikawa, S. & Hirai, H. (1999). Phosphorylation of serine-880 in GluR2 by protein kinase C prevents its C terminus from binding with glutamate receptor-interacting protein. *J Neurochem.* **73**(4): 1765-1768.
- McCarthy, M. M. (1995). Estrogen modulation of oxytocin and its relation to behavior. *Adv Exp Med Biol.* **395**: 235-245.
- McGeachie, A. B., Cingolani, L. A. & Goda, Y. (2011). Stabilising influence: integrins in regulation of synaptic plasticity. *Neurosci Res.* **70**(1): 24-29.
- McMahon, S. A. & Diaz, E. (2011). Mechanisms of excitatory synapse maturation by trans-synaptic organizing complexes. *Curr Opin Neurobiol.* **21**(2): 221-227.
- Mefford, H. C., Muhle, H., Ostertag, P., von Spiczak, S., Buysse, K., Baker, C., Franke, A., Malafosse, A., Genton, P., Thomas, P., Gurnett, C. A., Schreiber, S., Bassuk, A. G., Guipponi, M., Stephani, U., Helbig, I. & Eichler, E. E. (2010). Genome-wide copy number variation in epilepsy: novel susceptibility loci in idiopathic generalized and focal epilepsies. *PLoS Genet.* 6(5): e1000962.
- Mehta, P., Kuspert, M., Bale, T., Brownstein, C. A., Towne, M. C., De Girolami, U., Shi, J., Beggs, A. H., Darras, B. T., Wegner, M., Piao, X. & Agrawal, P. B. (2017). Novel mutation in CNTNAP1 results in congenital hypomyelinating neuropathy. *Muscle Nerve*. 55(5): 761-765.
- Menegoz, M., Gaspar, P., Le Bert, M., Galvez, T., Burgaya, F., Palfrey, C., Ezan, P., Arnos, F. & Girault, J. A. (1997). Paranodin, a glycoprotein of neuronal paranodal membranes. *Neuron*. **19**(2): 319-331.
- Meng, Y., Zhang, Y. & Jia, Z. (2003). Synaptic transmission and plasticity in the absence of AMPA glutamate receptor GluR2 and GluR3. *Neuron.* **39**(1): 163-176.
- Mercati, O., Huguet, G., Danckaert, A., Andre-Leroux, G., Maruani, A., Bellinzoni, M., Rolland, T., Gouder, L., Mathieu, A., Buratti, J., Amsellem, F., Benabou, M., Van-Gils, J., Beggiato, A., Konyukh, M., Bourgeois, J. P., Gazzellone, M. J., Yuen, R. K., Walker, S., Delepine, M., Boland, A., Regnault, B., Francois, M., Van Den Abbeele, T., Mosca-Boidron, A. L., Faivre, L., Shimoda, Y., Watanabe, K., Bonneau, D., Rastam, M., Leboyer, M., Scherer, S. W., Gillberg, C., Delorme, R., Cloez-Tayarani, I. & Bourgeron, T. (2016). CNTN6 mutations are risk factors for abnormal auditory sensory perception in autism spectrum disorders. *Mol Psychiatry*.
- Mikasova, L., De Rossi, P., Bouchet, D., Georges, F., Rogemond, V., Didelot, A., Meissirel, C., Honnorat, J. & Groc, L. (2012). Disrupted surface cross-talk between NMDA and Ephrin-B2 receptors in anti-NMDA encephalitis. *Brain.* **135**(Pt 5): 1606-1621.
- Mikhail, F. M., Lose, E. J., Robin, N. H., Descartes, M. D., Rutledge, K. D., Rutledge, S. L., Korf, B. R. & Carroll, A. J. (2011). Clinically relevant single gene or intragenic deletions encompassing critical neurodevelopmental genes in patients with developmental delay, mental retardation, and/or autism spectrum disorders. *Am J Med Genet A.* **155A**(10): 2386-2396.
- Ming, G. L. (2006). Turning by asymmetric actin. Nat Neurosci. 9(10): 1201-1203.
- Mortillo, S., Elste, A., Ge, Y., Patil, S. B., Hsiao, K., Huntley, G. W., Davis, R. L. & Benson, D. L. (2012). Compensatory redistribution of neuroligins and N-cadherin following deletion of synaptic beta1integrin. J Comp Neurol. 520(9): 2041-2052.
- Moscato, E. H., Peng, X., Jain, A., Parsons, T. D., Dalmau, J. & Balice-Gordon, R. J. (2014). Acute mechanisms underlying antibody effects in anti-N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor encephalitis. *Ann Neurol.* **76**(1): 108-119.

- Muddashetty, R. S., Kelic, S., Gross, C., Xu, M. & Bassell, G. J. (2007). Dysregulated metabotropic glutamate receptor-dependent translation of AMPA receptor and postsynaptic density-95 mRNAs at synapses in a mouse model of fragile X syndrome. *J Neurosci.* **27**(20): 5338-5348.
- Mulkey, R. M., Endo, S., Shenolikar, S. & Malenka, R. C. (1994). Involvement of a calcineurin/inhibitor-1 phosphatase cascade in hippocampal long-term depression. *Nature*. **369**(6480): 486-488.
- Mulkey, R. M. & Malenka, R. C. (1992). Mechanisms underlying induction of homosynaptic long-term depression in area CA1 of the hippocampus. *Neuron.* **9**(5): 967-975.
- Mullins, C., Fishell, G. & Tsien, R. W. (2016). Unifying Views of Autism Spectrum Disorders: A Consideration of Autoregulatory Feedback Loops. *Neuron.* **89**(6): 1131-1156.
- Murai, K. K., Misner, D. & Ranscht, B. (2002). Contactin supports synaptic plasticity associated with hippocampal long-term depression but not potentiation. *Curr Biol.* **12**(3): 181-190.
- Murase, S. & Schuman, E. M. (1999). The role of cell adhesion molecules in synaptic plasticity and memory. *Curr Opin Cell Biol.* 11(5): 549-553.
- Nair, D., Hosy, E., Petersen, J. D., Constals, A., Giannone, G., Choquet, D. & Sibarita, J. B. (2013). Super-resolution imaging reveals that AMPA receptors inside synapses are dynamically organized in nanodomains regulated by PSD95. *J Neurosci.* **33**(32): 13204-13224.
- Nakanishi, S. & Masu, M. (1994). Molecular diversity and functions of glutamate receptors. *Annu Rev Biophys Biomol Struct.* **23**: 319-348.
- Nelson, S. B. & Valakh, V. (2015). Excitatory/Inhibitory Balance and Circuit Homeostasis in Autism Spectrum Disorders. *Neuron.* **87**(4): 684-698.
- Network & Pathway Analysis Subgroup of Psychiatric Genomics, C. (2015). Psychiatric genome-wide association study analyses implicate neuronal, immune and histone pathways. *Nat Neurosci.* **18**(2): 199-209.
- Nicoll, R. A. & Roche, K. W. (2013). Long-term potentiation: peeling the onion. *Neuropharmacology.* **74**: 18-22.
- Nicoll, R. A., Tomita, S. & Bredt, D. S. (2006). Auxiliary subunits assist AMPA-type glutamate receptors. *Science.* **311**(5765): 1253-1256.
- Niere, F., Wilkerson, J. R. & Huber, K. M. (2012). Evidence for a fragile X mental retardation proteinmediated translational switch in metabotropic glutamate receptor-triggered Arc translation and long-term depression. J Neurosci. 32(17): 5924-5936.
- Nizon, M., Cogne, B., Vallat, J. M., Joubert, M., Liet, J. M., Simon, L., Vincent, M., Kury, S., Boisseau, P., Schmitt, S., Mercier, S., Beneteau, C., Larrose, C., Coste, M., Latypova, X., Pereon, Y., Mussini, J. M., Bezieau, S. & Isidor, B. (2016). Two novel variants in CNTNAP1 in two siblings presenting with congenital hypotonia and hypomyelinating neuropathy. *Eur J Hum Genet.* 25(1): 150-152.
- Noutel, J., Hong, Y. K., Leu, B., Kang, E. & Chen, C. (2011). Experience-dependent retinogeniculate synapse remodeling is abnormal in MeCP2-deficient mice. *Neuron*. **70**(1): 35-42.
- Nuriya, M. & Huganir, R. L. (2006). Regulation of AMPA receptor trafficking by N-cadherin. J *Neurochem.* **97**(3): 652-661.
- O'Brien, R. J., Kamboj, S., Ehlers, M. D., Rosen, K. R., Fischbach, G. D. & Huganir, R. L. (1998). Activitydependent modulation of synaptic AMPA receptor accumulation. *Neuron.* **21**(5): 1067-1078.
- O'Donnell, M., Chance, R. K. & Bashaw, G. J. (2009). Axon growth and guidance: receptor regulation and signal transduction. *Annu Rev Neurosci.* **32**: 383-412.
- O'Donovan, M. C. & Owen, M. J. (2016). The implications of the shared genetics of psychiatric disorders. *Nat Med.* **22**(11): 1214-1219.
- O'Dushlaine, C., Kenny, E., Heron, E., Donohoe, G., Gill, M., Morris, D., International Schizophrenia, C.
 & Corvin, A. (2011). Molecular pathways involved in neuronal cell adhesion and membrane scaffolding contribute to schizophrenia and bipolar disorder susceptibility. *Mol Psychiatry.* 16(3): 286-292.
- O'Roak, B. J., Deriziotis, P., Lee, C., Vives, L., Schwartz, J. J., Girirajan, S., Karakoc, E., Mackenzie, A. P., Ng, S. B., Baker, C., Rieder, M. J., Nickerson, D. A., Bernier, R., Fisher, S. E., Shendure, J. & Eichler, E. E. (2011). Exome sequencing in sporadic autism spectrum disorders identifies severe de novo mutations. *Nat Genet.* **43**(6): 585-589.

- Ogawa, Y., Horresh, I., Trimmer, J. S., Bredt, D. S., Peles, E. & Rasband, M. N. (2008). Postsynaptic density-93 clusters Kv1 channels at axon initial segments independently of Caspr2. *J Neurosci.* **28**(22): 5731-5739.
- Oh, M. C., Derkach, V. A., Guire, E. S. & Soderling, T. R. (2006). Extrasynaptic membrane trafficking regulated by GluR1 serine 845 phosphorylation primes AMPA receptors for long-term potentiation. *J Biol Chem.* **281**(2): 752-758.
- Ohkawa, T., Fukata, Y., Yamasaki, M., Miyazaki, T., Yokoi, N., Takashima, H., Watanabe, M., Watanabe, O. & Fukata, M. (2013). Autoantibodies to epilepsy-related LGI1 in limbic encephalitis neutralize LGI1-ADAM22 interaction and reduce synaptic AMPA receptors. *J Neurosci.* 33(46): 18161-18174.
- Okabe, S. (2007). Molecular anatomy of the postsynaptic density. Mol Cell Neurosci. 34(4): 503-518.
- Okita, M., Yoshino, Y., Iga, J. I. & Ueno, S. I. (2017). Elevated mRNA expression of CASPR3 in patients with schizophrenia. *Nord J Psychiatry*. **71**(4): 312-314.
- Okuda, T., Yu, L. M., Cingolani, L. A., Kemler, R. & Goda, Y. (2007). beta-Catenin regulates excitatory postsynaptic strength at hippocampal synapses. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A.* **104**(33): 13479-13484.
- Oleynikov, Y. & Singer, R. H. (2003). Real-time visualization of ZBP1 association with beta-actin mRNA during transcription and localization. *Curr Biol.* **13**(3): 199-207.
- Olsen, A. L., Lai, Y., Dalmau, J., Scherer, S. S. & Lancaster, E. (2015). Caspr2 autoantibodies target multiple epitopes. *Neurol Neuroimmunol Neuroinflamm.* **2**(4): e127.
- Opazo, P. & Choquet, D. (2011). A three-step model for the synaptic recruitment of AMPA receptors. *Mol Cell Neurosci.* **46**(1): 1-8.
- Opazo, P., Labrecque, S., Tigaret, C. M., Frouin, A., Wiseman, P. W., De Koninck, P. & Choquet, D. (2010). CaMKII triggers the diffusional trapping of surface AMPARs through phosphorylation of stargazin. *Neuron.* 67(2): 239-252.
- Opazo, P., Sainlos, M. & Choquet, D. (2012). Regulation of AMPA receptor surface diffusion by PSD-95 slots. *Curr Opin Neurobiol.* **22**(3): 453-460.
- Osten, P., Khatri, L., Perez, J. L., Kohr, G., Giese, G., Daly, C., Schulz, T. W., Wensky, A., Lee, L. M. & Ziff, E. B. (2000). Mutagenesis reveals a role for ABP/GRIP binding to GluR2 in synaptic surface accumulation of the AMPA receptor. *Neuron.* **27**(2): 313-325.
- Ozawa, S., Kamiya, H. & Tsuzuki, K. (1998). Glutamate receptors in the mammalian central nervous system. *Prog Neurobiol.* **54**(5): 581-618.
- Pagnamenta, A. T., Bacchelli, E., de Jonge, M. V., Mirza, G., Scerri, T. S., Minopoli, F., Chiocchetti, A., Ludwig, K. U., Hoffmann, P., Paracchini, S., Lowy, E., Harold, D. H., Chapman, J. A., Klauck, S. M., Poustka, F., Houben, R. H., Staal, W. G., Ophoff, R. A., O'Donovan, M. C., Williams, J., Nothen, M. M., Schulte-Korne, G., Deloukas, P., Ragoussis, J., Bailey, A. J., Maestrini, E., Monaco, A. P. & International Molecular Genetic Study Of Autism, C. (2010). Characterization of a family with rare deletions in CNTNAP5 and DOCK4 suggests novel risk loci for autism and dyslexia. *Biol Psychiatry.* 68(4): 320-328.
- Paquin, N. & Chartrand, P. (2005). Knowing when to let go. Nat Struct Mol Biol. 12(12): 1026-1027.
- Park, H. Y., Lim, H., Yoon, Y. J., Follenzi, A., Nwokafor, C., Lopez-Jones, M., Meng, X. & Singer, R. H. (2014). Visualization of dynamics of single endogenous mRNA labeled in live mouse. *Science*. **343**(6169): 422-424.
- Parsons, S. J. & Parsons, J. T. (2004). Src family kinases, key regulators of signal transduction. *Oncogene*. **23**(48): 7906-7909.
- Passafaro, M., Piech, V. & Sheng, M. (2001). Subunit-specific temporal and spatial patterns of AMPA receptor exocytosis in hippocampal neurons. *Nat Neurosci.* **4**(9): 917-926.
- Patel, V. L., Mitra, S., Harris, R., Buxbaum, A. R., Lionnet, T., Brenowitz, M., Girvin, M., Levy, M., Almo, S. C., Singer, R. H. & Chao, J. A. (2012). Spatial arrangement of an RNA zipcode identifies mRNAs under post-transcriptional control. *Genes Dev.* 26(1): 43-53.
- Patterson, K. R., Dalmau, J. & Lancaster, E. (2017). Mechanisms of Caspr2 antibodies in autoimmune encephalitis and neuromyotonia. *Ann Neurol.*

- Patterson, M. A., Szatmari, E. M. & Yasuda, R. (2010). AMPA receptors are exocytosed in stimulated spines and adjacent dendrites in a Ras-ERK-dependent manner during long-term potentiation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A.* **107**(36): 15951-15956.
- Peles, E., Nativ, M., Lustig, M., Grumet, M., Schilling, J., Martinez, R., Plowman, G. D. & Schlessinger, J. (1997). Identification of a novel contactin-associated transmembrane receptor with multiple domains implicated in protein-protein interactions. *EMBO J.* 16(5): 978-988.
- Penagarikano, O., Abrahams, B. S., Herman, E. I., Winden, K. D., Gdalyahu, A., Dong, H., Sonnenblick, L. I., Gruver, R., Almajano, J., Bragin, A., Golshani, P., Trachtenberg, J. T., Peles, E. & Geschwind, D. H. (2011). Absence of CNTNAP2 leads to epilepsy, neuronal migration abnormalities, and core autism-related deficits. *Cell.* 147(1): 235-246.
- Penagarikano, O. & Geschwind, D. H. (2012). What does CNTNAP2 reveal about autism spectrum disorder? *Trends Mol Med.* **18**(3): 156-163.
- Penagarikano, O., Lazaro, M. T., Lu, X. H., Gordon, A., Dong, H., Lam, H. A., Peles, E., Maidment, N. T., Murphy, N. P., Yang, X. W., Golshani, P. & Geschwind, D. H. (2015). Exogenous and evoked oxytocin restores social behavior in the Cntnap2 mouse model of autism. *Sci Transl Med.* 7(271): 271ra278.
- Peng, X., Hughes, E. G., Moscato, E. H., Parsons, T. D., Dalmau, J. & Balice-Gordon, R. J. (2015). Cellular plasticity induced by anti-alpha-amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid (AMPA) receptor encephalitis antibodies. *Ann Neurol.* **77**(3): 381-398.
- Penzes, P., Cahill, M. E., Jones, K. A., VanLeeuwen, J. E. & Woolfrey, K. M. (2011). Dendritic spine pathology in neuropsychiatric disorders. *Nat Neurosci.* **14**(3): 285-293.
- Perez, J. L., Khatri, L., Chang, C., Srivastava, S., Osten, P. & Ziff, E. B. (2001). PICK1 targets activated protein kinase Calpha to AMPA receptor clusters in spines of hippocampal neurons and reduces surface levels of the AMPA-type glutamate receptor subunit 2. *J Neurosci.* 21(15): 5417-5428.
- Perycz, M., Urbanska, A. S., Krawczyk, P. S., Parobczak, K. & Jaworski, J. (2011). Zipcode binding protein 1 regulates the development of dendritic arbors in hippocampal neurons. *J Neurosci.* **31**(14): 5271-5285.
- Pescosolido, M. F., Yang, U., Sabbagh, M. & Morrow, E. M. (2012). Lighting a path: genetic studies pinpoint neurodevelopmental mechanisms in autism and related disorders. *Dialogues Clin Neurosci.* 14(3): 239-252.
- Petit-Pedrol, M., Armangue, T., Peng, X., Bataller, L., Cellucci, T., Davis, R., McCracken, L., Martinez-Hernandez, E., Mason, W. P., Kruer, M. C., Ritacco, D. G., Grisold, W., Meaney, B. F., Alcala, C., Sillevis-Smitt, P., Titulaer, M. J., Balice-Gordon, R., Graus, F. & Dalmau, J. (2014). Encephalitis with refractory seizures, status epilepticus, and antibodies to the GABAA receptor: a case series, characterisation of the antigen, and analysis of the effects of antibodies. *Lancet Neurol.* **13**(3): 276-286.
- Petralia, R. S. & Wenthold, R. J. (1992). Light and electron immunocytochemical localization of AMPAselective glutamate receptors in the rat brain. *J Comp Neurol.* **318**(3): 329-354.
- Petrin, A. L., Giacheti, C. M., Maximino, L. P., Abramides, D. V., Zanchetta, S., Rossi, N. F., Richieri-Costa, A. & Murray, J. C. (2010). Identification of a microdeletion at the 7q33-q35 disrupting the CNTNAP2 gene in a Brazilian stuttering case. *Am J Med Genet A.* **152A**(12): 3164-3172.
- Petrini, E. M., Lu, J., Cognet, L., Lounis, B., Ehlers, M. D. & Choquet, D. (2009). Endocytic trafficking and recycling maintain a pool of mobile surface AMPA receptors required for synaptic potentiation. *Neuron.* **63**(1): 92-105.
- Petrus, E., Anguh, T. T., Pho, H., Lee, A., Gammon, N. & Lee, H. K. (2011). Developmental switch in the polarity of experience-dependent synaptic changes in layer 6 of mouse visual cortex. J Neurophysiol. 106(5): 2499-2505.
- Petrus, E., Isaiah, A., Jones, A. P., Li, D., Wang, H., Lee, H. K. & Kanold, P. O. (2014). Crossmodal induction of thalamocortical potentiation leads to enhanced information processing in the auditory cortex. *Neuron.* 81(3): 664-673.

- Petrus, E., Rodriguez, G., Patterson, R., Connor, B., Kanold, P. O. & Lee, H. K. (2015). Vision loss shifts the balance of feedforward and intracortical circuits in opposite directions in mouse primary auditory and visual cortices. *J Neurosci.* **35**(23): 8790-8801.
- Pimentel, J. & Boccaccio, G. L. (2014). Translation and silencing in RNA granules: a tale of sand grains. *Front Mol Neurosci.* **7**: 68.
- Pinatel, D., Hivert, B., Boucraut, J., Saint-Martin, M., Rogemond, V., Zoupi, L., Karagogeos, D., Honnorat, J. & Faivre-Sarrailh, C. (2015). Inhibitory axons are targeted in hippocampal cell culture by anti-Caspr2 autoantibodies associated with limbic encephalitis. *Front Cell Neurosci.* **9**: 265.
- Pinatel, D., Hivert, B., Saint-Martin, M., Noraz, N., Savvaki, M., Karagogeos, D. & Faivre-Sarrailh, C. (2017). The Kv1-associated molecules TAG-1 and Caspr2 are selectively targeted to the axon initial segment in hippocampal neurons. *J Cell Sci.* **130**(13): 2209-2220.
- Piper, M., Anderson, R., Dwivedy, A., Weinl, C., van Horck, F., Leung, K. M., Cogill, E. & Holt, C. (2006). Signaling mechanisms underlying Slit2-induced collapse of Xenopus retinal growth cones. *Neuron.* 49(2): 215-228.
- Planaguma, J., Leypoldt, F., Mannara, F., Gutierrez-Cuesta, J., Martin-Garcia, E., Aguilar, E., Titulaer, M. J., Petit-Pedrol, M., Jain, A., Balice-Gordon, R., Lakadamyali, M., Graus, F., Maldonado, R. & Dalmau, J. (2015). Human N-methyl D-aspartate receptor antibodies alter memory and behaviour in mice. *Brain.* **138**(Pt 1): 94-109.
- Poliak, S., Gollan, L., Martinez, R., Custer, A., Einheber, S., Salzer, J. L., Trimmer, J. S., Shrager, P. & Peles, E. (1999). Caspr2, a new member of the neurexin superfamily, is localized at the juxtaparanodes of myelinated axons and associates with K+ channels. *Neuron.* 24(4): 1037-1047.
- Poliak, S. & Peles, E. (2003). The local differentiation of myelinated axons at nodes of Ranvier. *Nat Rev Neurosci.* **4**(12): 968-980.
- Poliak, S., Salomon, D., Elhanany, H., Sabanay, H., Kiernan, B., Pevny, L., Stewart, C. L., Xu, X., Chiu, S. Y., Shrager, P., Furley, A. J. & Peles, E. (2003). Juxtaparanodal clustering of Shaker-like K+ channels in myelinated axons depends on Caspr2 and TAG-1. *J Cell Biol.* **162**(6): 1149-1160.
- Poon, M. M. & Chen, L. (2008). Retinoic acid-gated sequence-specific translational control by RARalpha. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A.* **105**(51): 20303-20308.
- Poon, M. M., Choi, S. H., Jamieson, C. A., Geschwind, D. H. & Martin, K. C. (2006). Identification of process-localized mRNAs from cultured rodent hippocampal neurons. *J Neurosci.* 26(51): 13390-13399.
- Poot, M. (2015). Connecting the CNTNAP2 Networks with Neurodevelopmental Disorders. *Mol Syndromol.* **6**(1): 7-22.
- Poot, M. (2017). Intragenic CNTNAP2 Deletions: A Bridge Too Far? Mol Syndromol. 8(3): 118-130.
- Poot, M., Beyer, V., Schwaab, I., Damatova, N., Van't Slot, R., Prothero, J., Holder, S. E. & Haaf, T. (2010). Disruption of CNTNAP2 and additional structural genome changes in a boy with speech delay and autism spectrum disorder. *Neurogenetics.* **11**(1): 81-89.
- Pozo, K., Cingolani, L. A., Bassani, S., Laurent, F., Passafaro, M. & Goda, Y. (2012). beta3 integrin interacts directly with GluA2 AMPA receptor subunit and regulates AMPA receptor expression in hippocampal neurons. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A.* **109**(4): 1323-1328.
- Pozo, K. & Goda, Y. (2010). Unraveling mechanisms of homeostatic synaptic plasticity. *Neuron.* **66**(3): 337-351.
- Pratt, K. G., Zimmerman, E. C., Cook, D. G. & Sullivan, J. M. (2011). Presenilin 1 regulates homeostatic synaptic scaling through Akt signaling. *Nat Neurosci.* **14**(9): 1112-1114.
- Pruss, H. & Lennox, B. R. (2016). Emerging psychiatric syndromes associated with antivoltage-gated potassium channel complex antibodies. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry*. **87**(11): 1242-1247.
- Puzzo, D., Bizzoca, A., Loreto, C., Guida, C. A., Gulisano, W., Frasca, G., Bellomo, M., Castorina, S., Gennarini, G. & Palmeri, A. (2015). Role of F3/contactin expression profile in synaptic plasticity and memory in aged mice. *Neurobiol Aging*. **36**(4): 1702-1715.
- Puzzo, D., Bizzoca, A., Privitera, L., Furnari, D., Giunta, S., Girolamo, F., Pinto, M., Gennarini, G. & Palmeri, A. (2013). F3/Contactin promotes hippocampal neurogenesis, synaptic plasticity, and memory in adult mice. *Hippocampus.* 23(12): 1367-1382.

- Qiu, Z., Sylwestrak, E. L., Lieberman, D. N., Zhang, Y., Liu, X. Y. & Ghosh, A. (2012). The Rett syndrome protein MeCP2 regulates synaptic scaling. *J Neurosci.* **32**(3): 989-994.
- Rabinowitch, I. & Segev, I. (2008). Two opposing plasticity mechanisms pulling a single synapse. *Trends Neurosci.* **31**(8): 377-383.
- Racz, B., Blanpied, T. A., Ehlers, M. D. & Weinberg, R. J. (2004). Lateral organization of endocytic machinery in dendritic spines. *Nat Neurosci.* **7**(9): 917-918.
- Ramocki, M. B. & Zoghbi, H. Y. (2008). Failure of neuronal homeostasis results in common neuropsychiatric phenotypes. *Nature*. **455**(7215): 912-918.
- Rasband, M. N. & Peles, E. (2015). The Nodes of Ranvier: Molecular Assembly and Maintenance. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol.* **8**(3): a020495.
- Redondo, R. L. & Morris, R. G. (2011). Making memories last: the synaptic tagging and capture hypothesis. *Nat Rev Neurosci.* **12**(1): 17-30.
- Reimers, J. M., Loweth, J. A. & Wolf, M. E. (2014). BDNF contributes to both rapid and homeostatic alterations in AMPA receptor surface expression in nucleus accumbens medium spiny neurons. *Eur J Neurosci.* **39**(7): 1159-1169.
- Rial Verde, E. M., Lee-Osbourne, J., Worley, P. F., Malinow, R. & Cline, H. T. (2006). Increased expression of the immediate-early gene arc/arg3.1 reduces AMPA receptor-mediated synaptic transmission. *Neuron*. **52**(3): 461-474.
- Ribeiro, L. F., Catarino, T., Santos, S. D., Benoist, M., van Leeuwen, J. F., Esteban, J. A. & Carvalho,
 A. L. (2014). Ghrelin triggers the synaptic incorporation of AMPA receptors in the hippocampus.
 Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. **111**(1): E149-158.
- Roche, K. W., O'Brien, R. J., Mammen, A. L., Bernhardt, J. & Huganir, R. L. (1996). Characterization of multiple phosphorylation sites on the AMPA receptor GluR1 subunit. *Neuron.* 16(6): 1179-1188.
- Rocher, A. B., Gubellini, P., Merienne, N., Boussicault, L., Petit, F., Gipchtein, P., Jan, C., Hantraye, P., Brouillet, E. & Bonvento, G. (2016). Synaptic scaling up in medium spiny neurons of aged BACHD mice: A slow-progression model of Huntington's disease. *Neurobiol Dis.* 86: 131-139.
- Rodenas-Cuadrado, P., Ho, J. & Vernes, S. C. (2014). Shining a light on CNTNAP2: complex functions to complex disorders. *Eur J Hum Genet.* **22**(2): 171-178.
- Rodenas-Cuadrado, P., Pietrafusa, N., Francavilla, T., La Neve, A., Striano, P. & Vernes, S. C. (2016). Characterisation of CASPR2 deficiency disorder--a syndrome involving autism, epilepsy and language impairment. *BMC Med Genet.* **17**: 8.
- Rosenmund, C., Stern-Bach, Y. & Stevens, C. F. (1998). The tetrameric structure of a glutamate receptor channel. *Science*. **280**(5369): 1596-1599.
- Ross, A. F., Oleynikov, Y., Kislauskis, E. H., Taneja, K. L. & Singer, R. H. (1997). Characterization of a beta-actin mRNA zipcode-binding protein. *Mol Cell Biol.* **17**(4): 2158-2165.
- Rubio-Marrero, E. N., Vincelli, G., Jeffries, C. M., Shaikh, T. R., Pakos, I. S., Ranaivoson, F. M., von Daake, S., Demeler, B., De Jaco, A., Perkins, G., Ellisman, M. H., Trewhella, J. & Comoletti, D. (2016). Structural Characterization of the Extracellular Domain of CASPR2 and Insights into Its Association with the Novel Ligand Contactin1. *J Biol Chem.* 291(11): 5788-5802.
- Rutherford, L. C., Nelson, S. B. & Turrigiano, G. G. (1998). BDNF has opposite effects on the quantal amplitude of pyramidal neuron and interneuron excitatory synapses. *Neuron.* **21**(3): 521-530.
- Saglietti, L., Dequidt, C., Kamieniarz, K., Rousset, M. C., Valnegri, P., Thoumine, O., Beretta, F., Fagni,
 L., Choquet, D., Sala, C., Sheng, M. & Passafaro, M. (2007). Extracellular interactions between
 GluR2 and N-cadherin in spine regulation. *Neuron.* 54(3): 461-477.
- Salter, M. W. & Kalia, L. V. (2004). Src kinases: a hub for NMDA receptor regulation. *Nat Rev Neurosci.* **5**(4): 317-328.
- Sans, N., Racca, C., Petralia, R. S., Wang, Y. X., McCallum, J. & Wenthold, R. J. (2001). Synapseassociated protein 97 selectively associates with a subset of AMPA receptors early in their biosynthetic pathway. *J Neurosci.* **21**(19): 7506-7516.
- Santos, S. D. (2009). Proteomic Analysis of the Interactome of Glutamate Receptors of the AMPA Type: Contactin Associated Protein 1 as a Regulator of AMPA Receptors. Faculty of Sciences and Technology, University of Coimbra. Coimbra, Portugal.

- Santos, S. D., Carvalho, A. L., Caldeira, M. V. & Duarte, C. B. (2009). Regulation of AMPA receptors and synaptic plasticity. *Neuroscience*. **158**(1): 105-125.
- Santos, S. D., Iuliano, O., Ribeiro, L., Veran, J., Ferreira, J. S., Rio, P., Mulle, C., Duarte, C. B. & Carvalho, A. L. (2012). Contactin-associated protein 1 (Caspr1) regulates the traffic and synaptic content of alpha-amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid (AMPA)-type glutamate receptors. *J Biol Chem.* **287**(9): 6868-6877.
- Sasaki, Y., Welshhans, K., Wen, Z., Yao, J., Xu, M., Goshima, Y., Zheng, J. Q. & Bassell, G. J. (2010). Phosphorylation of zipcode binding protein 1 is required for brain-derived neurotrophic factor signaling of local beta-actin synthesis and growth cone turning. *J Neurosci.* **30**(28): 9349-9358.
- Schanzenbacher, C. T., Sambandan, S., Langer, J. D. & Schuman, E. M. (2016). Nascent Proteome Remodeling following Homeostatic Scaling at Hippocampal Synapses. *Neuron.* **92**(2): 358-371.
- Schenk, U. & Matteoli, M. (2004). Presynaptic AMPA receptors: more than just ion channels? *Biol Cell.* **96**(4): 257-260.
- Schmid, S. M., Kott, S., Sager, C., Huelsken, T. & Hollmann, M. (2009). The glutamate receptor subunit delta2 is capable of gating its intrinsic ion channel as revealed by ligand binding domain transplantation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. **106**(25): 10320-10325.
- Schnell, E., Sizemore, M., Karimzadegan, S., Chen, L., Bredt, D. S. & Nicoll, R. A. (2002). Direct interactions between PSD-95 and stargazin control synaptic AMPA receptor number. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A.* 99(21): 13902-13907.
- Schubert, D., Martens, G. J. & Kolk, S. M. (2015). Molecular underpinnings of prefrontal cortex development in rodents provide insights into the etiology of neurodevelopmental disorders. *Mol Psychiatry*. **20**(7): 795-809.
- Schulte, U., Thumfart, J. O., Klocker, N., Sailer, C. A., Bildl, W., Biniossek, M., Dehn, D., Deller, T., Eble, S., Abbass, K., Wangler, T., Knaus, H. G. & Fakler, B. (2006). The epilepsy-linked Lgi1 protein assembles into presynaptic Kv1 channels and inhibits inactivation by Kvbeta1. *Neuron.* 49(5): 697-706.
- Schwenk, J., Harmel, N., Zolles, G., Bildl, W., Kulik, A., Heimrich, B., Chisaka, O., Jonas, P., Schulte, U., Fakler, B. & Klocker, N. (2009). Functional proteomics identify cornichon proteins as auxiliary subunits of AMPA receptors. *Science*. **323**(5919): 1313-1319.
- Scott-Van Zeeland, A. A., Abrahams, B. S., Alvarez-Retuerto, A. I., Sonnenblick, L. I., Rudie, J. D., Ghahremani, D., Mumford, J. A., Poldrack, R. A., Dapretto, M., Geschwind, D. H. & Bookheimer, S. Y. (2010). Altered functional connectivity in frontal lobe circuits is associated with variation in the autism risk gene CNTNAP2. *Sci Transl Med.* 2(56): 56ra80.
- Scott, R., Sanchez-Aguilera, A., van Elst, K., Lim, L., Dehorter, N., Bae, S. E., Bartolini, G., Peles, E., Kas, M. J. H., Bruining, H. & Marin, O. (2017). Loss of Cntnap2 Causes Axonal Excitability Deficits, Developmental Delay in Cortical Myelination, and Abnormal Stereotyped Motor Behavior. *Cereb Cortex.*
- Seagar, M., Russier, M., Caillard, O., Maulet, Y., Fronzaroli-Molinieres, L., De San Feliciano, M., Boumedine-Guignon, N., Rodriguez, L., Zbili, M., Usseglio, F., Formisano-Treziny, C., Youssouf, F., Sangiardi, M., Boillot, M., Baulac, S., Benitez, M. J., Garrido, J. J., Debanne, D. & El Far, O. (2017). LGI1 tunes intrinsic excitability by regulating the density of axonal Kv1 channels. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A.* **114**(29): 7719-7724.
- Seeburg, P. H. (1993). The TINS/TiPS Lecture. The molecular biology of mammalian glutamate receptor channels. *Trends Neurosci.* **16**(9): 359-365.
- Sehested, L. T., Moller, R. S., Bache, I., Andersen, N. B., Ullmann, R., Tommerup, N. & Tumer, Z. (2010). Deletion of 7q34-q36.2 in two siblings with mental retardation, language delay, primary amenorrhea, and dysmorphic features. *Am J Med Genet A.* **152A**(12): 3115-3119.
- Selimbeyoglu, A., Kim, C. K., Inoue, M., Lee, S. Y., Hong, A. S. O., Kauvar, I., Ramakrishnan, C., Fenno, L. E., Davidson, T. J., Wright, M. & Deisseroth, K. (2017). Modulation of prefrontal cortex excitation/inhibition balance rescues social behavior in CNTNAP2-deficient mice. *Sci Transl Med.* 9(401).

- Serulle, Y., Zhang, S., Ninan, I., Puzzo, D., McCarthy, M., Khatri, L., Arancio, O. & Ziff, E. B. (2007). A GluR1-cGKII interaction regulates AMPA receptor trafficking. *Neuron.* **56**(4): 670-688.
- Shangguan, Y., Xu, X., Ganbat, B., Li, Y., Wang, W., Yang, Y., Lu, X., Du, C., Tian, X. & Wang, X. (2017). CNTNAP4 Impacts Epilepsy Through GABAA Receptors Regulation: Evidence From Temporal Lobe Epilepsy Patients and Mouse Models. *Cereb Cortex.* 1-14.
- Shen, L., Liang, F., Walensky, L. D. & Huganir, R. L. (2000). Regulation of AMPA receptor GluR1 subunit surface expression by a 4. 1N-linked actin cytoskeletal association. *J Neurosci.* **20**(21): 7932-7940.
- Sheng, M. & Kim, E. (2011). The postsynaptic organization of synapses. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol.* **3**(12).
- Shepherd, J. D. & Huganir, R. L. (2007). The cell biology of synaptic plasticity: AMPA receptor trafficking. *Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol.* **23**: 613-643.
- Shepherd, J. D., Rumbaugh, G., Wu, J., Chowdhury, S., Plath, N., Kuhl, D., Huganir, R. L. & Worley, P. F. (2006). Arc/Arg3.1 mediates homeostatic synaptic scaling of AMPA receptors. *Neuron.* 52(3): 475-484.
- Shi, S., Hayashi, Y., Esteban, J. A. & Malinow, R. (2001). Subunit-specific rules governing AMPA receptor trafficking to synapses in hippocampal pyramidal neurons. *Cell.* **105**(3): 331-343.
- Shi, S. H., Hayashi, Y., Petralia, R. S., Zaman, S. H., Wenthold, R. J., Svoboda, K. & Malinow, R. (1999). Rapid spine delivery and redistribution of AMPA receptors after synaptic NMDA receptor activation. *Science.* **284**(5421): 1811-1816.
- Simons, M. & Trajkovic, K. (2006). Neuron-glia communication in the control of oligodendrocyte function and myelin biogenesis. *J Cell Sci.* **119**(Pt 21): 4381-4389.
- Smart, T. G. & Paoletti, P. (2012). Synaptic neurotransmitter-gated receptors. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol.* **4**(3).
- Smith, C. C., Vedder, L. C. & McMahon, L. L. (2009). Estradiol and the relationship between dendritic spines, NR2B containing NMDA receptors, and the magnitude of long-term potentiation at hippocampal CA3-CA1 synapses. *Psychoneuroendocrinology.* **34 Suppl 1**: S130-142.
- Smogavec, M., Cleall, A., Hoyer, J., Lederer, D., Nassogne, M. C., Palmer, E. E., Deprez, M., Benoit, V., Maystadt, I., Noakes, C., Leal, A., Shaw, M., Gecz, J., Raymond, L., Reis, A., Shears, D., Brockmann, K. & Zweier, C. (2016). Eight further individuals with intellectual disability and epilepsy carrying bi-allelic CNTNAP2 aberrations allow delineation of the mutational and phenotypic spectrum. J Med Genet. 53(12): 820-827.
- Sobolevsky, A. I., Rosconi, M. P. & Gouaux, E. (2009). X-ray structure, symmetry and mechanism of an AMPA-subtype glutamate receptor. *Nature*. **462**(7274): 745-756.
- Soden, M. E. & Chen, L. (2010). Fragile X protein FMRP is required for homeostatic plasticity and regulation of synaptic strength by retinoic acid. *J Neurosci.* **30**(50): 16910-16921.
- Soler-Llavina, G. J., Arstikaitis, P., Morishita, W., Ahmad, M., Sudhof, T. C. & Malenka, R. C. (2013). Leucine-rich repeat transmembrane proteins are essential for maintenance of long-term potentiation. *Neuron.* **79**(3): 439-446.
- Soler-Llavina, G. J., Fuccillo, M. V., Ko, J., Sudhof, T. C. & Malenka, R. C. (2011). The neurexin ligands, neuroligins and leucine-rich repeat transmembrane proteins, perform convergent and divergent synaptic functions in vivo. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A.* **108**(40): 16502-16509.
- Somers, K. J., Lennon, V. A., Rundell, J. R., Pittock, S. J., Drubach, D. A., Trenerry, M. R., Lachance, D. H., Klein, C. J., Aston, P. A. & McKeon, A. (2011). Psychiatric manifestations of voltage-gated potassium-channel complex autoimmunity. *J Neuropsychiatry Clin Neurosci.* 23(4): 425-433.
- Sommer, B., Kohler, M., Sprengel, R. & Seeburg, P. H. (1991). RNA editing in brain controls a determinant of ion flow in glutamate-gated channels. *Cell.* **67**(1): 11-19.
- Spiegel, I., Salomon, D., Erne, B., Schaeren-Wiemers, N. & Peles, E. (2002). Caspr3 and caspr4, two novel members of the caspr family are expressed in the nervous system and interact with PDZ domains. *Mol Cell Neurosci.* **20**(2): 283-297.
- Srivastava, S., Osten, P., Vilim, F. S., Khatri, L., Inman, G., States, B., Daly, C., DeSouza, S., Abagyan, R., Valtschanoff, J. G., Weinberg, R. J. & Ziff, E. B. (1998). Novel anchorage of GluR2/3 to the postsynaptic density by the AMPA receptor-binding protein ABP. *Neuron.* 21(3): 581-591.

- Steinmetz, C. C. & Turrigiano, G. G. (2010). Tumor necrosis factor-alpha signaling maintains the ability of cortical synapses to express synaptic scaling. *J Neurosci.* **30**(44): 14685-14690.
- Stellwagen, D. & Malenka, R. C. (2006). Synaptic scaling mediated by glial TNF-alpha. *Nature.* **440**(7087): 1054-1059.
- Steward, O. & Levy, W. B. (1982). Preferential localization of polyribosomes under the base of dendritic spines in granule cells of the dentate gyrus. *J Neurosci.* **2**(3): 284-291.
- Steward, O. & Schuman, E. M. (2001). Protein synthesis at synaptic sites on dendrites. *Annu Rev Neurosci.* **24**: 299-325.
- Steward, O. & Worley, P. F. (2001). A cellular mechanism for targeting newly synthesized mRNAs to synaptic sites on dendrites. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A.* **98**(13): 7062-7068.
- Stogmann, E., Reinthaler, E., Eltawil, S., El Etribi, M. A., Hemeda, M., El Nahhas, N., Gaber, A. M., Fouad, A., Edris, S., Benet-Pages, A., Eck, S. H., Pataraia, E., Mei, D., Brice, A., Lesage, S., Guerrini, R., Zimprich, F., Strom, T. M. & Zimprich, A. (2013). Autosomal recessive cortical myoclonic tremor and epilepsy: association with a mutation in the potassium channel associated gene CNTN2. *Brain.* **136**(Pt 4): 1155-1160.
- Straub, C. & Tomita, S. (2012). The regulation of glutamate receptor trafficking and function by TARPs and other transmembrane auxiliary subunits. *Curr Opin Neurobiol.* **22**(3): 488-495.
- Strauss, K. A., Puffenberger, E. G., Huentelman, M. J., Gottlieb, S., Dobrin, S. E., Parod, J. M., Stephan, D. A. & Morton, D. H. (2006). Recessive symptomatic focal epilepsy and mutant contactinassociated protein-like 2. N Engl J Med. 354(13): 1370-1377.
- Sudhof, T. C. (2008). Neuroligins and neurexins link synaptic function to cognitive disease. *Nature*. **455**(7215): 903-911.
- Sudhof, T. C. (2013). Neurotransmitter release: the last millisecond in the life of a synaptic vesicle. *Neuron.* **80**(3): 675-690.
- Suh, Y. H., Terashima, A., Petralia, R. S., Wenthold, R. J., Isaac, J. T., Roche, K. W. & Roche, P. A. (2010). A neuronal role for SNAP-23 in postsynaptic glutamate receptor trafficking. *Nat Neurosci.* **13**(3): 338-343.
- Sumioka, A., Yan, D. & Tomita, S. (2010). TARP phosphorylation regulates synaptic AMPA receptors through lipid bilayers. *Neuron.* **66**(5): 755-767.
- Sun, Q. & Turrigiano, G. G. (2011). PSD-95 and PSD-93 play critical but distinct roles in synaptic scaling up and down. *J Neurosci.* **31**(18): 6800-6808.
- Sun, X. Y., Takagishi, Y., Okabe, E., Chishima, Y., Kanou, Y., Murase, S., Mizumura, K., Inaba, M., Komatsu, Y., Hayashi, Y., Peles, E., Oda, S. & Murata, Y. (2009). A novel Caspr mutation causes the shambling mouse phenotype by disrupting axoglial interactions of myelinated nerves. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol. 68(11): 1207-1218.
- Sunwoo, J. S., Lee, S. T., Byun, J. I., Moon, J., Shin, J. W., Jeong, D. E., Lee, G. H., Jeong, S. H., Shin, Y. W., Jung, K. H., Lee, D. Y., Jeon, D., Jung, K. Y., Kim, M., Lee, S. K. & Chu, K. (2015). Clinical manifestations of patients with CASPR2 antibodies. *J Neuroimmunol.* 281: 17-22.
- Sutton, M. A., Ito, H. T., Cressy, P., Kempf, C., Woo, J. C. & Schuman, E. M. (2006). Miniature neurotransmission stabilizes synaptic function via tonic suppression of local dendritic protein synthesis. *Cell.* **125**(4): 785-799.
- Sutton, M. A. & Schuman, E. M. (2006). Dendritic protein synthesis, synaptic plasticity, and memory. *Cell.* **127**(1): 49-58.
- Sutton, M. A., Wall, N. R., Aakalu, G. N. & Schuman, E. M. (2004). Regulation of dendritic protein synthesis by miniature synaptic events. *Science*. **304**(5679): 1979-1983.
- Swanger, S. A. & Bassell, G. J. (2011). Making and breaking synapses through local mRNA regulation. *Curr Opin Genet Dev.* **21**(4): 414-421.
- Swanger, S. A. & Bassell, G. J. (2013). Dendritic protein synthesis in the normal and diseased brain. *Neuroscience*. **232**: 106-127.
- Swanson, G. T., Kamboj, S. K. & Cull-Candy, S. G. (1997). Single-channel properties of recombinant AMPA receptors depend on RNA editing, splice variation, and subunit composition. *J Neurosci.* **17**(1): 58-69.

- Tan, G. C., Doke, T. F., Ashburner, J., Wood, N. W. & Frackowiak, R. S. (2010). Normal variation in fronto-occipital circuitry and cerebellar structure with an autism-associated polymorphism of CNTNAP2. *Neuroimage*. **53**(3): 1030-1042.
- Tan, H. L., Queenan, B. N. & Huganir, R. L. (2015). GRIP1 is required for homeostatic regulation of AMPAR trafficking. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A.* **112**(32): 10026-10031.
- Tanabe, Y., Fujita-Jimbo, E., Momoi, M. Y. & Momoi, T. (2015). CASPR2 forms a complex with GPR37 via MUPP1 but not with GPR37(R558Q), an autism spectrum disorder-related mutation. J Neurochem. 134(4): 783-793.
- Tang, A. H., Chen, H., Li, T. P., Metzbower, S. R., MacGillavry, H. D. & Blanpied, T. A. (2016). A transsynaptic nanocolumn aligns neurotransmitter release to receptors. *Nature*. **536**(7615): 210-214.
- Tardin, C., Cognet, L., Bats, C., Lounis, B. & Choquet, D. (2003). Direct imaging of lateral movements of AMPA receptors inside synapses. *EMBO J.* **22**(18): 4656-4665.
- Terashima, A., Cotton, L., Dev, K. K., Meyer, G., Zaman, S., Duprat, F., Henley, J. M., Collingridge, G. L. & Isaac, J. T. (2004). Regulation of synaptic strength and AMPA receptor subunit composition by PICK1. *J Neurosci.* 24(23): 5381-5390.
- Thalhammer, A. & Cingolani, L. A. (2014). Cell adhesion and homeostatic synaptic plasticity. *Neuropharmacology.* **78**: 23-30.
- Thiagarajan, T. C., Lindskog, M. & Tsien, R. W. (2005). Adaptation to synaptic inactivity in hippocampal neurons. *Neuron.* **47**(5): 725-737.
- Thiagarajan, T. C., Piedras-Renteria, E. S. & Tsien, R. W. (2002). alpha- and betaCaMKII. Inverse regulation by neuronal activity and opposing effects on synaptic strength. *Neuron.* **36**(6): 1103-1114.
- Thomas, M. G., Pascual, M. L., Maschi, D., Luchelli, L. & Boccaccio, G. L. (2014). Synaptic control of local translation: the plot thickens with new characters. *Cell Mol Life Sci.* **71**(12): 2219-2239.
- Tiruchinapalli, D. M., Oleynikov, Y., Kelic, S., Shenoy, S. M., Hartley, A., Stanton, P. K., Singer, R. H. & Bassell, G. J. (2003). Activity-dependent trafficking and dynamic localization of zipcode binding protein 1 and beta-actin mRNA in dendrites and spines of hippocampal neurons. *J Neurosci.* **23**(8): 3251-3261.
- Tolino, M., Kohrmann, M. & Kiebler, M. A. (2012). RNA-binding proteins involved in RNA localization and their implications in neuronal diseases. *Eur J Neurosci.* **35**(12): 1818-1836.
- Tom Dieck, S., Hanus, C. & Schuman, E. M. (2014). SnapShot: local protein translation in dendrites. *Neuron.* **81**(4): 958-958 e951.
- Tomita, S., Chen, L., Kawasaki, Y., Petralia, R. S., Wenthold, R. J., Nicoll, R. A. & Bredt, D. S. (2003). Functional studies and distribution define a family of transmembrane AMPA receptor regulatory proteins. *J Cell Biol.* **161**(4): 805-816.
- Tomita, S., Stein, V., Stocker, T. J., Nicoll, R. A. & Bredt, D. S. (2005). Bidirectional synaptic plasticity regulated by phosphorylation of stargazin-like TARPs. *Neuron.* **45**(2): 269-277.
- Tononi, G. & Cirelli, C. (2014). Sleep and the price of plasticity: from synaptic and cellular homeostasis to memory consolidation and integration. *Neuron.* **81**(1): 12-34.
- Toro, R., Konyukh, M., Delorme, R., Leblond, C., Chaste, P., Fauchereau, F., Coleman, M., Leboyer, M., Gillberg, C. & Bourgeron, T. (2010). Key role for gene dosage and synaptic homeostasis in autism spectrum disorders. *Trends Genet.* 26(8): 363-372.
- Traka, M., Goutebroze, L., Denisenko, N., Bessa, M., Nifli, A., Havaki, S., Iwakura, Y., Fukamauchi, F., Watanabe, K., Soliven, B., Girault, J. A. & Karagogeos, D. (2003). Association of TAG-1 with Caspr2 is essential for the molecular organization of juxtaparanodal regions of myelinated fibers. J Cell Biol. 162(6): 1161-1172.
- Traut, W., Weichenhan, D., Himmelbauer, H. & Winking, H. (2006). New members of the neurexin superfamily: multiple rodent homologues of the human CASPR5 gene. *Mamm Genome*. **17**(7): 723-731.
- Trautmann, S., Rehm, J. & Wittchen, H. U. (2016). The economic costs of mental disorders: Do our societies react appropriately to the burden of mental disorders? *EMBO Rep.* **17**(9): 1245-1249.

- Truong, D. T., Rendall, A. R., Castelluccio, B. C., Eigsti, I. M. & Fitch, R. H. (2015). Auditory processing and morphological anomalies in medial geniculate nucleus of Cntnap2 mutant mice. *Behav Neurosci.* **129**(6): 731-743.
- Turrigiano, G. (2011). Too many cooks? Intrinsic and synaptic homeostatic mechanisms in cortical circuit refinement. *Annu Rev Neurosci.* **34**: 89-103.
- Turrigiano, G. (2012). Homeostatic synaptic plasticity: local and global mechanisms for stabilizing neuronal function. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol.* **4**(1): a005736.
- Turrigiano, G. G. (1999). Homeostatic plasticity in neuronal networks: the more things change, the more they stay the same. *Trends Neurosci.* **22**(5): 221-227.
- Turrigiano, G. G. (2008). The self-tuning neuron: synaptic scaling of excitatory synapses. *Cell.* **135**(3): 422-435.
- Turrigiano, G. G., Leslie, K. R., Desai, N. S., Rutherford, L. C. & Nelson, S. B. (1998). Activity-dependent scaling of quantal amplitude in neocortical neurons. *Nature*. **391**(6670): 892-896.
- Turrigiano, G. G. & Nelson, S. B. (2004). Homeostatic plasticity in the developing nervous system. *Nat Rev Neurosci.* **5**(2): 97-107.
- Uchida, N., Honjo, Y., Johnson, K. R., Wheelock, M. J. & Takeichi, M. (1996). The catenin/cadherin adhesion system is localized in synaptic junctions bordering transmitter release zones. *J Cell Biol.* **135**(3): 767-779.
- Udagawa, T., Fujioka, Y., Tanaka, M., Honda, D., Yokoi, S., Riku, Y., Ibi, D., Nagai, T., Yamada, K., Watanabe, H., Katsuno, M., Inada, T., Ohno, K., Sokabe, M., Okado, H., Ishigaki, S. & Sobue, G. (2015). FUS regulates AMPA receptor function and FTLD/ALS-associated behaviour via GluA1 mRNA stabilization. *Nat Commun.* 6: 7098.
- Urbanska, A. S., Janusz-Kaminska, A., Switon, K., Hawthorne, A. L., Perycz, M., Urbanska, M., Bassell, G. J. & Jaworski, J. (2017). ZBP1 phosphorylation at serine 181 regulates its dendritic transport and the development of dendritic trees of hippocampal neurons. *Sci Rep.* 7(1): 1876.
- Vallat, J. M., Nizon, M., Magee, A., Isidor, B., Magy, L., Pereon, Y., Richard, L., Ouvrier, R., Cogne, B., Devaux, J., Zuchner, S. & Mathis, S. (2016). Contactin-Associated Protein 1 (CNTNAP1) Mutations Induce Characteristic Lesions of the Paranodal Region. *J Neuropathol Exp Neurol.* 75(12): 1155-1159.
- Valtschanoff, J. G., Burette, A., Davare, M. A., Leonard, A. S., Hell, J. W. & Weinberg, R. J. (2000). SAP97 concentrates at the postsynaptic density in cerebral cortex. *Eur J Neurosci.* **12**(10): 3605-3614.
- van Sonderen, A., Arino, H., Petit-Pedrol, M., Leypoldt, F., Kortvelyessy, P., Wandinger, K. P., Lancaster, E., Wirtz, P. W., Schreurs, M. W., Sillevis Smitt, P. A., Graus, F., Dalmau, J. & Titulaer, M. J. (2016). The clinical spectrum of Caspr2 antibody-associated disease. *Neurology.* 87(5): 521-528.
- van Sonderen, A., Petit-Pedrol, M., Dalmau, J. & Titulaer, M. J. (2017). The value of LGI1, Caspr2 and voltage-gated potassium channel antibodies in encephalitis. *Nat Rev Neurol.*
- Varea, O., Martin-de-Saavedra, M. D., Kopeikina, K. J., Schurmann, B., Fleming, H. J., Fawcett-Patel, J. M., Bach, A., Jang, S., Peles, E., Kim, E. & Penzes, P. (2015). Synaptic abnormalities and cytoplasmic glutamate receptor aggregates in contactin associated protein-like 2/Caspr2 knockout neurons. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A.* **112**(19): 6176-6181.
- Verkerk, A. J., Mathews, C. A., Joosse, M., Eussen, B. H., Heutink, P., Oostra, B. A. & Tourette Syndrome Association International Consortium for, G. (2003). CNTNAP2 is disrupted in a family with Gilles de la Tourette syndrome and obsessive compulsive disorder. *Genomics.* 82(1): 1-9.
- Vernes, S. C., Newbury, D. F., Abrahams, B. S., Winchester, L., Nicod, J., Groszer, M., Alarcon, M., Oliver, P. L., Davies, K. E., Geschwind, D. H., Monaco, A. P. & Fisher, S. E. (2008). A functional genetic link between distinct developmental language disorders. *N Engl J Med.* **359**(22): 2337-2345.
- Verpelli, C. & Sala, C. (2012). Molecular and synaptic defects in intellectual disability syndromes. *Curr Opin Neurobiol.* **22**(3): 530-536.

- Vidarsson, G., Dekkers, G. & Rispens, T. (2014). IgG subclasses and allotypes: from structure to effector functions. *Front Immunol.* **5**: 520.
- Vincent, A., Buckley, C., Schott, J. M., Baker, I., Dewar, B. K., Detert, N., Clover, L., Parkinson, A., Bien, C. G., Omer, S., Lang, B., Rossor, M. N. & Palace, J. (2004). Potassium channel antibodyassociated encephalopathy: a potentially immunotherapy-responsive form of limbic encephalitis. *Brain.* **127**(Pt 3): 701-712.
- Vissers, L. E., Gilissen, C. & Veltman, J. A. (2016). Genetic studies in intellectual disability and related disorders. *Nat Rev Genet.* **17**(1): 9-18.
- Vitureira, N. & Goda, Y. (2013). Cell biology in neuroscience: the interplay between Hebbian and homeostatic synaptic plasticity. *J Cell Biol.* **203**(2): 175-186.
- Vitureira, N., Letellier, M., White, I. J. & Goda, Y. (2012). Differential control of presynaptic efficacy by postsynaptic N-cadherin and beta-catenin. *Nat Neurosci.* **15**(1): 81-89.
- Vogt, D., Cho, K. K. A., Shelton, S. M., Paul, A., Huang, Z. J., Sohal, V. S. & Rubenstein, J. L. R. (2017). Mouse Cntnap2 and Human CNTNAP2 ASD Alleles Cell Autonomously Regulate PV+ Cortical Interneurons. *Cereb Cortex*. 1-12.
- Volk, L., Chiu, S. L., Sharma, K. & Huganir, R. L. (2015). Glutamate Synapses in Human Cognitive Disorders. *Annu Rev Neurosci.* **38**: 127-149.
- Wang, D. O., Martin, K. C. & Zukin, R. S. (2010a). Spatially restricting gene expression by local translation at synapses. *Trends Neurosci.* **33**(4): 173-182.
- Wang, G., Gilbert, J. & Man, H. Y. (2012). AMPA receptor trafficking in homeostatic synaptic plasticity: functional molecules and signaling cascades. *Neural Plast.* **2012**: 825364.
- Wang, K. S., Liu, X. F. & Aragam, N. (2010b). A genome-wide meta-analysis identifies novel loci associated with schizophrenia and bipolar disorder. *Schizophr Res.* **124**(1-3): 192-199.
- Watkins, J. C. (1981). Pharmacology of excitatory amino acid transmitters. *Adv Biochem Psychopharmacol.* **29**: 205-212.
- Watson, C. M., Crinnion, L. A., Tzika, A., Mills, A., Coates, A., Pendlebury, M., Hewitt, S., Harrison, S. M., Daly, C., Roberts, P., Carr, I. M., Sheridan, E. G. & Bonthron, D. T. (2014). Diagnostic whole genome sequencing and split-read mapping for nucleotide resolution breakpoint identification in CNTNAP2 deficiency syndrome. *Am J Med Genet A.* **164A**(10): 2649-2655.
- Watt, A. J. & Desai, N. S. (2010). Homeostatic Plasticity and STDP: Keeping a Neuron's Cool in a Fluctuating World. *Front Synaptic Neurosci.* **2**: 5.
- Welshhans, K. & Bassell, G. J. (2011). Netrin-1-induced local beta-actin synthesis and growth cone guidance requires zipcode binding protein 1. *J Neurosci.* **31**(27): 9800-9813.
- Whalley, K. (2014). Synaptic plasticity: unmasked: dendritic mRNA dynamics. *Nat Rev Neurosci.* **15**(3): 138-139.
- Whitt, J. L., Petrus, E. & Lee, H. K. (2014). Experience-dependent homeostatic synaptic plasticity in neocortex. *Neuropharmacology.* **78**: 45-54.
- Wierenga, C. J., Ibata, K. & Turrigiano, G. G. (2005). Postsynaptic expression of homeostatic plasticity at neocortical synapses. *J Neurosci.* **25**(11): 2895-2905.
- Wollmuth, L. P. & Traynelis, S. F. (2009). Neuroscience: Excitatory view of a receptor. *Nature*. **462**(7274): 729-731.
- Wondolowski, J. & Dickman, D. (2013). Emerging links between homeostatic synaptic plasticity and neurological disease. *Front Cell Neurosci.* **7**: 223.
- Wu, B., Buxbaum, A. R., Katz, Z. B., Yoon, Y. J. & Singer, R. H. (2015). Quantifying Protein-mRNA Interactions in Single Live Cells. *Cell.* 162(1): 211-220.
- Wu, L., Wells, D., Tay, J., Mendis, D., Abbott, M. A., Barnitt, A., Quinlan, E., Heynen, A., Fallon, J. R. & Richter, J. D. (1998). CPEB-mediated cytoplasmic polyadenylation and the regulation of experience-dependent translation of alpha-CaMKII mRNA at synapses. *Neuron.* 21(5): 1129-1139.
- Xia, J., Zhang, X., Staudinger, J. & Huganir, R. L. (1999). Clustering of AMPA receptors by the synaptic PDZ domain-containing protein PICK1. *Neuron*. **22**(1): 179-187.
- Xing, L. & Bassell, G. J. (2013). mRNA localization: an orchestration of assembly, traffic and synthesis. *Traffic.* **14**(1): 2-14.

- Yamagata, M., Sanes, J. R. & Weiner, J. A. (2003). Synaptic adhesion molecules. *Curr Opin Cell Biol.* 15(5): 621-632.
- Yamazaki, M., Araki, K., Shibata, A. & Mishina, M. (1992). Molecular cloning of a cDNA encoding a novel member of the mouse glutamate receptor channel family. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* 183(2): 886-892.
- Yang, Y., Wang, X. B., Frerking, M. & Zhou, Q. (2008). Delivery of AMPA receptors to perisynaptic sites precedes the full expression of long-term potentiation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A.* **105**(32): 11388-11393.
- Yisraeli, J. K. (2005). VICKZ proteins: a multi-talented family of regulatory RNA-binding proteins. *Biol Cell.* **97**(1): 87-96.
- Yu, L. M. & Goda, Y. (2009). Dendritic signalling and homeostatic adaptation. *Curr Opin Neurobiol.* **19**(3): 327-335.
- Zalfa, F., Eleuteri, B., Dickson, K. S., Mercaldo, V., De Rubeis, S., di Penta, A., Tabolacci, E., Chiurazzi, P., Neri, G., Grant, S. G. & Bagni, C. (2007). A new function for the fragile X mental retardation protein in regulation of PSD-95 mRNA stability. *Nat Neurosci.* **10**(5): 578-587.
- Zalfa, F., Giorgi, M., Primerano, B., Moro, A., Di Penta, A., Reis, S., Oostra, B. & Bagni, C. (2003). The fragile X syndrome protein FMRP associates with BC1 RNA and regulates the translation of specific mRNAs at synapses. *Cell.* **112**(3): 317-327.
- Zamanillo, D., Sprengel, R., Hvalby, O., Jensen, V., Burnashev, N., Rozov, A., Kaiser, K. M., Koster, H. J., Borchardt, T., Worley, P., Lubke, J., Frotscher, M., Kelly, P. H., Sommer, B., Andersen, P., Seeburg, P. H. & Sakmann, B. (1999). Importance of AMPA receptors for hippocampal synaptic plasticity but not for spatial learning. *Science.* 284(5421): 1805-1811.
- Zhang, Q., Tanaka, K., Sun, P., Nakata, M., Yamamoto, R., Sakimura, K., Matsui, M. & Kato, N. (2012). Suppression of synaptic plasticity by cerebrospinal fluid from anti-NMDA receptor encephalitis patients. *Neurobiol Dis.* **45**(1): 610-615.
- Zhao, Z., Webb, B. T., Jia, P., Bigdeli, T. B., Maher, B. S., van den Oord, E., Bergen, S. E., Amdur, R. L., O'Neill, F. A., Walsh, D., Thiselton, D. L., Chen, X., Pato, C. N., International Schizophrenia, C., Riley, B. P., Kendler, K. S. & Fanous, A. H. (2013). Association study of 167 candidate genes for schizophrenia selected by a multi-domain evidence-based prioritization algorithm and neurodevelopmental hypothesis. *PLoS One.* 8(7): e67776.
- Zhou, Y., Kaiser, T., Monteiro, P., Zhang, X., Van der Goes, M. S., Wang, D., Barak, B., Zeng, M., Li, C., Lu, C., Wells, M., Amaya, A., Nguyen, S., Lewis, M., Sanjana, N., Zhou, Y., Zhang, M., Zhang, F., Fu, Z. & Feng, G. (2016). Mice with Shank3 Mutations Associated with ASD and Schizophrenia Display Both Shared and Distinct Defects. *Neuron.* 89(1): 147-162.
- Zhu, J. J., Esteban, J. A., Hayashi, Y. & Malinow, R. (2000). Postnatal synaptic potentiation: delivery of GluR4-containing AMPA receptors by spontaneous activity. *Nat Neurosci.* **3**(11): 1098-1106.
- Ziff, E. B. (2007). TARPs and the AMPA receptor trafficking paradox. *Neuron.* 53(5): 627-633.
- Zweier, C., de Jong, E. K., Zweier, M., Orrico, A., Ousager, L. B., Collins, A. L., Bijlsma, E. K., Oortveld, M. A., Ekici, A. B., Reis, A., Schenck, A. & Rauch, A. (2009). CNTNAP2 and NRXN1 are mutated in autosomal-recessive Pitt-Hopkins-like mental retardation and determine the level of a common synaptic protein in Drosophila. *Am J Hum Genet.* **85**(5): 655-666.